# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

**Current Law, Recent Legal Developments, and the State of Play** 

March 2022

This report maps laws and legal developments restricting religious dress—specifically the headscarf and face veil worn by Muslim women—in the 27 countries of the European Union (EU) and the United Kingdom. Country-by-country, this study examines relevant laws, bylaws, and case law, as well as political platforms, legislative proposals, and public discourse. It also covers restrictions in employment, education, services, and public space.

#### Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **Contents**

Acknowledgments	3
About this Report	4
Foreword	5
Executive Summary	8
Recommendations	25
Country Profiles	27
Austria	27
Belgium	34
Bulgaria	50
Croatia	54
Cyprus	57
Czech Republic	59
Denmark	62
Estonia.	68
Finland	70
France	73
Germany	90
Greece	99
Hungary	103
Ireland	105
Italy	109
Latvia	113
Lithuania	115
Luxembourg.	117
Malta	119
Netherlands	121
Poland	131
Portugal	133
Romania	135
Slovakia	138
Slovenia	140
Spain	142
Sweden	147
United Kingdom	150
Annex I: Religious dress bans in the EU and the United Kingdom	
Annex II: List of national reviewers and experts	
Endnotes	









© Open Society Foundations Some Rights Reserved

224 West 57th Street New York, NY 10019 P. +1 212-548-0600

opensocietyfoundations.org

# **Acknowledgments**

This report was written by Dr. Maryam H'madoun and Hien Bui of the Open Society Justice Initiative and first published in 2018. Significant contributions were made by Justice Initiative staff members Laura Bingham, Julia-Harrington Reddy, Susheela Math, and Eric Witte, and in particular Aryeh Neier Fellow Joana Clemens who provided extensive research and redrafting support on all the country entries for the 2022 update.

The 2022 update of the report was a collaboration between Justice Initiative and the Berkeley Center on Comparative Equality & Anti-Discrimination Law. Under the supervision of Prof. David B. Oppenheimer, the following students helped revise the country chapters: Anja Bossow; Ernesto Casillas; Renee Coe; Clara Dorfman; Charlotte Grace O'Keefe Stralka; Molly Haley; John Karim; Raisah Khan; Phoebe Lavin; Alyssa Mejia Whisler; José Fernando Rengifo; Julian Ritzi; Rana Sahar; Sophie Tideberg; Daryl Yang; and Ianna Zhu.

We are grateful to all the country experts who provided input on select cases or clarifications on country developments. A list of all expert reviewers by country is provided in Annex II. We are particularly grateful to Chafika Attalai from the Collective Against Islamophobia in Europe (Collectif Contre l'Islamophobie en Europe, CCIE), Imane El Morabet from the Belgian equality body Unia, Dr. Saïla Ouald-Chaïb from the University of Ghent Human Rights Centre, and Dr. Aqilah Sandhu from the University of Augsburg, for their invaluable contributions and thorough revisions on the entries for Belgium, France, and Germany.

We would also like to express our appreciation for the helpful comments and contributions of Violeta Naydenova and Martina Matarazzo from the Open Society European Policy Institute (OSEPI). We also thank Open Society Foundations Communications Officers Brooke Havlik and Laurin Liu, Senior Publications Officer William Kramer, and Senior Designer Laura Peres for their instrumental support in bringing this project to fruition.

The report was reviewed and edited by our Justice Initiative colleagues David Berry, Erika Dailey, James A. Goldston, and Robert O. Varenik.

### **About this Report**

Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the *United Kingdom* was produced by the Open Society Justice Initiative. The 2022 update of the report was the result of a collaboration between the Open Society Justice Initiative and the UC Berkeley Center on Comparative Equality & Anti-Discrimination Law.

#### **Open Society Justice Initiative**

The Open Society Justice Initiative uses the law to promote and defend justice and human rights, through litigation, advocacy, research, and technical assistance. We work in Africa, the Americas, Asia, and Europe on a wide range of issues, including national security and human rights; citizenship and equality; criminal justice reform; combatting corruption; protection for migrants; economic justice; freedom of information and expression; international justice for grave crimes; access to justice; and strengthening international human rights institutions. Working as part of the Open Society Foundations, our staff are based in Abuja, Berlin, Brussels, The Hague, London, Mexico City, New York, Paris, Santo Domingo, and Washington. D.C.

www.justiceinitiative.org

#### **Berkeley Center on Comparative Equality & Anti-Discrimination Law**

The Berkeley Center on Comparative Equality and Anti-Discrimination Law is a group of over 800 academics, advocates, activists and civil rights professionals from six continents working together to address the problem of discrimination and inequality. The Center facilitates collaboration on comparative equality issues; nurtures the work of scholars and activists from underrepresented groups and developing countries; connects the work of global legal scholars and anti-discrimination/equality body workers in enforcing anti-discrimination law; and publishes papers and books on comparative anti-discrimination law. The Center's mission is to foster effective global collaboration among equality scholars, civil rights professionals, advocates, students and activists.

www.law.berkeley.edu/research/berkeley-center-on-comparative-equalityanti-discrimination-law

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **Foreword**

All women still must confront being judged by what they wear. But when trying to access ordinary spaces or activities, no group of women has their bodies policed as much as Muslim women. Headscarves and other types of dress worn by Muslim women have regularly sparked national debates and controversy in Europe. A deluge of regulations banning religious dress in public and private spaces has severely restricted Muslim women's ability to go to school and to work, to access sports and other services, and even to leave their homes.

Such restrictions were considered unacceptable for most of the post-World War II era in Europe, where respect for the religious liberties of minorities formed an essential component of European liberal democracy. Things started to change in the 1980s and 1990s, as Muslim youth came of age and expected to participate in European societies on equal footing. Geopolitical developments in the Middle East accelerated the change and gave rise to the bogeyman of the suspicious Muslim. After 9/11, policymakers declared a global war on terror premised on this stereotype. A popular narrative proclaimed the discordance of Islam and the West, with Muslim women's religious dress—allegedly always imposed by Muslim men—rising as the ultimate symbol of incompatibility. The burga forced on Afghan women by the Taliban served as the dominant reference. The idea that Muslims as a group were the new "enemy within," with beliefs and practices reflecting values and norms inferior to those of Europe, acquired legitimacy across the political spectrum. Echoing Orientalist prejudices and stereotypes about Muslims already prevalent in Europe, it served to justify banning the visible presence of Muslim women and Islam from various spaces.

Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom maps as comprehensively as possible the restrictions faced by Muslim women in EU member states and the United Kingdom. The aim is to expose the full scope of limitations imposed on Muslim women over a short period of time by European governments, employers, educational institutions, service providers, and others. Despite frequent claims to the contrary, religious dress bans did not arise out of a genuine concern for women, gender equality, security, integration, or neutrality. Rather, they most often arose from anti-Muslim or anti-Islam sentiment and fear, infused with sexist bias questioning Muslim women's ability to think and decide for themselves.

As far-right and nationalist parties rose to power in EU countries and institutions, they gained influence over mainstream politics and drove political narratives further to the right. They rode anti-Muslim discourse to success, and

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

mainstream political forces conceded its normalization rather than fight for previously prevalent European values of tolerance. The far-right pushed many legislative proposals and provided decisive support for various headscarf and face veil bans. France in particular allowed Islamophobia to reign freely and become institutionally embedded, and then proceeded to shape debates and initiatives leading to the restriction of the rights of Muslim women in the rest of the European Union.

For their part, Muslim women have persistently fought back. Of all the manifestations of Islamophobia in Europe, religious dress restrictions are the most litigated against. This is hardly surprising considering the impact they have on Muslim women's daily lives and ability to survive. Despite the clear targeting and disproportionate impact on Muslim women, European hight courts have failed to protect them against discrimination and put a halt to rising Islamophobia. Instead, these courts have provided nation states with a wide "margin of appreciation" to decide on these matters, and accepted employers' religious dress bans without proper scrutiny. Such rulings have drawn sharp rebukes from the legal community. Presented with cases of Muslim women barred from wearing religious dress at work and in public space, the UN Human Rights Committee has also taken a more critical stance, rejecting the bans as discriminatory rights violations.

But it is at national and local levels where resistance is gaining the most traction. Demonstrators have been taking to the streets in various European cities in support of Muslim women, against Islamophobia and against racism more broadly. Private employers are increasingly embracing Muslim women who wear a headscarf, while politicians and public sector employers call into question headscarf bans. National equality bodies in a few countries provided early warning of rising Islamophobia, and protection against discrimination. Elsewhere it is communities and civil society groups shifting the debate by raising awareness and creating public pressure. Many national courts have also come out strongly against religious dress bans.

Will all of this affect the interpretation of EU law? There may be reason for optimism. Even with its poor track record on the issue, the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) has admitted to the existence of Islamophobia and the disproportionate impact on Muslim women in *S.A.S v France* (2014) and rejected one headscarf ban in *Lachiri v Belgium* (2018). The Court of Justice of the EU (CJEU) continues to receive referral submissions from national courts encouraging it to improve on its poor landmark ruling in *Achbita v G4S* (2017) and strengthen EU antidiscrimination law.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

To build this movement's momentum and improve the situation of Muslim women in Europe, leaders, policymakers, and courts need to take a clear stance against discrimination and ensure genuine equal treatment. As a starting point, Muslim women must be accepted as Europeans who hold certain beliefs and manifest them a certain way. In this, they are no different from other groups making up the full mosaic of beliefs and personal convictions requiring protection in a pluralist Europe. Revoking and rejecting religious dress bans that deny Muslim women access to education, jobs, services and public space, and reviewing European Equality Law to prevent employers and institutions from passing the antidiscrimination test with measures that further entrench structural discrimination, is the natural next step. This guide serves as a reference for those who are leading the way.

### **Executive Summary**

# a. Statement of purpose and scope of research

This report maps restrictions on religious dress, specifically the headscarf and face veil worn by Muslim women, in the 27 Member States of the European Union (EU) and the United Kingdom (UK). The restrictions, including proposed restrictions, outlined in this report have been advanced through legislation, administrative law case law, as well as political and legislative proposals across various sectors, including employment, education, services, and public space.

The report is divided into 28 chapters, which present the most up-to-date information on restrictions in each Member State and the UK. Background information on the Muslim community in each country, in particular on women who wear religious headscarves or face veils, is included. The chapters also trace the development of public discourse and media coverage on rising Islamophobia and key political developments to outline the backdrop against which religious dress restrictions have been introduced.

Restrictions on religious dress are split into the national and local levels, as well as institutional and private bans in practice. Each section is complemented by relevant case law where applicable. The report additionally tracks the development of legislative and political proposals in each country. Such initiatives may become national legislation or influence the enforcement of existing laws as well as public discourse. Where possible, the report briefly touches upon each country's national legislative protections against religious discrimination, with a focus on religious discrimination in employment.

In Europe today, academia and civil society are paying increasing attention to Islamophobia and discrimination against Muslims in general. However, there has been less focus on how governmental, institutional, and private sector policies restricting religious dress beyond legislation discriminate against Muslim women. What sets this report apart is that it looks beyond the usual suspects reported on when it comes to religious dress restrictions such as

<sup>1</sup> In addition to the headscarf and face veil, this report briefly examines other dress restrictions, such as bans on body-covering swimwear, bandanas, and long skirts. The purpose being to demonstrate an ever-widening scope of restrictions on Muslim women's dress specifically, beyond general restrictions on all religious dress.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The first version of this report was published in 2018 before the implementation of Brexit on January 31, 2020. For reasons of continuity and comparability we have continued to include the UK in the report.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

France, Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, Austria or the United Kingdom, and pays equal attention to each EU member. It also goes beyond statutory restrictions, which only give a very limited account of the restrictions to access faced by Muslim women. The objective is to provide a more comprehensive and comparable view of the limitations Muslim women encounter in their daily lives in the European Union and the United Kingdom when they choose to practice their religion by wearing religious dress.

Discrimination against Muslim women must be understood from an intersectional perspective. Although it goes beyond the scope of this paper to examine this aspect fully, where possible we highlight findings of intersectional discrimination in cases related to Muslim women's dress. The trend to bring such a claim is increasing, although evidence to support it is often missing. In her Shadow Opinion on the joined German cases before the Court of Justice of the European Union (C-804/18 and C-341/19), former advocate general Eleanor Sharpston commented on *IX v WABE* (C-804/18) stating:

[T]he material before the Court, whilst it may certainly give rise to concerns as to the possibility not only of "double discrimination" (on the basis of religion and gender) but indeed of triple discrimination (on the basis of religion and gender and ethnic origin), is inadequate to enable the Court to apply any rigorous analysis to those issues. In particular, there are no findings of fact in the order for reference that would provide a solid basis for such an analysis.<sup>3</sup>

In one successful Belgian case, evidence refers to how Muslim men who wear a beard for religious reasons are not affected by a company's ban on religious symbols, and how the majority of complaints about religious discrimination in employment in Belgium relate to Muslim women who wear religious dress.<sup>4</sup> It is acknowledged in case law that Muslim women are the most impacted of all religious groups that wear religious attire.<sup>5</sup> Whereas national courts and the Institute of Human Rights in the Netherlands have often rejected religious dress bans for this reason, EU High Courts tend to find that the aim justifies the means.

Public national and local debates and developments targeting Muslims and Islam that indicate Islamophobia or anti-Muslim racism and prompt the introduction of religious dress restrictions, help define the context in which restrictions arise. Courts, especially the CJEU, tend to rule on religious dress cases with no reference or acknowledgement of this context assuming—and often stating explicitly—that policies banning religious dress apply equally to all religious groups, disregarding how the public and political vilification of aspects related to Muslim identity drives such policies. This report starts its analysis by looking at Muslims as a racialized community whose racial

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

identity is constructed based on their perceived Muslimness, irrespective of their actual religious practice or even religion.

Muslim women's head covering has served as an instrumental tool in this racialization process. The diverse meanings it holds for the women themselves have been flattened and homogenized, and reduced to representing gender oppression projected onto Islam and contrasted to an allegedly egalitarian Europe or "West." Moreover, European and domestic counter-terrorism policies presuppose that Islamic religiosity is a threat to peaceful coexistence, which further enflames the controversies, bans and attacks on visible signs, including headscarves, and the women who wear them. When Muslim women are excluded from employment, education and other spaces, they are prevented from potentially disrupting this status quo and racializing logic.

The report does not cover legal restrictions on headwear in photographs required for official documents (such as passports, ID cards, and driver's licenses). While wearing face veils is strictly prohibited in official photographs across the European Union, the wearing of headscarves for religious reasons is normally permitted as long as the face is clearly visible. Such restrictions are often long-standing and largely motivated by the need to establish a person's identity rather than by religious discrimination. Although Muslim women<sup>8</sup> and Sikh men<sup>9</sup> have faced difficulties in some countries even when they only cover their heads in photographs—particularly in France, which requires photographs be taken with the head uncovered, and in Bulgaria, which has a similar requirement this issue falls outside the scope of this report.

# b. Updates and changes made to earlier versions

This report and the accompanying factsheet were first published on April 25, 2018. A few minor updates related to newly adopted legal restrictions in Austria, Denmark, and the Netherlands, were included later that year resulting in new versions of the documents being published on July 10, 2018. The current version represents a more thorough revision of the base report, carried out in collaboration with students from the Berkeley Center on Comparative Equality and Anti-Discrimination Law under the supervision of Professor David B. Oppenheimer. This version includes the latest updates on restrictions and case law, including by national equality bodies, as well as political developments relevant to restrictions on Muslim women's dress as of December 2021.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

The structure of the report was adjusted as follows: Every chapter now includes a short executive summary outlining the state of play. The case law relevant to each restriction now follows directly after the description of the restriction in question and is presented in reverse chronological order, starting with the leading and most recent precedents.

A few minor practical changes were also made. For instance, the language was also adjusted to take account of Brexit, although still incorporating an assessment of the United Kingdom for reasons of consistency and comparability.

### c. Terminology and methodology

The terms "headscarf," and "face veil," are used in this report rather than "hijab" or "niqab" for purposes of clarity and to sidestep debates about accurate terminology within the Muslim community. We also refer to "body-covering swimsuit" rather than burkini or burqini which is the name the Australian designer Aheda Zanetti gave to the garment she first developed to enable Muslim women who wear religious dress to swim in public swimming spaces wearing attire made of swimwear fabric that is loose and covers the entire body including the hair and neck. The term blends the words burka or burqa and bikini. We use "religious clothing," and "religious dress" to refer more broadly to all the religious attire that is targeted by a particular dress code or policy, including but not limited to Muslim women's dress.

A headscarf refers to a garment that covers only the hair and neck of the wearer; it is often referred to as a hijab or dupatta and is most commonly worn by Muslim women who wear religious dress in accordance with their faith. 12 The face veil covers the head and face but not the eyes; it is also known as the niqab. The niqab is often confused with a burqa, which is a one-piece garment that also covers the eyes with a grille and falls under the same legal restrictions as niqabs.

Scope—Types of garments covered: Three types of bans figure prominently in this report: headscarf bans, face veil bans, and bans that apply to both. The distinction is important. While some legal bans, case law, political statements, and public debates target clothing that covers the face under the rationale of ensuring "public security," others focus on both face and head coverings in the name of prohibiting the outward display of "religious symbols." The report also discusses instances of restrictions being placed on body-covering swimsuits, but these are currently limited to very few countries, most notably France, Belgium, and the Netherlands.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

*Scope–Spatial and temporal:* Within each jurisdiction, bans on religious dress are classified into five geographic categories:

- A national general ban: A ban that applies to all public places in the entire country;
- A national specific ban: A ban that applies to specific sectors (such as government service employees) across the entire country;
- A local general ban: A ban that applies to all public spaces in a specific jurisdiction within a country (i.e., a region, city, or district);
- A local specific ban: A ban that applies to particular sectors in a specific jurisdiction within a country (such as teaching jobs in particular cities);
- Institutional and private bans in practice: Bans enshrined in the rules or regulations of a particular institution or private company, or unwritten bans enforced in practice, for example, by restaurants or fitness clubs. This type of ban is most common in places of employment and education.

Throughout the report, notations in the margins will guide readers interested in tracking the different kinds of bans (by garment and spatial and temporal scope). This report also draws a distinction between legislative proposals seeking to ban the headscarf and/or face veil, and political platforms or statements. A legislative proposal or a bill under consideration by the legislature is classified as a potential law, whereas political platforms, proposals, or statements to ban religious dress are not, unless they are submitted to parliament as a bill.

This report draws on a variety of sources, both primary and secondary, including statutes, case law, NGO reports, academic journals, and news reports. Wherever possible, the country sections were reviewed by at least one expert on that country. Most reviewers have expertise in the field of anti-Muslim discrimination and Muslim women's rights, or are local lawyers, academics, or activists (please see Annex II for a list of reviewers).

Time and resource constraints limited examining every single restrictive policy set by nongovernmental or semi-autonomous institutions and private sector employers in all of the European Union and United Kingdom. However, where data were available, we did include as much information as possible to give a more accurate account of the large number of restrictions Muslim women encounter.

#### Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### d. Central findings

- Actual, legally enforceable restrictions are relatively rare in the European Union. Of the 27 EU member states and the United Kingdom, nine states<sup>3</sup> have enacted some form of national ban. In addition, local bans exist in six countries. 4 five 5 of which also have national bans. Another two states 6 are currently considering legislative proposals for a ban. In 167 out of 28 EU countries, there have been reports of institutional/private bans or bans in practice. Twelve countries<sup>8</sup> have no legal bans, or cases or reports about institutional or private bans. Of these, 5 countries have never had a proposal for a ban.
- Most bans on religious dress were instituted after 9/11, in a context of increasing Islamophobia. France has been a leader in adopting bans and shaping much of the discourse through its extensive case law and heated public debates, with select other countries, chiefly Belgium, following suit.
- Beyond these common roots, at least five interlinked discourses, discussed below, dominate debates about bans and the justification for them.
- Nationalist and far-right political parties played a major role in introducing and promoting legal bans and proposals for bans, but in most cases it was mainstream political parties that actually enacted religious dress restrictions.
- There has been significant pushback against bans in different EU countries, with a few important wins. In 20 countries, previous legislative proposals to ban the headscarf or face veil or to extend existing bans were rejected. In the majority of countries with case law, bans in private and public employment, in education, and elsewhere have been struck down by court rulings, or reversed after grassroots mobilization and action.
- Although national litigation has often led to rulings against bans, case law from the two major regional courts, the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) and the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU), has given states and private actors more leeway in instituting bans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> National general ban: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, France; national specific ban: Denmark, France, Germany, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Spain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Local general ban: Beligum, Bulgaria, Luxembourg, Spain; local specific ban: Beligum, Germany, Italy, Spain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Belgium, Bulgaria, Luxembourg, Spain, Germany.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Belgium and France.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden, and the UK.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Romania, Slovenia, Cyprus, Greece, Poland, Portugal, and Slovakia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Croatia, Cyprus, Greece, Poland, and Portugal.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Background**

Muslims live in every EU country. However, the history and size of Muslim communities and the number of Muslim women wearing religious clothing varies from country to country.

While anti-Muslim sentiments have increased in many countries in the European Union, the level of restrictions faced by Muslim women because of their religious dress is not the same everywhere. The situation is by far the worst in Belgium and France, the two countries that have the most bans, related case law, and institutional or practice bans covering different types of Muslim women's dress. In Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark, Germany, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Spain, there are important legal restrictions affecting Muslim women at the national level, but they are less far-reaching in the number of Muslim women affected or in scope. In Croatia, the Czech Republic, Finland, Ireland, Italy, Sweden, and the United Kingdom, restrictions are more limited to local and/or institutional and private bans, while no bans exist in Cyprus, Estonia, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Poland, and Portugal.

The attempt to prevent Muslim women wearing headscarves and face veils from entering specific spaces, however justified, can also be attributed to increasing Islamophobia in Europe. Almost all religious dress restrictions were introduced after 9/11. The global discourse surrounding the attacks and the subsequent "war on terror," supported by the "clash of civilizations" hypothesis, provided various justifications for restrictions on religious dress worn by Muslim women that was viewed as essentially oppressive. France, which already banned religious dress for public employees and whose experience with politicizing the Muslim veil traces back to its colonial history, set the tone with its 2004 law banning religious dress in public schools, which followed two years of national debates.<sup>13</sup>

France's debates about neutrality, or *laïcité* (French state secularism), influenced debates about religious dress restrictions elsewhere. The French ban on headscarves in schools reverberated in Belgium, in particular, where bans on religious dress were introduced in many schools and were applied to both pupils and teachers. In countries including Austria, Belgium, Germany, and the Netherlands, the French interpretations of neutrality and state secularism have become more popular and have been invoked to justify bans in public and private employment as well as in education, despite different institutional contexts and historical traditions. France's 2010 legal ban on the face veil, and particularly the ECtHR case *S.A.S. v France*, which upheld the 2010 ban, likewise inspired political action in other countries, even if only a

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

small number of women actually wear the face veil in those countries. The majority of these proposals were rejected, and only Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Spain have enacted a legal ban on the face veil, as have several towns in Italy.

Headscarf and face veil debates often took place against the backdrop of struggles over equal economic and social rights and against racism. Islamophobia legitimized the demonization and exclusion of Muslims based on their religious identity and allowed the disqualification of their claims to equal rights. <sup>14</sup> Disparities between dominant and minoritized populations deepened when religion became an added ground for discrimination. Muslim women who wore religious dress bore the brunt of discrimination, as they are the most visible and easiest targets. <sup>15</sup> The increasing numbers of refugees and migrants in Europe further intensified debates, with bans on religious dress proposed or introduced as a way to stop a perceived or feared "Islamic invasion" of European countries. <sup>16</sup> Negative stereotypes associating Islam with terrorism and associating headscarves and/or face veils with the oppression of women have become increasingly entrenched.

In some countries, courts, public and private institutions, and civil society have been able to push back against religious dress restrictions relying on strict antidiscrimination law and historically accommodating cultures, preventing such restrictions from becoming part of everyday life. However, political pressure from the far-right combined with a global rise in Islamophobia did eventually lead to some restrictions in countries that long opposed them. In the Netherlands, the Institute for Human Rights (College voor de Rechten van de Mens) and its predecessor, the Committee for Equal Treatment (Commissie Gelijke Behandeling), systematically rejected headscarf bans and religious dress restrictions more broadly, either as direct or indirect discrimination, ever since the General Law for Equal Treatment (Algemene Wet Gelijke Behandeling) was adopted in 1994. Despite these rulings being non-binding, it appears from the case proceedings that they did lead to a greater understanding of such bans as being discriminatory, not only in the private sector and education, but also in some public services. In many cases this greater understanding of face bans and religious dress restrictions led to their abolition. Austria for years stood out as a model in Europe for its accommodating Church-State relations, according equal status to Islam as to other religions, and its rejection of religious dress restrictions. Yet, both Austria and the Netherlands ended up adopting face veil bans. Only in the United Kingdom are legal restrictions on Muslim women's religious dress consistently rejected. There is even accommodation in the police and the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

judiciary, despite a number of attacks from senior Tory politicians aimed at the face veil.

#### Motivations and justifications

In most EU countries, bans on headscarves or face veils were promoted primarily by nationalist and far-right political parties. Many of the legislative proposals for bans were initiated and sponsored by these parties or their members. This has been the case in Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom.

While the discourse surrounding face veils is different from that about headscarves, the research has identified five common justifications for legal bans on religious clothing proposed by politicians and considered by judges, among others. These categories often overlap in a given national or transnational debate on religious dress restrictions. These commonly cited justifications include the need for integration and assimilation; the imperative to provide security and counter terrorism; the drive for equality between men and women; the pursuit of "neutrality" and "secularity"; and the desire for homogeneity.

The assertion that those who wear a headscarf and/or face veil are unable to integrate into Western culture and society is often made by supporters of bans, most prominently in Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Ireland, and the Netherlands. In other countries, such as Belgium, France, Luxembourg, and Spain, the justification is slightly different: face veils, specifically, undermine the possibility of "living together" in society. That, the argument goes, cannot be achieved if face-concealing practices are permitted. 18

Face veils are also said to threaten public and national security. This appears to be the most popular grounds for a ban on face veils in many EU states, including Belgium, Bulgaria, Estonia, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, and Spain.<sup>19</sup>

The idea that Muslim women are forced to wear headscarves or face veils against their will is particularly persistent in public debates and in mainstream media, but this argument can also be found in some legal justifications. Muslim women's religious dress is said to "degrade" women's dignity, and these women therefore need to be "freed." This belief became the basis for bans or proposed bans in a number of EU states, including Belgium, France, Luxembourg, and Spain. In *S.A.S. v France*, discussed further below, the ECtHR did not accept the "respect for equality between men and women" as a

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

legitimate justification for France's 2010 national ban on full-face covering veils.<sup>20</sup>

Many bans are justified as a means to promote "neutrality" and/or "secularism," which, some argue, is undermined by religious dress. This reasoning is particularly popular in certain municipalities and has been applied to areas that range from courtrooms to classrooms, and from public to private employment. Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, and the Netherlands are among the countries where this argument is often advanced. The need to implement "neutrality" or "secularism" in the form of a dress code even trumped individual rights to religious freedom in decisions from the CJEU and ECtHR.

Lastly, homogeneity or the rejection of diversity also became a motivation for banning religious clothing. In the town of Assothalom in Hungary, a push for a ban on face veils was explicitly motivated by the desire for a homogeneous society.<sup>21</sup> Although this motivation is usually not expressed overtly, it is implicit in many EU countries.

#### Jurisprudence

Jurisprudence has played an important role in shaping legal frameworks both regionally and within national jurisdictions, as many cases have required courts to strike an appropriate balance between a broad state interest, such as neutrality or security, and individual rights, namely non-discrimination and religious freedom. Accordingly, numerous lawsuits—argued before both domestic and regional courts—have challenged restrictions on wearing a headscarf or face veil. At the domestic level, the states with the most case law by far are France and Belgium, followed by Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Spain, and the United Kingdom.

At the regional level, various cases have been brought before the ECtHR and the CJEU. These cases are particularly important because the rulings apply across the Council of Europe (in the case of the ECtHR), or the European Union (in the case of the CJEU). For those cases where judgments were delivered, the bans were often upheld by both courts.

The ECtHR has decided many cases pertaining to Muslim women's religious dress.<sup>22</sup> These cases cover various contexts, including bans in schools,<sup>23</sup> in public service,<sup>24</sup> and in public places.<sup>25</sup> In its jurisprudence, regardless of the settings in which bans have been challenged, the ECtHR has mostly upheld the bans, failing to find violations of Article 9 (religious freedom), Article 8 (right to respect for private and family life), or Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination) of the European Convention on Human Rights. In only one

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

case, *Lachiri v Belgium* (No. 3413/09, 2018), which concerns the wearing of a headscarf by a civil party in a courtroom, did the Court find a violation of the right to freedom of religion.<sup>26</sup>

One of the most notable cases decided to date is *S.A.S. v France* (No. 43835/11; 2014), which challenged France's national general ban on face veils. The case was brought by a Muslim French national who complained that the ban prevented her from wearing the burqa and niqab, which are required by her religious faith, thereby infringing on her right to private life and her right to freedom of religion. Despite dismissing popular justifications for a face veil ban, such as public security and gender equality, in its judgment the ECtHR's Grand Chamber for the first time relied upon the novel concept of "living together" to conclude that the ban did not violate the right to private life or the religious freedom of Muslim women who wear face veils.<sup>27</sup>

The two cases on Muslim women's religious dress decided by the CJEU, which established an important baseline, are *Samira Achbita and Centrum* voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV (Case C-157/15; 2017); and Asma Bougnaoui Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v Micropole SA (Case C-188/15; 2017). These cases were the first to invoke the Employment Equality Directive 2000/78. At the heart of both cases are bans on the headscarf imposed by private companies, one in Belgium and one in France.

In both judgments, delivered simultaneously, the court acknowledged that restrictions on headscarves in the workplace could constitute indirect discrimination. But the court concluded that such discrimination may be justified by companies' wish to promote an image of "neutrality" to customers, as long as the ban is the result of a clear and consistent internal policy, and only when it is applied to customer-facing (as opposed to backoffice) jobs. However, the judgments are inconsistent on the importance of customer opinions. In Achbita, the court stated that the company's ban could be more "justifiable" when applied to employees having direct contact with customers, since these positions affect a company's projection of "neutrality." However, in *Bougnaoui*, the court stated that, under EU law, customers' wishes cannot be a basis on which employers can order employees to alter their clothing.<sup>29</sup> Indeed, the court stressed that "the willingness of an employer to take account of the wishes of a customer who did not want to work with someone wearing a headscarf cannot be considered a genuine and determining occupational requirement."30

More recently, rulings in two cases referred to the CJEU by German courts, *IX* v WABE e.V (Case C-804/18, 2021) and MH Müller Handels GmbH v MJ

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

(Case C-341/19, 2021), slightly nuanced the first ruling.<sup>31</sup> The CJEU ruled that an employer needs to demonstrate a "genuine need" for a neutrality policy. This "genuine need" can follow from "the rights and legitimate wishes of customers," from the economically "adverse consequences" a company may suffer without an internal rule banning religious dress, and to "prevent social conflict" within the company. Whether or not the "genuine need" requirement will in fact serve as an additional legal safeguard for affected employees is most likely to depend on how strictly it is enforced by national courts.

Many criticisms raised about the *Achbita* and *Bougnaoui* rulings remain relevant in that the CJEU does not question why the mere fact that an employee wears a headscarf affects the corporate image of the employer. It still fails to scrutinize employers' wishes to portray an image of neutrality to assess whether the aim is not simply to satisfy prejudiced customers. Despite views expressed in its previous case law, the CJEU continues to reject a possible categorization of a neutrality policy as direct discrimination, given their direct reference to a protected ground or because of specific elements in a case. The Court neglects to specify the duty of employers to accommodate religion and combat discrimination. This is but a selection of the many criticisms launched at what are said to be the most highly criticized rulings of the CJEU.<sup>32</sup>

At the time of writing, there is another case from Belgium pending before the CJEU, *Ms L.F. v The S.C.R.L.* (C-344/20), related to a Muslim woman who could not secure an administrative internship with a property management company because she had to take off her headscarf.<sup>33</sup> The referring Court raises a number of critical questions about the CJEU's first ruling on the matter, questioning in particular whether a neutrality policy constitutes direct discrimination if the practical application of the policy shows that a female worker who intends to wear a visible sign, e.g., a headscarf, is treated less favorably than another employee.

#### **National bans**

At the time of writing, there are five EU states that have passed a national general ban on face veils: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, and France. France was the first, issuing the act "On the Prohibition of Concealing the Face in Public Space" in 2010, which prohibits anyone from concealing his or her face in public. The penalty for violating the mentioned provisions is a fine of €150 and/or a requirement to take part in classes on French citizenship.<sup>34</sup> Shortly after the law was passed in France, Belgium adopted the same ban in its Criminal Code, under article 563 bis. The Belgian law bans the practice of face covering, either completely or partially, in any place that is accessible to

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

the public. Offenders are subject to "a fine of between fifteen and twenty-five Euros and imprisonment of between one and seven days, or only one of those sanctions."<sup>35</sup> Austria, Bulgaria, and Denmark adopted their bans more recently. In Bulgaria, the law was enacted in September 2016 and stipulates that clothing that hides the face may not be worn in public spaces. People who do not comply with the ban in Bulgaria face fines of up to 1,500 levs (€760). In Austria, the law that bans face coverings in public was adopted in May 2017 and enforcement began in October 2017. Police reported that the majority of fines were not served on Muslim women who wear face veils, remarking − or rather admitting − that this defeated the true purpose of the law.<sup>36</sup> Denmark's law that bans face veils in public was enforced as of August 2018 with a fine of 1,000 kroner for anyone who violates it (€134).

#### Overview of existing and proposed bans

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Legislative Proposals
Austria				
Belgium		Belgium	Belgium	Belgium
Bulgaria		Bulgaria		
Denmark	Denmark			
France	France			France
	Germany		Germany	
			Italy	
	Luxembourg	Luxembourg		
	Netherlands			
	Spain	Spain	Spain	

All five national general bans have two elements in common. First, they do not explicitly target the face veil worn by Muslim women but are instead framed in general terms. Legal provisions that ban wearing face veils are worded using the terms "concealing or covering the face." This, despite evidence that the impetus for the bans and accompanying political discourses

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

largely centered on the face veil worn by Muslim women. Second, each ban provides exceptions that establish certain circumstances in which covering the face is allowed, but the concealment of the face as a manifestation of one's religion is not one of them. Common exceptions include the concealment of the face for health and professional reasons,<sup>37</sup> festive events,<sup>38</sup> sporting activities, and artistic or traditional occasions.<sup>39</sup>

National bans on religious clothing (including headscarves, in addition to face veils) in specific settings or sectors exist in France, Denmark, Germany, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Spain. In France, a ban on religious dress for public employees (including government administration, public schools, and hospitals, among others) has been in effect since 1983 owing to a Constitutional Court ruling, although only explicitly legislated in 2016. A national ban on headscarves for public school pupils was enacted in 2004. In 2016, an amendment was inserted into the Labor Code that allows private businesses to introduce internal regulations banning religious manifestation for the sake of "neutrality," a development that was largely shaped by public debate over the high-profile "Baby Loup" case. The owner of Baby Loup, a children's day care center, dismissed a Muslim woman for wearing a headscarf. After lengthy legal proceedings, the Court of Cassation decided that the employer's action, and the resulting restriction of the employee's right to religious manifestation, was justified by the need to protect young children's freedom of conscience. The United Nations Human Rights Committee (UNHRC) rejected France's views on the matter, finding that the internal company rule banning religious dress violated the employee's freedom of religion and constituted discrimination based on gender and religion. In Denmark, the ban applies to judges wearing headscarves and similar religious or political symbols, including crucifixes, Jewish skullcaps (also known as yarmulkes or kippahs), and turbans in courtrooms. The law (called the Headscarf Act) was passed by parliament in 2009, but to date no cases challenging it have been filed. 40 In Germany, state authorities may ban certain items of clothing, including religious dress, if they interfere with the "duty of respectful and trustworthy behavior" under new legislation adopted in June 2021. Since 2017, a national law prohibits civil servants, judges, and soldiers from covering their faces at work except for health and safety reasons. In Luxembourg, the "Face Concealement Act" prohibits the concealement of faces in schools, public transport, public hospitals, homes for underage people, retirement homes, court houses, and public administration buildings since its adoption in 2018. The Netherlands passed a law banning the wearing of face veils in public transportation, education, health care and government buildings, that went into force on August 1, 2019. Individuals who violate the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

face-covering regulations are to be made aware of the law and given the opportunity to remove the piece of clothing or leave the premises. Only if the individual refuses, can the police issue a fine. After one year, Dutch police reported having issued no fines and only four warnings, <sup>41</sup> while civil society organizations reported a significant increase in hate crimes and hate speech against Muslim women following the law. <sup>42</sup> The Netherlands also bans religious dress for police. In Spain, using any kind of cloth that covers the face during demonstrations is prohibited by the Ley mordaza ("gag law"), enacted in 2015.

#### Local bans

Six EU states apply legal bans at the local (provincial or municipal) level: Belgium, Bulgaria, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and Spain. In Belgium, Bulgaria, Luxembourg and Spain, these local bans overlap with general bans. In almost all major cities and towns in Belgium, the face veil is banned in public places under local regulations. In Bulgaria, the local government of Pazardzhik issued a regulation that bars the wearing of clothing or accessories that hide the face and prevent identification of the citizen or public servant in public space, with fines from 300 BGN (€150) to 1,000 BGN (€500) for noncompliance. In Luxembourg, 47 out of 102 municipalities had already enacted local bans on face veils in public prior to the adoption of the national ban. In Spain, several municipalities (all but one of them are in Catalonia) introduced a ban on face veils. The Spanish Supreme Court struck down bans in two municipalities. Eight out of 16 states in Germany (Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, Berlin, Bremen, Hesse, Lower Saxony, North Rhine-Westphalia, and Saarland) have local specific bans on visible religious symbols including headscarves and face veils, but they are applied differently in the different states. Local specific bans exist in at least two regions in Italy, Lombardy and Veneto. The bans apply to head coverings that could conceal the wearer's identity in public buildings, including government offices and hospitals.

#### Legislative proposals

In Belgium and France, there are pending legislative and/or political proposals seeking to ban religious dress for Flemish government employees in Belgium and headscarves at sports events in France.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Institutional/private bans/bans in practice

Even where a country has no legal ban(s), there may still be limitations on wearing certain forms of religious dress. Aside from legal bans at national and local levels, in several EU countries there are bans that are not set out by law, but rather by the written rules of an individual entity such as a private company or institutions such as Bar Associations, or by unwritten practices, such as bans by a restaurant or a fitness club. This type of ban, which exists at the sub-national level, is most commonly found in the fields of employment and education. Of the 27 EU states and the United Kingdom, there are 16 where data on restrictions is available: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. Belgium, which has regionalized many federal competencies and devolved governance responsibility to certain institutions, has the most restrictions. Many of these restrictions are the result of the autonomy individual schools, local governments, or private companies enjoy in deciding their dress policies. The restrictions tend to apply to private employees, students and/or teachers, and public servants. These bans are implemented in the form of a "guideline" issued by the relevant ministerial authorities, or through dress codes or internal regulations.<sup>43</sup>

#### Case law on bans in private employment

Eleven countries—Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Romania, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom—have case law that challenges restrictions by private companies. Even though these restrictions are not legal bans but rather internal policies, they interfere with the religious freedom of the affected persons.

#### Case law on bans in education

There is a large body of case law challenging restrictions placed on Muslim students' and/or teachers' dress by educational institutions. The countries in which such challenges have taken place include Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Free of restrictions

While the majority of EU countries have seen public discussions regarding bans and even legal actions at some level, there are five EU states where the headscarf and/or face veil ban have not been a subject of public debate at all. Those countries are Croatia, Cyprus, Greece, Poland, and Portugal.

EU country	Out of 28 EU countries
With a national ban	9
With a local ban	6
With a legislative proposal under review	2
With past failed legislative proposals	23
With reported institutional/private bans/bans in practice	16
With case law on private employment bans	11
With case law on bans in education	11
Without any bans	12
No past or present proposal for a ban	5

### Recommendations

#### **Action by Governments**

- Revoke and reject religious dress restrictions that limit Muslim women's access to employment, education, services and public space.
- Ensure the right to freedom of belief including the right to manifest those beliefs, with limits imposed only in exceptional circumstances as prescribed by EU law.
- Collect and publish disaggregated data to reveal discrimination of Muslim women in private and public sectors.
- Acknowledge and take concrete action against rising anti-Muslim racism or Islamophobia.

#### **Action by the European Union**

- Adopt a resolution acknowledging the racialization of Muslims and the specific forms of racism they face, as substantiated by their lived experience and a broad consensus among scholars.
- Adopt a resolution encouraging Member States to collect disaggregated equality data at the domestic level, including religious background, to counter the specific discrimination of Muslims in the European Union, and investigate patterns of discrimination.
- Highlight good practices of countries, cities, businesses, courts, and equality bodies that push back against religious dress restrictions and promote pluralism and equality.
- Survey the impact of dress restrictions on Muslim women's access to education, work, services, and public space.
- Protect and engage with civil society groups that expose and counter
   Islamophobia and the discrimination of Muslims in the European Union.
- Provide sufficient funding opportunities to civil society groups countering
   Islamophobia, especially those that come under threat from national governments
   because of their work.
- Strengthen the mandates of equality bodies and/or human rights institutes to investigate claims of discrimination, providing sufficient funding and facilitating exchange on good practices.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Action by Courts**

- Consider with greater weight that the disproportionate impact of religious dress restrictions has on Muslim women who wear religious dress because of their beliefs.
- Ensure stronger protections against discrimination for applicants from racialized communities.
- Reject unsubstantiated claims of Muslim women exerting pressure on others, treating others unfairly because of their beliefs, and/or imposing their beliefs on employers, or others.
- Assess cases that make a claim of discrimination on multiple grounds, such as race, religion, and gender, or that present evidence of intersectional discrimination, accordingly.
- Close gaps in the protection of Muslim women by rigorously scrutinizing the
  justifications provided by those instituting religious dress restrictions in the
  assessment of direct and indirect discrimination.

#### **Action by Funders**

- Increase support for countering Islamophobia in Europe.
- Support the capacity building of Muslim civil society groups.
- Facilitate transnational exchange and collaboration against Islamophobia.
- Support engagement with affected Muslim women to better understand their experiences of discrimination and the collection of evidence of multiple or intersectional discrimination.
- Support the development of a strategy for litigation to increase its effectiveness and relieve the strain on community resources and wellbeing.
- Support litigators and civil society groups that collect evidence about the context
  of racialization and Islamophobia that Muslims face, or that show discriminatory
  intent.

# **Country Profiles**

#### **Austria**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Laws targeting Austria's Muslim population have arisen out of an increasingly xenophobic and Islamophobic political landscape, primarily shaped by the far-right Freedom Party of Austria (FPÖ). The first coalition government under the leadership of Sebastian Kurz, made up of the Austrian People's Party (ÖVP) and the FPÖ, in power from 2017 to 2019, appears to have made anti-Muslim rhetoric and repression more mainstream. At the federal level, face veils are banned in public spaces. In addition, a federal law was passed in 2019 banning headscarves for students under the age of 10. While the text of the law was broad, statements by government representatives clearly showed that the ban targeted headscarves worn by Muslim women and permitted head coverings worn by Sikh and Jewish students. There were proposals to expand the ban to students aged 14 and under, but in 2020, the Austrian Constitutional Court struck down the law as discriminatory. There have also been discussions of explicitly banning headscarves for judicial officers (police officers, judges, and prosecutors), but the proposal was shelved because the proponents concluded that the current laws setting forth specific dress codes implicitly prohibited religious symbols. There is nonetheless sufficient ambiguity that as recently as 2019 there have been calls for a neutrality rule that would explicitly ban judges from wearing religious symbols.

#### **Background**

Austria is home to a Muslim community of approximately 700,000 people. 44

Austria did not have any religious dress bans for many years (in contrast to for example neighboring country Germany) and successfully pushed back against pressure from the far-right to adopt such restrictions. It stood out as a model in the European Union (EU) for its inclusive state-church relations treating different faith communities, including Muslims, equally as well as promoting cooperation and dialogue. 45 Islam was acknowledged as an

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

official religion as early as 1912 as a result of the annexation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Muslim minorities were incorporated through the founding of an official representative body in 1979, the Islamic Religious Community in Austria (Islamische Glaubensgemeinschaft in Österreich).

In recent years, however, the increasing popularity and electoral success of the far-right FPÖ has led to widespread anti-migrant and anti-Islam sentiments and increased calls for exclusionary policies. This eventually resulted in mainstream political parties adopting a similar discourse to that of the FPÖ as well as the introduction of legal restrictions on religious dress, thereby ending the Austrian tradition of religious freedom and inclusion.

Austria's socialist and conservative parties have entered into coalition governments with the FPÖ on several occasions over the years. This has led to criticism by EU Member States, including the application of sanctions in 2000 when the conservative ÖVP formed a coalition with the FPÖ led by Jörg Haider, who was known for his Nazi background. 46 Yet, it was not until Sebastian Kurz took over ÖVP leadership and became chancellor in 2017 that—some claim to win back votes from the right—the government's approach to Muslims became more restrictive, including through the Islam Act of 2015, and additional measures taken to curb the rights and freedoms of Muslims. When the ÖVP formed a government with the FPÖ in 2017, 47 several measures were taken that targeted the Muslim community including new religious dress restrictions. 48

Islamophobia has been a growing concern in Austria. <sup>49</sup> According to one study, 79 percent of respondents believe that Islamic institutions should be surveilled more; 70 percent believe that Islam is not compatible with the Western world, and 87 percent advocated that Muslims have to adapt to Austrian culture. <sup>50</sup> Muslim women appear to face a great deal of discrimination and stigmatization. <sup>51</sup> In 2020, the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) reported that there were "high levels of Islamophobia" in Austria, citing an "increasingly xenophobic" public discourse targeting Muslims and refugees in particular. The ECRI also reported that in 2018, there were 540 incidents of violence and threats against Muslims, with women specifically targeted. The attacks often involved "pulling off face veils and headscarves or being spat at," and represented an increase from the previous year. <sup>52</sup>

On November 2, 2020, an Islamist extremist shot and killed several people in Vienna. In the midst of policy officials admitting blame and resigning over important intelligence failures, raids were carried out in the homes of dozens of Muslims for reportedly "belonging to and supporting the terrorist Muslim

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Brotherhood and Hamas organizations" as part of "Operation Luxor."53 Officials stated that the raids were unrelated to the November terror attack and instead formed part of a "year-long terrorism probe."54 Among those whose homes were raided was the respected and well-known academic Farid Hafez, founder of the European Islamophobia Reports and a fierce critic of the Austrian government and the Islamophobia industry, 55 as well as the residences of other activists, and charity workers. Shortly after then-Austrian Chancellor Sebastian Kurz announced actions against "political Islam" in order to fight "terrorism and radicalization" by going after not only those who commit violent acts but also those "who create the breeding ground for it."56 The broad undefined concept of "political Islam" has already been used to justify religious dress restrictions, and fears abound that new legislative measures will lead to a further crackdown on Muslim dissent and even more restrictions on fundamental rights and freedoms. The Kurz government's move to publish a map sharing locations and other details about mosques, Islamic associations, and officials across the country, raising suspicion about Muslims and their activities thereby exposing them to harm, did not bode well with Austrian Muslims and their civil society leaders.<sup>57</sup>

#### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National general bans: Despite opposition from Muslim women,<sup>58</sup> the Austrian Parliament adopted a bill to ban face coverings in public space in May 2017, which entered into force in October 2017.<sup>59</sup> People who wear veils that cover their face risk a fine of €150. The national ban currently prohibits all face coverings in public spaces, but provides certain exemptions for "cultural," artistic, health (including protections from infectious disease),sports, and professional reasons.<sup>60</sup>

An online newspaper reported that there are only between 100 and 150 women who wear the full-face veil in Austria.<sup>61</sup> Although few in number, Muslim women in Austria are more likely to face discrimination in various areas in society, especially in education and employment.<sup>62</sup> Various verbal and physical attacks against Muslim women who wear a veil have been reported.<sup>63</sup>

Muslim groups have criticized the ban, and the Austrian bar association proposed dropping the law, calling it "unnecessary, inappropriate, and questionable from a fundamental rights point of view."<sup>64</sup> On the other hand, the far-right FPÖ criticized the law for being insufficiently strict. <sup>65</sup>

Head of the Austrian police union, Hermann Greylinger, said that the law, if intended as a "contribution in the fight against conservative Islam," had

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

"gone belly up." Due to the law's vague language and exemptions, police were having to administer it in a way that led to fewer Muslim women being fined for wearing face veils than persons wearing other kinds of face coverings. Police issued warnings for face coverings such as ski masks and asked individuals wearing costumes to remove their face coverings. Police recorded 52 violations in the first three months of the law, but only 96 violations in all of 2018, showing an overall decline.

The COVID-19 pandemic further undermined the legitimacy of the ban on face veils. In early 2020, Austria implemented a mandate requiring face masks for supermarket shoppers and police officers in order to slow the spread of COVID-19. Sebastian Kurz, Austria's then chancellor who introduced the 2017 face covering ban and called the burqa "a symbol for a counter-society," said that masks are not part of Austria's culture and represent a major adjustment, but that the mandate was necessary because of the pandemic.<sup>70</sup>

The ban on face coverings was adopted as part of an "integration package" passed after many months of negotiations.<sup>71</sup> Attempts to legalize a national ban on face veils in Austria had first started in January 2017. While the FPÖ made several attempts to adopt a face veil ban (see below), it was the governing coalition made up of the leftist Social Democrats (SPÖ) and the conservative ÖVP that eventually introduced the ban. The ruling coalition used the concept of an "open society" to support their bill, claiming this could not be achieved by allowing face veils.<sup>72</sup>

Citing the principle of neutrality, the coalition originally intended to include a ban on religious and ideological symbols, including headscarves, for judges, prosecutors, and policewomen. Ultimately, this provision did not make it into the law because politicians felt that the current dress codes for these professions made an explicit ban on religious symbols unnecessary. While the dress codes do not explicitly ban religious symbols, the discussion suggests that some politicians interpreted the dress codes to implicitly prohibit religious symbols. However, as recently as 2019, there have been renewed calls from a judge's association for a neutrality law banning all religious symbols.<sup>73</sup>

The FPÖ has long played a central role in promoting Islamophobia in Austria. Prior to the national ban, the FPÖ had already made several attempts to institute a national ban on face veils. <sup>74</sup> In 2010, the FPÖ called for a referendum on whether to ban face veils and the construction of minarets, and whether to require Muslim citizens to sign a statement affirming their allegiance to Austrian secular law. <sup>75</sup> Referendums are nonbinding, but seek

[Both]

[Face Veil]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

citizen votes on referendum questions and issues. Party members continued advocating for a national ban on face veils in 2011.<sup>76</sup> In response to the European Court of Justice's ruling in *S.A.S. v France* in 2014, which affirmed France's law prohibiting face veils, the FPÖ announced a plan to submit a bill to parliament proposing a ban.<sup>77</sup>

Shortly after the FPÖ's proposal was announced, a different bill on Islam was submitted to the Austrian Parliament in October 2014. The bill, which passed as the Islam Act of 2015, reformed Austria's 1912 Islam Law. 78,79 While it provides certain protections for Muslim citizens, the law sparked criticism because it imposes restrictions on Muslim communities, including prohibiting international funding for Muslim NGOs. 80 The Islam Act did not address the FPÖ's proposed ban on face veils. It should be noted that throughout this period, politicians claimed that the purpose of a face veil ban was to liberate women. 81

[Headscarf]

National specific bans: In December 2020, the Constitutional Court struck down a headscarf ban in school for Muslim girls under the age of 10 as unconstitutional. 82 Two children and their parents had challenged the law, arguing it was a disproportionate infringement on religious freedom. The government had sought to justify the law by avoiding using the word "Islam," however, the court held that the material accompanying the law made clear that it was aimed specifically at the Islamic headscarf. Laws targeting a specific group violate the principle of equality and the state's obligation to religious neutrality. The court also rejected the government's argument that the law could protect girls from social pressures, noting that the government could draft legislation to better prevent bullying based on gender or religion. Prior to the court ruling, the new government coalition between the ÖVP and the Green party had included an agreement to extend the ban to girls under age 14, up from age 10.83,84

[Both]

Austria had passed the law in May 2019, shortly before the ÖVP-FPÖ coalition dissolved.<sup>85</sup> The text of the law was broad, referring to any "ideologically or religiously influenced clothing which is associated with the covering of the head." However, representatives of the ÖVP-FPÖ governing coalition made statements that the aim of the law was to target the Islamic headscarf. A spokesman said the law was "a signal against political Islam." The government also said that head coverings worn by Sikh or Jewish boys would not be affected, nor would medical bandages or protection from rain or snow. Parents whose girls wore a headscarf could face a fine of up to €440, however, there had been few cases of girls wearing headscarves in primary school when the law was passed. The opposition parties were

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

strongly opposed to the bill and immediately raised questions concerning its legality.<sup>86,87</sup>

[Headscarf]

The intention to draft a law banning Muslim girls from wearing a headscarf in kindergarten and primary school was announced a few months after the center-right ÖVP won the elections in October 2017 and formed a coalition government with the far-right FPÖ. Without providing evidence, then Chancellor Sebastian Kurz implied this was an increasing problem, facing criticism from Muslim organizations. 88 FPÖ Vice-Chancellor Strache stated that this law aims to prevent "parallel societies" and that it fulfills a promise to voters to combat the threat posed by Muslims to mainstream culture. 89

#### **Local Bans**

There are no local general or specific bans in Austria, nor are there any proposals under review.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice:

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

*Private employment*: In 2015, the Upper Austrian Labor and Social Court held that a personnel recruiter (the first defendant) must pay €1,000 in damages resulting from her discriminatory treatment of a job seeker wearing a headscarf (the complainant). In this case, the recruiter suggested to the complainant that she take off her headscarf and send a "proper" picture because it would be easier to find a job. The complainant accepted a settlement of €550 from the second defendant—the company where she had applied for the job. 90

Several settlements with private employers have been reached over the years. Two complainants who were both denied jobs in a hospital and bakery when they refused to remove their headscarves during working hours received settlements of  $\[ \in \]$ 4,500 and  $\[ \in \]$ 2,500 respectively.  $\[ \in \]$ 91

[Face Veil]
[Public Employment]

Public employment: In May 2016, the Austrian Supreme Court delivered a judgment on a case involving a public notary's assistant who converted to Islam and who wished to wear a face veil at work. Her request was refused by her employer for its incompatibility with the nature of her work, according to the employer, and her employment contract was terminated. The Supreme Court examined several aspects of the case, including a legal assessment of religious discrimination on the basis of the employee's face veil. Regarding the termination of contract, the court found no direct discrimination based on religion because the dismissal was based on the employer's order that the employee not wear a niqab, and this order falls

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

under the exception clause of the Austrian Equality Law. <sup>93</sup> Regarding the aspect of discrimination, the court found indirect discrimination based on religion in respect to work conditions. According to the court, the appellant was disadvantaged compared with other colleagues in respect to her contact with clients and her work (as a witness to the writing of wills) because of her decision to wear a face veil. The respondent had previously allowed the appellant to wear a hijab (which does not cover the face) and abaya (a long, robe-like gown), but decided to restrict her time with clients and her role as a witness after she decided to wear a face veil. <sup>94</sup> The Supreme Court awarded the woman a compensation of 1,200€. <sup>95</sup>

[Headscarf] [Practice] Bans in practice: In 2018, the president of the Linz Higher Regional Court issued a directive demanding that a trainee lawyer not appear as a representative of the state and the judiciary while wearing her headscarf. Gonsequently, the trainee lawyer was not allowed to sit with the judge and had to follow the proceedings from the auditorium. The trainee submitted a complaint to the Federal Administrative Court in 2019, but her complaint was dismissed because her internship had already ended. 97

[Face Veil]
[Practice]

In 2008, the Austrian High Court ruled on face veils in Austrian courtrooms. 98 In this case, Mona S. was convicted in a jury trial of being a member of a terrorist group. During her trial, she refused to remove her face veil and therefore was banned from the hearings for her "inappropriate conduct," according to the §234 Criminal Procedure Act (StPO). She was allowed to return only when showing her face. The Austrian High Court upheld the ban of Mona S. from the courtroom. 99

[Headscarf] [Education]

Education: A court-sponsored mediation following a fashion teacher's demand that a Muslim student remove her headscarf in class was resolved in October 2003, determining that the student should be allowed to wear a headscarf in class.

A case that also took place in a classroom involved a school that prohibited students from covering their heads. The case was reviewed by the Upper Austrian State School Council and the Ministry of Education, which agreed that Muslim girls and women had the right, according to legal provisions on religious freedom, to wear headscarves. <sup>100</sup>

#### National Legislation

In regard to Austrian legislation on antidiscrimination and protection of religious freedom, the Basic Law on the General Rights of Nationals 1867, the Federal Constitution Law (Bundes-Verfassungsgesetz, abbreviated B-VG), the Austrian Equal Treatment Act, the Non-discrimination Law, and

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

the Gender Equality Law are core legal documents. The Austrian Equal Treatment Act prohibits unequal treatment between women and men on various grounds, including religion and belief.<sup>101</sup>

### **Belgium**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

#### **Executive Summary**

Alongside France, Belgium is at the forefront of restrictions on Muslim women's religious dress in Europe. National debates about the headscarf kicked off in Belgium in the 1990s and early 2000s following debates in France about schoolgirls wearing headscarves.

A majority of religious dress restrictions were introduced against the backdrop of increasing debates about the place of Muslims in society post-9/11, and are found throughout both public and private schools and places of work, at the regional and city levels, with justifications often citing neutrality, security or hygiene. What sets Belgium apart is its complex federal structure with competences devolved to regional and local levels, and even to (semi-)independent institutions, that leads to a landscape where religious dress bans are adopted rarely by law or in decrees, but mostly as internal dress codes by institutions, and employers. In recent years, these codes have come increasingly under pressure with restrictions being revoked, or their implementation rejected. This, alongside efforts by national policymakers to push for changes to the constitution to turn Belgium—against its own tradition—into a "laïque" state, in order to enact unified national-level bans on religious dress.

As if competing to be the first country to institute a national general ban on face coverings in public spaces, Belgium eventually adopted its law prohibiting face coverings with a few exceptions three months after France in July 2011. This ban was upheld by the European Court of Justice under the principle of "living together." Many local municipalities had already enacted local restrictions on face veils prior to the national ban. In 2020, the Belgium Constitutional Court found that it would not be a violation of the Constitution to prohibit headscarves in higher education. Although many universities

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

have clarified that they would not enact such prohibitions, the future of many young women's education remains at risk.

#### **Background**

Muslims make up approximately 6 percent of the 11.46 million people in Belgium, constituting the second largest religious group in the nation. <sup>103</sup> Anti-Muslim hatred and racism is a widespread problem, including recurring Islamophobic incidents that disproportionately target Muslim women. <sup>104</sup>

Since the 1980s, the increasingly popular extreme-right party Flemish Interest (Vlaams Belang, formerly Flemish Blok or Vlaams Blok) has been shaping the debate on multiculturalism and national security <sup>105</sup> spouting strongly anti-Islam views as part of a broader anti-immigrant discourse. <sup>106</sup> Anti-Islam sentiments became even more widespread as traditionally centrist and leftist parties came to view Muslims as a threat to secular progressive values. <sup>107</sup> While the far-right and right-wing nationalists have been united in their opposition to Muslim women's religious dress, the headscarf debate has created division across the rest of the political spectrum, leading to crossparty and intraparty conflict. <sup>108,109</sup> This has led to different policies being implemented across cities and services with regard to the wearing of religious dress.

Religious dress restrictions and the ongoing public debate have created a context that has been termed one of "headscarf persecution."<sup>110</sup> In 2018, Laurette Onkelinx of the French-speaking Socialist Party proposed, alongside other members of her party, to amend the Belgian constitution to "establish the secularity of the Belgian State."<sup>111</sup> While the proposal was not accepted, it would have constituted a fundamental shift and served as a constitutional basis for religious dress restrictions.

There are a few counterexamples of businesses, local governments, and public opinion becoming more accepting of women wearing headscarves (as will be discussed below). Most recently, a gaping shortage of teachers sparked a debate about the need to review religious dress bans for teachers. Educators also raised alarm about social care professionals increasingly being refused simply because they wear a headscarf. 113

While there was an outpouring of public support (including from government officials, employers, and the royal family) for Muslim factory worker, Naima Amzil, and her employer, Rik Remmery, who had received death threats between 2004 and 2005 because Remmery refused to dismiss Amzil for wearing a headscarf at work;<sup>114</sup> it did not prevent the introduction of religious dress restrictions across a myriad of workplaces, schools, and service

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

providers. A case that exemplifies the evolution in the public debate over the years took place in June 2021, with the appointment of Ihsane Haouach, a Muslim woman who wears a headscarf, as government commissioner at the Institute of Equality for Women and Men. Georges-Louis Bouchez, leader of the liberal party Reformist Mouvement (Mouvement Réformateur, MR) claimed that her appointment went against "the neutrality of the state," linking the headscarf to the oppression of women. <sup>115</sup> In July 2021, following political attacks on her appointment as well as investigations into her alleged ties to the Muslim Brotherhood, which state security agencies found she did not have, Haouach stepped down after six weeks in her new role, stating that she wanted to "protect herself from cyber harassment" and "incessant personal attacks." <sup>116</sup> Prior to her resignation, Haouach had made comments about the separation of church and state and its relation to a changing demographic in the daily *Le Soir*, which were heavily criticized. <sup>117</sup>

According to the Interfederal Center for Equal Opportunities (Unia), the vast majority of complaints about religious discrimination in Belgium come from Muslim women who are not allowed to wear a headscarf. Of the cases received by the UNIA between 2017 and 2020 on the prohibition of religious signs, 95 percent are related to the Islamic headscarf. There have been numerous court cases involving the wearing of headscarves resulting in widely diverging rulings reflecting the controversy that exists around this issue. Similarly, the first cases about body-covering swimsuits commonly known as Burkinis that are mostly worn by Muslim women have led to opposing rulings. This divergence is reflected by mainstream political parties that also tend to be split about the issue, with those in favor of bans regularly taking initiative to regulate the wearing of religious dress. Support for headscarf bans is generally stronger in the French-speaking part of the country.

Belgium is divided into three regions, the majority French-speaking Wallonia, the majority Flemish-speaking Flanders, and the Brussels-Capital Region. Each region has its own government and legislative body. 120 The French- and Flemish-speaking regions are heavily influenced by debates in France and the Netherlands, respectively. French legislation and media have greatly influenced debates and legislative developments on Islamic clothing through the southern French-speaking region of Belgium. 121 Similarly, the increasing popularity of debates on religious dress in the Netherlands, which has a different approach to visible religious dress, is already apparent as an influence throughout Belgium's northern Flemish-speaking region. 122

Belgium's federal, regional, and local governments have the authority to legislate on religious dress restrictions. As this chapter will show, restrictions

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

at the national level are limited to a prohibition on face veils with the vast majority of restrictions having been adopted at the local level. Where such restrictions have been introduced by government bodies, they have been listed as local general bans or local specific bans in this chapter. Where such restrictions have been introduced at the institutional or organizational level, irrespective of whether the institution, organization or body in question is public or private, they have been listed under institutional/private bans/bans in practice.

#### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National general bans: After near unanimous support in the Federal Parliament, Belgium introduced a ban on face veils in 2011, justifying it on grounds of public security, the liberation of women, and the principle of "living together." The relevant provision was inserted into the existing Criminal Code under article 563bis. The law bans partial and complete face coverings in any place that is accessible to the public. Offenders are subject to "a fine of between  $\in 15$  and  $\in 25$ ," which can be multiplied by 5.5 making the maximum fine  $\in 137.5$ ,  $^{125}$  as well as "imprisonment of between one and seven days, or only one of those sanctions." The law makes exemptions to accommodate employment regulations or administrative ordinances, such as festive events. The exception for festive events often covers Catholic traditions, such as Carnival, that would otherwise be prohibited.

The law is the result of a legislative proposal by the liberal Reformist Party (Mouvement Réformateur, MR). 127 MR's legislative proposal was not the first attempt to prohibit face coverings in Belgium. The first proposal to ban face veils was submitted in January 2004 by a member of the Flemish rightwing party, Vlaams Belang, and was steeped in anti-Islam rhetoric. The same proposal was resubmitted in August 2010 without success. The Christian and liberal parties also introduced several legislative proposals over time. 128

Although Islamic headwear is not explicitly targeted by the wording of the face veil ban, it is widely known as the "burqa ban," and political debates on the small number of Muslim women wearing a face veil have intensified since its adoption.<sup>129</sup>

During the COVID-19 pandemic, Belgium, like many other countries, enacted mask mandates. Masks covering the nose and mouth were recommended in public places. Although the national ban in Belgium does not have a public health exception, people wearing face masks to protect themselves were not subject to the national ban on face veils. There is also

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Face Veil]

evidence that prior to the pandemic, the law was not enforced against people wearing medical masks.  $^{131}$ 

Case law: Shortly after the face veil ban entered into force in 2011, it was challenged before the Belgian Constitutional Court as being unconstitutional and contrary to fundamental rights. In 2012, the Court ruled that the ban was constitutional and not in violation of fundamental rights, including the right to freedom of religion, the right to freedom of expression, and the right to private life. The Court's reasoning was identical to the justification put forward by parliament when adopting the ban, i.e., that the ban is necessary for "living together," "public security," and the "protection of women." The Court made an exception for face coverings in places of worship, stating that such a prohibition would constitute a violation of freedom of religion. 133

The European Court of Human Rights ruled on the Belgian face veil ban in July 2017. In two similar judgments, *Dakir v Belgium*<sup>134</sup> and *Belkacemi and Oussar v Belgium*, <sup>135</sup> the Court upheld the Grand Chamber's decision on the French face veil ban in *S.A.S v France*, finding that the ban in question breaches neither the right to respect for private life nor the freedom of thought, conscience, and religion under the European Convention. The Court took note of the challenged ban's stated objectives and attributed a wide margin of appreciation to national authorities: The decision to ban face veils in public places is a "choice of society."

*Proposals*: Hendrik Bogaert of the Christian Democratic and Flemish Party (Christen-Democratisch en Vlaams, CD&V) in December 2017 proposed a general ban on conspicuous symbols from all religions that more than five percent of the population adhere to. While the prohibition is phrased generally, it specifically targets Islamic signs, as Jews and Sikhs would not be included under the five percent threshold and Christian symbols are not viewed as conspicuous. Bogaert described Belgian society as being at the "tipping point" of being fragmented by "sub-communities," which rendered intervention through a general ban on conspicuous symbols necessary. The proposal received criticism from CD&V leadership and other parties.<sup>136</sup>

The French- and Flemish-speaking liberals of the Reformist Party and Open Flemish Liberals and Democrats (Open Vlaamse Liberalen en Democraten, Open VLD) submitted a resolution to ban the wearing of conspicuous religious symbols for federal employees in all communities, regions, provinces, cities, and public institutions, and to impose strict neutrality in February 2016.<sup>137</sup> The proposal did not receive any further consideration after it was discussed in the Senate in 2016.<sup>138</sup>

[Both]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Open VLD member Patrick Dewael,<sup>139</sup> a staunch supporter of French *laïcité*, submitted a proposal for a preamble to be included in the Constitution and a resolution to revise several articles that deal with gender equality, the separation of church and state, and the neutrality of government employees.<sup>140</sup> Dewael is a vocal supporter of headscarf bans. He called for a ban on the headscarf in schools as early as 2004, following the French ban.<sup>141</sup>

[Headscarf]

There have been efforts to institute a blanket ban on the headscarf that would apply to all public servants. The National Flemish Alliance Party (NVA) put forth a proposal aimed at all federal public servants whose work entails direct contact with the public. 142 The Walloon and Flemish liberals of MR and Open VLD, respectively, also developed proposals to ban religious dress for all civil servants in the Walloon and Flemish regions. 143 None of the proposals were accepted. The lack of a single coherent policy for the entire government administration has made it possible for employees to continue wearing a headscarf, but it also demonstrates the challenges of trying to interpret the constitutional principle of neutrality.

*National specific bans*: There are currently no national specific bans in place.<sup>144</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

[Face Veil]

Local general bans: Prior to the introduction of the national ban on face veils in public spaces, the face veil was already prohibited in the majority of municipalities under local regulations. Municipal bans continue to be enforced despite the more recent face veil ban at the national level. Sanctions for violating local bans usually take the form of administrative fines. Fines vary from  $\[mathbb{e}\]$ 125 to  $\[mathbb{e}\]$ 250 across municipalities in Belgium. Hard

Case law: In 2009, the Police Court found in favor of a woman challenging a fine imposed on her for wearing a face veil while picking up her children from school. The Court found that the applicant's rights under Article 9 of the European Convention, the right to freedom of thought, conscience, and religion, had been violated. The fine was based on a regulation issued by the Brussels municipality of Etterbeek.<sup>148</sup>

In 2006, a woman in Maaseik, a small city in Flanders, challenged a fine before the police court that was imposed on her for wearing a niqab in public. The court upheld the ban. This ruling was significant for other municipalities that sought guidance on the possibility of introducing similar bans. 149

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Local specific bans: While public education also falls under local specific bans, where restrictions are implemented at the regional or local level, it was decided to group all restrictions together in public education in order to simplify the discussion. As shown below, the education system in Belgium is very complex and intertwined, making it difficult to clearly distinguish between decisions made at the regional or local level and decisions made at the level of individual schools.

*Public employment:* Information on local bans in public employment is not widely available. Evidence shows that policies differ from one city to another and that bans tend to be limited to customer service jobs.

[Both]
[Public Employment]

One of the more publicized and controversial bans is the 2007 Antwerp City Council's administrative regulation for front office employees, which the then Mayor of Antwerp, Patrick Janssens of the socialist party, the Socialist Party of Flanders (formerly known as Socialistische Partij Anders, SP.A, and now as Vooruit), 150 introduced in a circular to all employees (*Dienstnota*—D2007046). 151 The regulation not only prohibits the wearing of religious symbols, but also the logos of sports teams, unions, political parties, and even HIV awareness pins, 152 among other things, for city council staff in customer service positions. 153 Employees are allowed to wear religious dress as long as they are not visible to the public. Key members of the socialist party have, in the meantime, changed their stance on religious dress bans in public customer service jobs and have stated that they would reverse the ban on religious dress if the party were still in power in Antwerp. 154

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

Various cities in the Flemish region have followed the example of Antwerp. The city of Lokeren adopted a headscarf ban for city council staff in 2007. The first ban was struck down by the provincial governor for being discriminatory, as the language of the ban directly targeted headscarves. However, the ban passed shortly after when the wording was adjusted to include all visible religious symbols. The city of Lier adopted a similar ban for civil servants in 2008. The council of Destelbergen also implemented a ban on religious dress in 2010. This ban was remarkable because the Christian Democrats and liberal Open VLD, who made up the majority at the time, unanimously accepted this proposal from the opposition, the extremeright Flemish Interest Party (Vlaams Belang). 158

Other Flemish cities have taken a different approach. In February 2008, the Leuven City Council, led by the socialist Mayor Louis Tobback, voted overwhelmingly against a proposal introduced by Vlaams Belang to ban headscarves for municipal employees. Council members argued that only the behavior of municipal employees had to be neutral, not their appearance. 159

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In April 2008, Open VLD Mayor Bart Somers of the city of Mechelen confirmed that there would be no ban on the headscarf in his city. 160 Similarly to the arguments presented in Leuven, Mechelen's code of ethics states that neutrality must emanate from the actions and not from the appearance of its personnel, which the Interfederal Center for Equal Opportunities (Unia) has described as an example of "inclusive neutrality." 161

On occasion, restrictions on public employees wearing the headscarf are also lifted by administrative decisions. In 2013, the City Council of Ghent ruled to lift the ban on the headscarf that had been in force since 2007. The annulment was the result of a successful campaign by grassroots organizations and activists.<sup>162</sup>

[Both]
[Public Employment]

The capital city of Brussels has provisions banning religious dress for public employees. It is not clear exactly when these were implemented, but they were in place before the ban in Antwerp was introduced. 163

On April 11, 2014, the Walloon Parliament adopted a resolution to revise the Walloon government's decree establishing the Civil Service Code to prohibit "employees from displaying ostentatious signs and behaviors that express their political, philosophical or religious convictions in the exercise of their duties, unless their services do not require functional contact with the public." The ban applies to all employees of the Walloon government, public interest organizations, and institutions that fall under the public authority of the Walloon region. The resolution also invites public interest organizations and entities that are not subject to the Walloon Civil Service Code to adopt internal regulations including the same prohibition. The resolution was initiated by MR member Florence Reuter. 165

*Proposals:* In its 2019-2024 governing agreement, the Flemish government has outlined its plans to introduce a neutrality dress code in the Flemish administration, which would prohibit the wearing of signs that express philosophical, religious, political or other convictions by employees of the Flemish government in customer-facing positions. The proposal also guarantees neutrality with regard to appearance in education where the government has competence to do so. Local councils would retain competence to shape neutrality policies as they wish. <sup>166</sup>

In September 2021, several councilors of the Flemish and French-speaking liberal parties in Brussels City introduced a motion calling for the neutrality and impartiality of municipal employees and the restriction of ostentatious religious symbols in the exercise of their functions. Similarly, the Auderghem Council reaffirmed the neutrality of public employees in a motion from June 2021. This move to underscore the importance of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

"exclusive neutrality" in public employment appears to be a reaction to recent developments in Molenbeek, as outlined below. 169

As of August 2020, the Molenbeek Council is working to change the current work regulations to allow the large segment of Muslim women residents in the community to access public office jobs. The Council has proposed adopting "inclusive neutrality," which would allow employees to wear religious symbols. The proposed principle would include a broad antidiscrimination clause that would include religious discrimination. 170

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

*Private employment*: A number of employees from various sectors and industries have brought complaints challenging restrictions on religious dress in the workplace in Belgium, which have mostly been justified based on the principle of neutrality, security, and hygiene.<sup>171</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

Case law: In October 2020, the Labor Court of Ghent issued a final ruling in Samira Achbita and Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV, finding that there was no discrimination. The Court found that the employer's policy on religious dress in the workplace did not discriminate against Muslim women more than others and that the company did not need to consider other alternative non-client facing roles for the affected employee. The case had previously been referred to the European Court of Justice (CJEU) by the Court of Cassation. In March 2017, the CJEU delivered its landmark judgment on the case. 173

The case concerned Samira Achbita, who worked for G4S in Belgium as a receptionist. G4S provided no uniforms at the time. AfterSamira Achbita started wearing a headscarf, the company claimed to have an informal policy barring clothing that expresses a religious belief. G4S dismissed Achbita, and the next day a written policy came into force. T4 The CJEU found no direct discrimination on the grounds of religion in the restriction on employees wearing religious clothing. The Court stressed that the restriction could amount to indirect discrimination but is justified if there is a legitimate aim. The Court found the company's wish to present an image of neutrality to customers to be a legitimate aim, as long as it is set out in a clear and consistent policy and only applies to front-office jobs. Additionally, the Court found that the neutrality principle should be limited to interactions that involve direct contact with customers and that is applied in a "consistent and systematic manner."

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Prior to its referral to the CJEU, the Court of Cassation had annulled the finding of the Antwerp Labor Tribunal, which found Achbita's dismissal justified, and ordered the Ghent Tribunal to reopen the case and examine whether G4S's neutrality policy was in accordance with antidiscrimination law.<sup>177</sup>

The Brussels Labor Tribunal referred a case, Ms. L.F. v The S.C.R.L, to the CJEU in July 2020, which is currently pending. <sup>178</sup> The applicant seeks a declaration that the defendant, a property management company, infringed upon antidiscrimination rules by failing to conclude an internship agreement on the basis, either directly or indirectly, of religious belief and gender/sex. The property management company had asked the applicant if she would be willing to remove her headscarf at the workplace in line with the company's neutrality policy. When the applicant refused, the company informed her that she would not be able to complete her internship with them. The referring court has raised questions about the distinction between religion and belief as protected grounds as well as the meaning of religious, philosophical and political beliefs as separate protected criteria. In addition, it has questioned whether a neutrality policy constitutes direct discrimination, if the practical application of the policy shows that a female worker who intends to wear a visible sign, e.g., a headscarf, is treated less favorably than another employee. The referring court sets out various scenarios comparing the female worker to another employee, e.g., where the other employee holds no religious beliefs or where the other employee does not have a need to display their religious beliefs publicly.

In 2013, a case was brought to court by Unia in defense of a Muslim shop assistant who worked for HEMA, the Dutch department store chain. The shop assistant's contract was not extended after she was asked to stop wearing her headscarf but refused. Customers had complained about it, and HEMA, which allows shop assistants to wear a headscarf in their stores in the Netherlands, argued that they asked her to take off her headscarf to appear "neutral" to customers in Belgium, where the "culture and customs" are different. The Labor Court of Tongeren ruled in favor of the employee, holding that HEMA's actions constituted discrimination based on religion. <sup>179</sup> However, the reason for this decision was not based on the employee's right to freedom of religion, but rather on HEMA's lack of a clearly stated policy.

In June 2008, the Labor Court of Brussels ruled in favor of Club, a bookstore chain, in a case from 2004 concerning the dismissal of a Muslim employee who wore a headscarf at work. Club's internal policy stated that employees in customer-facing positions are not allowed to wear clothing, signs, or symbols that could harm the "open, accessible, sober, familial and neutral"

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

image of the company. The Labor Court did not find these guidelines to constitute a form of discrimination nor to violate the freedom of religion of the employee, as Club clearly indicated that it did not consider the employee's religious conviction itself problematic. The dismissal was thus found to be justified. 180

*Public employment:* While religious dress restrictions in public employment have already been addressed in the above section on local specific bans, this section will focus on restrictions put in place at the institutional or organizational level of public bodies. Public employers are allowed to decide whether or not to restrict religious dress at the workplace. It is not always clear where such restrictions exist, as they are often internal or informal and only become known when challenged in court. <sup>181</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

Case law: In May 2021, in another case brought by Unia, the Brussels Labor Court found that a woman, Mrs. T, who was rejected as a job applicant for wearing a headscarf, was the victim of discrimination. The woman had applied for a job at the Société des Transports Intercommunaux de Bruxelles (STIB-MIVB), a transportation company, in 2015. During her interview, Mrs. T was informed that, per company policy, employees were not permitted to wear any religious dress, including headscarves. Mrs. T applied again unsuccessfully in 2016. The Court found that the company directly discriminated against Mrs. T on the basis of religion and indirectly discriminated against her on the basis of gender. The Court explained that the company's policy was not neutral due to its disproportionate impact on women, and because Muslim men were allowed to have beards. The Court called on the company to stop the policy and ordered them to pay a €50,000 fine. STIB-MIVB has decided not to appeal the decision. 182

In 2015, the Brussels Labor Tribunal found discrimination, on the grounds of religion or belief, by Brussels public employment office Actiris. Actiris adopted new rules that did not allow staff members to "show their religious, political or philosophical preferences, either in their manner of dress or in their behavior." One employee, who risked being fired for wearing a headscarf, took her case to court. The court considered the objective of "neutrality" as claimed by Actiris but found that the rules are not "law" to be used as a restriction that limits the freedom of religion, as stipulated by Article 9 of the ECHR. The employee won the case, with Actiris paying out €6,210.¹8³ The Actiris case caused controversy because it called into question the Brussels municipal regulation banning religious dress.

*The judiciary:* The French and German speaking bar associations state in their code of ethics that lawyers should refrain from wearing distinctive religious

[Both]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[The Judiciary]

signs before the court and that a breach of this principle is an ethical breach subject to disciplinary proceedings. 184

In *Lachiri v Belgium* (No. 3413/09), the European Court of Human Rights found that excluding a woman from the courtroom because she wore a headscarf, is a violation of religious freedom guaranteed by Article 9 of the European Convention of Human Rights. <sup>185</sup> The applicant, Hagar Lachiri, a Muslim Belgian national, had entered the courtroom wearing her headscarf and refused to remove it when the judge asked her to, and was therefore expelled from the courtroom. In December 2021, Article 759 of the Judicial Code, a literal interpretation of which required women to remove their headscarves in court, was amended in order to allow headscarves in court. <sup>186</sup>

Education: The Belgian education system is divided into three groups: (1) schools owned by the communities, which include Go! Flemish Community Education (GO! Onderwijs van de Vlaamse gemeenschap) and network of the French-speaking Community (réseau de la Communauté française) and shall be referred to as "community schools"; (2) subsidized public schools (officieel gesubsidieerd onderwijs and réseau officiel subventionné), which are run by provinces and municipalities and shall be referred to as "public schools" and (3) subsidized confessional schools (vrij gesubsidieerd onderwijs and réseau libre subventionné), which are mainly run by organizations affiliated with the Catholic church, and shall be referred to as "confessional schools." All three groups run primary, secondary, and higher education, including education for adults, and have competence to introduce religious dress restrictions, which has been confirmed by the courts.

[Both]
[Education]

In educational settings, restrictions on religious dress are a widespread practice applied to both students, teachers, and parents. <sup>187</sup> The French-, Flemish-, and German-speaking communities in Belgium all have decrees in place that demand neutrality from teachers in community schools, though restrictions are by no means limited to community schools, as shown below. <sup>188, 189</sup> As different interpretations of neutrality exist, it falls to the authority of the schooling systems to decide which to enforce. Schools may thus decide to opt for inclusive neutrality, meaning that students, teachers, and other staff must only be neutral in their behavior but may wear religious or philosophical symbols, or exclusive neutrality, meaning that schools partially or completely prohibit the wearing of religious or philosophical symbols based on the neutrality of the state.

The majority of primary and secondary schools, irrespective of the type of schools, do not allow (non-Catholic) religious symbols for students and teachers, apart from teachers of religion or moral ethics classes. In Flanders,

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

GO!, which administers community schools, introduced a general ban on the wearing of religious signs in primary and secondary schools for all pupils and teachers with the exception of teachers of religious education classes. The Flemish Education Council approved the ban in 2013 and put forward an Administrative Circular of the Board of Flemish Community Schools to this effect. On this basis, several school boards adopted internal regulations prohibiting the wearing of any conspicuous religious, philosophical, or political signs on school premises.

Religious dress restrictions in education have significantly impacted students and teachers. They have also presented a barrier to students seeking internships with companies that do not allow them to wear a headscarf and/or face veil.<sup>190</sup>

There have, however, also been positive developments: In January 2021, local officials in French-speaking Wallonia announced that religious symbols, including the headscarf, will be permitted in universities in the region. This impacts five universities, five arts schools and 29 social advancement institutions. <sup>191</sup> The general administrator of Wallonia-Brussels Education, which administers public schools in the region, stated that the restriction on religious dress was reversed "in the name of inclusion of the greatest numbers, of emancipation and the fight against inequalities," though restrictions may remain in place were demanded by "security" or "hygiene." <sup>192</sup> Hygiene has regularly been used to justify religious dress restrictions, though it is not clear what this refers to.

*Teachers: Case law:* The right of teachers of Islam to wear a headscarf during and outside their religious education classes has been confirmed by the courts on several occasions. The State Council has ruled in favor of teachers in a Flemish community school in 2016, 193 teachers in a community school in Chaudfontaine in 2015, 194 and teachers in a public school of Grâce-Hollogne in 2013, 195, 196

The situation for teachers who teach other subjects is a bit more complicated. A teacher in a Charleroi public (city) school lost her case in the first instance but won on appeal after having been dismissed for wearing a headscarf. On appeal, the court held that she could wear a headscarf, as she did not engage in proselytizing and acted neutrally, ordering her reinstatement. This provoked an immediate response from Charleroi's City Council, which adopted a rule demanding strict neutrality from teachers and banning religious symbols in city schools. 197 The teacher challenged this rule before the State Council but lost in March 2013. The State Council ruled that "a teacher has the obligation to obey the orders directed at her by the

[Headscarf] [Education]

[Teachers]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

hierarchical authority, except when they are manifestly illegal."<sup>198</sup> She brought her case before the State Council several times but finally gave up after a series of losses.<sup>199</sup>

In 2010, a teacher in a public (city) school who had been dismissed for wearing a headscarf won before the Court of Appeal in Mons, which held that the French-speaking community school neutrality rule did not apply to her, as she was employed in a public city school. As the city at the time did not have a specific rule demanding neutrality, the court ordered her reinstatement.<sup>200</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Education]
[Students]

Students: Case law: In May 2020, a lower court struck down a headscarf ban adopted by the provincial council of Brabant-Wallon.<sup>201</sup> The ban prohibited the wearing of conspicuous religious, political, or philosophical symbols in public schools. The ban had resulted in the expulsion of several students. One of these students brought her case to the lower court of Brabant-Wallon, where the judge ruled in her favor. The judge stated that the principle of secularism did not exist in Belgium like it did in France. The judge concluded that the principle of neutrality was not in fact neutral and that the choice of pursuing a policy of neutrality is a highly political act in itself.<sup>202</sup> The decision constitutes a departure from a ruling by the same court a few months prior, in which the court had upheld a religious dress restriction based on neutrality.<sup>203</sup>

At the level of restrictions implemented by schools, in June 2020, the Belgium Constitutional Court found that prohibiting religious symbols in higher education did not constitute a violation of religious freedom or the right to education under the Belgian Constitution and European Convention on Human Rights. The decision followed after a Brussels court referred to the Constitutional Court a case of a group of Muslim women who challenged the Francisco Ferrer University College in Brussels for not allowing students to wear headscarves. The Court adopted an exclusive interpretation of neutrality, as outlined above, though it noted that educational institutions may opt to take an inclusive approach instead. While the Court's decision concerned a public school in Brussels, it has wider implications for all public schools. The ruling sparked controversy. Many universities stated explicitly that they will not enact a ban, as the above-mentioned decision in Wallonia.<sup>204, 205</sup>

In October 2014, the State Council ruled in favor of two Sikh pupils in Sint-Truiden<sup>206</sup> and Borgloon,<sup>207</sup> and a Muslim pupil in Dendermonde,<sup>208</sup> who had taken legal actions against the GO! ban in community schools in Flanders. The State Council struck down the schools' religious dress restrictions for

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

pupils. It held that schools cannot restrict pupils' freedom of religion when there is no evidence of any problems that would justify limiting such a fundamental freedom. It is therefore clear that a general ban as proposed by GO! and approved by the Flemish Education Council, which the State Council does not have the authority to directly annul, is not justified. GO! has refused to implement the decision in all of its schools, claiming the State Council's decision only relates to the three schools involved.<sup>209</sup>

The precedent set by the State Council has not always been followed by the courts. In February 2017, the Court of Tongeren granted 11 pupils from two schools in Maasmechelen in Limburg the right to wear their religious dress at school, relying on the State Council's decision in 2014.<sup>210</sup> In response, GO! again refused to revoke its restriction calling for a headscarf ban in all schools, as a result of which pupils are forced to fight each school regulation separately.<sup>211</sup> In December 2019, however, the Antwerp Court of Appeals overturned the Court of Tongeren's decision.<sup>212</sup> The Court ruled that religious dress restrictions would allow parents to have their children "be educated in a neutral learning environment," implying that a headscarf would disturb the school's neutrality.<sup>213</sup>

The above-outlined string of cases leading to the State Council's decision in 2014 followed a case from 2009 on the competence of GO! to restrict religious dress in schools. The case involved another Muslim pupil who took legal action against the decision of GO!. The pupil had left a school in Antwerp as a result of religious dress restrictions, when GO! decided to implement a general ban in all schools. The State Council was asked to suspend the ban and decide whether GO! in fact had the authority to implement such a regulation for pupils. The question was referred to the Constitutional Court, which in March 2011 decided that GO! did, in fact, have competence in the matter. <sup>214</sup> In September 2011, the State Council thus lifted the suspension on GO!'s general ban. <sup>215, 216</sup>A case was brought to the State Council arguing a violation of religious freedom, but in the course of the legal proceedings—which took three years—the pupil in question graduated, causing her to lose standing in the case. <sup>217</sup>

There is currently a case pending before the European Court of Human Rights, *Mikyas and Others v Beligum*, which regards a prohibition by GO! in Flanders on the wearing of religious dress during school activities. The prohibition had been implemented though internal regulations by two public high schools. The applicants argue that the prohibition violates Articles 8, 9 and 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights and Article 2 of Protocol No. 1, both taken alone and in conjunction with Article 14 of the Convention. The Court of First Instance of Limburg found the prohibition

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

inapplicable but dismissed the students' claims for compensation. The Court of Appeal of Antwerp overturned the decision at first instance and held that the students' claim was unfounded. A lawyer of the Court of Cassation assessed that the case did not have any chance of appeal. <sup>218</sup>

*Parents:* In October 2016, controversy arose in Brussels when the City Council backed the decision of a community school that did not allow parents of pupils to wear headscarves when they volunteered for school activities. According to the Council, parents can wear religious dress when they take part in activities as parents, but when they take up the role of school volunteers they fall under the same obligation of neutrality as teachers.<sup>219</sup>

Access to goods and services: At the domestic court level, there have been a number of cases regarding women who were refused access to services for wearing a headscarf. In particular, a few of the recent cases addressed instances when women wearing headscarves were denied access to an ice cream parlor, a restaurant terrace, a bowling alley, a gym, and swimming pools.

In the case against the ice cream parlor, in 2014 the court of first instance found no discrimination for banning women wearing a headscarf, but the court of appeal overruled the decision in 2015. In the case concerning access to the gym, in 2015 the court of appeal also held that the denial of access to the gym did not amount to discrimination, claiming it was justified on grounds of safety. The courts of first instance did, however, find discrimination in the cases concerning the denial of access to the restaurant terrace in 2009, the bowling alley in 2011, and the swimming pool in 2018.

As reported by scholars in the field, the common justifications that were invoked in the cases focus on safety and hygiene. In the case on access to the restaurant terrace in particular, the restriction was justified by "the incompatibility of the wearing of a headscarf with the atmosphere within the establishment." In the case of the swimming pool, the establishment attempted to argue that burkinis (loose body-covering swimsuits that include a headcover) were unhygienic, but the judge ruled that hygiene did not apply in the circumstances. Even though the courts did find discrimination in some instances, the situation still creates a worrying atmosphere for headscarf wearers because their rights are not being protected in all cases.

### **National Legislation**

Belgium's legal framework to combat discrimination in general, and discrimination against Muslim workers wearing Islamic clothing in

[Headscarf]

[Education]

[Parents]

[Headscarf]
[Goods and Services]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

particular, is set out at the constitutional and federal legislative level. <sup>220</sup> At the federal level, relevant legislation against discrimination consists of two main laws: the federal law against certain forms of discrimination (or Antidiscrimination Law, 2007) and the federal law against discrimination between women and men (the Gender Law, 2007). At the regional level, both in the Flemish- and the French-speaking communities, similar legislation is in place.

### **Bulgaria**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

While Muslims have historically been a part of Bulgarian society, they have been subject to discriminatory treatment which has worsened over the years. A national ban on face veils was enacted in 2016, and schools are permitted to prohibit Muslim students from wearing a headscarf. Prior to the introduction of the national ban, the local government of Pazardzhik in central Bulgaria enacted a general ban against wearing face veils in public. The bans were justified with claims that the face veil demonstrates support for radical Islam or a foreign political agenda, that it does not constitute traditional religious dress for Bulgarian Muslims, and that they counter terrorism and preserve the nation's secularity. There are various documented incidents of Muslims, particularly Muslim women wearing a headscarf, being harassed and abused. The discrimination and hostility Muslims face in Bulgaria are very serious and can result in violence. <sup>221</sup>

### **Background**

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Muslims make up about 10 percent of the total population according to the 2011 census, while a 2017 survey puts the estimate at about 15 percent of the total population. <sup>222</sup> The mostly indigenous communities consist of ethnic Turks, Pomaks, and Roma-Muslims who have been particularly isolated from mainstream Bulgarian society as a consequence of discriminatory policies and public attitudes. <sup>223</sup>

There are various documented incidents of Muslims being harassed and abused. Such incidents have particularly targeted Muslim women wearing headscarves, and range from threats to spitting, throwing liquid, and using dogs to chase people away. <sup>224</sup> The discrimination and hostilities Muslims are subjected to in Bulgaria are thus of a serious nature and can result in violence. <sup>225</sup> In 2019, the Grand Mufti's Office called on the police to investigate an attack on its office in Sofia, the country's capital, which took place three days after swastikas and other hate symbols were scratched onto a mosque in the central town of Karlovo. <sup>226</sup>

Notwithstanding the growing trend of anti-Muslim violence, a 2019 Pew survey found that 69 percent of Bulgarians had a favorable view of Bulgarian Muslims and 21 percent had an unfavorable view. <sup>227</sup> This may be attributed to the presence of indigenous Bulgarian Muslims, commonly known as Pomaks. Pomaks are largely descendants of Bulgarian Christians who converted to Islam during the period of Ottoman rule, while retaining the Bulgarian language as well as certain Orthodox practices. <sup>228</sup>

#### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National general bans: In 2016, the nationalist Patriotic Front coalition put forward a bill, the Wearing Clothing Covering or Hiding the Face Act (Проект на Закон за носенето на облекло прикриващо или скриващо лицето), aimed at banning the wearing of face veils in public. <sup>229</sup> In September 2016, the Bulgarian Parliament adopted the bill but left out several proposed provisions, such as the suspension of social benefits as a punishment for violating the law. A proposal to criminalize the act of forcing people to wear face veils was also not adopted in the Criminal Code. <sup>230</sup>

While other legal bans across the EU are implicit in their aim to restrict Muslim women from the practice of wearing veils, Bulgarian law is relatively explicit. The bill identified Islam as its main target and provided reasons for the need to ban Muslim veils in public. Those reasons include claims that the face veil is a demonstration of radical Islam and not a traditional religious dress code for Bulgarian Muslims, that veil wearers represent a political agenda that is supported by outsiders (i.e., Gulf

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

countries), that banning face covering serves as a mechanism to counter terrorism and preserve the nation's secularity, and that Muslim women are forced to wear face veils

According to the face veil ban, which is similar to an earlier enacted local ban in central Bulgaria outlined below, any kind of nontransparent or semitransparent clothing that covers the mouth, nose, and eyes of the wearer may not be worn in publicly accessible places within the territory of Bulgaria. The law provides exceptions, including face coverings for health or professional reasons, sports or cultural events, and inside religious buildings, or when provided by the law. The law is enforced by the police with different levels of fines in case of violation. First time violators face a fine of 200 BGN ( $\in$ 100), while a 1,500 BGN ( $\in$ 765) fine can be applied for repeated violations. Fines for public servants in violation are 500 BGN ( $\in$ 250) for the first time, and 2,000 BGN ( $\in$ 1000) for subsequent violations. Since its enactment, there is no data available on how the law has been enforced in practice, if at all.

*Natinal specific bans*: There are no national specific bans on religious dress.

Case law: There have been no court cases challenging the national general ban.

#### **Local Bans**

[Face Veil]

Local general bans: The local government of Pazardzhik in central Bulgaria became the first town in the country to prohibit the wearing of face veils in public in April 2016. The municipal regulation, which received support from local politicians, was supposedly intended to prevent tensions among communities and boost security. <sup>231</sup> According to the regulation, wearing clothing or accessories that hide the face and prevent identification of citizens and public servants in public space is forbidden. The ban applies to all public institutions, urban areas, and administrative, educational, or social services as well as places for public recreation, such as parks, cultural areas, or any places that are publicly accessible including public transportation.

Exceptions are made for face coverings for health and professional requirements, temporary sports and cultural activities, the home, and places of worship.  $^{232}$  Wearing helmets for safety reasons is also allowed. Fines ranging from 300 BGN ( $\in$ 150) to 1,000 BGN ( $\in$ 500) are charged to those who do not comply.  $^{233}$  The regulation has already been enforced. At least three cases have been reported, all taking place around the Roma neighborhood where a small number of women wear face veils. According

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

to a report by the Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, there were incidents where police officers intentionally waited in the Roma neighborhood to impose fines on people wearing face veils, including women sitting in a private car. However, authorities never collected the fines.<sup>234</sup>

Local specific ban: There are no local specific bans on religious dress.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf] [Education]

*Education*: While there are no formal bans on religious dress in education, several attempts to introduce such restrictions have been made. In 2006, the Ministry of Education issued a verbal order to the regional inspectorate of education in Smolyan that schools should not allow headscarves to be worn and that those in violation would be subject to financial sanctions. This informal policy had a significant impact, as there are many girls wearing headscarves in the region.<sup>235</sup> In 2009, the government introduced a draft bill to ban conspicuous religious symbols such as Muslim headscarves and large Christian crosses from schools.<sup>236</sup> However, the bill was not approved by the legislature.<sup>237</sup>

In practice, there have been several incidents related to schools banning Islamic headscarves. In 2016, a female Muslim student in a school in the region of Blagoevgrad was pressured by the director of her school to stop wearing a headscarf. She was suspended from the school for a period of one week, after which she left to continue her studies at a religious high school. <sup>238</sup> In this case, the Supreme Administrative Court decided that the ban was justified for securing the secularity of the school and that it was not a violation of the right to education, given that the Muslim female student could move to another school that allows the headscarf. The Court did not assess the freedom of religion of the student in question. <sup>239</sup>

In 2007, after a headmaster informed three girls that they were not permitted to wear their headscarves in accordance with the above outlined verbal order by the Ministry of Education, the Antidiscrimination Commission clarified that schools without a uniform requirement are not required to implement the policy. <sup>240</sup> The Commission, however, dismissed the complaint on the basis that the headmaster did not institute a mandatory school uniform when he could have done so, and hence did not discriminate against the students. This resulted in an "odd set of policies": if a headmaster did institute a mandatory uniform policy to prohibit girls from wearing their headscarves, the commission would sanction such a policy anyway. <sup>241</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In 2006, two Muslim female students unsuccessfully lodged a complaint against their school after the headmaster banned them from wearing their headscarf on the basis that it was not part of the uniform. They were told that they would not be allowed to attend school unless they removed their headscarves. The Minister of Education, Daniel Vulchev, responded by arguing that Bulgarian education was secular and, adopting the terminology of the recently passed ban on headscarves in France, claimed that conspicuous religious symbols had no place in public schools. <sup>242</sup> A grievance was then filed with the Antidiscrimination Commission, which upheld the school's ban on the basis of defending secularism and safeguarding women's rights. <sup>243</sup> This case led to the Ministry of Education's verbal order, as outlined above.

#### **National Legislation**

Bulgaria's legal protection against discrimination on the basis of religion is set out in the Constitution (1991, amended in 2015) and the Protection against Discrimination Act (2003, amended in 2006). According to the Constitution, there shall be no privileges or restrictions of rights on the grounds of religion<sup>244</sup> and "everyone shall have the right to ... develop his own culture in accordance with his ethnic self-identification, which shall be recognized and guaranteed by the law."<sup>245</sup> The constitutional principle is upheld in the Law on Protection against Discrimination, which prohibits any direct or indirect discrimination on grounds of, *inter alia*, religion or belief. In employment in particular, the law prohibits employers from refusing to employ or to employ on less favorable terms a person on the basis of his or her religion or belief.<sup>246</sup>

### Croatia

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

There are no national or local bans restricting Muslim women's dress in Croatia. While there is limited data regarding anti-Muslim hate crimes and religious discrimination, there is some evidence that discrimination against

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Muslim women occurs. A few politicians have made Islamophobic and antiimmigrant statements, and there have been accusations of mistreatment of asylum seekers at the border. However, the government has not enacted legislation targeting Muslim communities, and on the whole, there has not been a significant uptick in anti-Muslim sentiments in mainstream politics or society over the past decade.

#### **Background**

Islam is the second-largest religion in Croatia after Christianity. -Croatia's Muslim community constitutes approximately of 1.5 percent of the national population and totals approximately 63,000 residents. <sup>247</sup> Islam has been officially recognized in Croatia since 1916, when parliament passed a law that introduced equality between Islam and other religions. <sup>248</sup>

There is limited information about how Islam is perceived and how Muslims are treated but Croatian government bodies have strongly rejected Islamophobic or anti-immigrant statements.<sup>249</sup>

However, hateful remarks directed at Muslims do occur in Croatia. In April 2019, for example, a group of Muslim tourists were praying in a parking lot in the city of Split. Several individuals reported the situation to police, who determined that the tourists had not violated any rules. News of the incident was published on the internet, and Split City Councilmember Martin Pauk wrote a Facebook post saying that the tourists were "marking their territory" by praying, sending a message that "they have arrived and that there will be more of them." He likened the tourists' prayer to the activity of dogs. <sup>250</sup> In August 2019, far-right presidential candidate Anto Djapic accused Muslims in Bosnia and Herzegovina of cooperating with Serbs "in the Islamization of Croatian territory." That same month, the Ministry of Foreign and European affairs suspended a Berlin-based Croatian diplomat after a number of racist and Islamophobic Facebook posts. <sup>251</sup> Later that year, the Croatian government announced the Law on Preventing Inappropriate Behavior on Social Networks, aimed at combating online hate speech and cyber-bullying.

Croatian Muslim women are said to face discrimination. For example, the *Vienna Review* reported that Muslim women wearing headscarves have faced difficulty renting apartments on account of discrimination from landlords. <sup>252</sup> But information on actual cases where Muslim women face injustices is limited.

Hate crimes are not frequently reported in Croatia. In her 2018 annual report, Croatia's Ombudsperson found that hate crimes are underreported, insufficiently recognized, and inadequately prosecuted. <sup>253</sup> Moreover, while

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

the government gathers data on hate crimes in general, it does not collect statistics on anti-Muslim hate crimes as a separate category.<sup>254</sup>

In November 2020, the Office of the EU Ombudsperson said it would launch an inquiry into the possible abuse and torture of asylum seekers by Croatian police conducting border operations. <sup>255</sup> Most asylum seekers crossing Croatia's border come from Muslim-majority countries. <sup>256</sup>

#### **National Bans**

There have been no national bans or proposals to restrict face veils or headscarves in Croatia.

#### **Local Bans**

There are no local bans or proposals to restrict face veils or headscarves in Croatia.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

In 2019, a woman employed at a public institution in Croatia requested to wear a headscarf at work. Her request was denied. In making its decision, the institution's directorship referenced the prevailing rulings of the European Courts. No discrimination case was brought. <sup>257</sup>

### **National Legislation**

Croatia's national law prohibits employment and work-related discrimination based on religious affiliation or belief. In particular, the Antidiscrimination Act bars both direct and indirect discrimination, including discrimination which "occurs when an apparently neutral provision, criterion or practice that places or could place a person in a less favorable position" is based on religion, unless the provision, criterion, or practice "can be objectively justified by a legitimate aim and the means to achieve them are appropriate and necessary." <sup>258</sup>

In 1992, Croatia's Constitution established the Office of the Ombudsperson, to protect human rights and freedoms that are recognized by law. The 2009 Antidiscrimination Act made the Office of the Ombudsperson Croatia's central equality body. As part of its responsibilities, the institution collects and analyzes data on discrimination, and issues recommendations. It reports annually to the Croatian Parliament. The Ombudsperson also has the authority to receive discrimination complaints (including complaints of religious discrimination), conduct mediation, file criminal charges related to

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

discrimination to relevant state attorney's offices, and intervene in court proceedings on behalf of the injured party.<sup>259</sup>

### **Cyprus**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

Cyprus does not have any statutory religious dress restrictions to date, nor are there any reports of restrictions being placed on Muslim women's dress. As in many other countries in Europe, Muslims in Cyprus face Islamophobia.<sup>260</sup> In a survey conducted in 2016, the majority of non-Muslim participants responded that they think Islam is a backward and violent religion that is harmful to the cultural values of Cyprus.<sup>261</sup> The situation in Cyprus is less transparent on the experiences of Turkish Cypriot Muslims.

### **Background**

Muslims have a long historical presence in Cyprus.<sup>262</sup> In 2018, the total population of the island was estimated at 1.2 million, of which 89.1 percent is Greek Orthodox Christian and 1.8 percent Muslim.<sup>263</sup> The Muslim population in the areas occupied by the Turkish Cypriot administration is not documented.

Caritas reported that three 10-year-old students in Paphos pushed a Muslim student of the same age off a veranda in 2018, resulting in injuries that required multiple hospital visits for treatment. Caritas further stated that Muslim girls have been discriminated against at school, teased, called names, pressured to eat pork, and excluded for wearing the headscarf. <sup>264</sup>

#### **National Bans**

There are no national restrictions nor proposals to ban the Islamic face veil or headscarf in Cyprus.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Local Bans**

There are neither local restrictions nor proposals on banning the Islamic face veil or headscarf in Cyprus.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No data is available.

### **National Legislation**

Religion is one of the protected grounds against discrimination, according to Cypriot laws. The protection is laid out under the Equal Treatment (Racial or Ethnic Origin) Law 59(I)/2004 and the Equal Treatment in Employment and Occupation Law 58(I)/2004. According to Section 4 of Law 58(I)/2004, the protection extends to all public and private sector bodies. The laws prohibit discrimination based on religion, which occurs when "a person is treated less favorably on grounds of religion than another person is, has been or would be treated in a comparable situation."<sup>265</sup>

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **Czech Republic**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

In the Czech Republic, the debate around head coverings in recent years has focused on the case of a secondary nursing school in Prague that banned headscarves in class. In 2017, a Czech court dismissed a Muslim student's discrimination claims, but the Czech Supreme Court reversed that decision, finding that the ban had no legitimate aim and therefore violated the student's rights. Since the beginning of the European refugee crisis in 2015, overt anti-Muslim sentiment has become pervasive in the Czech Republic, with the Czech President equating migrants with terrorists. Mosques have been frequently vandalized and Muslims—particularly Muslim women wearing head or face coverings—routinely face verbal attacks. <sup>266</sup> However, this widespread animosity has not translated into public headscarf or face veil bans.

### **Background**

The Czech Republic is home to a Muslim population of no more than 20,000 persons, 0.2 percent of the total population.<sup>267</sup> The country's Muslims are mostly Arabs who came to what was then Czechoslovakia in the 1970s and 1980s to study.<sup>268</sup> However, due to the recent migration crisis in Europe, the Muslim community, especially women, have faced increasing anti-Muslim sentiments.<sup>269</sup>

Discussions on Islamic headscarves and face veils draw significant public attention in the country. In addition, in July 2017, a dispute over banning full-body swimsuits worn by some Muslim women arose in a Czech water park.<sup>270</sup>

At the political level, Czech President Miloš Zeman, an active anti-refugee advocate, claimed that it was "practically impossible" to integrate the Muslim community<sup>271</sup> and that Muslims should be deported.<sup>272</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Bans**

The Czech Republic has no laws regulating the wearing of Islamic garments, and no proposals on the ban of face veils or headscarves have made it to the official level.<sup>273</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

There are no local bans or proposals for a ban in the Czech Republic.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf] [Education]

Education: The first incident that stirred controversy over Islamic headwear in the Czech Republic dates back to 2013, when two female Muslim students dropped out of a secondary nursing school in Prague because they were not allowed to wear headscarves. The Czech Ombudswoman Anna Śabatová publicly took the Muslim students' side, for which she faced widespread criticism. <sup>274</sup> One of the students, Ayan Jamaal Ahmednuur, took her case to the Prague Court, seeking an apology and financial compensation from the school administration for discriminating against her based on her faith. In January 2017, the Court dismissed her claim on the grounds that Ahmednuur was unable to prove her eligibility to attend the school, but made no comment on the question of her freedom to wear religious clothing. 275 Ahmednuur appealed the verdict, and the Prague Regional Court concluded that the school's headscarf ban did not discriminate on the basis of religion. <sup>276</sup> The Court found that Ahmednuur did not have a right to wear a headscarf on the premises of a public school, which must maintain a neutral environment.<sup>277</sup> The following year, Czech President Miloš Zeman gave the national award of merit to the school's headmistress, whom he called "a brave woman fighting an intolerant ideology." 278

The Czech Supreme Court reversed the Regional Court's decision, holding that the school discriminated against Ahmednuur, and that the headscarf ban was not justified by a legitimate aim. <sup>279</sup> Although "wearing hijab is an alien element in the Czech society," the Court noted, "it does not constitute a breach of social norms or morality." Citing the antidiscrimination provisions of the Education Code, the Court reasoned that visible symbols of Islam should be tolerated, particularly in the field of education which is responsible for "lead[ing] students towards the respect of rights of others and religious tolerance." <sup>280</sup> The case was sent back to the District Court to implement the Supreme Court's decision. <sup>281</sup> However, Ahmednuur withdrew her complaint before a final verdict was reached, fearing hate-motivated

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Face Veil]
[Education]

[Both]

attacks.<sup>282</sup> According to her lawyer, Ahmednuur had faced threats and had difficulty finding work and housing as a result of the lawsuit.<sup>283, 284</sup>

In April 2016, a grammar school in Teplice, a spa town with a large Muslim tourist clientele, received letters from dozens of local residents demanding that a young female student, who practices Islam and wears a face veil, be expelled from the school, fearing that the young girl was disseminating Islamist propaganda. <sup>285</sup> The director of the grammar school refused to expel the student.

Also in Teplice, there was a move by residents to forbid the wearing of the face veil and other Muslim head coverings. <sup>286</sup> The matter was eventually dropped by the City Council—even though the proposal had the approval of a majority—raising speculation that the ban was abandoned because it would not sit well with the Muslim tourists who drive much of the local economy. <sup>287</sup>

#### **National Legislation**

National legislative protection against discrimination on various grounds, including religion, is provided in the Antidiscrimination Act (No. 198/2009 Coll). Even though the act fully implements EU legislation (directives and primary laws) and provides judicial protection against discrimination, it is not widely used due to its limitations. According to the act, the victim has to prove that they faced different and/or discriminatory practices. The defendant has to prove that discrimination did not happen. The Ahmednuur case discussed above is one of the rare occasions where the Antidiscrimination Act was applied.

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Denmark**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

Discrimination against people categorized as being of "non-Western" background, made up predominantly of Danes with origins in Muslim majority countries, has intensified markedly in recent years. Restrictive measures in housing, education, and criminal justice are negatively impacting the lives of the Muslim population. Denmark introduced a national ban on headscarves for judges in 2009. In 2018, the Danish Parliament passed a national ban on face coverings. In addition, there are numerous private institutional restrictions regulating dress. Local and private restrictions on Muslim women's dress have survived legal challenges and remain in place despite objections. The current restrictions have led to threats against Muslim women in public and have also restricted their employment and educational opportunities.

### **Background**

As of 2020, there are an estimated 280,000 to 310,000 Muslims in Denmark, making up approximately 5 percent of the population. <sup>288</sup> Seventy-one percent of Muslims in Denmark are estimated to be Danish citizens. <sup>289</sup> As of February 2018, the five largest ethnic groups among Muslims in Denmark were: Turks (18.8 percent), Syrians (11.8 percent), Iraqis (8.9 percent), Pakistanis (7.8 percent), and Somalis (6.8 percent). There has been a large increase in the number of Syrian Muslims in Denmark over the past few years (11.8 percent compared to 4.8 percent in 2015).

In a 2019 survey of approximately 5900 Danes, 28 percent either agreed or partly agreed that Muslim immigrants should be deported. <sup>290</sup> Relatedly, a 2020 report co-authored by SOS Racisme Danmark found that 43 percent of young people with minority backgrounds experienced discrimination during the past year. <sup>291</sup> A 2019 study found that wearing a headscarf had a negative impact on a candidate's chance of finding a job: minority women job seekers who wore headscarves were required to write 60 percent more applications for employment before receiving an interview compared to non-minority job seekers.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Denmark has seen a strong rise in anti-Muslim sentiments since the early 2000s. Although spearheaded by the right-wing Danish People's Party, traditionally centrist and left-wing parties have supported anti-Muslim rhetoric as well. The international controversy around cartoons of the prophet Mohammed, published by the Danish newspaper *Jyllands-Posten* in 2005, was a significant turning point in the debate about Muslims. <sup>292</sup> The affair took place against the backdrop of discussions about whether Muslims can be considered Danish and thus be accorded the same basic rights to practice their faith and to have equal access to different social spheres. <sup>293</sup>

One example of the rise in anti-Muslim sentiment is the backlash targeting a young Danish Muslim woman of Palestinian origin, Asmaa Abdol-Hamid, who was elected to a local city council in 2005. She wore a headscarf and greeted men by putting her hand on her heart instead of shaking their hands. <sup>294</sup> In 2007, following the controversy created around her candidacy for the Red-Green Alliance, she lost her bid for a seat in the Danish Parliament despite her progressive stance on women's and LGBTQI rights. She would have been the first Muslim woman in Danish Parliament. The Danish People's Party has led various campaigns against Muslim women's religious dress. In the case of Abdol-Hamid, they compared her headscarf with the Nazi swastika. <sup>295</sup>

Anti-Muslim sentiments have become more institutionalized in recent years. In March 2018, the Danish government introduced the "Ghetto Package," a bundle of over twenty different legislative proposals affecting numerous spheres of life as diverse as childcare, housing, criminal justice, and education. Nearly all of these proposals have become law. The stated aim of the "Ghetto Package" is to "eradicate" by 2030 areas defined as "ghettos" under the law. The determining factor in identifying so-called "ghettos" is whether the majority of an area's residents are from a "non-Western" background.<sup>296</sup> The "Ghetto Package" requires that Danish not-for-profit housing known as "common family housing" be reduced to a maximum of 40 percent in "tough ghettos" by 2030.<sup>297</sup> This has led to the threat of evictions across Denmark. The "Ghetto Package" enjoys wide political support, including by the Social Democrats leading Denmark's current minority government. Additions to the "Ghetto Package" were recently backed by a cross-party voting agreement, with the aim of reducing those of "non-Western" background to a maximum of 30 percent in any housing estate within the next 10 years.<sup>298</sup>

The introduction of the "Ghetto Package" highlights the racial discrimination against persons of "non-Western" background, a category used by the Ministry of the Interior and Housing, which includes immigrants

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

and descendants from all countries other than those defined as Western, a group of countries that lack geographical coherence but have majority white/Christian populations.<sup>299</sup> The use of the term is inextricably linked to race, color, descent, and national or ethnic origin. Several UN Special Rapporteurs have expressed their concern that the "Ghetto Package" disproportionately affects majority "non-Western" communities, including those that are predominantly Muslim.<sup>300</sup>

The "Ghetto Package" forms part of a broader series of measures that have disproportionately targeted Muslim communities. For example, following their electoral win in 2019, the Social Democrats carried out an audit of 17 independent schools in Denmark, 7 of which were Muslim schools (or 41 percent). The country's 25 Muslim schools (4.5 percent of Denmark's 558 independent schools) were significantly overrepresented in the audit. Again, the "non-Western" background category played a role in the selection of schools to be audited, highlighting the use of the category to target Muslim citizens. Several legislative and policy developments in recent years further target Muslim and/or "non-Western" citizens. These include regulations requiring handshakes during citizenship ceremonies, the revocation of dual citizenship, and a paradigm-shift in immigration and asylum procedures focused on repatriation rather than settlement, including Denmark's recent decision to return Syrian refugees to the Damascus region. 301 302

The government continues to introduce other policies and laws related to "non-Western" background: in October 2021 it stopped student enrolment in six high schools based on a June 10, 2021, political agreement to temporarily close admission to high schools that have a large number of "non-Western" students, in order to ensure that those the government considers to be "Danish" students do not become a "minority."<sup>303</sup>

Hate crimes against the Muslim population have increased following the passage of the 2018 "burqa ban." Multiple women have reported being verbally or physically assaulted in public for wearing headscarves and face veils. <sup>304</sup> It should be noted that before the passage of the "burqa ban," few women in Denmark even wore face veils. According to a study commissioned by the Danish government in 2009, <sup>305</sup> estimates of women who wear the face veil ranged between 100 and 200 (at most 0.2 percent of Muslim women); approximately half of these women were identified as Danes who converted to Islam. <sup>306, 307</sup>

Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National general bans: In May 2018, the Danish government passed a law banning "any garment that hides the face in public." The law, which went into effect in August 2018, makes it illegal for Muslim women to wear a face veil. Violating the ban results in a fine of 1,000 kroner (€134). Exceptions are allowed for "recognizable purposes," such as cold weather or festivities, leaving it to the police to judge when the law is violated. <sup>308 309</sup> During the drafting process of the bill, legislators specified that the permitted exceptions would include Christian religious festivals, such as Shrove Tuesday. <sup>310</sup>

The Conservatives political party first proposed a ban on face veils, coined the "burqa ban," in public spaces in 2009. The party presented the proposal as an attempt to "liberate" Muslim women who they believed were oppressed. The government initially did not move forward with the proposal due to the limited use of face veils in Danish society, as well as concerns about the constitutionality of the proposal. In 2018, however, the revived proposal received support from a broad coalition of left- and right-leaning parties. Proponents argued that the ban would prevent the suppression of women's rights, and that wearing a face veil was not "compatible with the values" of Danish society. During the first year the ban was in effect, 23 people were fined for violating the law.

Following the passage of the ban, several Muslim women reported that they were verbally or physically assaulted in public for wearing face veils. One woman was verbally assaulted by several male shoppers in late 2018. She attempted to press charges against the assailants for committing a hate crime, but the state attorney argued she was not threatened according to Danish criminal law and therefore could not press charges. The woman's attorney feared the case set a precedent for vigilantism against women wearing face veils.<sup>315</sup>

[Headscarf]
[The Judiciary]

National specific bans: In July 2009, the Danish Parliament passed the Headscarf Act, a ban on judges wearing headscarves and similar religious or political symbols, including crucifixes, Jewish yarmulkes, and turbans, in courtrooms. A number of lawyers have questioned the legality of the law and threatened to sue, but the law remains in place.<sup>316</sup> To date no cases have been brought involving this law.<sup>317</sup>

[Headscarf]

*Proposals*: There have been efforts to extend the ban to more public places or institutions in Denmark, including, for example, a proposal to ban headscarves in driver's license photographs, <sup>318</sup> but none of them have been

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

successful. In 2016, the Danish People's Party proposed extending the law to Danish public schools and hospitals. In 2019, parliament rejected a proposal to ban public servants from wearing religious symbols. <sup>319</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

There are no bans or proposals for a ban at the local level in Denmark.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

*Private employment*: The right of Muslim women to wear headscarves has been threatened in private employment over the last decade.<sup>320</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

In 2005, the Danish Supreme Court ruled in favor of Dansk Supermarked (the largest retail chain in Denmark) by stating that it was not illegal to prohibit employees from wearing religious headscarves during working hours. <sup>321</sup> The Court held that the termination of the employee was not a violation of Danish Antidiscrimination Law because the supermarket had adopted a universal dress code for all employees. <sup>322</sup> In 2013, however, Dansk Supermarked voluntarily removed its rule banning the wearing of religious headscarves. <sup>323</sup> The decision by Dansk Supermarked was the result of a boycott against Netto, another supermarket in Denmark, for prohibiting its Muslim employees from wearing a headscarf.

In 2000, a trainee was fired from the Danish department store Magasin for wearing a headscarf at work. The store claimed that the headscarf did not comply with their employee clothing rules. The case was taken to court, and the Crown Court ruled that Magasin's justification had no legal foundation and therefore constituted indirect discrimination.<sup>324</sup>

[Face Veil]
[Public Employment]

Public employment: In 2006, before Denmark's face veil ban was introduced, a woman applied for authorization to work as a daytime nanny at a Copenhagen municipal institution. Her application was rejected because she wore a dress that covered her face and hands. The reason put forward by the municipal body was that wearing such dress inhibited the woman's contact and interaction with the children. In a similar case in the municipality of Odense, a woman wearing a face veil did not have her application rejected, but had to agree not to wear her face veil at work.<sup>325</sup>

[Face Veil]
[Public Education]

*Public Education*: Before the 2018 face veil ban was passed in Denmark, a number of Danish adult education programs, the Danish Voksenuddannelsescentre (VUC), had already prohibited women from wearing face veils in class. <sup>326</sup> In 2016, a VUC in a Copenhagen suburb made the news after it banned six Muslim women from class on the grounds that

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

covering one's face hampers the quality of teaching in the classroom and limits the "free exchange of ideas." The ban was criticized by the VUC student council, but the Danish Ministry of Education stated that the education centers were within their rights to ban any veiling clothing item, as there is no central framework in Denmark for regulating staff or student attire.<sup>327</sup>

[Face Veil] [Practice] Bans in practice: In 2007, the municipality of Århus decided that two women wearing face veils would not be entitled to receive a jobseeker's allowance after losing their jobs, because both women had refused to replace their face veil with the required work attire. This decision received support from a number of other Danish municipalities, which argued that women who cover their faces are unable to receive cash benefits because they are effectively not available for work.

#### **National Legislation**

The Danish Constitution protects all persons' full enjoyment of civil and political rights regardless of creed or descent. In addition, a number of EU laws have been incorporated into Danish legislation to prevent discrimination. The Danish Act on Nondiscrimination (1996) prohibits direct and indirect employment discrimination on the grounds of religion or faith.<sup>329</sup> In addition, the Act on the Prohibition of Discrimination due to Race (1971) criminalizes discrimination on the basis of race, skin color, national or ethnic origin, belief, and sexual orientation. It applies to the provision of goods or services, as well as access to public places and events. The Act on Ethnic Equal Treatment prohibits harassment and protects against discrimination as it relates to social protections including healthcare, education, social benefits, and housing. Furthermore, the Act on the Board of Equal Treatment (2008) deals with discrimination complaints on the basis of race, ethnicity and religion, as well as other forms of discrimination.

In 2003, the Danish Institute for Human Rights (DIHR) was appointed as the National Equality Body on race and ethnicity. Within Denmark, the DIHR has the authority to assist victims of discrimination, as well as to monitor legislative developments, conduct surveys, issue reports, and make recommendations regarding discrimination. The DIHR reports annually to the Danish Parliament and can bring certain complaints before the Board on Equal Treatment. The DIHR has issued reports that include criticism of the face veil ban, as well as other laws which marginalize Muslim communities, but without apparent effect. 331

### **Estonia**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

Despite having a small Muslim population, right-wing Estonian officials have created controversy around Islamic dress, proposing bans on headscarves and face veils. Although no proposal has been passed to date, the rhetoric used to justify such proposals clearly reflects Islamophobia and xenophobia. Even with legislation guaranteeing the rights of minorities against discrimination, Estonian politics contains strong examples of outright anti-Muslim sentiments.

#### **Background**

There is little data available on the Estonian Muslim population. The only relevant data comes from the National Census of 2011, which reported 1,508 Muslims, 0.13 percent of the total population. <sup>332</sup> Indigenous Tatar Muslims have played a key role in the community's establishment in the country, although today the majority of Estonia's Muslim community represent more than 50 nationalities and includes Estonian converts. <sup>333</sup> The numbers of women wearing a headscarf or face veil appear to be low in Estonia. <sup>334</sup>

The Muslim community in Estonia receives very little media coverage. <sup>335</sup> It has been reported that Muslims in Estonia do not face discrimination in employment based on their religion but rather due to a lack of language skills and their citizenship status, like other minority groups. <sup>336</sup> Studies in 2012 suggested that Islamophobia was not a serious or widespread issue in Estonia. Although, in 2016, security concerns were raised by Estonian authorities about the increase in "Muslim radicalization." <sup>337</sup>

There are no media reports on incidents or legal cases related to discrimination against Muslim women who wear religious dress.

#### **National Bans**

There are no rules restricting Islamic headwear in public or any other space or region.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Face Veil]

*Proposals*: In 2017 the Conservative People's Party of Estonia (EKRE), an ethno-nationalist right-wing political party, withdrew a burqa and niqab ban proposal they had submitted to Estonia's parliament.<sup>338</sup> The proposal for the ban cited national security concerns and Estonian traditions and values as a justification for the ban. The bill, however, was withdrawn because members of the Estonian Parliament felt it was not right to restrict the proposal to those of "Arab culture"—instead the bill should be revised to ban face coverings in general.<sup>339</sup> The Minister of Justice Urmas Reinsalu was set to reintroduce a revised proposal a month after the original was withdrawn by the EKRE, however there has been no news of a revised proposal.

[Both]

In 2015, in response to a rise in Muslim immigrants coming to Estonia, a proposal to ban the burqa was put forward. The Estonian Social Security Minister Margus Tsahkna of the conservative Pro Patria and Res Publica Union Party introduced the proposal. 340 Shortly after, the Estonian Justice Ministry formalized the proposal and submitted a bill banning women from wearing a hijab and niqab in public places, especially in state, educational, and medical institutions. 341 The ban was justified by security concerns—that is, face covering was said to be unsafe for the public. However, the bill was not supported by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The public, including Estonia's Muslims, also criticized it. Reasons for the opposition were not based on religious freedom or Muslim women's rights but mainly on the fact that legalizing the ban would be costly and unnecessary since there had been no reports of women wearing burqas or face veils in the whole country. 342 The proposal is no longer under consideration.

#### **Local Bans**

There are no local bans or proposals for a local ban in Estonia.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category were reported.

### **National Legislation**

Estonia's legislative principles on antidiscrimination based on religion and belief are stipulated in the Constitution of the Republic of Estonia (1992, amended 2011).<sup>343</sup> The Equal Treatment Act (2009) further implements the constitutional principle, especially in the field of employment. According to the act, it is against the law to discriminate against a person based on his or her religion and belief through the establishment of conditions for access to

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

employment, entering into employment contracts, or access to vocational training.<sup>344</sup> The law provides strong protection against discrimination based on religion in the fields of employment and vocational education and training. Claims of discrimination are handled by the Equal Treatment and Gender Equality Commissioner's Office or by courts. However, as already mentioned, there have been very few discrimination claims based on religion, and none of them concerned Muslims.

### **Finland**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

Muslims in Finland face discrimination and prejudice, as well as physical and verbal attacks, because of their racial, ethnic, and religious backgrounds. The situation became particularly hostile with the rise to power of the radical right Finns Party and was further exacerbated by the 2015 refugee crisis. Negative stereotypes and inaccurate depictions of Muslims pervade the media and permeate public discourse.

### **Background**

There are an estimated 150,000 Muslims residing in Finland, making up 2.7 percent of the total population. The Even though Islam's history in Finland dates back to the early 19th century, when Tatar Muslims settled in the country that was then part of the Russian empire, it went relatively unnoticed for a long time. Public debates about Islam and the presence of Muslims only emerged relatively late, targeting primarily Muslims who came to the country in the 1980s and 1990s as refugees from the Middle East, Somalia, the Balkans, Turkey, North Africa, the Indian subcontinent and Southeast Asia. Asia. He Indian subcontinent and Southeast Asia.

Attitudes towards Islam more broadly have been surveyed since 1989 and are reported to be consistently negative though stable over the years, despite the increasing presence of Muslim refugees and hardening political context.<sup>347</sup> Stereotypes and prejudice against Muslims are prevalent in Finnish national media, including TV shows and public posters. There is also a rise in hate speech and hate crimes targeting Muslims and their places

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

of worship. The main focus of recent public debates is radical Islamism, often linked to refugees.<sup>348</sup> The country saw a sharp rise in anti-Muslim hate speech and hate crimes in 2015 following an increase in the number of refugees applying for asylum in Finland.<sup>349</sup>

The Finns Party rose to power in 2011 and has propagated much of the recent anti-Muslim rhetoric, with members being convicted of anti-Muslim hate speech on different occasions. Like other right-wing parties in Europe, the party takes a hard anti-immigration and anti-Islam stance evoking a "return" to a more homogenous Finland.<sup>350</sup>

Even though Islamic clothing is rarely the center of debate, when it is discussed, it is often related to whether Muslim women are able to integrate into Finnish society. In February 2019, the Finns Party Vice President Riikka Purra stated: "We want to prohibit the use of clothing that degrades women like the burqa, niqab veils (sic) as well as veils used by little girls." 351

#### **National Bans**

Despite the rise in anti-Muslim sentiments and attempts to restrict Islamic clothing by the Finns Party, which seems to play a key role in promoting Islamic clothing restrictions, Finland does not have any legal bans.

*Proposals*: In October 2016, Finns Party MP Vesa-Matti Saarakkala submitted a legal proposal aimed at amending the Finnish Criminal Code to prohibit the wearing of face veils in public places; it included fines for noncompliance. This proposal failed.<sup>352</sup>

Previously, in 2013, the Finns Party developed a proposal to legally ban the face veil. The bill was submitted to the Finnish Parliament by Saarakkala and it aimed at banning veils that completely cover the face in public, including imposing fines on offenders. Before submitting this bill, Saaraakkala filed a written question to the Minister of Justice on this issue, seeking criminal legislation against wearing disguises or masks. The minister's reply rejected such legislation, referring to the constitutional freedom to dress according to one's own wishes.

#### **Local Bans**

Finland does not have any local bans or any proposals for such bans.

[Face Veil]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Full-Body Swimsuits]
[Goods and Services]

Access to goods and servcices: In April 2019, the Nondiscrimination Ombudsperson suggested that all swimming pools in Finland should allow visitors to wear full-body swimsuits and stated that all public pools should build separate showers so that no one is discriminated against. 353

[Both]
[Employment]

*Employment:* The discourse on discrimination against Muslim employees took a positive turn when the Regional State Administrative Agencies, which monitor employment discrimination in Finland, established that a restriction of clothing associated with religion is illegal according to the Non-discrimination Act (Yhdenvertaisuuslaki 1325/2014). A debate on employees in the education sector who wear the face veil was concluded by reference to the fact that employees are free to choose their outfits. Restrictions relating to work uniforms in Finland can only be justified by hygiene and labor safety.<sup>354</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Employment]

There have, however, been several cases where Muslim women wearing Islamic clothing were discriminated against in the workplace in Finland. In 2013, there was a case concerning an employee who had her contract terminated by her employer for wearing a headscarf. The case was first taken to the ombudsperson and then to court, where her supervisors were ordered to pay fines. The court decided that the headscarf was not a justifiable reason to annul a contract, as it does not hinder the performance of an employee in packing items or as a salesperson.<sup>355</sup>

In 2011, a saleswoman was dismissed for wearing a headscarf to work at a Helsinki Guess clothing store. The brand's managers, who claimed that the dismissal was based on the headscarf being ill suited to the company's brand, were fined by Helsinki's District Court for job discrimination in 2014.<sup>356</sup>

[Headscarf] [Education]

*Education*: There was an incident in education that took place in 2014 when a Muslim woman was denied admission to the Finnish police training school for wearing a headscarf.<sup>357</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Practice]

Bans in practice: A positive decision on headscarves was delivered by the ombudsperson's office in 2017. Female asylum seekers had been forced to remove their headscarves during the registration of their asylum applications, according to a rule issued by the police force. The rule was found to contradict the general rule on what is acceptable in photos for ID cards and passports in Finland. The ombudsperson stressed that there was no

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

clear reason why headscarves must be removed to register for asylum and called on the police force to reconsider the rule.

#### **National Legislation**

Antidiscrimination legislation in Finland is set out in two main sources: The Constitution<sup>358</sup> and the Nondiscrimination Act. In both, religion is explicitly a protected right, meaning any unequal treatment is against the law. The Nondiscrimination Act prohibits both direct and indirect discrimination. According to the law, "Discrimination is indirect if an apparently neutral rule, criterion or practice puts a person at a disadvantage compared with others on the grounds of personal characteristics, unless the rule, criterion or practice has a legitimate aim and the means for achieving the aim are appropriate and necessary."<sup>359</sup> In the field of employment, the Employment Contracts Act provides a legal basis to protect employees from being treated less favorably based on their religion and religious manifestation. However, the law still leaves a wide margin for what can be "justified" and thus not constitute discrimination. Accordingly, "an employer must treat all employees equally, unless deviating from this is justified in view of the duties and position of the employees."<sup>360</sup>

#### **France**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes

#### **Executive Summary**

France's 1905 law on the separation of church and state provides the legal and philosophical basis for French *laïcité*—or state secularism. It establishes state neutrality and institutionalizes the freedom of conscience and belief. *Laïcité* was explicitly included in France's Constitution in 1946 and 1958—originally to stop any kind of interference between the state and organized religion, to guarantee the protection of individual freedom of conscience and belief, and to allow very few limitations to protect public order. <sup>361</sup> Faced with political and demographic changes, France adopted a much stricter interpretation of *laïcité*, particularly after 9/11, invoking it to justify bans on religious manifestation and to introduce a range of limitations on the freedom of religious minorities, particularly Muslim women.

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In 2004, France passed a law banning "conspicuous religious symbols" for public school pupils, thereby expanding the application of *laïcité* from public employees to public service users. The impact was felt mostly by Muslim girls, hundreds of whom left school as a result. 362 The European Court of Human Rights found the law was not in violation of the European Convention on Human Rights.<sup>363</sup> In 2011, France was the first country to introduce a national general ban on face coverings in public spaces, a move that was controversially given the European Court of Human Rights' stamp of approval in S.A.S. v France in 2014. In April 2016, France amended its 1983 law on the rights and obligations of public employees that served to justify a ban on religious dress although it did not clearly stipulate this. The amendment clarifies that public employees, in their performance of duties, are bound by the obligation of neutrality and the principle of *laïcité*. Through its August 2016 Labor Law amendment, France permitted private employers to adopt a "stance of neutrality" to justify a ban on religious dress in the workplace. As a result, it has become very difficult for educated Muslim women who wear a headscarf to find employment, pushing them into selfemployment.<sup>364</sup> This was confirmed as justified by the European Court of Justice in its 2017 joint ruling in the French case Bougnaoui v Micropole SA and the Belgian case Achbita v G4S Secure Solutions and, more recently, in the joined cases IX v WABE eV and MH Müller Handels GmbH v MJ. In August 2021, France introduced a new law, commonly referred to as the Separatism Act, which includes further restrictions on religious dress at the national level. France does not have bans at the local level, although some municipalities have established additional bans on Muslim women's dress that were subsequently struck down.

### **Background**

Of the 27 EU member states, France has the largest Muslim community. Although there are no exact recent statistics available, it is estimated that approximately 6 million<sup>365</sup> Muslims (nearly 10 percent of the population) live in France.<sup>366</sup>

Anti-Islam sentiment is deeply imbedded in French society. It is tied to the country's colonial history and is reflected in France's resistance to Muslim women's veils. 367 Islamophobia, in its current form, took shape mostly in the 1980s, when France's ethnic minorities started demanding equal economic, social, and political rights, culminating in the 1983 March for Equality and Against Racism. Nicknamed the March of the Arabs ("la Marche des Beurs"), it was preceded by various minority worker strikes, a surge in racist attacks and murders, as well as police brutality against

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

minorities. The far-right party, Front National (FN),<sup>368</sup> also made a political breakthrough for the first time, reshaping the debate from one about a lack of equality into one about minorities' unwillingness to integrate.

Influenced by the popularity of FN, the government, led by Prime Minister Jacques Chirac, launched a national debate about identity and integration. The following years were characterized by social tensions, leading to multiple uprisings as well as a revival of the debate over the Muslim veil starting with the affaire in Creil.<sup>369</sup> International events (such as the Gulf War, the Salman Rushdie affair, and later 9/11<sup>370</sup>), made it easier to delegitimize the demands for equality and basic rights by citizens of minority background (many of whom are Muslim). The "Muslim problem" came to replace the "immigrant problem."<sup>371</sup> Islamophobic discourse and measures increased and grew more popular.

A key turning point leading to state-sanctioned discrimination of Muslims occurred from 2002 to 2004, when the debate on identity and integration shifted to one about the Muslim headscarf under President Chirac. This resulted in a legal ban on religious signs for public school students. The ban cleared the path for more state-sanctioned restrictions on headscarves, face veils and other clothing worn by Muslim women, including in private employment and public space.

In 2015, France faced its deadliest terrorist attack claimed by ISIS on the Paris nightclub Bataclan and in a Paris suburb on November 13, prompting President Hollande to declare a State of Emergency. Prior to these attacks, public debate had already intensified and violence against Muslims had significantly increased following the terrorist attack perpetrated by Al-Qaeda affiliates earlier that year (January 7) on the satirical weekly *Charlie* Hebdo.<sup>372</sup> Yet, it was not until the Paris attacks that the conflation of Muslims with terrorism truly underpinned the government's response. The French Parliament approved exceptional measures to counter violent extremism that led to thousands of abusive and discriminatory raids and house arrests disproportionately targeting Muslims.<sup>373</sup> French Muslims faced increased verbal abuse and physical assaults, the overwhelming majority of documented victims being women.<sup>374</sup> President Hollande's statement in January 2015 hailing France as "an implacable opponent of racism, of anti-Semitism, of Islamophobia<sup>375</sup>" was overshadowed by his extension of the State of Emergency and proposal of measures such as citizenship stripping and drastic increases in police and border patrol officers in November 2015.<sup>376</sup> While the State of Emergency technically ended on November 1, 2017, President Macron had already permanently inscribed the exceptional powers into law by then. Such measures were aimed at "[s]trengthening

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

homeland security and the fight against terrorism,"<sup>377</sup> curtailing fundamental rights and freedoms and creating suspicion around Muslim places of worship and ordinary Muslim practices in an effort to prevent terrorism.<sup>378</sup>

Following President Macron's call for a "society of vigilance" to fight against the "Hydra" of Islamist militancy<sup>379</sup> in October 2019, formerminister of interior Christophe Castaner called on the French people to report "weak signals of radicalization." These included "having a beard; an exaggerated practice of religion especially during Ramadan; ostentatious prayer; not kissing the opposite gender; and not wanting to work with women."380 Everyday Muslim practices were identified as potential signs of terrorist activities, with Muslim communities being presented by the government and media outlets as implicitly responsible for terrorist attacks.<sup>381</sup> Castaner's successor as minister of interior, Gérald Darmanin, went even further by launching a crackdown on Muslim human rights defenders and civil society organizations seeking to fight against discrimination and empower Muslims, particularly women, in France. As such, Darmanin labelled the Collective Against Islamophobia in France (CCIF), an organization providing legal support to Muslims in discrimination—including many religious dress bancases—an "Islamist office against the republic" and "an enemy of the Republic."382, 383 Darmanin issued CCIF with a dissolution notice, which the Council of State, France's top administrative court, approved in September 2021.384 Prior to this, the hostile environment created by the Minister of Interior's office had already led to the voluntary self-dissolution of the CCIF.<sup>385</sup> Darmanin also requested that the European Commission withdraw its funding from a French organization working with Muslim women, Alliance Citoyenne, based on unfounded allegations, which the European Commission refused to do. 386 Most recently, Darmanin approved the dissolution of another organization, Coordination contre le Racisme et l'Islamophobie (CRI).<sup>387</sup> These are only several examples of organizations targeted by the government. Many other groups have also reported receiving dissolution orders and attacks.388

In August 2021, France adopted the "Law of 24 August 2021 reinforcing respect for the principles of the Republic," commonly known as the Separatism Law, which sets out stark measures that target France's Muslim population. What sets this act apart is its explicit qualification of Muslim practices as "separatist" and their prohibition as precursors of violence, as well as Macron's aim—despite French secularism—to "free from foreign influence" an Islam he claims "is in crisis all over the world." <sup>389</sup> The act was proposed in response to continued violence, including the attack on Paris Police Headquarters in November 2019, gaining further momentum after the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

murder of teacher Samuel Paty in October 2020.<sup>390</sup> It is worth noting that the act was first referred to as the "anti-separatism" bill, a term Macron has used to refer to radical Islamists withdrawing from mainstream society, and later renamed as the Act "to strengthen respect for republican principles and to combat separatism," which clearly speaks to its primary objective.<sup>391, 392</sup>

The act includes measures that demand neutrality in organizations that collaborate with public services, allows the government to exert more control over charities and nongovernmental organizations, and requires authorization for home schooling.

The above-mentioned developments have been reinforced by a marked shift to the right in France's political discourse. With political attacks on Muslims being mainstreamed by the political majority, they have at times even gone beyond the rhetoric traditionally associated with the far right. <sup>393</sup> This is most evident in the controversy around what has been labeled "Islamo-leftism" ("Islamo-gauchisme"), a catch-all phrase used to pejoratively describe leftwing, anti-racist activism, accusing it of justifying Islamism and even terrorism. 394" Islamo-leftism" has been described as "wreaking havoc" 395 in French academia by Minister of Education Jean-Michel Blanquer, who also stated the headscarf is "not desirable in society." <sup>396</sup> Minister of Higher Education Frédérique Vidal launched an inquiry into the "totality of research underway" in France, with a focus on post-colonialism and "Islamo-leftism" from the National Center for Scientific Research (CNRS). While the CNRS complied with the ministry's request to conduct the research, it strongly condemned attacks on academic freedom, particularly "attempts to delegitimize various fields of research, such as post-colonial studies, intersectional studies or research on the term 'race'", stating that "Islamo-leftism" is a "political catchphrase" and "not a scientific reality." 397

What also sets France apart in Europe is the regular recurrence of national controversies, or rather spectacles, surrounding Muslim women who wear a headscarf in public domains where they supposedly should not be wearing such attire, <sup>398</sup> drawing more and more attention from international observers. <sup>399</sup> Most recently, in 2020, a French parliamentarian from Macron's La Republic en Marche (LREM) party walked out of a parliamentary inquiry because of the presence of a student union leader wearing a headscarf. A similar debate occurred in 2018 when a national student leader appeared on television with her headscarf. <sup>400</sup> A young Muslim influencer posting on social media about cooking on a budget was met by racist comments from a *Le Figaro* journalist linking her to 9/11, provoking a public outcry and widespread condemnation. <sup>401</sup> In 2019, a mother wearing a headscarf accompanying a group of students to the meeting of a regional

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

council was attacked by an elected member of FN. 402 These are but a few examples from a long list of incidents.

The above outlined developments in the national debate on religious dress, somewhat surprisingly, do not appear to be always in line with public opinion: although 23 percent of non-Muslims living in France believe individuals should have no restrictions placed on their choice to wear religious clothing and an additional 51 percent think there should be no restrictions involved so long as the clothing does not cover the face, this supermajority seems to have little effect on the law regarding religious covering as it pertains to public schools.<sup>403</sup>

#### **National Bans**

National general bans:

With full support from President Nicolas Sarkozy, 404 France was the first country to legalize a ban on Islamic face veils in any "public space" when, in April 2011, the act On the Prohibition of Concealing the Face in Public Space (Loi 2010-1192 du 11 Octobre 2010 Interdisant la Dissimulation du Visage dans l'Espace Public)<sup>405</sup> entered into force. Article 1 of the act stipulates that "no person may conceal their face in public." "Public space" is defined in Article 2(1) of the act as "public roads and places open to the public or of government service."406 It required unprecedented efforts to define the legal contours of this novel concept of "public space." 407 Exceptions apply, as defined in Article 2(2) of the act, when the concealment of the face is required or permitted by law, when it is justified by health or professional reasons, or when it is part of a sporting activity or an artistic or traditional event. 408 The exception for festivities and traditional events has been interpreted to exempt many Catholic traditions that require covering the face, such as costumes worn during Carnival and the annual Sanch Procession in Perpignan. 409

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and resultant mask mandates in public spaces in France, such as on public transportation, the push by activists to repeal the 2011 face covering ban has been made with increased furor. 410 Although the masks fall under the medical exception written into the statute, the double standard has led to renewed scrutiny of the underlying rationales for the face veil ban itself. 411 Satvinder Juss—the applicant's attorney in *S.A.S. v France*—and others in the legal community have signaled a desire to bring new challenges, on the basis of the COVID-19 mask mandate. 412

According to estimates, 413 between 350 and 2,000 women in France wore full veils in 2010. Although it remains difficult to know their exact numbers,

[Face Veil]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

it has always been a small minority of Muslim women who wear the face veil. This raises a question of the legitimacy of enacting a law that only targets a limited number of people but affects many French Muslims who view this law and accompanying debates as another attack on Islam. While the law makes no reference to Muslim dress, it is commonly referred to as the law on the burga or full veil.<sup>414</sup> This is highlighted by the parliamentary commission's task to consider a potential ban that specifically prohibits the full veil (voile intégral), instead of a ban that prohibits all face coverings in public spaces. 415 The diverging rationales given by the French High Courts for upholding the national ban on face coverings further highlight the controversial nature of such a general ban: The Council of State judged that a ban such as this would not have indisputable legal grounds and could amount to a violation of the Constitution and the European Convention on Human Rights. 416 The Constitutional Council, on the other hand, concluded the ban was in accordance with the Constitution and was therefore iustified.417

The penalty for violating the above-mentioned provisions, including wearing a face veil, is a fine of  $\in$ 150. Another sanction, which can be either separate or in addition to the fine, is a requirement to take part in citizenship classes. Forcing a woman to cover her face is punished more severely, with the possibility of a fine of up to  $\in$ 30,000. During the period from April 2011 until March 2016, there were 1,726 official checks, resulting in 1,644 fines and 82 warnings.

*Proposals:* A draft of the recently adopted Separatism Act included a provision to prohibit minors from wearing headscarves in public spaces following additions made to the draft bill by the senate in its first reading in March 2021. The addition was not included in the final act. 421

Case law: In S.A.S. v France (No. 43835/11), the ECtHR ruled that the national ban on face veils in public spaces did not violate the ECHR. A Muslim woman had complained that the national ban prevented her from wearing a face veil, which interfered with her religious faith. The Court held that the national ban had a legitimate aim and did not infringe upon a Muslim woman's right to private life (Article 8) or freedom of religion (Article 9). With regard to the prohibition of discrimination (Article 14), which was read together with Articles 8 and 9, though the Court recognized the negative impact of the ban on individuals wearing Islamic clothing, it held that the ban was reasonably justified. Accordingly, no violation of Article 14 was found. In its reasoning, the ECtHR rejected the French government's argument that a threat to public safety justified the ban, as there was no evidence of a general threat to justify such a ban and a woman

[Headscarf]

[Face Veil]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

wearing a face veil could always be asked to identify herself when needed. The Court also rejected equality between men and women as a potential justification for the ban, as the practice of wearing a face veil was defended by women themselves, including the applicant. As a result, the ECtHR disqualified almost every argument commonly used to justify religious dress restrictions. Instead, the Court used the idea of "living together" ("vivre ensemble") as a legitimate aim of the ban, justifying that it does not violate the ECHR. This rationale has come under attack during the COVID-19 pandemic, which required everyone to wear face masks. Even though *S.A.S. v France* challenged French law, it was significant beyond French borders, as its effect resonated with other countries in Europe, such as Belgium and Austria, which subsequently imposed or proposed similar bans within their territories.

In 2018, the United Nations Human Rights Committee found in Yaker v France, in which the applicant had been subjected to criminal fines for wearing a face veil, and its companion decision Hebbadj v France that the concept of "living together" is "very vague and abstract." 422, 423 The Committee stated that "[t]he right to interact with any person in a public space and the right not to be disturbed by the fact that someone is wearing the full-face veil are not protected by the Covenant."424 The Committee further held that, because the French ban disproportionately affects Muslim women who choose to wear the face veil and creates a distinction between those women and others who may legally cover their faces in public, it is not necessary and proportionate to a legitimate interest. The ban thus constitutes a form of "intersectional discrimination based on gender and religion" and violates Article 26 of the Covenant. 425 The Committee concluded that there was a violation under Articles 18 and 26 of the Covenant and that France has an obligation to provide an effective remedy and report to the Committee within 180 days.426

National specific bans:

[Both]
[Public Employment]

Public employment: In 2016, France amended Article 25 of its 1983 law (Loi 83-634) on the rights and obligations of public employees. According to Article 25, as amended, public employees are bound to perform their duties with dignity, impartiality, integrity, and probity as well as neutrality and laïcité. Public employees must thus refrain from expressing their religious views in the performance of their duties. This applies to employees of all public institutions—including government administrations of all levels, public education, the judicial system, law enforcement, public hospitals, and all other public services. While Article 25 was only amended to include a specific reference to neutrality and laïcité in 2016, it has long been accepted

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

that public employees are not permitted to wear religious symbols at the workplace. While there was no legal basis for this in the strict sense, it appears to have been based on rulings by the Constitutional Council (86-217 of December 18, 1986, and 96-380 of July 23, 1996) on neutrality being a fundamental principle of public service. In the area of education, additionally, the Council of State held that manifesting one's own religious beliefs is a breach of the "duty of strict neutrality that is required of every employee working in a public service" (91-406 of December 8, 1946). In addition, the Council of State set out in its Opinion of May 3, 2020 (217017), in response to the dismissal of a secondary school study supervisor who wore a headscarf, the principles of secularism and neutrality that apply to all public services, stating that "it follows from the constitutional and legislative texts that the principle of freedom of conscience and that of the secular nature of the State and the neutrality of public services apply to all those services".

The recently adopted Separatism Act modified Article 25 to include that public employees shall be trained in the principle of *laïcité*. In addition, the new law sets out in Article 1 that the observance of *laïcité* extends from public sector employees to all private contractors of public service.

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

Case law: In 2015, the ECtHR held in Ebrahimian v France (No. 64846/11) that the national ban in public employment was not in violation of the ECHR.<sup>427</sup> The plaintiff had contested her employer's decision not to renew her work contract at a public hospital, because she would not agree to remove her headscarf at the workplace. The Court ruled in favor of the hospital's decision and found no violation of Article 8 of the ECHR. The Court weighed the right to wear a veil as a manifestation of religion against the requirement of neutrality imposed on public officials and decided that it was necessary to uphold the state's secularity and protect others from religious influence or partiality.<sup>428</sup>

Public Education:

[Both]
[Public Education]
[Pupils]

*Pupils:* In 2004, a national ban on Muslim headscarves, face veils, and other "ostentatious" religious symbols (i.e., large but not small crosses, the headscarf, the turban, and the kippah) at state primary and secondary schools was adopted. The ban, known as the Law Regulating, in Application of the Principle of Secularism, the Wearing of Signs or Clothing Expressing Religious Affiliation in Public Schools and Colleges (Loi encadrant, en application du principe de laïcité, le port de signes ou de tenues manifestant une appartenance religieuse dans les écoles, collèges et lycées publics) Act of March 15, 2004, amended the original legal definition of secularism to

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

restrict students' fundamental right to manifest one's religion. The new ban was controversial—it received significant political and public support but also sparked public debate and mass protests. The ban was supported by the Stasi Commission, which had been tasked by President Chirac with examining the application of *laïcité* to different sectors in France. The commission consulted different stakeholders both inside and outside France before it came out with its recommendation to adopt a ban in schools of "ostentatious" religious symbols. 429 However, one opponent stood out: sociologist and *laïcité* expert Jean Baubérot, the sole member of the Stasi Commission who did not support the ban. Baubérot mainly saw in it a fear of Islam and stressed that *laïcité* is a matter of behavior, not of dress. 430

The series of events leading up to the introduction of the ban started with the expulsion of three Muslim girls in Creil who refused to remove their headscarves in class in October 1989.<sup>431, 432</sup> In September 1994, the Minister of Education François Bayrou published a circular allowing pupils to wear "discreet" religious signs that express a personal conviction while at the same time allowing schools to ban "ostentatious" signs that are intrinsically "proselytizing" and "discriminatory."<sup>433</sup> It was understood that this circular referred to the Muslim headscarf. There was legal action taken against it, but the Council of State rejected a claim to annul it (No. 162718).

In the first two years following the introduction of the ban, its application resulted in dozens of expulsions as well as at least 96 students voluntarily choosing to leave school. These numbers do not capture Muslim children who have felt negatively impacted by the law's effects: at least 806 children reported to have suffered as a result of the 2004 law, even without consequently feeling the need to leave school. Sikh boys, who traditionally wear turbans over uncut hair, have also been negatively impacted by the law: a survey of 42 Sikh students in the Bobigny region of Paris found that over half felt humiliated and singled out after it went into effect. 434

Case law: On December 5, 2007, the French Council of State rejected several claims of Sikh and Muslim pupils who were expelled for wearing religious dress, which went against the ban on religious dress in French public schools (No. 285395, No. 295671, No. 285396, No. 285394). More recently, the Paris Administrative Court of Appeal held that religious dress also includes the wearing of a headband and a long skirt. Although not part of traditional Islamic dress, according to the court, this type of clothing is "ostentatious" and needed to be banned. The case involved a Muslim pupil and her family, who sued her school authorities for first segregating her from her class and then expelling her. The reason given by the school was that the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

student wore a five-centimeters-wide, black headband and a long skirt to school, which the school's authorities considered "religious" dress. 435

Legal action against the headscarf ban in public education has been taken to the European Court of Human Rights in several instances: *Dogru v France* (No. 31645/04); *Kervanci v France* (No. 27058/05); *Aktas v France* (No. 43563/08); *Bayrak v France* (No. 14308/08); *Gamaleddyn v France* (No. 18527/08); *Ghazal v France* (No. 29134/08). The plaintiffs challenged the ban on their wearing of headscarves at schools on the basis that it violated their freedom of religion, based on Article 9 of the European Convention on Human Rights. Even though the judgments vary slightly in each case, in general, the ECtHR confirmed the ban's conformity with the Convention and found no violation of Article 9.

Prior to the 2004 law, the first related court case that received extensive national press coverage took place in 1989, when three Muslim girls were expelled from a public school in Creil for refusing to remove their headscarves. The Council of State stated that wearing the headscarf was not by itself incompatible with the principle of secularism, which in fact guarantees pupils' freedom of conscience. This principle does not, however, entail the freedom to adopt symbols that "by their very nature or by the context in which they are worn individually or collectively, or by their ostentatious or protesting nature, would constitute an act of pressure, provocation, proselytization or propaganda." The Council of State stressed that this freedom can be restricted on a case-by-case basis, but did not provide any guidance on how schools should decide what religious symbols may be considered "ostentatious" or "protesting." Instead, the Court determined that lower courts should oversee the decisions on a case-by-case basis. 437

Numerous legal cases arose from 1989 onwards until the late 1990s following the expulsion of pupils for wearing headscarves and the adoption of rules banning religious symbols in general. Lower courts came out with diverging opinions, with some classifying the headscarf as "a sign of obedience to a foreign and extremist religion," "proselytizing," or "ostentatious," and thus potentially disruptive; others disqualified a general ban as an infringement of the right to freedom of belief with no evidence provided to justify it. 438 Based on its previous advice, the Council of State from 1992 to 1997 overturned many decisions to expel Muslim girls from school because they wore a headscarf, especially general bans where there was no evidence of any kind of disturbance, pressure, or proselytization, and thus no justification. 439 It also confirmed decisions to expel pupils refusing to remove their headscarf when there were specific grounds to justify it—such

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

as, for the proper functioning of a physical education class <sup>440</sup> or because pupils disturbed order in the school by taking part in protests. <sup>441</sup> Given the sensitivity the issue of the Muslim headscarf had acquired, cases involving university students also came before the Council of State. Here, too, the Council overturned decisions to refuse students entry merely on the basis that they wore a headscarf. <sup>442</sup>

[Both]
[Public Education]
[Parents]

Mothers accompanying pupils: In 2012, the education minister issued a memo recommending that the "neutrality of public service" should also be upheld during school trips. The memo left it to schools to decide whether mothers accompanying groups of pupils on such trips would be allowed to wear headscarves or not.<sup>443</sup> In September 2013, the Council of State, following an intervention by the "Defender of Rights", a constitutional independent authority with competence on non-discrimination and the promotion of equality ("Défenseur des droits"), issued an opinion stating that parents accompanying school trips are "users" rather than "agents" or "collaborators" of public service and thus not subject to the requirement of religious neutrality. However, linked to the proper functioning of public education, the Ministry of Education may recommend that parents accompanying school trips refrain from showing their religious affiliations or beliefs.<sup>444</sup>

*Proposals*: Several attempts have been made to introduce legislation placing religious dress restrictions on mothers accompanying school trips, which would disproportionately impact Muslim women who choose to wear the headscarf. Legislation proposed in May 2019 would, in part, ban mothers from wearing religious symbols in such instances.<sup>445</sup> The bill passed in the Upper House of Parliament but was eventually blocked via an alteration by parliamentary commission.<sup>446</sup> While the education minister has opposed the ban on parents wearing head coverings while accompanying school outings,447 he wants to prevent mothers wearing headscarves to assist during school outings "as much as possible." 448 The restrictions on mothers recently found their way into the new "Separatism Bill." Against the government's recommendations, the senate voted to add several measures on religious dress restrictions in its first reading of the bill in March 2021, which include provisions prohibiting women accompanying school trips from wearing headscarves. The new law also imposes restrictions on homeschooling. This effectively removes an alternative for Muslim women and girls who chose to opt out of formal education because of religious dress restrictions, and worship practices in public higher education institutions.<sup>449</sup>

Case law: On June 9, 2015, the Administrative Court of Nice decided that mothers who wish to accompany their children on school outings could not

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

be refused the opportunity to do so because they wear headscarves (No. 1305386). The Court held that mothers, just like students, should be regarded as users of public education. Restrictions on the freedom to express their religious beliefs could thus only result from specific legislative bans on this matter, considerations linked to public order or the proper functioning of the public education system.<sup>450</sup>

Sports:

[Headscarf]
[Sports]

*Proposals:* The Senate has made several attempts to restrict religious dress in sports. In January 2022, the Senate voted in favor of amending a proposed law to ban "conspicuous religious symbols," including the headscarf, in sports competitions organized by sports federations and associated organizations. The Senate added the amendment, first proposed by the rightwing group Les Républicains and opposed by the French government, to the "Bill aimed at democratizing sport, improving the governance of sports federations and securing the conditions for professional sport."451, 452 It justified the proposed amendment with upholding neutrality as a requirement on the field of play and protecting the safety of athletes wearing religious dress. 453 In December 2021, senators from Les Républicains had already tabled the "Bill to ensure respect for the principles of secularism in sports," which includes the same wording as the above-described amendment on conspicuous religious signs and adds that the rules for the collective use of public swimming pools and baths shall guarantee the respect of the principles of neutrality of public services and secularism. 454 In April 2021, the Senate had tried to include amendments on restrictions on religious dress in sports in the Separatism Act, which were rejected by the Assembly. 455

#### **Local Bans**

[Full-Body Swimsuits] [Goods and Services] France does not have separate legal bans on traditional Islamic clothing at the local level. Although not necessarily part of traditional Islamic clothing, full-body swimsuits worn by Muslim women, also known as "burkinis," were briefly banned by several cities in France, including Nice, Villeneuve-Loubet, Cannes, Frejus, and Roquebrune. In Grenoble, civil society organisations have launched a campaign to challenge the local ban on full-body swimsuits. A large number of public and private swimming pools have also introduced restrictions on full-body swimsuits.

Case law: In August 2016, the Council of State, overruled the ban on full-body swimsuits in Villeneuve-Loubet due to its violation of fundamental freedoms of worship, movement and personal freedom. The Council of State stressed that there had been no evidence of any risks to public order that

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

have resulted from the way people had dressed on the beaches of Villeneuve-Loubet. The ban was therefore lifted, but again sparked heated debate over the clothing of Muslim women in France. <sup>459</sup> As such, the Ministry of the Interior has stated that public authorites may take appropriate action to restrict the wearing of full-body swimsuits, where these cause "disturbances," provided that they carefully weigh the the need to maintain public order against constitutionally guaranteed freedoms, including the freedom of religion. <sup>460</sup>

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Both]
[Private Employment]

Private employment: In August 2016, the French government adopted a new amendment to the French Labor Code allowing private employers to include the "principle of neutrality" in their internal regulations in order to restrict employees from manifesting their beliefs, including the wearing of headscarves or face veils. <sup>461</sup> Article L. 1321-2-1 of the labor code states that this restriction must be justified by the required protection of other fundamental rights and freedoms or the proper functioning of the enterprise, and must be proportionate to this aim. While private employers already had institutional bans in place prior to this amendment, it provided a legal framework to justify such bans.

The amendment was introduced after several failed attempts to expand the requirement of strict neutrality, which is already applied only to public services, to the private sector. In 2003, the Stasi Commission had already included in its recommendations a clear call to extend restrictions on religious practices to private companies through changes to the labor code. This was reiterated by the High Council on Integration (Haut Conseil à l'intégration) amidst the controversial *Baby Loup* case in September 2011. Several legislative proposals had previously been submitted to demand neutrality in childcare services or any private service working with minors, but all drew strong opposition and were never adopted as law. 464

The amendment has led to increased pressure on businesses to take a stance against religious dress. In 2019, French retailer, Decathlon, reversed its decision to sell sports headscarves in its stores in France after public backlash. <sup>465</sup> Following a letter by the mayor of Mandelieu-la-Napoule asking the retail clothing store chain H&M to prohibit employees from wearing headscarves at work, the retailer responded that its policy is to allow employees to wear and dress as they wish within the limits of the law and that, by wearing a headscarf, employees are not breaking any rules. <sup>466</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

Case law: On April 14, 2021, the Court of Cassation ruled for the first time on the right of a shop employee to wear a headscarf (No. 479). The Court held that it was discriminatory to dismiss the employee in question for wearing a headscarf, as the employer—the shop Camaïeu—did not have a general neutrality policy in place and failed to show that the dress restrictions imposed on the employee were justified by the nature of the tasks performed by her and proportionate to the aim pursued. Relying on the CJEU's ruling in Asma Bougnaoui and Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v Micropole SA, outlined below, the Court argued that concern over the business's image and the wishes of its customers would not be sufficient to meet these requirements.<sup>467</sup>

On March 14, 2017, the CJEU ruled that an employer's willingness to take into account the wishes of a customer who did not want to work with a woman wearing a headscarf does not constitute a "genuine and determining occupational requirement" 468 that would justify the employer's restrictions on religious dress in Asma Bougnaoui and Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v Micropole SA, Case C-188/15. The applicant, Asma Bougnaoui, a design engineer, had been ordered by her employer to remove her headscarf at work following a complaint by a customer. In a parallel judgment delivered alongside it, C-157/15 (Samira Achbita and Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV), the CJEU found that restrictions on religious dress imposed by the employer at the work place are justified if the employer has a policy of neutrality. <sup>469</sup> Based on these rulings, employers may not dismiss employees because their headscarves upset a customer, but they may do so if they have decided to pursue a policy of neutrality.<sup>470</sup> This is in line with the labor law outlined above.471

In 2014, the Court of Cassation had first ruled that, while neutrality and secularity do not apply beyond the public sector, reasonable restrictions may be applied to an employee's freedom of religion, if those restrictions are proportionate and justified by the nature of the job. The restrictions in question had been put in place on its employees by a daycare center, Baby Loup, as part of its policy on secularity and neutrality. According to the Court, in a daycare center, where all employees have contact with small children, it is important to adhere to the general obligation of religious neutrality for the children's freedom of conscience. Baby Loup's restrictions on the freedom to manifest one's religion under its policy on secularity and neutrality was found to be precise, justified by the nature of the work, and proportionate to the aim. 472 Baby Loup's dismissal of Fatima Afif, a social worker at the daycare center, in 2008 for wearing a headscarf in violation of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

the daycare center's policy was found to be lawful. The Court of Cassation's ruling followed legal proceedings over several years, starting in 2010 with a referral to France's equality body (HALDE), which found the dismissal unlawful. The case was then brought before the Labor Court (Prud' Hommes) in 2010 and later to the Court of Appeals of Versailles in 2011. Both courts confirmed the decision of the equality body. In 2013, the Court of Appeals of Paris found that the restriction was justified based on the secular nature of the job.

In 2018, the UN Human Rights Committee disagreed with the Court of Cassation's ruling. <sup>473</sup> The Committee found Baby Loup's internal policy to be discriminatory and in violation of the applicant's freedom of religion and discrimination based on her gender and religion. The restriction on religious dress and its enforcement thus constitutes a form of intersectional discrimination. According to the committee, the restriction was not objectively justified, as no evidence was provided to show what specific harm would be averted by prohibiting the employees to wear a headscarf at the daycare center. The committee found that the employee's dismissal without severance was not a proportionate measure. In addition, the committee stated that Baby Loup's internal policy might lead to "stigmatization of a religious community." The committee called on France to provide Fatima Afif with adequate compensation for the harm suffered, including her loss of employment, and to reimburse her legal costs.

[Headscarf]
[The Judiciary]

The judiciary: Several bar associations in France, including those in Paris, Bordeaux, and Lille, have introduced restrictions on lawyers wearing symbols manifesting religious, community, philosophical or political affiliation when acting in their professional capacity. 474 The Lille Bar Association introduced the restriction following an incident with a Muslim law student, who had been told that she could not participate in her swearing in ceremony wearing a headscarf. The student lawyer filed an appeal against the regulation, which was rejected by the Douai Court of Appeal in July 2020. The appeal was declared inadmissible, as only decisions by the bar association that are likely to prejudice the professional interests of a lawyer, which the student lawyer was not yet considered to be, may be referred to the Court of Appeal under Article 19 of Law 71-1130. The Court of Cassation rejected the student lawyer's request to refer to the Constitutional Council the question whether Article 19 provides effective judicial remedies, as student lawyers are excluded from it. The court has not yet ruled on the question of the validity of the bar association's neutrality clause.

A number of bar associations have relied on different justifications to support the restrictions on religious dress, often pointing to the independence

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

of the profession and the equality amongst all lawyers. The Conference of the Presidents of the Bar (Conférence des Bâtonniers)) has argued that lawyers act on behalf of their clients and that the wearing of a gown "is a sign of erasing what is personal to them to the benefit of the client."<sup>475</sup> When acting on behalf of their client, it is argued, lawyers should thus not use their gown as "a billboard for political, philosophical or religious affiliations" and wear "only the gown and nothing but the gown."<sup>476</sup>

It should be noted that the apparent incompatibility of manifestations of religious beliefs with the lawyer's oath has only become a mainstream argument since the beginning of the 21st century. Its application has mainly focused on Muslim female lawyers wearing a headscarf. As shown by the developments in Lille, the restrictions have also been applied to students taking the "petit serment," a swearing in ceremony for student lawyers ahead of the practical year of their legal education, with further reported instances in Nancy and Montpellier of students being asked to remove their headscarf in order to participate in the ceremony. 477 In 2015, a teacher at the Paris Bar School (Ecole de Formation du Barreau de Paris) demanded that a student lawyer remove her headscarf during a class on ethics and, following the student's refusal, the teacher began to undress stating that his own religion was "naturism." <sup>478</sup> There has also been debate around the use of the "toque," a traditional hat French lawyers used to wear until the 1970s. A Muslim lawyer in Bobigny was told to leave the courtroom in 2016 for wearing the "toque" after having been told to remove her headscarf. 479 Concerns arose that the "toque" might become a sign of religious affiliation. The Barristers Association (Conférence des Bâtonniers) adopted a resolution in 2016 that the "toque" had become obsolete. 480

[Headscarf]
[Not-for-profit
Organizations]

[Public Services]

*Not-for-profit organizations:* The French Football Federation, the non-profit organization governing football in France, bans women from wearing headscarves in official club matches and international games, which is contrary to the rules of football's international governing body, FIFA, which lifted its ban on headscarves in 2014.<sup>481</sup>

*Public services:* In November 2019, there was public outcry in response to a Catholic nun being told she could not wear religious attire as a resident in a state-run retirement home. The Observatory of Secularism later stated that the retirement home had incorrectly interpreted *laïcité* and that religious neutrality restrictions only applied to state employees and public servants on the job, not the general public. Bans are thus only put in place when they are "objectively disturbing public order."<sup>482</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Legislation**

In France, national legal protections against discrimination and religious freedom are provided by both the Constitution and statue law. In particular, the right to religious freedom is protected by the French Constitution 1958, which states that the country is a secular republic and the state "shall ensure the equality of all citizens before the law," regardless of religion, and it will respect all beliefs. As The French Labor Code (Code du Travail) provides the next layer of legal protection, in which the principle of nondiscrimination is a core aspect. The law prohibits punishing or dismissing employees, excluding job seekers from the recruitment process, or imposing direct or indirect discriminatory measures on the grounds of, *inter alia*, their gender and religious belief. However, in 2016 the law was amended to include Article L1321-2-1,486 a provision that allows private enterprises to adopt the principle of "neutrality" in their internal regulations, restricting the manifestation of beliefs by employees.

### **Germany**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Over the past 20 years, against a backdrop of increasing Islamophobia, religious dress bans targeting Muslim women have developed through a series of local and national laws. At the federal level, while there are no laws restricting Islamic dress for the general public, there are restrictions for civil service professions. At the local level, German states have the autonomy to regulate religious dress. Several have passed laws restricting religious dress for Muslim women in public schools and the judiciary. Federal courts have issued rulings that limit some of these laws, particularly in relation to blanket bans on teachers wearing headscarves. However, the treatment by courts of laws targeting Muslim women varies. For example, legislative restrictions placed on trainee lawyers wearing headscarves still apply. With strong constitutional protections of the right to freedom of belief and against discrimination, German courts have pushed back against private employers adopting religious dress bans that disproportionately affect Muslim women with headscarves. The CJEU recently ruled on two preliminary references

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

from German courts on religious dress restrictions in private employment, allowing German courts to rely on more favorable national provisions in their assessment of the appropriateness of a difference of treatment indirectly based on religion or belief. Thus, the situation in Germany for Muslim women remains uncertain and many continue to face discrimination, but the courts tend to uphold strict protections as well.

#### Background

Germany's Muslim community makes up approximately 5 percent of the population. All In 2019, Pew Research reported that Alpercent of Germans see a fundamental contradiction between Islam and German culture and values[.] All In addition, a 2015 study found that 57 percent of Germans View Islam as a threat. Against this backdrop, Muslim women who wear religious dress in Germany face a wide range of discriminatory treatments in various fields. A study by the Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA, 2016) found that women in Germany who wear headscarves are more likely to face discrimination when applying for a job. Are port by the national antidiscrimination body confirms this finding, and outlines contributions from civil society about good practices, including the adoption of institutional guidelines and awareness raising campaigns, in addressing discrimination against Muslim women.

The first proposal for a headscarf ban came from Die Republikaner (REP), a right-wing conservative party in Baden-Württemberg, in 1998.<sup>493</sup> When the question of teachers being allowed to wear headscarves in public schools first came before the Federal Constitutional Court in 2003, the public debates around it demonstrated that bans on religious dress had widespread support among various public figures, politicians, judges and citizens. Baden-Württemberg's education minister at the time called the headscarf a symbol of political Islam and cultural demarcation that stands for the oppression of women.<sup>494</sup> Political and legal debates about headscarf and face veil bans have increased ever since and enjoy relatively wide coverage by both international and national media.<sup>495</sup> The push for bans has become stronger with the support of the far-right Alternative für Deutschland (AfD) that wants to introduce bans on face veils and headscarves in public spaces, which it argues, just like Islam, do not "belong in Germany."<sup>496</sup>

Muslim women are increasingly becoming targets of Islamophobic attacks. Research shows that verbal and physical incidents against Muslim women have become more violent. Physical abuses include cases where women had their headscarves pulled down or were beaten up. 497 In 2009, Marwa el-

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Sherbini, a Muslim woman who wears the headscarf, was the victim of hate speech. When she took her assailant to court, he stabbed and murdered her in the court room during his appeal hearing. The murder received international attention and El-Sherbini became known as the first "hijab martyr."<sup>498</sup> Discrimination against Muslim women in general and those who wear religious dress in particular, happens in both the public and private sectors, especially in the field of education and employment. <sup>499</sup> Since 2003, eight federal states have adopted various bans on religious dress, though these have largely been amended to exempt Muslim teachers in recent years. Such bans have reportedly promoted misperceptions and prejudices of employers toward veiled Muslim women, resulting in increased discrimination in the workforce. Employers also tend to avoid recruiting women wearing the headscarf claiming potential economic damages, though they often fail to provide concrete evidence of such damages. <sup>500</sup>

The legal landscape in Germany is actively changing. The information below represents the current state of affairs, but recent decisions and attention on the issue suggest that additional changes could be coming soon as municipalities adapt to federal court rulings. The CJEU's recent ruling in two preliminary references will also guide future case law in private employment.

#### **National Bans**

At the federal level, Germany has no laws that ban Islamic headscarves or face veils among the general public.

National specific bans: Since June 2017, a national law prohibits civil servants, judges, and soldiers from covering their faces at work except for health and safety reasons. Specifically, it prohibits the wearing of face coverings while performing official duties. It also prohibits off-duty soldiers from wearing face coverings when inside government facilities or military quarters. Germany's ruling coalition justified the ban with reference to the neutrality required of state functionaries, which religious and ideological face coverings contradict. In addition, it argued that face coverings would impair the trusting communication between civil servants and citizens and thus negatively impact people's confidence in the civil service and, by extension, the state. So

In June 2021, Germany's parliament adopted new legislation regulating the dress and appearance of civil servants. <sup>504</sup> The law permits state authorities to ban certain items of clothing (including Muslim head coverings, Jewish yarmulke, and Sikh turbans), symbols, jewelry, and tattoos, as well as certain

[Face Veil]

[Both]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

hair and beard styles, if they interfere with "the duty of respectful and trustworthy behavior." <sup>505</sup> In practice, the law is expected to particularly affect Muslim women who wear the headscarf. <sup>506</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

The 16 German states (or *Bundesländer*) enjoy full autonomy in the regulation of religious symbols within their territory. In other words, the authority to introduce legislation on religious symbols does not rest with the national government but with the individual state. Local bans have primarily targeted schools and courthouses.

Local specific bans: Since 2005, Berlin's Neutrality Act ("Gesetz zu Artikel 29 der Verfassung von Berlin") has prohibited civil servants and public employees, including teachers, from wearing religious dress and symbols. While the legislation does not specifically mention Islamic headscarves or face veils, Muslim women have been disproportionately affected by it.

Three states (Bavaria, Rhineland Palatine, and Lower Saxony) have state laws banning students from wearing face veils in schools. <sup>507</sup> In addition, it has been reported that Baden-Württemberg has adopted a similar law, although the law has not yet been officially published. <sup>508</sup> Lower Saxony's law is vague but prohibits clothing that would "significantly hamper communication." <sup>509</sup>

Case law: A ruling by Germany's highest court, the Federal Constitutional Court, from March 2015 is currently the leading judgment on religious dress restrictions for teachers in state schools. The Court held that general headscarf bans could not be justified unless it can be proven that the headscarf poses a concrete threat to a school's peace or to the state's duty of neutrality. 510 Accordingly, a blanket ban on headscarves and other visible religious symbols for teachers at state schools violates freedom of religion and, being disproportionate, is incompatible with the constitution. The case was brought by two teachers in North-Rhine Westphalia who had received a written warning and were dismissed respectively for wearing headscarves in application of the state's Education Act. The Court held that North-Rhine Westphalia's Education Act had to be interpreted restrictively. The Court also declared void a clause in the Education Act that exempted manifestations "of Christian and Western education and cultural values or traditions" from the prohibition of expressing religious beliefs by outer appearance. 511

Prior to the ruling of the Federal Constitutional Court in 2015, several states had in place legislation banning religious symbols in public schools, often

[Both]

[Headscarf]

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

with exemptions for Catholic and Jewish symbols. This included Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, Berlin, Bremen, Hesse, Lower Saxony, North Rhine-Westphalia, and Saarland. The states had been prompted to adopt such legislation following a ruling by the Federal Constitutional Court in 2003. In that case, Fereshta Ludin, a secondary school teacher who was born in Afghanistan and became a German citizen in 1995, was denied a position in the Baden-Württemberg's public school system because she intended to wear a headscarf in class. 512 The Stuttgart School Authority explained that the headscarf was a political symbol that could not be reconciled with the requirement of neutrality on the part of the state. 513 On appeal, the Federal Constitutional Court found that there was "no sufficient statutory basis" in Baden-Württemberg's current law for a ban on teachers wearing a headscarf.<sup>514</sup> The Court failed to provide legal grounds and guidance on when a ban is legally sufficient and invited states' legislatures to redefine the "admissible degree of religious references" allowed at schools. This led to several states enacting legislation varying in ground and scope, as outlined above. Following the ruling of the Federal Constitutional Court in 2015, however, seven out of the eight states that adopted legislation to this effect made amendments to allow Muslim teachers to wear headscarves. Berlin remains the only state to have declined to repeal or amend its "Neutrality Act" from 2005.

Berlin's "Neutrality Act" has recently come under increased pressure in the courts. In February 2017, Berlin's Labor Court ruled in favor of a Muslim woman rejected from a teaching job in an elementary school for wearing a headscarf in violation of Berlin's "Neutrality Act." The Court referred to the Federal Constitutional Court's 2015 decision, including the proportionality requirement of headscarf restrictions, to test whether or not a teacher wearing a headscarf posed a danger to a school's peace. The state claimed to have offered the teacher a compromise by allowing her to wear a wig, which was assumed to be more "ideologically neutral." <sup>515</sup> The teacher received €8,680 in compensation. After the teacher was awarded compensation, the state of Berlin appealed the decision. In August 2020, the Federal Labor Court sided with the regional court, holding that the ban was discriminatory. Like the Berlin Labor Court, the Federal Labor Court also cited the 2015 Federal Constitutional Court decision, holding that freedom of religion could not be restricted due to "abstract danger." The Berlin "Neutrality Act" thus has to be interpreted in conformity with the constitution.

The 2020 Labor Court ruling did not invalidate the Berlin "Neutrality Act." Unless the Act is repealed or amended, women may thus have to continue to go to court to assert their rights. The continued risk is shown by a decision of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

the Berlin Labor Court in May 2018, which notably preceded the recent ruling of the Federal Labor Court, but shows the different judicial outcomes at regional levels. The Berlin Labor Court ruled that the decision of the state of Berlin to transfer a teacher wearing a headscarf to a secondary school, against her wishes to teach at a primary school, was in accordance with the Berlin "Neutrality Act." The Court found that the "Neutrality Act," which prohibits teachers with headscarves being allocated to primary schools, did not violate constitutional provisions. 519

While there has been an increased political push to change Berlin's "Neutrality Act" following the ruling of the Federal Labor Court in 2020, many Berlin elected officials still strongly support the ban. <sup>520</sup> Despite the continued existence of the "Neutrality Act," advocates saw the Federal Labor Court's ruling as a "huge win" since it declared a general ban on headscarves discriminatory and it is expected that the state of Berlin will abide by the Court's decision. <sup>521</sup> The Coalition Against Professional Ban (Bündnis #GegenBerufsverbot) is pushing the state to inform employers about the decision through a large-scale public information campaign.

The judiciary: There is a continuing controversy over the right to wear headscarves in court, particularly the right of legal trainees to wear headscarves. The case law on this topic does not follow the same path as the case law concerning the right to wear headscarves in schools.

Several states have enacted laws banning religious dress for court officials. Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, Hesse and, most recently, North Rhine-Westphalia, have headscarf bans in the judiciary that apply to judges, prosecutors, and legal trainees. <sup>522</sup> Lower Saxony has similarly banned individuals performing judicial or prosecutorial duties from wearing items of clothing expressing a religious conviction. <sup>523</sup> Three other federal states—Brandenburg, Rheinland-Pfalz, and Schleswig-Holstein—discussed a ban but were unable to obtain parliamentary approvals. <sup>524</sup> The bans followed calls from judges to show "neutrality" and prevent the risk of religious dress undermining confidence in the legal system. <sup>525</sup>

Case law: In February 2020, the Federal Constitutional Court ruled that a ban prohibiting trainee lawyers from wearing headscarves in court in the state of Hesse was constitutional on the basis of religious neutrality. The case concerned a legal trainee who wears a headscarf. She was instructed that when wearing a headscarf, she would be barred from performing any tasks in the course of which she might be perceived as a representative of the justice system. The court ruled in favor of the state, holding that while there were conflicting legal interests, none sufficiently outweighed the other and

[Headscarf]
[The Judiciary]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

thus the legislature's decision to establish a law on "neutral conduct" for legal trainees was constitutional.<sup>526</sup>

After the decision of the Federal Constitutional Court, the heads of the Joint Legal Examination Office of Berlin and Brandenburg and the Court of Appeal of Berlin decided to permit trainee lawyers to wear the headscarf as of August 2020. The instructor must sit next to the trainee lawyers and it must be clear that the instructor is responsible for the sovereign tasks—apparent by the fact that the instructor wears a robe and the trainee lawyer does not. 527 Notably, Berlin's actions appear to have been a response to the 2020 Labor Court ruling regarding headscarves in schools, and not to the Federal Constitutional Court ruling on the legal trainee in Hesse.

Another case involving a legal trainee was decided by the Federal Administrative Court in December 2020. The case originated in 2014, when the state of Bavaria forbade a legal trainee from wearing a headscarf while undertaking "official activities with external impact," such as observing the public prosecutor's session or questioning witnesses. In 2018, years after the complainant's traineeship had concluded, the state of Bavaria enacted two statutory provisions that, taken together, banned religious symbols for legal trainees, judges, and other judicial officers. Potwithstanding the Federal Constitutional Court's recent decision upholding such statutes, the Federal Administrative Court held that there had been insufficient statutory and constitutional basis for the ban at the time of the complainant's legal traineeship, and granted declaratory relief in her favor. Since the same of the complainant's legal traineeship, and granted declaratory relief in her favor.

It was in reaction to this decision by the Federal Administrative Court that the national parliament enacted the "Law Regulating the Appearance of Civil Servants," which authorized state governments to ban certain items of clothing, jewelry, religious symbols, and hair and beard styles worn by civil servants while undertaking official activities.<sup>531</sup>

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

Public employment: A Muslim woman who was hired to work in a childcare facility by the social welfare service (Arbeiterwohlfahrt, AWO) in South Hesse, was told not to come in after two days of work because she wears a headscarf.<sup>532</sup> A lawyer for AWO confirmed that women wearing headscarves were allowed to work in other positions but not in childcare.<sup>533</sup> Despite the woman being qualified and there being a need for childcare workers, AWO could not employ her with a headscarf.<sup>534</sup> The case was settled before the Frankfurt Labor Court. The plaintiff received €500 from

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

AWO, though AWO stated that the compensation was not an acknowledgement of discrimination based on religion. <sup>535</sup>

*Private employment:* Generally, German high courts have been protective of the right to freedom of religion in private employment settings, setting quite high standards against the discrimination of Muslim women who wear a headscarf.

The CJEU recently ruled on two preliminary references, IX v Wabe e.V. and MH Müller Handels GmbH v MJ, pertaining to private employers instructing their employees, a special needs assistant and a sales assistant, to remove headscarves in line with company policies on neutrality.<sup>536</sup> The CJEU upheld the decision in Achbita v G4S Secure Solutions, stating that internal rules banning all signs of belief do not constitute direct discrimination when uniformly applied to all employees, though the Court stipulated that employers would need to show a genuine need for such a rule. The wishes of customers or the avoidance of social conflicts between employees may serve to satisfy such a need. More specifically, the employer would need to show that it would suffer adverse consequences without a policy of neutrality in relation to its freedom to conduct business. Contrary to the opinion issued by Advocate General Athanasios Rantos, the Court ruled that prohibiting only large, conspicuous symbols of belief may constitute direct discrimination. Lastly, the Court held that more favorable national provisions protecting freedom of religion may be taken into account, such as Article 4(1) of the German Basic Law, requiring limitations to the freedom of religion and conscience to be justified by demonstrating specific, rather than general risks, in the assessment of the appropriateness of a difference of treatment indirectly based on religion or belief.

A Muslim woman who had been working as a salesperson in a department store since 1989 was fired when she expressed her intent to start wearing a headscarf for religious reasons to her employer. In July 2003, the Federal Constitutional Court ruled that this constituted wrongful termination of employment whereby the fundamental right to freedom of belief was violated, and refused to overturn a previous ruling of a state court that reached a similar conclusion. Although it acknowledged that both the rights of the employee and employer have weight, the employer had not shown how the practicing of the right to religious freedom by the employee led to operational problems or economic losses to the employer.<sup>537</sup>

A woman in Berlin went to court when she was refused a traineeship as an assistant at a dental practice because she wore a headscarf. In October 2012, the Berlin Labor Court judged this was religious discrimination as the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

woman's headscarf was an expression of her beliefs and thus protected by her right to religious freedom. The judge rejected the claim that the headscarf posed a hygiene risk to patients because there was no higher chance to transmit bacteria through a scarf than through human hair (a position the German Society for Hospital Hygiene later confirmed in 2015). The dental practice also claimed it had the right to "religious neutrality," but the judge rejected this as it was not a religious institution. 539

Despite the fact that it had become more common for women to wear headscarves in dental and other health practices, in October 2016 a dentist in Stuttgart refused a Muslim woman a job stating they do not hire women who wear headscarves. He went on to have said, "We do not employ women who wear headscarves and do not understand how applicants envision this tolerance," a statement for which he later apologized. The dentist then claimed he refused the woman for reasons of hygiene. The woman sued the dentist for damages. 540

[Headscarf] [Practice]

Bans in practice: There have been instances of Muslim women wearing headscarves being denied entry to the courtroom, which have not been subject to court rulings. In 2017, a district court judge in Brandenburg refused to allow a Syrian woman to appear in court with a headscarf during divorce proceedings against her husband for which her presence in court is mandatory. In a letter to the woman's lawyer, the judge claimed religious attire is prohibited in court and that she could face sanctions if she does not comply. The judge was subsequently declared biased, as there is no such law, and the woman was allowed to wear a headscarf. The ECtHR has since held in *Lachiri v Belgium* that the exclusion of a woman, who was a civil party to the case, from the courtroom on grounds that she wore a headscarf constitutes a breach of religious freedom protected by Article 9 of the Convention.

In September 2013, a Berlin court judge refused to allow a Muslim woman lawyer to appear in court wearing a headscarf, but was met with resistance from the Berlin Bar Association that threatened to take the matter to the Constitutional Court. The president of the bar association stated that lawyers exercise a private profession and, unlike state prosecutors or judges, are not required to abide by the same neutrality laws that forbid the wearing of religious dress or symbols.<sup>543</sup>

### **National Legislation**

Equality and religious freedom are core principles of German legislation, both in constitutional and statutory law. The German Constitution (

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Grundgesetz für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, 1949) provides solid grounds for these principles in Article 3, "equality before the law"; Article 4, "freedom of faith and conscience"; Article 12, "freedom of profession"; and Article 33, "access to public offices regardless of religion, denomination or conviction." The articles explicitly prohibit discrimination based on, inter alia, gender and religious belief and/or faith. Article 4 further stresses the protections against discrimination on the grounds of faith and religion by providing that the right "shall be inviolable," and especially, "the undisturbed practice of religion shall be guaranteed." Furthermore, the constitution prohibits discrimination based on "religious affinity" in relation to access to public offices, and the enjoyment of both civil and political rights are independent of religious affiliation.<sup>544</sup> In addition, the General Equal Treatment Act (2006) plays an important role in German antidiscrimination legislation, which forbids discrimination based on various grounds, including gender and religion in the field of employment. 545 The General Equal Treatment Act transposed the Race Equality Directive 2000/43/EC into domestic law, though the European Commission has raised concerns about the act's conformity with European Union law. 546 The act has been criticized for its insufficient protection against discrimination in public institutions.547

#### Greece

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

While the topic of Muslim women's head coverings entered the public conversation after France enacted a headscarf ban in 2004, no national face veil or headscarf ban has been proposed yet. There have been anecdotal reports of Islamophobic harassment and attacks directed at women in Muslim dress, as well as headscarf bans in practice. Greece's discourse around Islam and Muslims in recent years has focused primarily on two issues: Muslim sacred sites—specifically the Mosque of Athens and a Muslim cemetery—and the arrival of refugees in Greece. State Islamophobia in Greece is most visible in right-wing politics, media, and among some Christian Church figures.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Background**

Muslims make up approximately 2 percent of the country's total population.<sup>549</sup> Though the Muslim population is heterogenous, scholars have identified two distinct communities: the ethnically Turkish Muslim minority that has long lived in and around Thrace, and immigrants that arrived since the collapse of Communism in neighboring Albania in 1991.<sup>550</sup>

Public anti-Islam discourse that emerged after 9/11 has been exacerbated by the recent refugee crisis in Europe, and features narratives about terrorism, violence, and the "clash of civilizations." <sup>551</sup> It is uniquely intertwined with anti-Turkish sentiment, with Turkey seen as the pathway by which many Muslim migrants reach Greece and a threat in its own right as a Muslim country. <sup>552</sup>

The Islamic head covering was not an issue until 2004 when France banned headscarves at public schools and institutions. <sup>553</sup> The debate has intensified in the past few years. However, the discourse has not reached the official forums of policymakers, lawmakers, or judges. <sup>554</sup>

There have been indications that Muslim women in Greece, especially those who wear Islamic clothing, face attacks and harassment in their daily lives. <sup>555</sup> Additionally, there was a string of violent attacks against refugees in Athens and on the island of Lesbos in 2018. <sup>556</sup> However, such incidents are difficult to verify as Islamophobic attacks because official reports record racist and xenophobic attacks without identifying possible religious motivations. Greece also lacks an observatory authority charged with reporting Islamophobic incidents. <sup>557</sup> There are no reports of legal cases on the issue.

Issues of great concern to Greek Muslims were the absence in Athens of official prayer spaces, leaving them to meet in warehouses or basements to pray, and a lack of Muslim burial grounds. In 2006, parliament approved the construction of a state-run Mosque of Athens, which would accommodate 350 worshippers out of the city's 200,000-person Muslim community. The project was delayed by protests and legal challenges from nationalist groups, but the mosque was finally completed and opened in 2020. There is still no Muslim cemetery in Athens, so the city's Muslims transport their dead to Thrace in northern Greece for burial.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Bans**

Greece has no national bans on headscarves or face veils. There are no proposals being considered.

#### **Local Bans**

There are no local bans or proposals for a ban at the local level in Greece.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

Reports by women detained at the Petrou Ralli migrant detention center suggest that the facility enforces a headscarf ban, despite the lack of an official policy banning head coverings. Observers who visited the facility in 2019 quoted one detained woman: "When we came here, they forbade us to wear our headscarves and told us: 'Out of here you can be Muslim. Here, NO! Here you are Christians." The observers described this as "a characteristic testimony." 562

A letter written by women from six different countries detained at Petrou Ralli, describing inhumane conditions and abuse at the facility, referred to "Alla from Syria, whose headscarf is pulled from her head." <sup>563</sup>

#### **National Legislation**

Greece's national legislation providing protection against discrimination on the grounds of religion is regulated by the Greek Constitution. The constitution states that "all persons living within the Greek territory shall enjoy full protection of their life, honor and liberty irrespective of nationality, race or language and of religious or political beliefs."<sup>564</sup> Article 13 further confirms that the enjoyment of civil rights and liberties is independent of one's religion. The constitution also stresses that the same protected grounds apply to the private sector. Article 25 provides that private employers must respect the constitutional rights of their employees, including the right to equality, regardless of religious beliefs. National legislation that implements the constitutional principles has been enacted in recent years. In 2014, an antiracism law was passed (4285/2014, FEK A 191) that introduced penalties for those who expressed views and ideas that could lead to acts against minority groups, including religious ones. In addition, Law 4356/2015 was passed in 2015, which regulates the establishment of a committee, called the National Board against Racism and

[Headscarf]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Intolerance. One of the board's missions is to monitor the implementation of existing antiracism laws. 565

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### Hungary

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Islamophobia in Hungary is closely tied with the country's discourse around immigration, which has shifted dramatically to the right in recent years. The Fidesz-KNDP right-wing nationalist party, which has dominated the Hungarian Parliament since 2010, has kept its anti-immigrant stance at the top of the political agenda, and public opinion is increasingly and overwhelmingly anti-immigrant and anti-Muslim. See Nevertheless, the Hungarian Parliament has neither enacted nor proposed any legislation restricting Muslim women's dress. The only such restriction at the local level—a municipal ban put in place in 2016—was struck down by Hungary's Constitutional Court.

#### **Background**

Islam has been a recognized religion in Hungary since 1916. A 2017 Pew Research Center survey estimates the number of Muslims in Hungary at 40,000 or about 0.4 percent of the total population.<sup>567</sup>

The EU's refugee crisis transformed the public discourse about Muslims in 2015.<sup>568</sup> As a result, Muslims in Hungary are increasingly experiencing discrimination in their daily and professional lives.<sup>569</sup> Muslim women who wear headscarves or veils, in particular, reported frequent verbal and physical attacks.<sup>570</sup> While hate crimes against Muslims in the country have increased,<sup>571</sup> no incidents of discrimination against Muslim women who wear religious clothing have been reported.

Wearing headscarves or face veils in public is not an issue of public debate. The only relevant topic that dominates public debate is about the migration of Muslims, and this has sparked stronger anti-Islam feelings within the country. <sup>572</sup> A highlight of this discourse was the remark made by Prime Minister Viktor Orbán, who referred to the constitution (known as Basic Law) when he declared that "Islamization is constitutionally banned in Hungary." <sup>573</sup> This remark was mostly directed at the increase of migrants coming to Hungary and does not constitute a ban on Islam or the wearing of Islamic clothing in the country. On another occasion, Orbán referred to

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

immigrants as "Muslim invaders," and said that "the Hungarian people . . . don't want any migration."<sup>574</sup> Reports suggest that many migrants have passed through Hungary on their way to other European countries, but that very few have remained in Hungary.<sup>575</sup>

#### **National Bans**

At the national level, Hungary has no legal bans or proposals for a ban on Islamic clothing.

#### **Local Bans**

At the municipal level, there are no legal bans on Islamic dress.

[Face Veil]

There was a short-lived decree that banned the wearing of all forms of face veils, including burqas and full-body swimsuits issued in Assothalom, a town of 4,000 people. The ban was put forward by Mayor László Toroczkai and was declared official in November 2016. Punishment for violation was a fine of 150,000 forint (or US\$686). 576 However, in April 2017, Hungary's Constitutional Court struck down the ban as unconstitutional stating that the local government cannot adopt legislation that restricts basic rights. 577

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

There were no bans reported under this category.

#### **National Legislation**

National legislation that provides protection against discrimination in Hungary is set out in two main laws: The Constitution of Hungary <sup>578</sup> and Act CXXV of 2003 (amended 2006) on Equal Treatment and the Promotion of Equal Opportunities (the Equal Treatment Act). Both declare the prohibition of discrimination on the basis of, *inter alia*, sex and religion. The Equal Treatment Act goes further to prohibit different forms of discrimination, including direct and indirect negative discrimination, harassment, unlawful segregation, retribution, and any orders on committing such acts of discrimination. <sup>579</sup>

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Ireland**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Amid a rise in Islamophobia in Ireland, Muslim women have been assaulted in public for wearing head coverings. While official statistics only record a small number of Islamophobic hate crimes, Muslim groups have pointed to problems of underreporting and inaccuracies in the reporting of such cases. In 2018, schools recognized under the Education Act were prohibited from using an applicant's religion in deciding whether to admit them. However, it is not clear whether this would prohibit schools from banning Muslim students who wear head coverings. A 2010 guideline from the Roman Catholic Church permits Roman Catholic secondary schools to prohibit Muslim students from wearing face coverings at school. In relation to employment discrimination, there has only been one reported case of a Muslim woman challenging an employer's head covering policy. She lost her claim— in which she alleged harassment by her employer for prohibiting her from covering her head—on procedural grounds.

### **Background**

As of 2016, there were about 63,400 Muslims in Ireland, who make up approximately 1.3 percent of the population. The community is believed to have grown by 14,200 members over the five years from 2011 to 2016.<sup>580</sup> Muslims are known to experience hostility and discrimination in Ireland.<sup>581</sup> Although underreported, anti-Muslim incidents occur across multiple settings, ranging from classrooms to workplaces, from public transport to shops and restaurants.<sup>582</sup>

In 2019, the Irish government published official data on hate crimes via a submission to the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE) for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights, <sup>583</sup> indicating that Islamophobia is a problem. However, Islamic organizations have highlighted that many cases are not included in the official reports, which has led to efforts by the Irish police to improve reporting and recording of hate crimes.

According to a media survey, while Muslims consider Ireland to be more accommodating to their religion than other European countries, they still

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

experience Islamophobic discrimination and hostility.<sup>584</sup> In particular, Muslim women were more than twice as likely to face discrimination and hostility compared to Muslim men. Further, Muslim women in Islamic clothing were found to experience violence and stigmatization more frequently than women not wearing religious dress.<sup>585</sup> In May 2019, a woman's headscarf was torn off her head as she was attacked while shopping in a supermarket in Limerick.<sup>586</sup> In December 2015, media widely reported on a patient in Tallaght-Dublin refusing to get medical treatment from a Muslim consultant wearing a headscarf, highlighting the negative attitudes toward those who wear headscarves.<sup>587</sup>

Public debate on headscarf bans pervades political discourse in Ireland and is driven by the anti-Muslim rhetoric of political actors. In May 2019, Joe O'Callaghan, a former lord mayor of Cork, called for a ban on Islamic face coverings during the run-up for local elections. He stated that face coverings were "a joke in this day and age" and believed it to be a "question of security and integration." In August 2019, Gemma O'Doherty, a leading public figure and far-right activist who ran unsuccessfully in both the European election and national parliamentary by-elections, proclaimed that headscarves "should be burned." 588

The public debate on religious dress traces back to June 2008, when Ruairi Quinn, a politician from the Labour Party, made a public announcement that Muslim girls should not be allowed to wear headscarves in public schools. He commented that wearing headscarves is an unacceptable form of religious manifestation, which does not conform to the norms of Irish culture. The statement stirred controversies and debates nationwide. 589 The debate over restrictions on Islamic headwear continues to dominate academic and political forums and has attracted much media attention in Ireland. In 2014, a Muslim university professor Dr. Ali Selim called on Catholic schools to allow their Muslim pupils to wear headscarves and to tailor the uniform to accommodate the needs of Muslim students, claiming that "wearing the headscarf is a divine obligation for Muslim girls." 590 Selim's views were, however, rejected by the Islamic Foundation of Ireland and the Islamic Cultural Centre of Ireland—the official body for Islamic education in Ireland, which stated that Catholic school managements have "made wonderful efforts to make their schools as inclusive as possible without losing their own ethos." In August 2019, a senior lecturer at University College Cork, Dr. Amanullah De Sondy, reported on social media that he had received personal threats on his office phone after he had spoken against Islamophobia and the need to speak out against all forms of hate.591

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In response to the CJEU decisions that it is not necessarily discriminatory for private employers to prohibit religious clothing, 100 Muslim women congregated in Dublin to protest the European Court's ruling, claiming that the decision would estrange Muslim women even more by allowing employers to ban headscarves—an integral part of a Muslim woman's identity—in the workplace.<sup>592</sup>

#### **National Bans**

Currently, there are no legal bans or official proposals to ban the headscarf or face veil in Ireland.<sup>593</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

No legal bans at the local level have been implemented or proposed in Ireland.<sup>594</sup>

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Face Veil] [Education]

Education: In 2010, an official guideline was circulated to 450 Roman Catholic secondary schools in Ireland permitting them to prohibit Muslims from wearing face veils at school. The restriction was worded in a way that respects all religions but indicates that it is "unsatisfactory for a teacher not to be able to see and engage properly with a pupil whose face was covered." The guideline exempted religious symbols or garments that do not cover the face (i.e., the headscarf) from the restriction. The guideline reportedly caused many Catholic schools to ban the face veil. The exact number and names of those schools remain unclear. It is important to note that the guideline does not constitute a legal ban on the face veil in Ireland, but rather grants individual schools autonomy to decide the dress code within their administration. 596

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

*Private employment*: In 2016, the Workplace Relations Commission issued an adjudication decision on a Muslim woman's claim against her employer for harassment when she was allegedly asked to remove her religious headscarf three times. However, as the claim was filed more than six months after the event, it was dismissed on the basis that the complainant had failed to advance compelling reasons for the delay in making her complaint.<sup>597</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

*Public employment*: In 2019, the Irish police service An Garda Síochána modified its uniform policy to allow service members of different faith backgrounds to wear religious clothing, including the headscarf for Muslim women.<sup>598</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Legislation**

Legal protection from discrimination against Muslim students was established under the Education (Admission to Schools) Act 2018 which amends the Education Act 1998 and prohibits schools from using a student's religion as a basis for admission. Schools that provide religious instruction or education are not allowed to prioritize students based on their religious belief apart from students of that religion who are looking for admission to a school that provides religious instruction or education consistent with, or similar to, their religious beliefs. However, a school that aims to promote certain religious values can refuse to admit a student not of that religious denomination insofar as it can prove that the refusal is essential to maintain the ethos of the school.

In employment, in accordance with various EU directives,<sup>599</sup> national legal protection from discrimination on the grounds of religious belief is set out in two main sources: the Irish Constitution<sup>600</sup> and the Employment Equality Acts of 1998–2015.<sup>601</sup> According to these laws, it is illegal to discriminate against employees based on their religion, which includes "religious belief, background, outlook or none."<sup>602</sup>

## **Italy**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

In recent years, right-wing political parties such as The League or Brothers of Italy have created a hostile and vilifying discourse around Muslims and enhanced anti-Muslim sentiments by linking Islam with terrorism and fanaticism in their political statements. <sup>603</sup>These remarks have resulted in anti-Muslim marches and in racial assaults and hate crimes, which have been directed disproportionately at Muslim women. Nevertheless, no national ban on Muslim women wearing face veils is currently in place, although some regions and towns have enacted their own bans, one of which has recently been upheld by the Milan Court of Appeal.

### **Background**

According to a 2019 study conducted by research center IDOS that specializes in migration and asylum, roughly 1.7 million Muslims are living in Italy<sup>604</sup>, accounting for 3 percent of the population. Different reports by academics and NGOs<sup>605</sup>, newspaper articles,<sup>606</sup> and polls<sup>607</sup> report widespread anti-Muslim prejudice in Italy. A 2017 Pew research study showed that 35 percent of Italians affirm that Muslim women should not be allowed to wear religious clothing.<sup>608</sup> A study conducted by Amnesty International in 2020 reported that 67 percent of hate speech found in Italy on Twitter, Facebook, or other social network posts were Islamophobic.<sup>609</sup> Muslims are also the subject of stigmatizing and racist remarks,<sup>610</sup> particularly in public statements and policy proposals of mainstream rightwing political parties such as The League (formerly the Northern League).<sup>611</sup>

Despite being underreported, instances of discrimination against Muslims are numerous. 612 Muslim women in Italy are particularly likely to be targets of Islamophobia, with a study finding that 70 percent report having been victimized. 613 Those who wear Islamic headscarves are more likely to be subjected to discrimination and stigmatization. 614 Immigrant women from Muslim-majority countries display the lowest level of employment compared to other groups of immigrants. 615 Muslim women who wear any form of religious clothing in the workplace find it difficult to find a job that

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

involves contact with customers. Some Muslim employees compromise by taking off their headscarf in the workplace.<sup>616</sup>

#### **National Bans**

The question of the face veil and the headscarf did not feature prominently in national political debate until a bill to ban the face veil was tabled in parliament in 2011, though the bill never passed.<sup>617</sup>

Italian legislation does not ban religious clothing in public places. However, Article 5 of the Law on the Provisions for the Protection of Public Order, No. 152 of 22 May 1975 (Law 152/1975) has often been misinterpreted as a national ban on face veils. The provision, which was published during a period of frequently violent political and social turmoil in Italy called the Years of Lead (Anni di Piombo) in the 1970s,<sup>618</sup> prohibits the use of helmets or clothes "which aim to prevent the identification of the person without just cause, in a public place or in a place open to the public."

In 2008, the Council of State ruled on the scope of Article 5 in a case that involved an ordinance issued by the mayor of Azzano Decimo, which identified the face veil as prohibited clothing under the 152/1975 law. The Court invalidated the ordinance and ruled that Article 5 excluded religious garments because "they do not aim at preventing the identification of the person, but are rather part of the tradition of some peoples and cultures." It determined that a person may, however, be asked to remove their face veil upon request by public authorities for security reasons to allow personal identification. Despite the ruling, mayors of several towns, including Novara, Treviso, and Drezzo, continued to issue misleading ordinances, which were eventually invalidated for contradicting Council of State precedent. 619

After the ruling on the ordinance issued by the mayor of Azzano Decimo, Souad Sbai and Manlio Contento, members of parliament from the People of Freedom Party, proposed amendments to Article 5 of the law 152/175 to explicitly ban the face veil. Their bill also suggested imposing a fine on those who violate it. The bill was approved by the Constitutional Affairs Committee in 2011, but not by parliament.<sup>620</sup>

In January 2017, the regional councilor of Veneto, Alberto Villanova, announced that his regional government would like to submit a bill imposing a prohibition on wearing the face veil throughout Italy. His reason was that "the burqa is a symbol of submission and oppression." The statement has not materialized in an actual bill.

[Face Veil]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In addition, there were several attempts to reintroduce the restriction on face veils put forward by the Ministry of Interior through two circular letters in 1995 and 2000, as well as a charter of citizenship values and integration in 2007. The common ground among the documents is that religious clothing is allowed as long as it does not cover the wearer's face. The documents are not legally binding.<sup>622</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

[Face Veil]

Local specific bans: The first legislative ban at the municipal level came into force in December 2015, when the regional government of Lombardy passed a law that prohibits the use of face coverings that could conceal the wearer's identity in public buildings, including government offices and hospitals.<sup>623</sup> Following Lombardy was the Veneto Region, which approved a similar law in June 2017.<sup>624</sup>

It has been reported that several towns in Italy have imposed fines on women wearing face veils, despite having no laws regulating the matter. In 2010, a woman was fined for visiting a post office while wearing a full-length face veil in the town of Novara. The fine was imposed under a municipal ordinance introduced by Novara's Northern League mayor. 625 In November 2016, another Muslim woman was fined for refusing to remove her face veil in a town hall in Pordenone. 626

Case law: In 2016, several associations challenged the ban on face coverings in Lombardy, including its implementation through signs outside public buildings and hospitals showing images of people wearing helmets, balaclavas, and face veils and declaring that it was forbidden to enter with any such head covering for security reasons. In April 2017, the Court of Milan dismissed the appeal. The judge ruled that forbidding Muslim women to wear veils in hospitals and public offices, is a "disadvantage for people adhering to a given religion," but that the prohibition is not discriminatory because it is "objectively justified by a legitimate aim, reasonable and proportionate with respect to the value of public security." October 2019, the Court of Appeal of Milan upheld the ban, reasoning that "the 'disadvantage' imposed on women who wear the veil for religious motives was proportionate and reasonable, due to its being limited in time and location and justified on the grounds of public safety."

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf]
[Employment]

Women have reportedly faced discrimination in employment as a result of wearing a headscarf, particularly in the healthcare sector. The Association of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Doctors of Foreign Origin in Italy (Associazione medici di origine straniera in Italia) has reported increased racial discrimination against healthcare professionals in recent years. There have been several instances, primarily in Veneto, Trentino-Alto Adige, Lombardia, and Campania, of patients requesting to be treated by "Italian healthcare professionals" and complaining about employees wearing headscarves. 629 This has led to women who wear headscarves either not being hired or being dismissed, prompting many of them to leave Italy and pursue a medical career elsewhere. 630 While it appears that employers did not justify such decisions with explicit references to religious dress restrictions, these developments have at times amounted to a prohibition on the headscarf for healthcare professionals in practice. 631

In 2018, a Muslim legal trainee was asked to leave a hearing of the Administrative Court in Bologna after refusing the judge's request to remove her headscarf. After the legal trainee left the courtroom, the judge explained that it was a question of respect for Italian culture and tradition. The judge's decision prompted the president of the Regional Administrative Court of Emilia Romagna to assure the legal trainee that she would be able to participate in all future hearings wearing a headscarf to manifest her religious faith. The Association of Young Lawyers (Associazione italiana giovani accovati) also expressed their support and solidarity with the legal trainee. On the other hand, Matteo Salvini, a political far-right leader and former deputy prime minister of Italy, expressed his support for the judge. Geleazzo Bignami of former Prime Minister Berlusconi's party Forza Italia argued that Article 129 of the Code of Civil Procedure states that court hearings must be attended "bareheaded," though the Article's application to religious dress has been disputed. 632

## **National Legislation**

In Italy, antidiscrimination is established as a major constitutional principle, according to which "[a]ll citizens have equal dignity and are equal in the eyes of the law, without distinction of sex, race, language, relation, political opinions, personal, and social conditions." This principle applies to employment, among other areas. Articles 8, 19, and 21 of the constitution further guarantee freedom of religion. In the field of employment, Article 2104 of the Italian Civil Code states that the employee is bound by the directives and other provisions given by the employer for the execution of the work and must fulfill the due diligence and interest of the enterprise. At the same time, the employee's rights and the absolute prohibition of religious discrimination must be respected. Article 4 of Law 604/66

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

(Individual Redundancy Rules) explicitly states that dismissals "determined to be based on political or religious belief ... [are] null, regardless of the motivation adopted." Italian law also allows head coverings in official photographs as long as facial features are visible, according to a Ministry of the Interior circular regarding residence permits, dated July 24, 2000.

### Latvia

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

## **Executive Summary**

Though Muslims are a very small minority in Latvia, the government considered introducing a ban on the face veil after the country was slated to take in a few hundred refugees from Muslim-majority countries. According to public polls, the ban was supported by a majority of Latvians. However, the legislative proposal was shelved after it faced objections in the legislature.

## **Background**

Muslims in Latvia make up only about 0.4 percent of the total population.<sup>634</sup> Among the estimated 1,000 practicing Muslims, it was reported that only three women wear face veils.<sup>635</sup> In Latvia, the Muslim community faces Islamophobia, which has been aggravated by several prominent individuals.<sup>636</sup>

Although there are no explicitly discriminatory laws, there have been reports of public discrimination and vocal prejudice against Muslims. <sup>637</sup> However, there is no report of specific incidents or legal cases on discrimination against Muslim women or Muslim women wearing Islamic clothing.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Bans**

To date, Latvia has no national bans.

[Face Veil]

*Proposals*: At the national level, there have been two noticeable attempts to ban the wearing of Islamic face veils in public in Latvia. The first attempt was undertaken by members of parliament from the Union of Latvian Regions, an alliance of centrist parties. The union submitted a draft law called "On Regulation of Covering a Person's Face in Public Places" to the parliament of Latvia, justified by concerns over Muslim refugees and the idea that a face veil poses a security threat. <sup>638</sup> While the Latvian president supported the ban for national security concerns, <sup>639</sup> the majority of parliament rejected it on September 24, 2015. <sup>640</sup>

The second initiative to legalize a ban on face veils was a bill proposed by the Latvian Justice Ministry in January 2016.<sup>641</sup> While there were only three women who wore face veils in the entire country, the bill was framed as preventing prospective immigrants from Muslim countries from coming to Latvia and preserving Latvian values. 642 Results from a public poll organized by a private research company, commissioned by a morning news program, Latvia's TNT TV, showed that the bill was supported by a majority of Latvian respondents (77 percent). 643 The bill was expected to come into effect in 2017. On June 25, 2017, 644 it was reported in the media that the Ministry of Justice was planning to move the process forward with no specific date provided. 645 On March 18, 2018, it was reported that the proposed legislation had not moved forward and was abandoned as a legislative priority due to objections from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Parliamentary Commission for Human Rights and Public Affairs. 646 According to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the draft law is not justified due to the small number of Muslims in the country, compared to countries like France and Belgium, where there are large numbers of Muslims.

#### **Local Bans**

No local bans have been implemented or proposed in Latvia.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category have been reported.

### **National Legislation**

Latvia's legislative principles on antidiscrimination based on religion and belief are stipulated in the Constitution of Latvia. According to article 116 of the constitution, although the freedom of religion and belief is provided, it can also be limited in order to "protect the rights of other individuals, the democratic system of our state, security, morality and welfare of [Latvian] society." The possibility of limiting the freedom to express one's religious beliefs is specifically addressed in this paragraph.

## Lithuania

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive summary:**

Although there is a very small population of Muslims who have historically been a part of Lithuanian society, attitudes towards Muslims in Lithuania are generally negative. In 2015, a legislative ban on face veils was proposed by some politicians after the country was expected to receive a few hundred refugees from Muslim-majority countries. The proposal was opposed by other politicians and the Muslim community, and was rejected by the then prime minister on the basis of the country's commitment to human rights and religious freedom.

## **Background**

The latest available data shows that there were about 2,727 Muslim residents in Lithuania, which is about 0.09 percent of the total population. <sup>648</sup> Public attitudes toward Muslims differ. Tatar Muslims who have lived in Lithuania for centuries are viewed more favorably, in contrast to recent Muslim immigrants. <sup>649</sup> Notably, most Tatar women do not wear the headscarf, except during prayers, and most Muslim women who wear the headscarf are recent immigrants. <sup>650</sup> A 2019 Pew research survey found that only 26 percent of Lithuanians had a favorable view of Muslims in their country while 56 percent had an unfavorable view. <sup>651</sup>

There are relatively few reported cases of discrimination against Muslims.<sup>652</sup> However, public opinion surveys and interviews suggest possible

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

underreporting, due to a lack of registration and effective investigation of complaints.<sup>653</sup> In the field of employment, it was reported that Islamic clothing was one of the causes of discrimination against Muslims.<sup>654</sup>

### **National Bans**

There are no legal bans on Islamic clothing adopted in Lithuania to date.

*Proposals:* In August 2015, top politicians in Lithuania raised a discussion about a possible burqa ban after the country agreed to accept several hundred refugees, mostly from Syria and Eritrea.<sup>655</sup> It was the first ban to be proposed by the chairman of the Parliamentary National Security and Defense Committee, who expressed a need to prohibit the covering of the face as a preventive measure to ensure national security while accepting refugees from Muslim countries.<sup>656</sup> This proposal was quickly dismissed by other officials.<sup>657</sup> The representative of the Islam Culture and Education Centre stressed that the "initiative of the ban of burqas in public spaces" was unnecessary. Prime Minister Algirdas Butkevicius explained that the integration of refugees is more important than the burqa ban and that the government's decision to reject the proposed ban is based on Lithuania's international commitments in the field of human rights and religious freedom.<sup>658</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

There are no legal bans or proposals for bans locally in Lithuania.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category were reported.

## **National Legislation**

National legislation against discrimination on the grounds of religion, especially in the field of employment, is laid down in the Labor Code (effective since July 1, 2017), which prohibits discrimination in the field of employment on various grounds, including on the grounds of religion or belief. Article 26 of the Labor Code explicitly requires equal treatment for all employees, regardless of their religion, in various stages of an employment process, from recruitment to dismissal. 659 Discrimination on the grounds of religion is also prohibited under the Law on Equal Treatment. 660

[Face Veil]

## Luxembourg

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

In 2018, Luxembourg enacted the "Face Concealment Bill," which bans face coverings in specific public spaces, including schools, public transportation, hospitals, court houses, and public administration buildings. The legislature relied on the rationale of "communication, interaction, and living together," which resembles the European Court of Human Rights' justification of France's face veil ban in *S.A.S. v France*. Local bans, some of which had even broader prohibitions, existed prior to the national ban. Additionally, there are institutional restrictions in Luxembourg, including a ban by the National Bar Association, which prohibits lawyers from wearing head coverings.

### **Background**

Muslims are a small minority in Luxembourg.<sup>661</sup> Recent data from Muslim community groups estimate that between 18,000 and 20,000 Muslims live in Luxembourg, making up approximately 1-2 percent of the population.<sup>662</sup> Islam was not legally recognized in the country until 2015, when the Luxembourg Parliament signed an agreement with the Muslim community, which gave Islam equal status with other religions.<sup>663</sup>

The country is generally identified as peaceful and tolerant. <sup>664</sup> However, in 2018, the Islamophobia Observatory in Luxembourg conducted a poll of 340 Muslim men and women, reporting that 60 percent believed Islamophobia was present in the country. Twenty- one percent of respondents reported experiencing anti-Muslim incidents in 2018. <sup>665</sup> In addition, 38 percent of female respondents who wore a headscarf or face veil reported experiencing anti-Muslim discrimination. It has been estimated that fewer than 20 women in Luxembourg wear face veils. <sup>666</sup>

Political pressure to enact legal restrictions on Muslim women's' dress dates back to 2016. In April 2016, Nicolas Schmit, labor minister of the Luxembourg Socialist Labor Party (LSAP), announced on Twitter that "[t]he burqa is incompatible with our values. It degrades the dignity and equality of opportunities for woman [sic]."667

Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National specific bans: In 2018, Luxembourg's parliament adopted a "Face Concealment Bill," also referred to as the "Burqa Law," which prohibits the concealment of faces in schools, public transport, public hospitals, homes for underage people, retirement homes, court houses, and public administration buildings. The law was added to the Criminal Code and carries a maximum fine of €250 for noncompliance. 669, 670, 671 The law does not apply to parks or public streets, and exempts face coverings for medical or professional reasons, and for "sports, festivals or artistic or traditional events where it is customary to hide all or part of the face." This exemption implicitly allows for face coverings associated with Christian events. 673

*Proposals:* In September 2020, a citizen submitted an application for public petition, seeking modification of the 2018 law to prohibit face coverings in all public outdoor spaces.<sup>674</sup> Luxembourg's Chamber of Deputies accepted the petition for publication on its website and eventually sent the petition to the minister of justice, requesting a position statement. The petition claimed that the face veil is not a compulsory practice within Islam, but rather a mark of "resistance" against the "West," representing a proselytism of "radical Islam" that is contrary to European values. In the minister of justice's February 2021 position statement, she responded that expanding the existing prohibition on face veils was unlikely to further the goal of "living together." The minister also stated that the proposal could generate tension and stigmatize the Muslim community. The petition never received the 4,500 signatures required to progress to a public debate.<sup>675</sup>

#### **Local Bans**

[Face Veil]

Local general bans: By 2017, prior to the adoption of Luxembourg's national ban on face coverings, 47 of Luxembourg's 102 local municipalities had already enacted local bans on face veils in public. <sup>676</sup> Some of the local laws have broader prohibitions than the current national ban, for example by banning concealment of faces in all streets, squares, and public places except through authorization by the mayor or during Carnival. <sup>677</sup>

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice:

[Headscarf]
[The Judiciary]

In September 2017, Luxembourg's Bar Association implemented a regulation prohibiting lawyers from wearing head coverings. The rule requires that lawyers be "bareheaded and properly dressed in all circumstances[,]" and prohibits "any decoration or sign indicating a

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

religious, community, philosophical or political affiliation." <sup>678</sup> On September 24, 2017, François Prum, president of the Luxembourg Bar Association, asked a woman to remove her headscarf in order to participate in her swearing-in ceremony. <sup>679</sup> She refused and, as a result, was not sworn into the practice of law. Prum stated that "respect for the independence of the judiciary" was "at stake." <sup>680</sup> The woman considered pursuing a legal claim. However, approximately two months later, she decided to complete her swearing-in ceremony without a headscarf. <sup>681</sup>

### **National Legislation**

In Luxembourg, the Law Implementing the Principle of Equal Treatment (Egalite de Traitement; 2006, amended in 2016) prohibits all forms of discrimination based on religion.<sup>682</sup> The general principle of equality is protected by the Constitution of Luxembourg, especially under article 111.<sup>683</sup>

### Malta

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

## **Executive Summary**

Malta has no restrictions on religious dress to date. There are increasing reports of Islamophobia in the country, targeting primarily undocumented migrants.

## **Background**

Based on data from 2017, Muslims in Malta constitute approximately 6 to 7 percent of the national population.<sup>684</sup>

Muslim women wearing face veils have reported incidents of discrimination in which employers have not allowed the face veil to be worn at workplaces 685 and in which schools have prohibited women wearing the headscarf from accessing school facilities. 686

A 2017 study conducted by the University of Malta reported that Muslim migrants without legal resident status were the most common targets of online hate speech found in news portal comments.687

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **National Ban**

Malta has no law that prohibits the wearing of headscarves or face veils nationwide.

[Face Veil]

Although Malta's Criminal Code forbids people from "wearing masks or disguising themselves" in public spaces "except at the time and in the manner allowed by the law" a police circular issued by the attorney general in February 2013 insisted that "there is no provision within Maltese law that prohibits the wearing of the burqa" and ordered the police force to not enforce the ban on face veils in public.688

*Proposals:* Even though Muslim women wearing Islamic head coverings have long been discriminated against, the discussion on banning face coverings did not become prominent until 2015, when a ban was proposed by Equality Minister Helena Dalli. The minister made her remark on a television program in October 2015. Her intention was to "reverse" the above-mentioned police circular from February 2013, making it enforceable to prohibit the wearing of the face veil in public.689 The proposal sparked public debate on the topic but was not enforced.

#### **Local Ban**

Malta has no law that prohibits the wearing of headscarves or face veils locally.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No data on bans under this category was reported.

## **National Legislation**

Legal protection against religious discrimination in Malta is provided by the constitution. Chapter 456 of the Equality for Men and Women Act covers equality in employment and protects people from discrimination based on religion, among other factors. Similarly, the Employment and Industrial Relations Act ensures that employees are not discriminated against based on their religion, among other factors.

### **Netherlands**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

Dutch Muslims face discrimination and Islamophobia in many different areas, including through persistent anti-Muslim political rhetoric driven by the radical right.<sup>690</sup> In 2019, the Act Partially Prohibiting Face-Covering Clothing went into effect and banned face coverings in various public spaces. The act has only been implemented to a limited degree by government authorities. Institutional and private bans have been repeatedly challenged before national courts as well as the Netherlands Institute for Human Rights. There have been repeated calls for the police to allow integrating the headscarf into the police uniform, and for religious dress to be accommodated in the judiciary since early 2000.691 Case law of the Netherlands Institute for Human Rights (preceded by the Commission for Equal Treatment) also reflects numerous attempts by individuals, businesses, and institutions to ban religious dress worn my Muslim women and limit their access to public and private employment and education and services in Dutch society as early as 1994. The institute has consistently and successfully pushed back against these attempts and has worked on educating the public about equality law and advancing alternative solutions.

## **Background**

Dutch Muslims make up 5.1 percent of the overall national population of 17.33 million.<sup>692</sup> Wearing a headscarf is common among Muslim women in the Netherlands. While it is not known how many women wear a face veil, it is estimated that there are between 200 and 400.<sup>693</sup>

Muslim ethnic minorities were mostly viewed as "guest workers" and "immigrants" in the 1960s and 1970s. They their identity was reduced to their religion, with their behavior being understood mainly through that lens, from the 1980s onwards. This was both in light of increased migration under family reunification schemes at times of economic downturn, but also international events like the Iranian Revolution and the Rushdie affair that changed the discourse about Muslims in Europe. <sup>694</sup> Frits Bolkesteijn, leader of the liberal-conservative governmental party People's Party for Freedom and Democracy (VVD) from 1990 to 1998, launched a debate about the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

integration of immigrants from Morocco and Turkey, hailing the universal superiority of the principles of separation of church and state, freedom of expression and non-discrimination, which he feared were at risk of being compromised by Islamic practices. <sup>695</sup> Debates about Muslims increased sharply after 9/11 and the murder of film maker Theo Van Gogh.

Key figures of mainstream political parties and opinion makers have played a significant role in the demonization of Muslims. <sup>696</sup> In the run up to the 2017 Dutch general election, the right-wing populist politician Geert Wilders of the Freedom Party PVV (Partij Voor de Vrijheid) declared Islamization to be "the biggest problem in this country" and an "existential threat" to "our identity, our freedom. Who we are. Everything." <sup>697</sup>

Political and public debates on both the face veil and headscarf have been pushed mostly by Wilders who has consistently called for different bans, whereas center-right and leftist parties have in the past years more generally discussed the so-called failure of multiculturalism.<sup>698</sup> In 2009, for example, Wilders advocated for a special tax on headscarves, which he disparagingly called "kopvoddentax," or "head rag tax."<sup>699</sup> The proposal was to introduce special permits to wear headscarves costing €1,000 per permit. <sup>700</sup> Wilders justified this "tax" as follows: First, headscarves and long dresses, among other things, pollute the cityscape, and therefore the wearers must pay. Second, a headscarf is the symbol of a lack of freedom and the oppression of women; hence, the tax can support women's shelters. <sup>701</sup>

A report from the University of Amsterdam documented that Muslims face discrimination in different areas of life and are also subjected to violent attacks. <sup>702</sup> According to a report published by the Dutch government on the experiences of Dutch citizens with discrimination, 32 percent of Muslims perceived unequal treatment and up to 45 percent perceived negative attitudes, placing Muslims among the highest group on the scale of perceived discrimination followed only by Turkish and Moroccan individuals. <sup>703</sup> As in many other countries in the EU, Muslim women are subject to discrimination, especially those whose faith is visible through their dress. <sup>704</sup>

The Netherlands Institute for Human Rights (College voor de Rechten can de Mens), previously the Commission for Equal Treatment, deals with the majority of discrimination complaints as the country's national equality body. The institute handles complaints under the General Equal Treatment Act. While the institute's decisions are not legally binding, it has stated that its decisions nevertheless have a positive effect leading to defendants taking action, e.g., by apologizing or changing the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

organization's policy, in about 80 percent of cases. <sup>706</sup> The institute adopted its first decision on religious dress in 1994, which coincided with the adoption of the Dutch Equal Treatment Act. The landscape in the Netherlands today looks markedly different from that of neighboring countries, which is in part attributable to the institute's significant engagement with questions on religious dress restrictions in education, employment, and public services.

The institute's decisions are publicly available, though only the names of the organizations in question are disclosed. Throughout this chapter, the institute's rulings are outlined separately to the case law in each subsection. Given the limited scope of this report, only a selection of rulings by the institute is included to give insight into the important role it has played in protecting Muslim women from discrimination.

#### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

National specific ban: On June 26, 2018, the Dutch government approved a legislative proposal for a partial ban that prohibits the wearing of clothing that covers the entire face or leaves only the eyes uncovered. Tace veils are prohibited in public transport, education, healthcare, and public government buildings. The "Act Partially Prohibiting Face-Covering Clothing," also known as the "burqa ban," was adopted despite there never having been complaints or problems around women who wear face veils, and despite the Council of State refusing to endorse the proposal because of its disproportionality and infringement on the right to freedom of religion. This is the first legal ban on religious dress applied nationally in the Netherlands. The ban does not apply in constituent countries and overseas territories of the Netherlands, namely Bonaire, St. Eustatius, and Saba, or in Aruba, Curaçao, and St. Maarten.

The act came into force in August 2019. It prohibits the wearing of clothing that completely or partially conceals the face in spaces where people are expected to communicate with each other. Thus, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, face-covering clothing was<sup>711</sup> banned on public transportation and in educational, governmental, and nursing care institutions, but was permitted in public spaces where communication was not expected.<sup>712</sup> The law saw very minimal enforcement from law enforcement in the year following implementation, with only four warnings and no fines given.<sup>713</sup>

The law did not further better communication and security in accordance with its stated intention. Instead, the law resulted in increased physical and verbal abuse against Muslims, especially Muslim women.<sup>714</sup> Thirty reports

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

of discriminatory abuse were made in August of 2019 alone.<sup>715</sup> This number is significant given the relatively small number of Muslim women who wear a face veil and the risk of underreporting, as the ban applies to police stations where women would normally report abuse.<sup>716</sup>

Before the law went into force, in July 2019, the daily newspaper *Algemeen Dagblad* created controversy publishing an article entitled "Four Questions Answered about the Burka Ban." The newspaper informed its readers that citizens are entitled to carry out a "citizen's arrest" if they find that the ban on face coverings is not implemented in places where it applies and they are "disturbed" by a woman wearing a face covering. The article neglects to explain that the ban does not apply everywhere, but goes into how a citizen's arrest works, stating that it is permitted to throw the "offender" to the ground. The article's publication led to several social media posts about "burqa hunts." The reaction from politicians was limited. While the article has since been amended to remove references to citizen's arrests, it is summarised in the report "Zwartboek – Boerkaverbod." "17

The United Nations Special Rapporteur for contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance observed that the act, while facially neutral, targets Muslim women and represents Islamophobia.<sup>718</sup> The ban cannot be justified within the greater framework of human rights protection under the ICCPR and CEDAW, and appears to directly counter the obligations concerning women's rights set by the ICCPR and CEDAW.<sup>719</sup>

In response to COVID-19, face masks became mandatory on December 1, 2020, "in all public buildings and covered spaces, in education, public transport and contact professions."<sup>720</sup> Whether a person's purpose for wearing a face covering is religion or public health appears to determine their legality.<sup>721</sup> An artist protested the "burqa ban" in light of the face mask requirement by creating a "legal burqa" made of surgical masks and dressed the Statue of Themis with it.<sup>722</sup>

The introduction of the face veil ban follows a long history of political debates on the subject. In 2005, Geert Wilders, leader of the far-right Freedom Party (PVV), first filed a motion to introduce a ban on face veils in public spaces. The proposal received support from a majority of parliamentarians from the right-wing, liberal, and Christian democratic parties. Then Minister of Integration Rita Verdonck from the liberal VVD appointed a commission of experts to consider the legal aspects of the ban. They rejected the proposal for violating the right to freedom of religion. 723 In 2007, Wilders submitted another proposal to criminalize the wearing of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

face veils; however, this was not supported by the coalition consisting of the Labor party (Partij van de Arbeid, PvdA) and two Christian democratic parties (ChristenUnie, and Christen-Democratisch Appèl or CDA). 724 In 2008, a proposal for a general ban on all types of face coverings was submitted by a member of the VVD, arguing that this would not violate the right to freedom of religion. Although the Council of State gave a negative assessment of this proposal, in 2012 the second chamber of parliament voted in favor of the ban. In 2015, the new coalition government, consisting of the Labor Party and the VVD, however, decided not to further this proposal, replacing it with a proposal for a partial ban. 725 This resulted in the current partial ban, which is still considered a victory for the PVV and Wilders 726

The Council of State of the Netherlands issued opinions on all of the abovementioned proposals finding that, without further justification, they were not in line with the right to freedom of religion under the European Convention on Human Rights and that the necessity and usefulness of such bans was not given. In November 2011, the council issued its opinion on the general ban, finding that the government had not shown why covering the face was contrary to social order, nor had it shown why specific regulations already in place were not sufficient. Regarding the argument of gender equality, the council held that it was not for the government to take away a woman's choice of clothing for religious purposes. Finally, the council held that a subjective feeling of security—or lack thereof—was not a sufficient basis to support a blanket ban with the aim of maintaining social or public order.<sup>727</sup> The council issued a negative opinion regarding the partial ban as well. The council was especially clear that it was not convinced of the desirability and necessity of such a specific ban, and hence saw no justification for a restriction of the freedom of religion. 728

#### **Local Bans**

No headscarf or face veil bans have been enacted at the municipal level in the Netherlands.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

Restrictions on headscarves and face veils in work and educational settings are widespread. In the labor market, discrimination occurs mainly during the recruitment process. This results in candidates who wear a headscarf or face veil being denied opportunities, as evidenced in the case law presented throughout this chapter. Employers, even though they may not have

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

discriminatory views themselves, may feel pressure to display a "neutral" image to customers. Accordingly, headscarf and veil wearers who work or seek jobs with frequent customer contact are more vulnerable to discrimination. Restrictions are also rationalized by referring to "ineffective communication" or "unprofessionalism" assumed to be associated with head and face coverings. In the Netherlands, this type of discrimination occurs in both the private and public sectors.<sup>729</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

Private employment: In 2018, international perfume chain store Douglas stated that it would change its policy with regard to religious dress after pushback on social media and threats to boycott its shops in the Netherlands, when one of its local stores decided to move a Muslim woman employee who wears a headscarf from the shopfront to the stockroom where she would no longer be visible to customers. The company's head office in Germany justified the policy with its aim to achieve "neutrality" but decided after public pressure to allow Muslim women employees to wear a headscarf.<sup>730</sup>

In 2017, a McDonald's franchise in Oosterhout told a Muslim woman who wears a headscarf she could work for them if she took off her headscarf. When the woman questioned the policy, which was different from that of other franchises in the area that allowed Muslim women to work with a headscarf, the owner said he had a neutrality policy and that different franchises can have different policies. He also referred to the decision of the European Court of Justice in *Achbita* to justify his policy. McDonald's stood by its policy and the woman found a job in a supermarket that provided a headscarf with the company logo.<sup>731</sup>

Case law by the Netherlands Institute for Human Rights: The institute has made findings of direct discrimination in cases where employers reject Muslim applicants specifically for wearing a headscarf if this is implied by the kinds of questions or comments made about the wearing of a headscarf during a job interview or where internal policies explicitly prohibit religious dress for no legitimate reason.<sup>732</sup> The institute has taken a similar approach to employment agencies applying discriminatory requests from employers when selecting potential employees.<sup>733</sup>

On indirect discrimination, the institute has rejected various justifications put forward by employees for differential treatment as failing to be objective or sufficiently substantiated, including portraying a neutral image, being representative, avoiding offense to customers, and preventing economic disadvantage.<sup>734</sup> Employers arguing that they wish to "appease" customers have been held to act discriminatorily, as this could lead to

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

persons that do not conform with the "dominant group" in terms of their appearance being deprived of employment opportunities. Similarly, acting on the assumption or anticipation of prejudice of potential customers is in itself discriminatory. Where the aims of a prohibition on religious dress might be legitimate, e.g., on safety grounds, the prohibition itself might not be appropriate or necessary, particularly where the employer fails to sufficiently consider alternative solutions or the justification relied upon by the employer is not weighed against the potential detriment to the employee.

The institute has also made findings of multiple and intersectional discrimination. When a medical student wanting to work as a cleaner in a hospital, for example, was asked to remove her headscarf based on the cleaning company's dress restrictions, the institute held that, as mainly—though not exclusively—Muslim women would be affected by the restrictions, there was indirect discrimination based on religion and sex. 738

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

Public employment: On August 11, 2011, the Ministry of Justice and Security, the Police Central Organizations, and the Chief Constables' Council adopted the Lifestyle Neutrality Code of Conduct, which sets out guidelines for the desired appearance of the Dutch police force. 739 The Code of Conduct stipulates that police officers, in their interaction with the public, should adopt an "authority-emitting, neutral and safe attitude" and that the competent authority may impose requirements regarding the external features of the police officer. 740 Accordingly, police officers should refrain from visible expressions of beliefs, religion, political opinion, sexual orientation, movement, association or other forms of lifestyle, which is detrimental to the image of authority, neutrality and security of the police function. The Code of Conduct was amended and re-adopted in 2021 to include visible tattoos. 741

The question of police officers wearing a headscarf was most recently raised by the Amsterdam police chief, Pieter-Jaap Aalbersberg, in May 2017.<sup>742</sup> Aalbersberg suggested allowing police officers to wear a headscarf in order to make it possible for women of minority backgrounds to join the force. This proposal, if implemented, would go against the Code of Conduct.<sup>743</sup> The Amsterdam police force withdrew its proposal, stating that, unfortunately, at the moment there was not enough political support to challenge the Code of Conduct.<sup>744</sup> Aalbersberg is still looking to build support for his proposal within the Amsterdam police force.<sup>745</sup>

Case law by the Netherlands Institute for Human Rights: The institute has ruled on a wide range of public employment matters. In 2007, the institute found

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

that the Immigration and Naturalisation Service failed to show that the wearing of a headscarf by a new member of staff would lead to organizational problems, as the applicant in question would have been the first person wearing a headscarf in the unit.<sup>746</sup> In addition, the service did not plausibly show why the alternatives offered by the applicant—to remove her headscarf when necessary if only women are present in the room or to find a suitable colleague to replace her—would be insufficient, particularly as a woman wearing a headscarf in a different unit had only been asked to remove her headscarf on rare occasions.

When a service assistant who had been asked to remove her headscarf at work left her employment after a week due to psychological problems related to removing her headscarf, the institute found that the employer had adopted a discriminatory attitude towards the employee, which constituted direct discrimination.<sup>747</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Teachers]

Teacher/Traineeships in schools: Where a school refuses a traineeship applicant on the basis of her headscarf, it makes a direct distinction on the basis of religion. As the school in question is not a confessional school, it is not permitted to make such a distinction. This would only be permitted if the school were to amend its articles of association to fit into a defined category of institutions that are allowed to make such distinctions under Article 5(2) of the General Equal Treatment Act, and become a school of "neutral" confession. 748 The institute came to a similar conclusion when a primary school refused a traineeship application from a woman wearing a headscarf and asked the Teacher Education for Primary Schools Programme to refrain from referring applicants wearing headscarves to it, arguing that "evangelizing" would not be compatible with its "neutrality" as a school. 749 The institute held that the neutral character of the school did not permit it to act contrary to the General Equal Treatment Act. The institute, on another occasion, held that a municipality may not refuse applicants who do not comply with a job requirement that teachers should encourage students to dress neutrally in order to increase their chances on the job market, though students may be informed about the potential effects of religious clothing on their applications.<sup>750</sup>

A confessional school, on the other hand, is allowed to make a distinction on the basis of religion when considering applications for internships in line with Article 5(2) of the General Equal Treatment Act,<sup>751</sup> though this has to be applied uniformly.<sup>752</sup> The institute has noted, however, that where a primary school discourages the wearing of headscarves, this will create a feeling of being unwelcome for affected pupils, staff, and trainees.<sup>753</sup>

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Headscarf]
[The Judiciary]

The judiciary: The institute held that the District Court of Rotterdam had indirectly discriminated against an applicant for the position of external court clerk, which does not form part of the judiciary itself, when asking her to remove her headscarf while the Court is in session. It weighed the Court's interest of guaranteeing the independence and impartiality of the judiciary against the applicant's interest to access the position of court clerk, finding that the Court had failed to show that allowing the applicant to wear a headscarf would damage its interests. <sup>754</sup> In a previous ruling, the institute had questioned whether the independence and impartiality of the judiciary in a multicultural society could only be expressed through a dress code restricting religious dress for court registrars. <sup>755</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Police]

*Police:* When applying its Code of Conduct on Lifestyle Neutrality, the police must demonstrate that restrictions on religious dress are necessary to maintain the neutrality and objectivity of its force. Where a policewoman operates the emergency phone line and is not visible to citizens, the police are unlawfully making a distinction against the woman on the grounds of religion if she is not allowed to wear a headscarf with her uniform.<sup>756</sup>

*Education:* Certain schools and universities include a prohibition on the wearing of face veils in their internal regulations (i.e., the University of Leiden and the ROC Midden Nederland).<sup>757</sup>

[Face Veil] [Education]

In 2003, a school famously did not allow three students to wear face veils. <sup>758</sup> The school stated that the face veil would hinder communication and make the verification of identity impossible. The Equal Treatment Commission decided in favor of the school, allowing the ban. Subsequently it advised the Ministry of Education on clothing regulations for educational institutions, arguing in favor of bans on face coverings such as the niqab or burqa, when there is a legitimate and significant aim. <sup>759</sup>

[Headscarf] [Education]

Case law by the Netherlands Institute for Human Rights: On education, the institute has consistently held that schools are not permitted to make distinctions on the basis of religion by prohibiting headscarves where this is not objectively justified. Justifications brought forward by schools that a sports headscarf is unsafe have been rejected. Similarly, the institute has rejected a hairdressing school's claim that a prohibition on headgear guarantees the quality of a hairdresser's education, stating that since the absence of a student's hair due to baldness would not affect the quality of their education it is unclear why the wearing of a headscarf would. 761

[Face Veil] [Education]

In relation to a prohibition on face veils at a vocational institution for adult education, the institute has argued that a distinction on the basis of religion is appropriate and necessary where it is justified by the need for mutual

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

communication and identification of the student to comply with the school's legal duties. <sup>762</sup> In another ruling, <sup>763</sup> the Institute had previously found that a prohibition on face veils by a healthcare training provider was not objectively justified, as it held that the objective to optimize teaching and preparation for professional practice did not meet a real need. However, the institute noted that its findings might differ depending on the educational context.

[Both]
[Education]

Where a school fails to consistently implement a prohibition on wearing head coverings, the institute made a finding of direct discrimination. <sup>764</sup> In another ruling, <sup>765</sup> the institute held that the school, being a Catholic institution, had failed to tie the prohibition on headscarves to its status as a confessional school. If, however, a confessional school states in its statute that clothing that is not associated with the Catholic faith is not permitted inside the school, in line with the school's objective as a Catholic school, the institute has found there to be no conflict with the law. <sup>766</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Goods and Services]

Access to goods and services—Case law by the Netherlands Institute of Human Rights: Where a gym prohibits headscarves as part of a general, neutrally worded dress code that does not permit head coverings to be worn in the gym, the institute held that the gym failed to plausibly show that the wearing of a headscarf impedes the approachability of a person or the instruction on neck and shoulder exercises. The institute has come to the same conclusion where a gym prohibited headscarves on safety grounds that a karate school failed to show why the prohibition of a sports headscarf would be objectively justified on the grounds of safety, hygiene or mutual respect. In another ruling 171, the institute emphasized that measures taken by gyms should prevent persons, irrespective of their religious beliefs, from being excluded, not lead to further discrimination.

[Full-Body Swimsuits]
[Goods and Services]

On the question of full-body swimsuits, the Institute has ruled that a prohibition on such swimsuits is not necessary, as there are other means available to maintain the safety and "good atmosphere" at the pool. In addition, such a prohibition is not proportionate, as it limits the general accessibility to the pool.<sup>772</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Goods and Services]

A restaurant requiring all patrons to remove their head coverings made a distinction on the basis of religion, as its objective to attract a "more stylish and older audience" through its new admission policy is not legitimate and the means employed are neither suitable nor necessary. The institute held that the restaurant could instead easily specify that, e.g., sports clothing,

would not be appropriate, so that well-dressed individuals with or without headscarves would be welcome.

Where a service provider directly refers to religious beliefs in relation to wearing a headscarf in their general terms and conditions, this constitutes direct discrimination, unless there are statutory exceptions, e.g., for confessional schools.<sup>773</sup> This also applies where a landlord makes a distinction against a potential tenant on the basis of their religion and race.<sup>774</sup>

### **National Legislation**

In the Netherlands, the main legal protection against discrimination in the workplace can be found in the General Equal Treatment Act (Algemene wet gelijke behandeling, Awgb). This is accompanied by the Equal Treatment of Disabled and Chronically Ill People Act, the Equal Treatment in Employment (Age Discrimination) Act, and the Equal Treatment (Men and Women) Act.

### **Poland**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

## **Executive Summary**

Although there are very few Muslims living in Poland, and virtually no Muslims immigrating to Poland, Islamophobia has become an increasing problem in the country. It has been intensified by the right-wing populist Law and Justice Party (Prawo i Sprawiedliwość, PiS) that uses Islamophobic rhetoric to drive an anti-refugee agenda. However, Poland has no bans on religious dress or Islamic head coverings.

## **Background**

According to the most recent survey, there are about 10,000 Muslims in Poland, which is less than 0.03 percent of the population.<sup>776</sup> Tatar Muslims, who have been an established community for centuries, secured the official recognition of Islam in modern-day Poland in 1936. Today, they make up a smaller part of Polish Muslims that consist mostly of descendants of Arab

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Muslim students and their families who came to the country in the late 1980s and Polish converts.<sup>777</sup>

Despite its small Muslim population, Poland has experienced a sharp rise in anti-Muslim and anti-Islam attitudes, spurred by both liberal-secularist and far-right groups. The number of Muslims present in the country is nowhere as overestimated as in Poland, running from 7 percent to 13 percent, suggesting there are more Muslims in Poland than in any other country in Europe despite it being one of the region's most ethnically and religiously homogenous countries. This is a reality the right-wing nationalist government led by the Law and Justice party is hoping to maintain, or even advance, using Islamophobic rhetoric to justify policies to keep out migrants and refugees. The suggestion of the region is a sharp rise in anti-Muslim and suggestion and refugees.

Dominic Tarczynski, a European Parliament member from Poland, has publicly stated that there is a fear among Polish people that Poland could be "taken over by Muslims" in the near future. By labeling Muslims a security and cultural threat and pursuing aggressive deportation and push back policies, the Polish government has capitalized on antimigrant sentiment among the Polish public to fuel a xenophobic agenda that politically benefits the Law and Justice Party. This is reflected in a study conducted by the Pew Research Center in 2016, which determined that four-in-ten Polish adults say they would not want Muslims to be citizens of their country, their neighbors, or members of their family. The state of the sta

Muslim women who wear a headscarf are a rare sight in Poland, and those who wear a face veil even more so. Nevertheless, the Islamic headscarf—often reduced to the "burqa"—plays a central role in public anti-Muslim discourse in Poland contributing to widespread beliefs about Muslim women being both oppressed and posing a threat.<sup>782</sup> Discrimination against Muslim women wearing head coverings in Poland is a prevalent issue, especially in the job market.<sup>783</sup> Violations experienced by Muslim women wearing headscarves are also reported occasionally in the media.<sup>784</sup>

### **National Bans**

There have been no national legal bans or legislative proposals for bans on Islamic headscarves and face veils in Poland.

#### **Local Bans**

There have been no legal bans or legislative proposals for such bans in Poland.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category were reported.

### **National Legislation**

Direct and indirect discrimination in employment based on religion is prohibited under the Polish Labor Code.<sup>785</sup>

## **Portugal**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

There is little data on religious discrimination or Islamophobia in Portugal, a country that prides itself on its religious pluralism. There are no local or national laws restricting Muslim women's dress in Portugal, and no reports of practices targeting Muslims at the institutional level or in private employment. Political and academic consensus generally maintains that Portuguese society is accepting of its Muslim communities, although reports about anti-Muslim hate crimes and hate speech are starting to emerge.

## **Background**

Portugal's Muslim community is small, making up approximately 60,000 or 0.58 percent of the country's total population of 10.3 million.786 Although official narratives in Portugal do not share the negative attitudes toward Muslims prevalent in many EU countries, and instead present an image of a community that is well integrated, reports of anti-Muslim hostility have started to emerge.787 Given that a significant part of the Muslim community in Portugal descends from the former colonies of Guinea-Bissau and Mozambique, discrimination is primarily understood as racial.788 Overall, Muslims in Portugal attract relatively little media attention. When they are covered in the news, they tend to be portrayed positively.789

The extent of discrimination against Muslims, and specifically women who wear Islamic clothing, is not well known. It has been reported that Muslim

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

women face increasing difficulties obtaining jobs due to prejudice against those who wear headscarves, 790 but there is no data available to substantiate this.

### **National Bans**

There have been no national bans or legislative proposals for bans on Islamic headscarves or face veils in Portugal.

### **Local Bans**

There have been no local bans or legislative proposals for such bans in Portugal.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category were reported.

### **National Legislation**

The Portuguese Constitution recognizes religion as one of the protected grounds of discrimination.791 In employment, the Constitution also grants equal treatment for every worker, regardless of, inter alia, their religion and belief.792 This constitutional principle is further elaborated by Law 16/2001 of June 22 on Religious Freedom, which grants all people the freedom to practice their religion, both in private and in public.793

Portugal's Religious Freedom Commission (Comissão da Liberdade Religiosa, CLR)794 was established in 2004 by the Ministry of Justice.795 Its members include representatives from the Islamic Community of Lisbon, as well as from the country's Jewish, Roman Catholic, and Evangelical Christian communities, among other religious groups. The CLR monitors religious freedom, and has the power to file complaints at the national level or with the European Court of Human Rights. The CLR also informs the government about religious discrimination cases and adopts positions on matters involving Portugal's religious freedom laws.

### Romania

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

While there are currently no bans on face coverings in Romania, legislation to ban face coverings in educational and vocational institutions has been proposed and cases have been brought to the National Council for Combating Discrimination. Muslims make up a small minority of Romania's population. There have been several cases of discriminatory treatment, verbal harassment, and physical assault toward Muslims because of their religion.

### **Background**

According to a 2017 survey, Romania has about 80,000 Muslims that make up 0.4 percent of the total population. While the number of Muslims in Romania has decreased, 797 anti-Islam sentiments are on the rise, 798 supported to a great extent by mainstream media and the country's political elite. 799

Several incidents have occurred of Muslim women being attacked or harassed on the grounds of their Islamic clothing. Incidents of visibly Muslim refugees and asylum seekers being attacked have also been reported.<sup>800</sup>

Several highly ranked politicians have made anti-Islam comments, either through public or personal media channels. 801 In December 2016, the nomination of the country's first Muslim prime minister, Sevil Shhaideh, was opposed by President Klaus Iohannis. 802 Despite the lack of stated reasons for the rejection, it was widely suggested in the media that the opposition was based on Shhaideh's gender and religion. 803 In 2019, the former Romanian President Traian Băsescu criticized the EU's inaction towards migration issues and used Muslims as a scapegoat in a TV interview claiming: "The EU, through its lack of action, seems to tell us that we must live with the Muslim invasion." 804

A nation-wide poll conducted in 2016 revealed that almost 90 percent of respondents opposed the settlement of refugees in Romania. 805 In a 2017

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

study on the perception of interethnic relations, 24 percent of respondents were against Arabs coming to Romania—a 6 percent increase from 2015.806 With overwhelming anti-immigrant sentiment, several media outlets have depicted asylum-seekers as invaders and relied on stereotypical portrayals of Muslims. Romania has been described as witnessing generalized anti-Islam propaganda, where Muslims are "demonized by politicians, cultural figures and opinion leaders" and "unjustified Islamophobia is cultivated for ideological purposes."807 Islamophobic and anti-immigrant articles, campaigns, and hate speech were registered but hate crimes are underreported and difficult to track because public authorities do not collect disaggregated data on crimes against immigrants. 808

#### **National Bans**

There are no national bans on religious dress.

[Face Veil]

*Proposals:* In December 2017, the "Legislative Proposal for the Modification and Completion of National Education Law No. 1/2011" was presented to the Permanent Bureau of the Chamber of Deputies. 809 The explanation for the proposal was to restrict "activities that violate the norms of morality" and was allegedly motivated by the statistics of school violence and fear of terrorism. The proposal would prohibit face coverings in vocational and educational spaces, except for medical purposes, in order to facilitate the identification of people in educational institutions. A violation would lead to refusal of access to the buildings and spaces designated for vocational education and training. Violators could also be fined up to 50,000 lei (€10,000). The proposal was ultimately rejected by the Chamber of Deputies in April 2018 and terminated by a final rejection by the senate in March 2019. The Committee of Education rejected the proposal with an overwhelming majority and reported that the prohibition of face coverings falls under the provisions of Article 2 of the Government Ordinance No. 137/2000 on the prevention and sanctioning of all forms of discrimination. Furthermore, it found that the aim of preventing illicit deeds by applying this sanction was disproportionate in relation to the non-existent social danger of face covering.

### **Local Bans**

There are currently no local bans in Romania.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf] [Education]

[Both]
[Education]

Although there are no bans on head coverings in educational institutions, in October 2017, a professor at the University of Bucharest sent two girls out of the classroom for wearing head coverings. <sup>810</sup> He told them that they would not pass the exam if they came to class with head coverings and expressed strong beliefs that religious symbols of any kind should not be displayed in public institutions. This incident reached the National Council for Combating Discrimination, a Romanian government agency established in 2001, which determined that the allegations of the respondent were of a discriminatory character; the professor was sanctioned with a fine of 2,000 lei (about €800) paid to the complainant. <sup>811</sup>

The National Council previously ruled on the display of religious symbols in public schools on another occasion. In 2006, philosophy teacher and parent Emil Moise in Buzău County requested that religious symbols be withdrawn from his daughter's high school and all public schools in Romania. He argued that religious symbols were an infringement of the separation of church and state. He claimed that the display in public schools discriminated against atheists and those belonging to religions other than the ones represented by the symbols. 812 The Council decided to recommend that the Ministry of Education and Research implement an internal rule that would regulate religious symbols in public schools and allow local communities to decide each school's internal rules. This was essentially a decision against the presence of religious symbols in schools. 813 However, the decision generated a lot of backlash as up to 150 organizations sent letters to the Council and took legal action against it. In 2008, the Romanian Supreme Court of Justice declared the recommendation illegal because it was contrary to the principle of state neutrality, as it implied state intervention in a private issue that should be decided by teachers, students, and parents. The Romanian Orthodox Church, representing the faith of 80 percent of the Romanian population, celebrated this decision to allow religious icons to remain in schools. 814 While this decision was not prompted by a question on Islamic religious dress, it shows the strong opposition to potential restrictions that would prohibit religious signs of the dominant religious group.

## **National Legislation**

National legal protection against discrimination on religious grounds in Romania is set out in the Constitution (1991, amended 2003),<sup>815</sup> and Law No. 48/2002 (16/1/2002), "On the Prevention and Sanction of All Forms of

Discrimination." This law specifically rejects any privilege or discrimination in employment, according to Article 1.2(e).

### Slovakia

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

There are no national or local bans on headscarves or face veils in Slovakia. The government does not provide statistics on hate crimes targeting religious groups, and there are limited data on employment discrimination against Muslims in the country. However, there is evidence of widespread prejudice against Muslims in society and in politics.

### **Background**

Slovakia has a Muslim community of about 4,800 to 5,000 members, accounting for less than 0.1 percent of its total population. Slovakia an officially recognized religion in Slovakia. As a result, Muslim leaders cannot receive government funding, establish religious schools, or perform certain official functions, such as state-recognized weddings. Muslim leaders have also reported that Islam's lack of recognition has made it harder to establish a mosque in the country. Slovakia.

There are no particular cases or statistics that report discrimination against Muslim women, including Muslim women with face veils or headscarves, in Slovakia.

Attempts to restrict the rights of Muslims in Slovakia trace back to 2015, when the Slovakia National Party (Slovenská národná strana, SNS) chairman, Andrej Danko, issued a press release announcing his proposal to ban burqas and Islamic mosques. Danko's proposal never advanced.

There have been reports of verbal and physical attacks against Muslims over the past three years. 820 In a 2020 survey by a local NGO, a majority of respondents said it would be either "completely unacceptable" or "rather unacceptable" for a Muslim or "foreigner from a majority-Muslim country" to become their neighbor. 821

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

In 2018 and 2019, politicians, including members of parliament, made use of fake news and openly Islamophobic statements during election campaigns and in parliamentary debates. 822 Media outlets have similarly spread Islamophobic rhetoric, and far-right political websites use their platforms to spread misinformation. 823

In 2017, a member of a far-right populist party proposed a law to parliament that would ban the construction of mosques. It was not accepted. 824

In November 2016, parliament passed an amendment to an existing law, seeking to place stricter requirements on religions applying for official state recognition. Slovak President Andrej Kiska vetoed the amendment, 825 but parliament overrode826 the veto, enacting the amendment. The law prevents Islam and other religions from officially registering with the state by requiring more than 50,000 adult citizen or permanent resident signatories. 827 Only 4 of the 18 religious organizations that were registered before the recent amendment meet the current signatory requirements. 828

### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

Apart from the above-mentioned proposal by Danko, no bans or legislative proposals on prohibiting face veils or headscarves have been discussed or enacted in Slovakia.

#### **Local Bans**

Similarly, no bans exist at the local level in Slovakia.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

No bans under this category have been reported.

### **National Legislation**

Discrimination religious grounds is prohibited by Slovakia's constitution<sup>829</sup> and Antidiscrimination Act (2004, amended 2014).<sup>830</sup>

### Slovenia

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	No	No

### **Executive Summary**

There are no reports of national or local laws prohibiting headscarves or face veils in Slovenia. However, right-wing media and political groups regularly portray Muslims as an increasing threat. Much of the Islamophobic rhetoric in Slovenia centers around the migrant crisis in Europe and is driven by right-wing politicians stoking fears about immigrants.

### **Background**

Slovenia's Muslim community represents about 100,000 or 4.8 percent of the country's total population of 2.1 million, making it the second largest religious group in the nation.<sup>831</sup> The majority of Muslims are Slavs are from the south (mostly Bosniaks, but also Montenegrins, Macedonians and Slovenians), while the rest are Albanians, Roma, and those who came from African and Middle-Eastern countries as students to the former Yugoslavia, or more recently as refugees or asylum seekers.<sup>832</sup> Muslims in Slovenia face many obstacles to their religious practice.<sup>833</sup> The fact that the first mosque in Slovenia was only built in 2013, after 44 years of repeated requests, is one illustration of the challenges that the community faces.<sup>834</sup>

The 2015 migrant crisis in Europe triggered a rise in Islamophobia in Slovenia, including a surge in right-wing internet groups, media with links to far-right political parties, and politicians openly propagating Islamophobic rhetoric. In 2019, Bernard Brščič, an economist and politician who frequently comments on Islam's incompatibility with Europe, established a far-right political party called Homeland League (Domovinska liga), and was elected its leader. 835

Muslim women in Slovenia who wear Islamic clothing, though very few in numbers, struggle with discrimination and prejudice. 836 However, cases of discrimination against Muslim women are not widely reported. According to unofficial data, Muslim women who wear headscarves experience discrimination in employment. They face difficulties getting jobs in the public sector and are more likely to be in private employment or unemployed. 837

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

### **National Bans**

Currently, there are no national laws that ban wearing face veils or headscarves in Slovenia.

[Face Veil]

*Proposals*: At the national level, in November 2015, a new bill was proposed by the Democratic Party (Slovenska demokratska stranka, SDS) seeking to amend the existing Protection of Public Order Act in order to ban the face veil. The proposal was part of an attempt to limit migration and impose stricter border controls. Under the proposed bill, women could be fined €100 for wearing the burqa in public.<sup>838</sup> The bill was rejected at the parliamentary level for fear of it being unconstitutional considering the requirement of state neutrality towards religious communities.<sup>839</sup>

### **Local Bans**

At the local level, no ban or legislative proposal has been adopted or implemented.

### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

While there have been reports of discrimination against Muslim women who wear headscarves or face veils, no data was found on specific bans under this category.

## **National Legislation**

National legislation that protects Muslim women against discrimination is provided by the constitution, which states that everyone "shall be guaranteed equal human rights and fundamental freedoms irrespective of national origin, race, sex, language, religion, [or] political [affiliation]."840 In the field of employment, the Act Implementing the Principle of Equal Treatment confirms this constitutional principle and states that equal treatment shall be ensured irrespective of, *inter alia*, religious or other beliefs.<sup>841</sup> The Employment Relationships Act (2017) went further by guaranteeing the prohibition of discrimination and retaliatory measures, which explicitly compels employers to "ensure that job seekers being given access to employment or workers during their employment relationship and in connection with the termination of employment contracts are afforded equal treatment, irrespective of their [...] faith or beliefs," among other protected grounds.<sup>842</sup>

## **Spain**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No

### **Executive Summary**

Beginning in 2010 with an ordinance passed by the city of Barcelona, several towns in Spain have attempted to restrict the wearing of face coverings. In each instance, the town's motivation was clearly directed at Muslim women, although in some instances the language used in regulations was neutral. The Spanish Supreme Court condemned some of the bans in 2013; however, following the 2014 decision of the European Court of Human Rights in *S.A.S. v France*, at least some towns have considered the national Supreme Court's ruling no longer binding. Regulations restricting Muslim women's choices are emblematic of ongoing efforts—including via the 2015 "Ley Mordaza"—to inhibit the liberty and equality of all Spaniards.

### **Background**

According to the latest survey undertaken by the Islamic Commission of Spain in 2016, there are approximately 1,887,906 Muslim residents in Spain,<sup>843</sup>which is equivalent to 4 percent of the total population.<sup>844</sup> Of all Muslim residents, 41 percent are Muslim Spanish nationals and 59 percent are immigrants.<sup>845</sup>

Spain has constitutionalized the separation of church and state. 846 However, its 1978 constitution recognizes that the country has ongoing cooperative relationships with the Catholic Church "and other confessions." 847 Spain officially recognized Islam as a "deeply rooted" religious tradition in 1989, and has since contracted with the Islamic Commission of Spain to provide enhanced accommodations for Muslims in its public institutions. 848 Nevertheless, Islamophobia is a real and growing concern in Spain. Incidents of harassment increased more than sixfold in 2015; the threat is especially present for Muslim women. 849

Spain's far-right political party, Vox, is ideologically founded on Islamophobic sentiments. Sto Like other right-wing parties throughout Europe such at France's National Front and Italy's Northern League, Sto Vox's agenda centers heavily on opposing immigration. Sto Vox has been outspoken about its distaste for Muslim women's freedom of expression and religion, and frequently uses deeply racist rhetoric in discussing issues of women's

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

equality.  $^{855}$  It has had significant success in parliamentary elections since its inception in the 2010s.  $^{856}$ 

Only a handful of women wear a face veil or niqab in Spain. 857 There are no reports of women wearing a burqa despite face veil bans being referred to as "burqa bans."

### **National Bans**

[Face Veil]

*National specific bans*: In 2015, a law called "Ley Mordaza" (or "gag law"), which restricts the rights of assembly, demonstration, and freedom of information, was enacted.<sup>858</sup> Article 16 on the identification of persons imposes penalties for using any kind of cloth that covers the face during demonstrations.<sup>859</sup>

The "Ley Mordaza" law was the result of a legislative attempt to legalize a restriction on face veils, initiated by Spanish Minister of Interior Jorge Fernandez Diaz of the People's Party (Partido Popular). In September 2014, Diaz stated that the Spanish government would consider an amendment to the bill banning face veils, including provisions that ban the covering of people's faces during demonstrations, on the grounds of security. 860 The first proposal for a national ban on face veils in public spaces was introduced by the People's Party "in defense of the dignity and equality of all women." In July 2010, the Spanish Parliament rejected the proposal to ban face veils in public spaces. Also in 2010, the Spanish Senate submitted a motion to urge the government to enact legislation to ban religious clothing in public spaces and events. However, neither the governing Socialist Party (Partido Socialista Obrero Español, PSOE) at that time, nor the subsequent governments, took up the motion.

#### **Local Bans**

[Face Veil]

Local general bans: Nine municipalities (out of 8,124) in Spain introduced a ban on face veils: Lleida, Reus, Barcelona, Cunit, El Vendrell, Mollet del Vallès, Santa Coloma de Gramanet, Tarragona, and Coín (Málaga). Coín is the only city in this list that is not part of Catalonia which has seen a higher increase in the number of migrants from Muslim majority countries than the national average raising questions around migration and religious diversity.<sup>861</sup>

The year 2010 brought the first ban on face veils in public space in Spain, in the Catalan town of Lleida. 862 Lleida adopted this ban by amending the Municipal Regulation on Civic Responsibility and Living Together to include a prohibition on all dress that could "hamper identification when accessing

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

public buildings and facilities."863Fines of up to €600 could be imposed on anyone in breach of the prohibition.864 According to scholars Marian Burchardt, Zeynep Yanasmayan, and Matthias Koenig, "[T]he argument regarding the defense of Western culture was linked to and reinterpreted in light of the idea of 'tranquility,' which proponents of a ban formulated in reference to the French concept of 'vivre ensemble'." Anti-ban activists included members of the left-wing civil libertarian party Popular Unity Cadidacy (Candidatura d'Unitat Popular), although the party rejected the possibility of a theoretical coalition with Muslim advocates due to the party's secularist opposition to religion.865 A local Muslim association appealed the decision which was first temporarily suspended by a regional court and then declared unconstitutional by the Supreme Court in Madrid for infringing religious liberties.866 The Majorcan town Sa Pobla enacted a restriction similar to Lleida's in 2013.867

In 2014, shortly after the *S.A.S v France* judgment, the Catalan town of Reus banned full-face veils in public pushed by the conservative People's Party and the Catalan nationalist coalition. The ban was legalized and passed by the Council Assembly in July 2014. 868 The Reus law was amended at the last minute to remove specific references to the niqab and burqa, and replaced with a more general ban on clothing that would "impede identification" or make identification more difficult. 869

[Face Veil]

Local specific bans: In 2010, Barcelona announced a ban on face veils, thereby becoming the first large Spanish city to ban face veils in municipal buildings, 870 schools, and markets. 871 According to a council statement, the ban aimed to "forbid the use of the burqa, niqab and any other item which hinders personal identification in any of the city's public installations."872

Case law: When municipal bans were challenged in court, the Spanish Supreme Court found the local prohibitions on face veils by Lleida and Reus to be contrary to the scope of municipal governments' authority. The Court overturned the ban in Lleida in 2013.873 The judgment also made clear that no penalty can be imposed on Muslim women wearing face veils in Reus.874 However, the town of Reus was reported to have kept the ban in place, relying instead on the S.A.S. v France judgement.875 It is unclear whether the Supreme Court judgment led to changes in the other towns. The Court left open the question of whether national legislation banning the veil would be constitutional, relying instead on the municipalities' lack of authority to enact such regulations.876

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf]

[Private Employment]

*Private employment*: In the most recent court case, from February 2017, a judge of the Social Court of Palma ruled in favor of the complainant, a Muslim stewardess for the company Acciona at Palma airport. The ruling authorized her to wear a headscarf at work and stressed that by requesting that she not do so, her employer violated her fundamental right to religious freedom.<sup>877</sup>

[Both]

[Education]

Education: Up to the end of 2011, there were no clear guidelines on the enforcement of dress codes. Such issues are normally left to individual school boards to decide, but in some cases bans on Islamic clothing have been overturned by the state, based on the argument that the constitutional right to an education overrides a school's right to determine its own policies.

Case law: The first case dates back to 2002 when Fátima Elidrisi, a 13-year-old Moroccan girl, was expelled from her Roman Catholic school, La Inmaculada Concepción, in the town of San Lorenzo de El Escorial, for refusing to remove her headscarf in school.<sup>878</sup> From 2007 to 2011, there was a series of similar cases that sparked public debate on Islamic clothing.<sup>879</sup>

Additional key cases arose in 2007, 2010, and 2011, when female Muslim students were suspended, or even expelled from school, for refusing to remove their headscarves. 880 They were accused of either violating the schools' general dress codes or interfering with measures against cheating during exams by hiding electronic devices. 881 In January 2012, a Court of First Instance in Madrid ruled in favor of the Institute José Cela's decision to expel a student for wearing a headscarf. According to the Court, the school's rule was necessary to "protect public order and the rights of others" because it applied to everyone and was "aimed at introducing common dress code rules to ensure social harmony within the school and to avoid distractions to pupils." The same case was appealed to the High Court of Justice of Madrid in February 2013, which rejected the appeal on procedural grounds. 882

A night school student in Valencia successfully opposed her school's prohibition on headscarves in 2016. 883 The regional government intervened following publicity on the matter, directing the school to permit the young woman to wear her headscarf on the grounds that doing otherwise would encroach upon the guaranteed right to education. 884

[Headscarf]
[Practice]

Bans in practice: In another incident, a Muslim female lawyer named Zoubida Barik Edidi was rejected from Spain's High Court of Madrid for not removing her headscarf. She brought her case to the Supreme Court and then the Constitutional Court. The Supreme Court did not rule on the merits of the case but declared it inadmissible for procedural reasons. Zoubida Barik Edidi then

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

appealed the Supreme Court's dismissal to the Constitutional Court and the Audiencia Nacional, which has jurisdiction over matters concerning the internal functions of the courts. The Audiencia Nacional again found it inadmissible because the filing exceeded the time limit for the case to be considered. At the Constitutional Court, the case was declared inadmissible on the grounds that no violation of a fundamental right was established. In March 2013, Zoubida Barik Edid submitted the case to the ECtHR, which rejected the case for its failure to exhaust domestic remedies due to the fact that the applicant failed to comply with procedural requirements while lodging her appeal at the domestic judicial level. 885

#### **National Legislation**

National legislative protection against discrimination on the grounds of religion in general and employment in particular is set out in the Spanish Constitution and the specific law on freedom of religion, Ley Orgánica 7/1980, de 5 de julio, de libertad religiosa. One of the core principles in the Spanish Constitution is to place responsibility on public authorities to "promote the conditions so that the freedom and equality of the individual and of the groups in which they are integrated are real and effective" and, at the same time, to "remove obstacles that impede or hinder their fullness and facilitate the participation of all citizens in political, economic, cultural and social life." Article 14 further stresses the principle of equality and nondiscrimination on grounds of religion, among others. Legal protection of Article 14 is guaranteed by means of special expedited proceedings before regular courts and the writ of amparo (a special remedy for the protection of constitutional rights) before the Constitutional Court, according to Article 53 of the constitution. In addition, the specific law on freedom of religion, Ley Orgánica 7/1980, de 5 de julio, de libertad religiosa, Article 1.2, prevents religious beliefs from constituting grounds for inequality or discrimination. It also asserts that no religious grounds may be claimed to prevent anyone from engaging in any job or activity or the performance of positions or public functions.

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### Sweden

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Although Sweden has no national or local bans on headscarves, there is a current of Islamophobia and xenophobia present in the nation. Motivated by "colorblindness," "Swedish universalism" or "religious neutrality," political parties and companies have proposed headscarf bans and, at times, have been successful in passing these bans temporarily. The Swedish Democrats (Sverigedemokraterna) and other right-wing/moderate parties have consistently pushed for bans against headscarves and face coverings.

#### **Background**

Sweden is home to residents with various national and religious backgrounds. 886 According to the most recent estimate available, 8 percent of the total Swedish population is Muslim. 887 Muslims in Sweden face negative attitudes and discrimination in many aspects of their lives, including media, law, politics, education, and employment, as well as public perception. 888

Muslim women in Sweden are frequently targets of physical and verbal abuse. 889 A 2017 survey asked Swedes their opinion on restricting the religious clothing of Muslim women. 890 The results showed that 49 percent support no restrictions on religious clothing, 32 percent said they should be allowed to wear religious clothing as long as it does not cover their face, and 16 percent of respondents felt that Muslim women should not be allowed to wear any religious clothing. In sum, 51 percent of respondents support some type of restriction on Muslim women's religious clothing. 891

Media coverage of the headscarf debate steadily increased between the years 2008 and 2015. It was documented that there were 72 articles relating to the face veil published in the most popular newspapers in Sweden during that time; 69 of those articles were written by people who did not wear headscarves, and the majority of the articles expressed negative opinions on Islamic clothing. 892 In recent years, public discussion on headscarves and face veils in Sweden has become more intense.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **National Bans**

Despite various proposals, Sweden has no laws that prohibit the wearing of Islamic headscarves or face veils at the national level.

[Both]

*Proposals*: There have been several attempts to propose a legal ban on headscarves or face veils in Sweden. Proposals have been introduced by the Centre Party (Centerpartiet), the Liberals (Liberalerna), the Moderates (Moderaterna), and the Swedish Democrats (Sverigedemokraterna). All were rejected.

[Face Veil]

The first attempt was put forward in 2009 by two members of parliament from the Centre Party, Staffan Danielsson and Lennart Pettersson, who submitted a motion proposing a ban on the face veil. In 2010, the Swedish Democrats, represented by Kent Ekeroth and Björn Söder, proposed banning full veils in schools in 12 cities and in the police forces. The Liberal Party also joined the Swedish Democrats by suggesting banning full veils in schools. 893 The proposal was rejected.

[Headscarf]

In January 2016, the Moderate Party in the city of Norrk öping floated the possibility of introducing a local regulation on headscarves for girls under the age of 15. The party claimed that girls younger than 15 are forced to wear the headscarf, which prevents them from enjoying their right to their own body and sexuality, as well as their freedom to play and be sociable. They claimed a need for a regulation to combat various forms of oppression. That same year, representatives for the Moderate Party in Norrk öping presented two proposals to ban face veils for employees within the municipality. <sup>894</sup> The party reasoned the ban was based on the quality of communication, which, according to them, cannot be achieved if the face is hidden. <sup>895</sup> Nevertheless, the proposal was rejected.

[Face veil]

In 2021, Sweden had three proposals to ban the face veil. The first one was presented by the Swedish Democrats and it proposed banning the face veil in public spaces. The second one was also presented by the Swedish Democrats and it advocated eliminating all religious marks from police uniforms to achieve "neutrality." Finally, the Christian Democrats suggested a ban on children in childcare settings wearing the face veil as well as primary school students and public servants.<sup>896</sup> All three proposals were rejected.

#### **Local Bans**

[Headscarf]

[Education]

In 2019, the southern Sweden municipalities of Skurup and Staffanstorp implemented a local ban on headscarves in schools. The municipalities cited

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

women's rights as a justification for the ban, claiming that headscarves went against Swedish values, and young women under the age of 13 should not have to hide themselves.<sup>897</sup> The bill was passed by members of the Swedish Democrats in the municipalities. In 2020, however, the bans were struck down by the Malmo Administrative Court of Appeals. The Court ruled that the bans violated Sweden's constitutional laws on religious freedom. In the case against the Skurup Municipality, the judge stated that "neither the Swedish Education Act nor any other law gives a municipality the right to decide on restrictions in the way that has now taken place." <sup>898</sup>

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

Private employment: A job applicant for Scandinavian Airlines was told by the interviewer she would qualify for the job if she did not wear her headscarf. The interviewer explained the suggestion was based on the company's "neutral" uniform policy, which excludes any garments and accessories with political, religious, cultural, or ideological symbols. <sup>899</sup> The Swedish Equality Ombudsman investigated the case <sup>900</sup> and determined that the airline had not discriminated against the woman. The organization cited the 2017 CJEU ruling in *Achbita* allowing companies to ban religious symbols, such as headscarves, if it is done with the purpose of preserving the company's religious neutrality to the public. Since the woman would be interacting directly with customers, the Swedish Equality Ombudsman concluded that Scandinavian Airlines had the right to maintain a certain corporate image and the ban was not discriminatory. <sup>901</sup>

[Both]
[Education]

Education: According to an official guideline issued in 2012 by the Swedish National Agency for Education, Swedish schools enjoy the autonomy to issue and implement bans on face veils and headscarves. The guidelines state that restrictions on headscarves and face veils must be decided on a case-by-case basis, and not with a general ban. Schools should strive to be as accommodating as possible but can require students to remove their headscarves when they pose specific risks or hinder the interaction between students. The guideline was established despite a ruling by the Swedish Equality Ombudsman, stating that the headscarf ban amounted to a violation of Sweden's antidiscrimination laws in 2010. The decision was delivered for a court case in which two Muslim women were banned from their class in an adult education center in Spanga, north of Stockholm, for wearing face veils. 903

[Headscarf] [Practice] *Bans in practice:* The discourse on Islamic headscarves in Sweden started to attract public attention as early as 2002 when a Muslim female reporter

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

working for a public television firm was not allowed to be promoted to the presenter of a program called *Mosaik* on Sweden's Television Stock Company (SVT), Sweden's public broadcaster, because she wore a headscarf. The broadcaster's leadership believed that a television presenter wearing a headscarf would breach its impartial and neutral image. 904

#### **National Legislation**

National legal protections against discrimination in general, and discrimination in employment based on religion in particular, are laid out in the Discrimination Act (Swedish Code of Statutes 2008:567). The Act, which entered into force in 2009, explicitly prohibits direct and indirect discrimination on the basis of religion, among other protected rights. The Act also enables a new agency called the Swedish Equality Ombudsman to supervise compliance with the act.

#### **United Kingdom**

National General Ban	National Specific Ban	Local General Ban	Local Specific Ban	Institutional/ Private Ban	Legislative Proposals
No	No	No	No	Yes	No

#### **Executive Summary**

Anti-Islamic incidents are increasing in the United Kingdom (UK), where Muslims have the highest unemployment rate compared with other religious groups. While there are no legal prohibitions against head coverings or face veils, several government leaders have expressed support for such bans. A public petition in 2018 calling for a ban on all face coverings garnered almost 20,000 signatures. However, a growing number of police forces in the UK have included Muslim headscarves as part of their operational uniforms.

#### **Background**

According to the most recent data released by the Office for National Statistics, there are about 3,372,966 Muslims living in the UK as of March 2018, which constitutes approximately 4.5 percent of the total population.<sup>905</sup>

Islamophobia is on the rise in the UK. 906 The government's counterterrorism policies, including the much-debated Prevent Program launched in 2003, are said to contribute to Islamophobia and discrimination against Muslims by

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

pointing to their religion as the cause of security problems. 907 It has not only eroded public trust but also limited the civic space left for Muslims to voice their political and social concerns, with critical opinions and increased individual religiosity viewed as suspicious. 908

Muslim women face significant levels of racism, harassment, abuse, and violence due to their religious identity. The challenges are even more serious for Muslim women who wear a headscarf or face veil because they are more visible as Muslims, which increases the likelihood of being targeted for a hate crime. 909 Research has shown that Muslim women who wore a face veil were frequent victims of verbal abuse, which can lead to assault and violence. 910

In August 2020, a Muslim woman wearing a face veil was spat at by a man as she left a shop in South London. <sup>911</sup> In December 2019, two sisters Redena and Wida Al-Hadi, aged 14 and 13, were verbally abused by a man in Sheffield before another woman told Redena that her headscarf made her sick, dragged Redena off the bus, strangled her with her headscarf, and punched her in the eye. Redena became temporarily unconscious after her head hit the ground. After the police arrested the woman, she was let off with a caution because it was her first offense. <sup>912</sup>

In March 2020, the Metropolitan Police reached an out-of-court settlement after a woman was forced by police officers to remove her headscarf for a photograph. The Metropolitan Police admitted that such a practice could be unlawful. The power to forcibly remove a woman's headdress is provided under Schedule 7 of the Terrorism Act of 2000. A petition demanding that the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims take action against the Home Office for its discriminatory use of Schedule 7 powers received over 30,000 signatures after the incident was publicized. 914

A February 2020 report found that the employment rate of Muslims was significantly lower than that of other religious groups between 2012 and 2018. Notably, economic inactivity rates were highest among Muslim women, which was the only group with more than half the population economically inactive in 2018. While there has not yet been any study examining how Muslim women's religious headwear affects the gender disparity in employment, 916 the Employment Tribunal has heard numerous cases about Muslim women alleging harassment and discrimination in relation to their headscarf or face yeil.

Despite the rise in Islamophobia and occasional debates surrounding the face veil, the UK stands out compared to mainland Europe in its general acceptance of religious dress and symbols in education, employment, and

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

public space. It is common to see employees wear a Muslim headscarf or Sikh turban (e.g., TV news reporter, 917 shopkeepers, police officers, 918 judges, 919 and royal guardsmen 920), and for various professions to accommodate religious dress by devising ways to include it in the uniform. As only a small number of Muslim women wear a face veil, it is less common but still allowed in public spaces and certain occupations. 921

Nonetheless, somewhere in the range of half the UK population appears to support banning Muslim face veils in public. A 2017 YouGov survey found that 48 percent of respondents supported introducing a law against wearing full body and face veils while an earlier survey conducted in 2016 found that 50 percent supported such a law. 922 According to a public survey conducted in 2009, 53 percent of the British public believed that removing face veils is needed for Muslims to integrate. 923 This contrasts with a survey conducted by Channel 4 News in 2013 and in 2016, which found that 55 percent and 57 percent of respondents supported a ban on face veils, while 88 percent supported a ban of face veils in specific public places, including schools, courts, and hospitals. 924

#### **National Bans**

Despite various attempts to date as described below, the UK has not enacted any legal ban on face veils or headscarves.

Proposals: There were two official attempts to legalize face veil bans in the UK. In 2012, a ballot bill titled the "Face Coverings (Regulation) Bill" 2010-12, sponsored by Member of Parliament Philip Hollobone of the Conservative Party, 925 was debated at the first reading in the House of Commons. The bill did not get a second reading. Hollobone continued to sponsor another identical bill, which had its first reading in September 2013 and its second reading in February 2014. During the second reading at the House of Lords, the bill failed to pass after then prime minister David Cameron closed parliament early and the bill was not considered in subsequent sittings. 926 It is unlikely that the bill would have passed as many members of parliament had signaled their disapproval towards a ban during parliamentary debates and indicated that they would vote against the bill. 927

British politicians first brought the discussion over Islamic headwear to the political stage in 2006. As a member of parliament and minister, Jack Straw expressed his opposition to the practice of wearing full face veils. 928 Following Straw, a number of politicians, mostly from the Conservative Party, expressed similar views. Between 2010 and 2013, a number of

[Face Veil]

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

proposals to ban veils nationally were put forward by members of the UK Independence Party (UKIP) and the British National Party. 929

While opposing a national ban in all public places, David Cameron stated in 2013 that he would support bans in schools and in courts. <sup>930</sup> In 2017, then prime minister Theresa May backed the right of Muslim women to wear a headscarf "without fear," and said that she believed that "what a woman wears is a woman's choice." <sup>931</sup>

In 2016, a public petition with almost 20,000 signatories was submitted to the British government to ban the wearing of any full or partial face coverings in public. The petition claimed that "the burka is a huge security risk, the person wearing it could be male or female unless you can see the full face you would never know... it's been said in the past a wanted male criminal had escaped the country by wearing a burka." <sup>932</sup> In response, the Home Office noted that it "has no intention of making it a criminal offence to wear face coverings" and explained that current legislation empowers police officers to remove face coverings if they are used for the purpose of concealing one's identity.

In August 2018, former foreign secretary Boris Johnson, who later became prime minister, stated in a *Telegraph* column that he opposed bans on face veils in public places and he disagreed with the total ban that Denmark had imposed. 933 Nevertheless, he referred to women wearing face coverings as "looking like letter boxes" and said that it was "ridiculous" that people chose to wear them. 934 A subsequent report in 2019 found that Boris Johnson's comments on women wearing the veil led to a surge in anti-Muslim attacks and incidents of abuse. 935 In December 2019, Johnson apologized for his comments while noting that they were "taken out of context." 936 In May 2021, Johnson again apologized for his comments in a report that criticized the Conservative Party over how it dealt with complaints of Islamophobia; however, he reiterated that his *Telegraph* article was a "liberal defense of a Muslim woman's right to choose what she wore." 937

#### **Local Bans**

No local ban has been proposed or implemented in the UK.

#### Institutional and Private Bans in Practice

*Public employment:* In 2016, Police Scotland announced that Muslim women may wear the headscarf as part of their uniform after the Metropolitan Police in London approved a uniform headscarf in 2001. 938 In

[Headscarf]
[Public Employment]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

November 2020, the North Yorkshire Police launched a headscarf as part of its police uniform which was under consideration to be launched nationwide; this followed from West Yorkshire's development of a police uniform specifically for Muslim women.<sup>939</sup> In February 2021, the operational headscarf was trialed in Leicester.<sup>940</sup>

However, not all sectors have been as accepting of Muslim women wearing headscarves, particularly schools. In *Azmi v Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council*, in 2007, an assistant teacher was instructed to remove her face veil while teaching. The teacher claimed that this instruction discriminated against her as a Muslim woman. Both the Employment Tribunal and the Employment Appeal Tribunal found no direct discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief. The tribunal found indirect discrimination, but held that the instruction to remove her veil was proportionate and served a legitimate aim. The case raised the important question of proportionality while weighing the quality of education and Muslim women's right to wear religious dress. <sup>941</sup>

[Headscarf]
[Private Employment]

*Private Employment:* Despite the general acceptance of visible religious diversity, there are cases where Muslim women face rejection because of their religious dress. They can, however, rely on strong antidiscrimination legislation if they decide to take matters to court. Cases with high chances of succeeding tend to result in out-of-court settlements often including confidentiality clauses. The resulting lack of media attention or a written legal decision means the utility of litigation often goes unnoticed.942 It also means that there are likely to be more cases than reported below.

Case law: In Ms Muna Abdi v Deltec International Courier Limited, in 2020, a Somali woman who wears a headscarf succeeded in her claim of unlawful harassment against her employers, who had sent "highly offensive and threatening" messages to her, including threats of violence.

In Farrah v Global Luggage Co Ltd, in 2012, the Employment Tribunal decided that a company was liable for unfair dismissal after the aggrieved employee was forced to resign because her headscarf allegedly undermined the company's aim of maintaining a "trendy image." The Tribunal found that this was an illegitimate and discriminatory justification. The employee's claim for direct discrimination was, however, rejected because the employer did not target her for her faith, although it was noted in the judgment that she would have had a better case if she had claimed indirect discrimination. This is because a rule against the wearing of headscarves would have unfairly burdened her as a Muslim woman compared to a non-Muslim woman.

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

[Both]

[Education]

[Headscarf] [Education]

Education: The UK has no legal ban on wearing headscarves or face veils but schools can decide their own dress codes. 943 This autonomy is granted by the guidance on school uniforms issued by the Department for Education, called School Uniform: Guidance for Governing Bodies, School Leaders, School Staff and Local Authorities. 944 The guidance is further supported by several court cases, as analyzed below.

In 2018, St. Stephen's, a primary school in London, adopted a ban on the headscarf for pupils under the age of eight. He was quickly revoked following strong resistance from civil society groups. His controversy arose shortly after the Chief Inspector of the Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted), Amanda Speilman, called on school inspectors to question primary school girls who wear a headscarf about why they do so to determine whether it "could be interpreted as sexualization." Notably, Speilman had expressed support for St. Stephen's ban and claimed that "schools must have the right to set school uniform policies as they see fit in order to promote cohesion;" she was subsequently requested to appear before the parliamentary Education Select Committee over her comments. Speilman was not alone in her support for such a ban, with Lord Agnew of Oulton, who served as schools minister, offering government support to schools that try to ban headscarves and fasting.

Case law: The leading cases are R (on the application of X) v The Headteacher of Y School and another in 2007, 950 and R (on the application of Begum) v Headteacher and Governors of Denbigh High School in 2006.951 The first involved a female Muslim student who wished to wear a face veil at school, the second concerned a Muslim student who wanted to wear a jilbab (an ankle length gown) in breach of the school's uniform policy. Both students were expelled for not complying with the school's dress code. Their claims were dismissed by the House of Lords on the basis that the right to hold religious beliefs was not inviolable and that there had been no interference with the right to hold and manifest one's religion.952 In the first case, the defendants claimed that having another alternative school where veils are allowed meant there was no interference with the students' beliefs or ability to gain an education, which was in line with the argument in the second case.953 Hence, the House of Lords found the expulsion to be proportionate and not an infringement of the claimants' rights.954

Bans in practice: In November 2006, a judge in an immigration tribunal in Stoke-on-Trent adjourned a hearing because he could not properly hear a Muslim woman legal adviser who wore a face veil. The woman was accustomed to wearing it in the course of her work and refused to remove it when asked by the judge. The Asylum and Immigration Tribunal issued

[Face Veil]
[Practice]

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

temporary advice allowing legal advisers and solicitors to wear a face veil in court, as long as it did not interfere with the judicial process allowing judges to exercise discretion on a case-by-case basis when it does. 955 The case was eventually resumed with a different judge, but several more debates occurred related to Muslim women with face veils who were part of court proceedings (as a defendant, 956 witness, etc. 957).

The most recent guidance to the judiciary on the matter is in Section 9-5 of Chapter 9 (Religion) of the *Equal Treatment Bench Book* from 2018. Judges are still allowed some discretion to decide on a case-by-case basis but are given more guidance. A judge can ask a woman to remove her face veil when she has to provide evidence but only if necessary and after consideration of whether it is possible to do so without having to remove her veil. Where removal is required, arrangements should be made to limit the woman's discomfort, e.g. limiting the number of observers and/or creation of images. Alternatively, a female staff member can establish the identity of the woman in private.<sup>958</sup>

#### **National Legislation**

The government has taken legislative action to address discrimination and inequality in employment since 2010. The Equality Act (2010), which strengthens the protection for female and religious employees, is an example of this effort. <sup>959</sup> In particular, the law combined and replaced many antidiscrimination laws, which makes it easier to comprehend and apply. It includes religion/belief and sex as protected characteristics, among others, which require the protection of public authorities. <sup>960</sup> The law not only prohibits direct and indirect discrimination at work based on religion and belief but also recognizes combined discrimination (or dual characteristics). <sup>961</sup> At the domestic level, the UK has another source of legal protection against discrimination in relation to religious freedom. The Human Rights Act, 1998, Article 9, which mirrors the European Convention on Human Rights, provides freedom to exercise religion or belief "publicly or privately" and "in practice and observance."

However, as discussed above, while a prohibition against Muslim women wearing the headscarf or face covering may constitute indirect discrimination, employers may still do so if they are able to provide justification. In a 2019 speech on religious dress at the Woolf Institute in Cambridge University, Lady Hale, then President of the Supreme Court, observed that "it is quite possible for employers and service-providers to have reasons for their rules which are independent of the religion or ethnicity

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

of the complainant and are sufficient to justify them." Pealing with the question of Catholic religious symbols in the work place, in *Eweida v United Kingdom* [2013] ECHR 3, the European Court of Human Rights clarified that even if the employer's justification may be legitimate, it must be balanced against the restriction on the employee's right to religious freedom; in that case, the Court held that the domestic courts had accorded "too much weight" to the employer's desire to "project a certain corporate image" in prohibiting its employees from wearing items of religious clothing. P63

# Annex I: Religious dress bans in the EU and the United Kingdom

	National Ban	Local Ban	Private/ institutional Bans	On-going Proposal	Failed Proposal
Austria	General		Austria		Austria
Belgium	General	General & Specific	Belgium	Belgium	Belgium
Bulgaria	General	General	Bulgaria		Bulgaria
Croatia			Croatia		
Cyprus					
Czech Republic			Czech Republic		Czech Republic
Denmark	General & Specific		Denmark		Denmark
Estonia					Estonia
Finland			Finland		Finland
France	General & Specific		France	France	France
Germany	Specific	Specific	Germany		Germany
Greece					
Hungary					Hungary
Ireland			Ireland		Ireland
Italy		Specific	Italy		Italy
Latvia					Latvia
Lithuania					Lithuania
Luxembourg	General	General	Luxembourg		Luxembourg
Malta					Malta

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Netherlands	Specific		Netherlands		Netherlands
Poland					
Portugal					
Romania					Romania
Slovakia					Slovakia
Slovenia					Slovenia
Spain	Specific	General & Specific	Spain		Spain
Sweden			Sweden		Sweden
UK			UK		UK
Total	9	6	16	2	23

# Annex II: List of national reviewers and experts

Austria	Johanna Schlintl	Italy	Mary Cortese
	Elisabeth Holzleithner		Patrizio Gonnella
	Farid Hafez		Corallina Lopez Curzi
Belgium	Saïla Ouald Chaib	Latvia	Roberts Osis
	Julie Pascoet		
	Ida Dequeecker		
Bulgaria	Kaloyan Stanev	Lithuania	Erika Leonaitė
	Mihail Ekimjiev		
Croatia	Luka Buic	Luxembourg	
	Nela Pamuković		
Cyprus	Natalie Alkiviadou	Malta	Lorraine Spiteri
Czech Republic	Susanne Prochazka	The Netherlands	Merel Brouwer
	Magda Faltová		Jelle Klaas
Denmark	Michael De Martino Jensen	Poland	Zuza Rudzinska

	Bashy Quraishy		
Estonia	Lembi Treumuth	Portugal	Eva Kalny
	Merit Ulvik		
Finland	Linda Hyökki	Romania	Ruxandra Fatma Yilmaz
France	Naima Bouteldja	Slovakia	Zuzana Stevulova
	Kahina Rabahi		
	Lila Charef		
Germany	May Zeidani Yufanyi	Slovenia	Metka Triera
	Zeynep Çetin		
	Aqilah Sandhu		
Greece	Alexandros Sakellariou	Spain	Mercedes Melon
			Patricia Orejudo
Hungary	Zsolt Marcell Sereghy	Sweden	Fatima Doubakil
	Zsanett Borsos		
Ireland	James Carr	United Kingdom	Heena Khaled
			Arzu Merali

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

#### **Endnotes**

<sup>1</sup> The series of reports by the European Network against Racism (ENAR) are good references on the matter. See ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women" <a href="https://perma.cc/6CZY-66NQ">https://perma.cc/6CZY-66NQ</a>.

Akbarzadeh, ed., Routledge Handbook of Political Islam, 2020.

https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichJuriAdmin.do?oldAction=rechJuriAdmin&idTexte=CET ATEXT000008205357&fastReqId=65957396&fastPos=3.

https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichJuriAdmin.do?oldAction=rechJuriAdmin&idTexte=CET ATEXT000008251110&fastRegId=1210750539&fastPos=1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See for example the Joined Cases of C-804/18, *IXv WABE eV* and C-341/19, *MHMüller Handels GmbHv MJ*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Eleanor Sharpston, "Shadow Opinion of Former Advocate-General Sharpston: Headscarves at Work (Cases C-804/18 and C-341/19)," *EULaw Analysis Blog*, 23 March 2021. https://pema.cc/55PC-465C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Judgment by the Tribunal du Travail Bruxelles, 3 May 2021, <a href="https://perma.cc/8HJF-EXHG">https://perma.cc/8HJF-EXHG</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Application no. 43835/11, S.A.S. v France, para. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Alia Al-Saji, "The Racialization of Muslim Veils: A Philosophical Analysis," Philosophy and Social Criticism, 8 October 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tufyal Choudhury, "Suspicion, Discrimination and Surveillance: The Impact of Counter-Terrorism Law and Policy on Racialised Groups at Risk of Racism in Europe," *European Network Against Racism*, 2021 <a href="https://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/suspicion\_discrimination\_surveillance\_report\_2021.pdf">https://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/suspicion\_discrimination\_surveillance\_report\_2021.pdf</a> (last visited 16 March 2022); Valérie Amiraux and Pierre-Luc Beauchesne, "Racialization and the Construction of the Problem of the Muslim Presence in Western Societies," in Shahram

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Council of State cases no. 245321 of 2 June 2003 <u>https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/ceta/id/CETATEXT000008137249/</u> and no. 250084 of 24 October 2003

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Council of State cases no. 289947 of 6 March 2006 https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichJuriAdmin.do?oldAction=rechJuriAdmin&idTexte=CET ATEXT000008241193&fastReqId=735431749&fastPos=2 and no. 289946 of 15 December 2006

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Article 5 of the decree of 26 February 2001. See <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000005630683">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000005630683</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Council of Minsters (2010), Rules for the Issuance of the Bulgarian Personal Documents (Правилник за издаване на българските лични документи), Annex 5 to article 9(1) <a href="https://pema.cc/PX92-DRNL">https://pema.cc/PX92-DRNL</a>: "The persons on the photos should be without hats and headscarves. Photos of persons with a hat or a headscarf are permitted if the two ears and at least 1 cm of the hair of the photographed person are visible." The first and only court case dates to 2002 when a Muslim woman refused to remove her headscarf to show her ears and hair for an ID photo. The case was brought before the Supreme Administrative Court with the help of the Association for European Integration and Human Rights to challenge the bylaw that requires ID photos show the person's ears and at least 1 centimeter of hair. In this case, the court upheld the bylaw and rejected the applicant's claim. Among other things, the court provided that wearing a headscarf is not proved to be demanded by Islam as a religion, and the rule is justifia ble and proportional for public safety. See judgment No. 11820 from 12

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

December 2002 and case No. 7035/2002 of the five-member court chamber of the Court (Решение № 11820 от 19.12.2002 г. на ВАС по адм. д. № 7035/2002 г, 5-членен с-в, докладчик съдията Галина Карагьозова).

- <sup>12</sup> Many Muslim women wear a turban that leaves the neck largely uncovered. It is not a lways clear that such headwear is covered by restrictions aimed at neck-covering headscarves/hijabs. In France, a young Muslim woman who wore a bandana to school was not allowed to wear it because of the assumed religious connotation.
- <sup>13</sup> Christine Delphy, "Separate and Dominate: Feminism and Racism after the War on Terror," *Verso*, 2015.
- <sup>14</sup> Abdella li Hajjat and Marwan Mohammed, "Islamophobie: Comment les élites françaises fa briquent le 'problème Musulman," *La Découverte*, 2012.
- <sup>15</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women" https://pema.cc/6CZY-66NO.
- <sup>16</sup> See Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds. *The European Islamophobia Report 2015*. https://perma.cc/3X4R-Q6QM, 2015, page 7; Dermana Šeta, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Isla mophobia on Muslim Women," ENAR, 2016, p. 3, 14. https://perma.cc/3LMQ-S4MH.
- <sup>17</sup> See Application no. 43835/11, *S.A.S. v France*; Amnesty International, "Amnesty International, Choice and Prejudice: Discrimination against Muslims in Europe," 2012, 100 <a href="https://pema.cc/SW37-3KMT">https://pema.cc/SW37-3KMT</a> (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>18</sup> BBB, "Islamic Veil a cross Europe," 31 January 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/27K2-Y26H">https://perma.cc/27K2-Y26H</a> (last visited 31 January 2017).
- 19 See BBC, "Belgian Ban on Full Veils Comes into Force," 23 July 2011 <a href="https://pema.cc/RBG2-L4R5">https://pema.cc/RBG2-L4R5</a> (last visited 17 February 2017); Alja zeera, "Bulga ria Parlia ment Bans Full-Face Veils in Public," 30 September 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/97KB-XVVH">https://perma.cc/97KB-XVVH</a> (last visited 1 March 2017); Břetislav Olšer, "Proč burka, když o ní není v Koránu ani slovo?" ("Why the Burqa When There Is No Mention of It in the Koran?"), *Eurabia*, 19 May 2010; ENAR, "ENAR Sha dow Report on Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Estonia 2011-2012," 2012, 13

http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf (last visited 4 March 2017); Council of State, Judgment no. 3076 of 19 June 2008. Quoted in Giulia Dessi, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy," ENAR, 2016, 59; US States Department, "Latvia 2015 International Religious Freedom Report," 2015, 320

https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/256419.pdf (last visited 14 March 2017); The Baltic times, "Arturas Paulauskas Calls for Ban on the Burqa in Lithuania," 13 August 2015 <a href="http://www.baltictimes.com/arturas\_palauskas\_regulating\_wearing\_the\_burqa\_in\_public\_will\_prevent\_any\_potential\_misunderstandings\_/">http://www.baltictimes.com/arturas\_palauskas\_regulating\_wearing\_the\_burqa\_in\_public\_will\_prevent\_any\_potential\_misunderstandings\_/</a> (last visited 20 March 2017); The Local, "Spa in Opens Door to Ban on Burqas," 4 September 2014

http://www.thelocal.es/20140904/spain-opens-door-to-burqa-ban-catalonia-women-rights (last visited 17 March 2017).

- <sup>20</sup> See Application no. 43835/11, S.A.S. v France, para. 118. Evidence submitted by third parties included interviews with French and Belgian Muslim women who wear a face veil, debunking prevalent myths about face veil wearers but more importantly centering their voices and experiences in a topic that mostly concerns and impacts them.
- <sup>21</sup> Christopher Adam, "Ásotthalom—The Hungarian Town That Banned Muslims and Gays in Public," *Hungarian Press*, 29 November 2016

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

http://hungarianfreepress.com/2016/11/29/asotthalom-the-hungarian-town-that-banned-muslims-and-gays-in-public/ (last visited 8 March 2017).

https://strasbourgobservers.com/2017/03/27/european-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-religious-discrimination-in-the-private-workplace-opened-the-european-court-of-human-rights-could-close-it/

http://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000022911670&categorieLien=id (last visited 10 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See the factsheet produced by the Press Unit of the European Court of Human Rights listing all the cases pertaining to religious clothing and symbols up to December 2018 https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/fs religious symbols eng.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Application no. 31645/04, *Dogruv. France*; Application no. 27058/05, *Kervanci v. France*; Application no. 43563/08, *Aktas v. France*; Application no. 14308/08, *Bayrakv. France*; Application no. 18527/08, *Gamaleddyn v. France*, and Application no. 29134/08, *Ghazal v. France*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Application no. 64846/11, Ebrahimian v. France.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Application no. 43 835/11, S.A.S. v France, Application no. 37798/13, Belkacemi and Oussar v. Belgium, and Application no. 4619/12, Dakir v. Belgium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Application no. 3414/09, Lachiri c. Belgium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See for example, Saïla Ouald Chaib and Lourdes Peroni, "S.A.S v France: Missed Opportunity to Do Full Justice to Women Wearing a Face Veil," *Strasbourg Observers*, 3 July 2014 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2014/07/03/s-a-s-v-france-missed-opportunity-to-do-full-justice-to-women-wearing-a-face-veil/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2014/07/03/s-a-s-v-france-missed-opportunity-to-do-full-justice-to-women-wearing-a-face-veil/</a>; Stephanie Berry, "SAS v France: Does Anything Remain of the Right to Manifest Religion?," *EJIL: Talk!*, 2 July 2014 <a href="https://www.ejiltalk.org/sas-v-france-does-anything-remain-of-the-right-to-manifest-religion/">https://www.ejiltalk.org/sas-v-france-does-anything-remain-of-the-right-to-manifest-religion/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Case C-157/15 Achbita, Centrum voor Gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v. G4S Secure Solutions, para. 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ca se C-188/15, Bougnaoui Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v. Micropole SA, para. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Case C-188/15, Bougnaoui Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v. Micropole SA, para. 40, paras. 39–41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Joined cases C-804/18, IXv WABE e.V and C-341/19 MH Müller Handels GmbH v MJ.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See for example Adina Portaru, "CJEU Cases C-157/15 Achbita and C-188/15 Bougnaoui – Does "Neutrality" Trump Religious Freedom?," *Völkerrechtsblog*, 24 March 2017 <a href="https://voelkerrechtsblog.org/de/cjeu-cases-c-15715-achbita-and-c-18815-bougnaoui/">https://voelkerrechtsblog.org/de/cjeu-cases-c-15715-achbita-and-c-18815-bougnaoui/</a>; Robin Bankel, "A Critical Commentary on the ECJ's Judgment in G4S v Achbita," *EJIL: Talk!*, 5 April 2017 <a href="https://www.ejiltalk.org/a-critical-commentary-on-the-ecjs-judgment-in-g4s-v-achbita/">https://www.ejiltalk.org/a-critical-commentary-on-the-ecjs-judgment-in-g4s-v-achbita/</a>; Sa'ila Ouald-Chaib and Valeska David, "European Court of Justice Keeps the Door to Religious Discrimination in the Private Workplace Opened. The European Court of Human Rights Could Close It," *Strasbourg Observers*, 27 March 2017, <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2017/03/27/european-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-to-browner-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keeps-the-door-based-en-al-court-of-justice-keep

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Case C-344/20, Ms L. F. v. The S.C.R.L.

 $<sup>^{34}</sup>$  Loi 2010-1192 du 11 Octobre 2010 interdisant la dissimulation du visage dans l'espace public ("Loi 2010-1192")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Article 563*bis* of the Belgian Criminal Code, Loi Visant a Interdire Le Port De Tout Vêtement Cachant Totalement ou de Manière Principale Le Visage (Law Forbidding the Wearing of Any Clothing Covering the Face Completely or in a Significant Manner) of 1 June 2011, MONITEUR BELGE [M.B.] [Official Gazette of Belgium], 13 July 2011, 41734.

- <sup>36</sup> Chase Winter, "Austrian Burqa Ban: Police Raid Toy Store over a Lego Ninja," *DW*, 21 October 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/3FHV-3 VQD">https://perma.cc/3FHV-3 VQD</a> (last visited 1 March 2022); European Commission, "Austria: Anti-Face-Veiling Act enters into force and causes confusion," 12 October 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/8Y55-ZA2N">https://perma.cc/8Y55-ZA2N</a> (last visited 15 April 2021).
- <sup>37</sup> Angel Krasimirov, "Bulgaria Bans Muslim Women from Wearing Full-Face Veils in Public," *The Huffington Post*, 10 March 2016, <a href="http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/bulgaria-bans-muslim-women-from-wearing-full-face-veils-in-public\_us\_57f2d0cae4b01b16aafe930b">http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/bulgaria-bans-muslim-women-from-wearing-full-face-veils-in-public\_us\_57f2d0cae4b01b16aafe930b</a> (last visited 1 March 2017).
- <sup>38</sup> Article 563*bis* of the Belgian Criminal Code, Loi Visant a Interdire Le Port De Tout Vêtement Cachant Totalement ou de Manière Principale Le Visage (Law Forbidding the Wearing of Any Clothing Covering the Face Completely or in a Significant Manner) of 1 June 2011, MONITEUR BELGE [M.B.] [Official Gazette of Belgium], 13 July 2011, 41734.
- <sup>39</sup> Article 2(2) of Loi 2010-1192.
- <sup>40</sup> Elisabeth Arnsdorf Haslund, "Her er seks danske signallove," *Politiko*, 31 July 2013 <a href="http://www.b.dk/politiko/her-er-seks-danske-signallove">http://www.b.dk/politiko/her-er-seks-danske-signallove</a> (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>41</sup> See the official response of the Dutch Chief of Police to a freedom of information request (Wet openbaarheid van bestuur/Wob) a bout the Partial Face Concealment Act: <a href="https://www.politie.nl/binaries/content/assets/politie/wob/00-landelijk/boetes-wet-gedeeltelijk-verbod-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding/besluit-boetes-wet-gedeeltelijk-verbod-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding.pdf">https://www.politie.nl/binaries/content/assets/politie/wob/00-landelijk/boetes-wet-gedeeltelijk-verbod-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding.pdf</a>.
- <sup>42</sup> "Zwartboek Boerkaverbod" ("Black Book Burka Ban"), 14 https://www.meldislamofobie.org/zwartboek-boerkaverbod/ (last visited 3 Jun 2021).
- <sup>43</sup> See Department for Education United Kingdom, School Uniform Guidance for Governing Bodies, School Leaders, School Staff and Local Authorities, September 2013

  <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/514978/School\_Uniform\_Guidance.pdf">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/514978/School\_Uniform\_Guidance.pdf</a> (last visited 20 March 2017); Simon Caldwell, "Ireland's Catholic Schools Ban Full Muslim Veil," The Telegraph (24 September 2017)

  <a href="http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/europe/ireland/8023079/Irelands-Catholic-schools-ban-full-Muslim-veil.html">http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/europe/ireland/8023079/Irelands-Catholic-schools-ban-full-Muslim-veil.html</a> (last visited 12 March 2017); "Sweden's Teachers Free to Ban Islamic Veils," The Local, 11 January 2012 <a href="http://www.thelocal.se/20120111/38452">http://www.thelocal.se/20120111/38452</a> (last visited 18 March 2017).
- <sup>44</sup> Oesterreich.gv.at, *Religionsgemeinschaften in Österreich Statistik* https://www.oesterreich.gv.at/themen/leben\_in\_oesterreich/kirchenein\_\_austritt\_und\_religio nen/3/Seite.820018.html (last visited 18 October 2021).
- <sup>45</sup> Gresch et al., "Tu Felix Austria?: The Headscarf and the Politics of 'Non-Issues,'" *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State and Society*, 15(4), 411-432; Mattes and Rosenberger, "Islam and Muslims in Austria" in Marian Burchardt and Ines Michalowski, eds., *After Integration: Islam, Conviviality and Contentious Politics in Europe*, 2015.
- <sup>46</sup> Mattes and Rosenberger, "Islam and Muslims in Austria" in Marian Burchardt and Ines Michalowski, eds., *After Integration: Islam, Conviviality and Contentious Politics in Europe*, 2015.
- <sup>47</sup> Bundeskanzleramt, *Regierungen seit 1945* https://perma.cc/CGY4-WM55 (last visited 22 March 2021).
- <sup>48</sup> Farid Ha fez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 79 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 1 May 2017).

- <sup>49</sup> Farid Ha fez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 79 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 1 May 2017); Dokumentations- und Beratungsstelle Islamfeindlichkeit und antimuslimischer Rassismus, *Antimuslimischer Rassismus Report 2019*, 2020, https://dokustelle.at/fileadmin/Documents/Reports/Report-2019-A4.pdf (last visited 26 October 2021).
- 50 Sozialer Survey 2018, "Einstellungen zu Muslimen in Österreich," 2018, https://aussda.at/fileadmin/user\_upload/p\_aussda/Documents/Einstellung\_zu\_Muslimen\_in\_O Esterreich.pdf
- <sup>51</sup> Farid Hafez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 27–34.
- <sup>52</sup> The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, *Sixth ECRI Report on Austria*, 20 June 2020 <a href="https://perma.cc/A6VV-FWTB">https://perma.cc/A6VV-FWTB</a> (last visited 22 April 2021).
- <sup>53</sup> Deutsche Welle, "Austria: Police Raid Muslim Brotherhood, Hamas-linked Targets," 9 November 2020 <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/austria-police-raid-muslim-brotherhood-hamas-linked-targets/a-55542480">https://www.dw.com/en/austria-police-raid-muslim-brotherhood-hamas-linked-targets/a-55542480</a> (last visited 27 November, 2021).
- <sup>54</sup> *Deutsche Welle*, "Austria: Police Raid Muslim Brotherhood, Hamas-linked Targets," 9 November 2020 <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/austria-police-raid-muslim-brotherhood-hamas-linked-targets/a-55542480">https://www.dw.com/en/austria-police-raid-muslim-brotherhood-hamas-linked-targets/a-55542480</a> (last visited 27 November, 2021).
- <sup>55</sup> Al Jazeera, "Muslim Austrian a cademic shares tale of gunpointraid," 4 March 2021 <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/3/4/muslim-professor-reveals-raid-in-austria">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/3/4/muslim-professor-reveals-raid-in-austria</a> (last visited 27 November, 2021).
- https://twitter.com/sebastiankurz/status/1326519060922834945?lang=en; Bundeskanzleramt, "Bundeskanzler Kurz: Terrorismus und politischen Islam mit a llen Mitteln bekämpfen," 11 November 2020 https://www.bundeskanzleramt.gv.at/bundeskanzleramt/nachrichten-derbundesregierung/2020/bundeskanzler-kurz-terrorismus-und-politischen-islam-mit-allenmitteln-bekaempfen.html (last visited 27 November 2021); Financial Times, "What is behind Austria's Plan to Outlaw 'Political Islam'?," 30 November 2020 https://www.ft.com/content/3c8f761d-94cc-405f-904c-0785a11891a7 (last visited 27 November 2021).
- <sup>57</sup> Al Jazeera, "Austrian Muslims to Sue Government over 'Islam map'," 29 May 2021 <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/5/29/austrian-muslims-to-sue-government-over-islam-map">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/5/29/austrian-muslims-to-sue-government-over-islam-map</a> (last visited 27 November 2021; Washington Post, "Muslim Groups in Austria Fear Attacks a fter Government Publishes Map of Mosques," 29 May 2021 <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2021/05/29/austria-islam-map/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2021/05/29/austria-islam-map/</a> (last visited 27 November 2021).
- <sup>58</sup> Lucy Pasha-Robinson, "Thousands March in Protest of Austrian Face Veil Ban in Vienna: Demonstrators Accuse Government of Islamophobia and Sexism," *Independent* (6 February 2017) perma.cc/KRS3-BXET (last visited 6 February 2018).
- <sup>59</sup> Jenna Belhumeur, "Austria's Parliament Bans Full-Face Veil in Public," *Aljazeera*, 17 May 2017 <a href="http://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/05/austria-parliament-bans-full-face-veil-public-170517051602575.html">http://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/05/austria-parliament-bans-full-face-veil-public-170517051602575.html</a> (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>60</sup> Bundesrecht konsolidiert: Gesamte Rechtsvorschrift für Anti-Gesichtsverhüllungsgesetz, 11 April 2021 perma.cc/7EU8-WDN4 (last visited 19 April 2021); Government website with depiction of prohibited face coverings https://perma.cc/YQ8Z-EKKF (last visited 28 March

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

2021); Additional information next to the depiction of prohibited face coverings, 22 March, 2021 https://perma.cc/Q7XE-YYQL (last visited 12 April 2021).

- 62 See Carmen Teubl, "ENAR Shadow Report 2011/2012: Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Austria," *European Network Against Racism*, 2012, 15–19 <a href="http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Austria.pdf">http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Austria.pdf</a> (last visited 15 February 2017); Alisa Mayer, "ENAR Shadow Report 2012/2013: Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Employment in Austria," *European Network Against Racism*. 2013. <a href="https://perma.cc/4CAN-4R7U">https://perma.cc/4CAN-4R7U</a> (last visited 15 February 2017).
- <sup>63</sup> Farid Hafez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 5–10.
- <sup>64</sup> Der Österreichische Rechtsanwaltkammertag, "Stellungnahme," 8 March 2017 <a href="https://www.parlament.gv.at/PAKT/VHG/XXV/SNME/SNME">https://www.parlament.gv.at/PAKT/VHG/XXV/SNME/SNME</a> 09528/imfname 621554.pdf (last visited 18 October 2021).
- <sup>65</sup> European Commission, Austria: Anti-Face-Veiling Act Enters into Force and Causes Confusion, 12 October 2017 https://perma.cc/6VDC-JXR9 accessed 2 April 2021.
- <sup>66</sup> Philip Oltermann, "Austrian Full-face Veil Ban Condemned as a Failure by Police," *The Guardian*, 27 March 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/F3NZ-F7V2">https://perma.cc/F3NZ-F7V2</a> (last visited 15 April 2021).
- <sup>67</sup> Chase Winter, "Austrian Burqa Ban: Police Raid Toy Store over a Lego Ninja," *DW*, 21 October 2017 https://perma.cc/3FHV-3VQD; European Commission, *Austria: Anti-Face-Veiling Act Enters into Force and Causes Confusion*, 12 October 2017 https://perma.cc/8Y55-ZA2N (last visited 15 April 2021).
- <sup>68</sup> Philip Oltermann, "Austrian Full-face Veil Ban Condemned as a Failure by Police," *The Guardian*, 27 March 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/F3NZ-F7V2">https://perma.cc/F3NZ-F7V2</a> (last visited 15 April 2021); Chase Winter, "Austrian Burqa Ban: Police Raid Toy Store over a Lego Ninja," *DW*, 21 October 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/3FHV-3VQD">https://perma.cc/3FHV-3VQD</a>; European Commission, *Austria: Anti-Face-Veiling Act Enters into Force and Causes Confusion*, 12 October 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/333R-RJWC">https://perma.cc/333R-RJWC</a> (last visited 15 April 2021).
- <sup>69</sup> Der Standard, ""Burkaverbot" sorgte 2018 für 96 Anzeigen, zwei Drittel da von in Wien," 24 January 2019 https://perma.cc/NLL2-2M47 (last visited 22 April 2021). The article refers to a parlia mentarian's request from November 2018; "Schriftliche Anfrage," November 2018 https://perma.cc/35V4-AD4U (last visited 22 April 2021). There is no publicly a vailable data regarding enforcement in 2019, 2020, or 2021 since there was no request concerning violations under the Anti-Face-Veiling Act a fter January 2019.
- <sup>70</sup> Derek Scally, "Coronavirus: Austrian Supermarket Mask Rule Divides Experts," *Irish Times*, 2 April 2020 https://perma.cc/9E77-Z5VT (last visited 15 April 2021); Hellin Jankowski, "Türkis-Grün: 'Wir werden auf das Tragen von Masken setzen'," *Die Presse*, 30 March 2020 https://perma.cc/DX5G-HZ2G (last visited 15 April 2021); Köksal Baltaci, "Austria Becomes Latest European Country to Ban Burqas But Adds Clown Face Paint, Too," 27 September 2017 https://perma.cc/QGD6-XQWY (last visited 15 April 2021).
- <sup>71</sup> European Commission, *Austria: Anti-Face-Veiling Act Enters into Force and Causes Confusion*, 12 October 2017 https://perma.cc/GY97-53PV (last visited 2 April 2021).
- <sup>72</sup> Liberties EU, "Austria to Ban Full-Face Veil in Public," 1 February 2017 <a href="https://www.liberties.eu/en/stories/austria-to-ban-full-face-veil-in-public-sn-17561/36304">https://www.liberties.eu/en/stories/austria-to-ban-full-face-veil-in-public-sn-17561/36304</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Philip Oltermann, "Austria to Ban Full-Face Veil in Public," *The Guardian*, 31 January 2017, https://perma.cc/LV7N-ANCR (last visited 15 February 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Helmut Fohringer, "Judges' Association for the Law for Religious Neutrality" *Religion ORF.at*, 25 August 2019 https://perma.cc/8JA2-RBPD (last visited 15 April 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Farid Hafez, "Zwischen Islamophobie und Islamophilie: Die FPÖ und der Islam," in John Bunzl and Farid Hafez, eds., *Islamophobie in Österreich*, 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Daniel Richey, "Conservative Austria Party Calls for Vote to Ban Minarets, Face Veils," *Jurist*, 25 August 2010 https://perma.cc/V97A-F4RL (last visited 1 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> US Department of State, 2011 International Religious Freedom Report: Austria, 30 July 2012 https://perma.cc/K8KD-UZZ6 (last visited 21 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> *The Local*, "Austria, Freedom Party Calls for Burqa Ban," 2 July 2014 https://perma.cc/4KN8-MPQ7 (last visited 1 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Farid Ha fez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/AX5M-KDH6">https://perma.cc/AX5M-KDH6</a> (last visited 15 April 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Farid Ha fez, "Islamophobia in Austria National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 27: "[When] the draft of the 2015 Islam law was presented, a huge protest from Muslim NGOs, law scholars, as well as churches broke out. The draft received more than 160 reviews, out of which the majority were fundamentally critical towards the draft. Most of the criticism was not incorporated and the law was passed on 30 March 2015"; Shadia Na sralla, "Facing Fears Over Extremism, Austria Unveils New Law on Islam," *Reuters*, 2 October 2014 <a href="http://uk.reuters.com/article/2014/10/02/uk-austria-muslims-idUKKCN0HR26X20141002">http://uk.reuters.com/article/2014/10/02/uk-austria-muslims-idUKKCN0HR26X20141002</a> (last visited 15 February 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Federal Chancellery Republic of Austria, *The Austrian Islam Law*, 31 March 2015 perma.cc/J22E-A5E3 (last visited 15 April 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor, *July-December*, 2010 International Religious Freedom Report Austria, 12 September 2011 https://perma.cc/ZW9B-L9VR (last visited 1 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> VFGH, "Verhüllungsverbot an Volksschulen ist Verfassungswidrig", 11 December 2020 https://perma.cc/VRV7-NFYM (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> *Times of Malta*, "Austria Court Overturns Primary School Headscarf Ban", 11 December 2020 https://perma.cc/AXK2-2FVF (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Jennifer Rankin, "Austria's New Coalition Agrees to Extend School Headscarf Ban", *The Guardian*, 2 January 2020 https://perma.cc/D3T5-V58N (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Philip Oltermann, "Austria Approves Headscarf Ban in Primary Schools", *The Guardian*, 16 May 2019 https://perma.cc/XJJ8-T8GT (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Norbert Mappes-Niediek, "My Europe: A Culture War in Austrian Classrooms", *DW*, 18 May 2019 https://perma.cc/372V-NFFP (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> BBC, "Austrian Court Overturns Primary School Headscarf Ban," 11 December 2020 https://perma.cc/WT54-Z2WG (last visited 11 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Reuters, "Austria's Government Aims to Ban Headscarves in Kindergarten," 4 April 2018 https://perma.cc/LWD7-MKJH (last visited 2 July 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Sarah Hucal, "Why Austrian Lawmakers are Proposing a Headscarf Ban for Kindergarteners," *abcNews*, 5 April 2018 https://perma.cc/2WXY-JVX8 (last visited 2 July 2018).

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

93 [2016] OGH 9 ObA 117/15v https://perma.cc/5NQG-45G7 (last visited 1 March 2017), Session "Rechtliche Beurteilung," I.3.2–I.4.3 and II.3–II.7: In general, discrimination based on religious clothing is direct discrimination based on religion (§ 19 Abs 1 GlBG). If an employee is dismissed, because they refuse to comply with the employer's order not to wear Islamic clothing at work, the court has to examine whether exceptional circumstances according to § 20 GlBG regarding direct discrimination (§ 19 Abs 1 GlBG) based on religion exist. According to § 20 GlBG, unequal treatment due to a characteristic which is connected to the specified discrimination grounds under § 17 GlBG, e.g., religion, does not a mount to discrimination, if the characteristic, due to the nature of the work or the circumstances under which the work is conducted, is a fundamental and decisive prerequisite to do the work, provided that the employer's order is legitimate and has a sufficient purpose. As such, it has to be determined whether a prohibition on wearing a niqab at work, according to § 20 Abs 1 GIBG, is a fundamental and decisive prerequisite in order to fulfill the requirements as a notary employee. The court found that the wearing of a nigab kept the employee from fulfilling her duties as a notary employee, because the necessary communication and interaction of the employee with clients, colleagues and the respondent would be negatively impacted and rendered more difficult. Keeping the face unveiled is, because of the nature of the appellant's work and the circumstances under which she works, a fundamental and decisive prerequisite.

94 [2016] OGH 9 ObA 117/15v <a href="https://perma.cc/5NOG-45G7">https://perma.cc/5NOG-45G7</a> (last visited 1 March 2017). Session "Rechtliche Beurteilung," I.3.2–I.4.3 and II.3–II.7: Contact with clients and acting as a witness are popular activities in a notary's office. The restriction of an employee to participate in this area of work puts her at a disadvantage compared with her colleagues. This is indirect discrimination of the appellant based on religion. The respondent cannot rely on § 20 Abs 1 GlBG to claim that exceptional circumstance justified his actions, as he based his decision on the potential expectations of clients. According to § 20 Abs 1 GlBG, not wearing the hijab and abaya must be a fundamental and decisive prerequisite to work as a notary employee in order to be able to rely on the exception clause. That is not the case, which can be derived from the fact that the employee was allowed to work in this capacity (with unlimited client contact and as a witness) over several years while wearing Islamic clothing. The respondent's decision to change his mind about the appellant's work conditions upon her return from maternity leave is not justified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Nachrichten.at, "Junge Fra u mit Kopftuch bei Bewerbung diskriminiert," 10 February 2017 <a href="https://pema.cc/5CDH-ADW7">https://pema.cc/5CDH-ADW7</a> (last visited 15 February 2017); Religion.orf.at, "Compensation for Muslim for Discrimination," 10 February 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/2HBW-R4H4">https://perma.cc/2HBW-R4H4</a> (last visited 15 February 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Klagsverband, "Ablehnung einer Bewerbung wegen Kopftuch: 4,500,- Euro," 26 February 2009 <a href="https://www.klagsverband.at/archives/1640">https://www.klagsverband.at/archives/1640</a> (last visited 18 October 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Klagsverband, "Diskriminierung wegen Kopftuch: Studentin erhält 2.500 Euro," 16 March 2015 <a href="https://www.klagsverband.at/archives/9654">https://www.klagsverband.at/archives/9654</a> (last visited 18 October 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> OGH, "Diskriminierung wegen Religion am Arbeitsplatz?", 25 June 2016 https://perma.cc/6E4L-S7RA (last visited 19 April 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> von Robert Stammler, "Darf eine Rechtspraktikantin bei Gericht ein Kopftuch tragen?" OÖNachrichten, 4 December 2019 https://perma.cc/8D6Z-NCHE (last visited 22 April 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> See Germany chapter for additional restrictions on legal trainees wearing headscarves.

<sup>98 [2008]</sup> OGH 13Os83 / 08thttps://perma.cc/YB38-FQ4S (last visited 15 March 2017).

- <sup>99</sup> Gregor Heißl, "No Face-Veil (Part of Islamic Burqa) in Austrian Courtrooms: Austrian High Court Decision from August 27th, 2008 13 Os 83/08 t," *ICL Journal* 3(3) (2009): 218 <a href="https://pema.cc/Z7N8-85SJ">https://pema.cc/Z7N8-85SJ</a> (last visited March 2017).
- <sup>100</sup> Strasbourg Papers of the EMU, "The Situation of Muslims in Austria," 2011, 4 <a href="https://pema.cc/J9TG-AEM3">https://pema.cc/J9TG-AEM3</a> (last visited 17 February 2017).
- <sup>101</sup> Austrian Equal Treatment Act, Arts. 16–29 <u>https://perma.cc/B7BE-9EW6</u> (last visited 26 July 2017).
- <sup>102</sup> Rtbf, "Les signes convictionnels a utorisées dans l'enseignement supérieur dès la prochaine rentreée a cadeémique," 16 January 2021 https://perma.cc/BD5S-AYZ4 (la st visited 3 May 2021); TRTWorld, "Belgium Universities a re Facing Heat for Headscarf Ban," 19 June 2020 https://perma.cc/W7ND-MCNP (la st visited 3 May 2021).
- <sup>103</sup> Pew Forum, "Religious Composition by Country, 2010–2050," 2 April 2015 http://www.pewforum.org/2015/04/02/religious-projection-table/2010/percent/all/ (last visited 23 November 2017); Emmanuel Karagiannis, "European Converts to Islam: Mechanisms of Radicalization," *Politics, Religion and Ideology* 13(1), 2012.
- <sup>104</sup> See Collectif Contre l'Isla mophobie en Belgique, "Rapport Chiffres 2019," September 2020, <a href="https://ccib-ctib.be/wp-">https://ccib-ctib.be/wp-</a>
- content/uploads/CCIB\_PUBLIC\_PDF\_RapportChiffresCCIB/RAPPORT\_CHIFFRES\_CCIB\_2019\_Septembre2020.pdf (last visited 3 December 2021); Amina Easat-Daas, "Islamophobia in Belgium National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," SETA, 2016, 62
- http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR 2015 BELGIUM.pdf (last visited 15 February 2017).
- <sup>105</sup> Jan Blommaert and Jef Verscheuren, "Het Belgische migrantendebat: de pragmatiek van de abnormalisering," *IPrA Research Center*, 1992.
- <sup>106</sup> Aristotle Kallis, 'The Radical Right and Islamophobia', in J. Rydgren, ed., *The Oxford Handbook of the Radical Right*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2018, 42–60.
- <sup>107</sup> Nadia Fadil, "Islamofobie als la atste strohalm voor het eurocentrisch denken," *Eutopia Institute*, 7 September 2011 <a href="http://www.eutopiainstitute.org/2011/09/islamofobie-als-laatste-strohalm-voor-het-eurocentrisch-denken-door-nadia-fadil/">http://www.eutopiainstitute.org/2011/09/islamofobie-als-laatste-strohalm-voor-het-eurocentrisch-denken-door-nadia-fadil/</a> (last visited 11 December 2017).
- <sup>108</sup> BRUZZ, "Hoofddoek verdeelt meerderheid," 2 February 2011 <a href="https://www.bruzz.be/samenleving/hoofddoek-verdeelt-meerderheid-2011-02-02">https://www.bruzz.be/samenleving/hoofddoek-verdeelt-meerderheid-2011-02-02</a> (last visited 17 December 2017).
- <sup>109</sup> Philippe Carlot, "Laicité, neutralité et port du foulard divisent les partis Bruxellois," *RTBF*, 12 December 2015 <a href="https://www.rtbf.be/info/regions/detail\_laicite-neutralite-et-port-du-foulard-divisent-les-partis-bruxellois?id=9162903">https://www.rtbf.be/info/regions/detail\_laicite-neutralite-et-port-du-foulard-divisent-les-partis-bruxellois?id=9162903</a> (last visited 17 December 2017).
- <sup>110</sup> Eva Brems, "ECJ Headscarf Series (5): The Field in Which Achbita Will Land: A Brief Sketch of Headscarf Persecution in Belgium," *Strasbourg Observers*, 16 September 2016 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2016/09/16/ecj-headscarf-series-5-the-field-in-which-achbita-will-land-a-brief-sketch-of-headscarf-persecution-in-belgium/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2016/09/16/ecj-headscarf-series-5-the-field-in-which-achbita-will-land-a-brief-sketch-of-headscarf-persecution-in-belgium/</a> (last visited 13 January 2017).
- <sup>111</sup> Chambre des représentants de Belgique, "Proposition de révision de la constitution," 13 September 2018 <a href="https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/54/3269/54K3269001.pdf">https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/54/3269/54K3269001.pdf</a> (la st visited 8 December 2021).
- 112 Sarah Van Genechten, "Hoofddoekenverbod op de schop om lerarentekort op te lossen? 'Zoveel moslima's willen lesgeven, maar mogen niet," *VRT nws*, 30 October 2021 <a href="https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2021/10/29/moet-het-hoofddoekenverbod-op-school-de-schop-op-met-zo-n-groot/">https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2021/10/29/moet-het-hoofddoekenverbod-op-school-de-schop-op-met-zo-n-groot/</a> (last visited 3 December 2021); Bruno Struys, "Lerarentekort zwengelt

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

debatoverhoofddoekverbod opnieuw aan: 'Dit gaat omhet recht op werk,'" *De Morgen*, 20 October 2021 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/nieuws/lemrentekort-zwengelt-debat-over-hoofddoekverbod-opnieuw-aan-dit-gaat-om-het-recht-op-werk~b2dlead6/?referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F">https://www.demorgen.be/nieuws/lemrentekort-zwengelt-debat-over-hoofddoekverbod-opnieuw-aan-dit-gaat-om-het-recht-op-werk~b2dlead6/?referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F</a> (last visited 3 December 2021).

- <sup>113</sup> Lisa Develtere, "Sociale professionals met hoofddoek vinden moeilijker stage of job", *Sociaal.Net*, 15 November 2021 <a href="https://sociaal.net/achtergrond/sociale-professionals-met-een-hoofddoek-vinden-moeilijker-stage-of-job/">https://sociaal.net/achtergrond/sociale-professionals-met-een-hoofddoek-vinden-moeilijker-stage-of-job/</a>(last visited 3 December 2021).
- <sup>114</sup> Alexander Verstraete, "'Remmery' blikt terug na hoofddoekenarrest: 'Had geen enkele reden om Na ima Amzil te ontslaan," *Redactie.be*, 14 March 2017 <a href="http://deredactie.be/cm/vrtnieuws/binnenland/1.2918158">http://deredactie.be/cm/vrtnieuws/binnenland/1.2918158</a> (last visited 6 February 2017).
- https://twitter.com/GLBouchez/status/1399688128122785795?ref\_src=twsrc%5Etfw%7Ctwcamp%5Etweetembed%7Ctwterm%5E1399688128122785795%7Ctwgr%5E%7Ctwcon%5Es1\_&ref\_url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.brusselstimes.com%2Fnews%2Fbelgium-all-news%2F171992%2Fwalloon-liberals-oppose-appointment-of-government-commissioner-with-headscarf-ihsane-haouach-georges-louis-bouchez-mr-stib-neutrality-of-the-state%2F (last visited 15 February 2022).
- <sup>116</sup> Euronews, "Headscarf Debate Sparked in Belgium a fter Civil Servant's Resignation," 12 July 2021 <a href="https://www.euronews.com/2021/07/12/headscarf-debate-sparked-in-belgium-after-civil-servant-s-resignation">https://www.euronews.com/2021/07/12/headscarf-debate-sparked-in-belgium-after-civil-servant-s-resignation</a> (last visited 15 February 2022).
- <sup>117</sup> Le Soir, "Déclaration sur la séparation de l'Eglise et de l'Etat: la N-VA et le CDH demandent l'audition d'Ihsane Haouach," 6 July 2021 <a href="https://www.lesoir.be/382496/article/2021-07-06/declaration-sur-la-separation-de-leglise-et-de-letat-la-n-va-et-le-cdh-demandent">https://www.lesoir.be/382496/article/2021-07-06/declaration-sur-la-separation-de-leglise-et-de-letat-la-n-va-et-le-cdh-demandent</a> (last visited 15 February 2022).
- $^{118}$  Information provided by Imane El Mora bet of the Belgian Equality Body, the Interfederal Centre for Equal Opportunities (Unia).
- <sup>119</sup> Unia, "La STIB condamnée pour discrimination à l'embauche d'une femme portant le foulard," 5 May 2021 <a href="https://www.unia.be/fr/articles/la-stib-condamnee-pour-discrimination-a-lembauche-dune-femme-portant-le-foulard">https://www.unia.be/fr/articles/la-stib-condamnee-pour-discrimination-a-lembauche-dune-femme-portant-le-foulard</a> (last visited 8 December 2021).
- <sup>120</sup> TRTWorld, "Lifting of Hijab Ban in Southern Belgium Offers Hope for Muslim Women,"
  18 January 2021 <a href="https://www.trtworld.com/magazine/lifting-of-hijab-ban-in-southern-belgium-offers-hope-for-muslim-women-43365">https://www.trtworld.com/magazine/lifting-of-hijab-ban-in-southern-belgium-offers-hope-for-muslim-women-43365</a> (last visited 3 May 2021).
- <sup>121</sup> Sami Zemni and Meryem Kanmaz, "Een debat over de multiculturele samenleving: ja. Een debat over de islam en de hoofddoek: nee!," *Centrum voor Islam in Europa*, 24 December 2003 http://www.cie.ugent.be/CIE/zemni&kanmaz1.htm (last visited 11 December 2017).
- <sup>122</sup> Het Laatste Nieuws, Hans Bonte, "Ik ben voor a gentes in hoofddoek op straat," *HLN*, 18 May 2017 <a href="https://www.hln.be/nieuws/buitenland/islam/hans-bonte-ik-ben-voor-agentes-in-hoofddoek-op-straat~a7097b14/">https://www.hln.be/nieuws/buitenland/islam/hans-bonte-ik-ben-voor-agentes-in-hoofddoek-op-straat~a7097b14/</a> (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>123</sup> BBC, "Belgian Ban on Full Veils Comes into Force," 23 July 2011
  <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-14261921">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-14261921</a> (last visited 17 February 2017); Dakir v Belgium, App No. 4619/12, European Court of Human Rights, 2017, para. 21.
- <sup>124</sup> Article 563 bis of the Belgian Criminal Code, Loi visant à interdire le port de tout vêtement ca chant totalement ou de manière principale le visage (Law Forbidding the Wearing of Any Clothing Covering the Face Completely or in a Significant Manner) of 1 June 2011, Moniteur Belge, Official Gazette of Belgium, 13 July 2011, 41734.

- <sup>125</sup> Eva Brems, "Belgium Votes 'Burqa' Ban," *Strasbourg Observers*, 28 April 2011 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2011/04/28/belgium-votes-burqa-ban/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2011/04/28/belgium-votes-burqa-ban/</a> (last visited 23 August 2017): "The fines in the criminal code currently have to be multiplied by a factor that is currently 5.5, hence the maximum fine is 137.5 Euro."
- <sup>126</sup> Article 563 bis of the Belgian Criminal Code, Loi Visant a Interdire Le Port De Tout Vêtement Cachant Totalement ou de Manière Principale Le Visage (Law Forbidding the Wearing of Any Clothing Covering the Face Completely or in a Significant Manner) of 1 June 2011, Moniteur Belge [M.B.] [Official Gazette of Belgium] 13 July 2011, 41734.
- <sup>127</sup> Jogchum Vrielink, Saila Ouald Chaib, and Eva Brems, "The Belgian 'Burqa Ban': Legal Aspects of Local and General Prohibitions on Covering and Concealing One's Face in Belgium," in Lessandro Ferrari and Sabrina Pastorelli, eds., *The Burqa Affair Across Europe Between Public and Private Space*, Ashgate Publishing Limited, 2013, 152.
- <sup>128</sup> Jogchum Vrielink, Saila Ouald Chaib, and Eva Brems, "The Belgian 'Burqa Ban': Legal Aspects of Local and General Prohibitions on Covering and Concealing One's Face in Belgium," in Lessandro Ferrari and Sabrina Pastorelli, eds., *The Burqa Affair Across Europe Between Public and Private Space*, Ashgate Publishing Limited, 2013, 152.
- <sup>129</sup> Le Soir, "Le niqab et la burqa interdit à l'unanimité," 31 March 2010 (la st visited 13 November 2017).
- <sup>130</sup> *The Bulletin*, "Coronavirus in Belgium: What are the Rules on Wearing Masks?," 30 September 2020 <a href="https://www.thebulletin.be/coronavirus-belgium-should-we-be-wearing-masks-0">https://www.thebulletin.be/coronavirus-belgium-should-we-be-wearing-masks-0</a> (last visited 19 April 2021).
- <sup>131</sup> RTBF, "Coronavirus: le port du masque en rue sera -t-il interdit sur base de la loi dite antiniqab de 2011?," 2 March 2020 <a href="https://www.rtbf.be/info/societe/detail\_coronavirus-le-port-du-masque-en-rue-sera-t-il-interdit-sur-base-de-la-loi-dite-anti-niqab-de-2011?id=10445475">https://www.rtbf.be/info/societe/detail\_coronavirus-le-port-du-masque-en-rue-sera-t-il-interdit-sur-base-de-la-loi-dite-anti-niqab-de-2011?id=10445475</a> (last visited 19 April 2021).
- <sup>132</sup> Article 563 bis of the Belgian Criminal Code, Loi Visant a Interdire Le Port De Tout Vêtement Cachant Totalement ou de Manière Principale Le Visage (Law Forbidding the Wearing of Any Clothing Covering the Face Completely or in a Significant Manner) of 1 June 2011, Moniteur Belge. Official Gazette of Belgium, 13 July 2011, 41734.
- <sup>133</sup> Sa ila Ouald Chaib, "Belgian Constitutional Court Says Ban on Face Coverings Does Not Violate Human Rights," *Strasbourg Observers*, 14 December 2012 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2012/14/belgian-constitutional-court-ban-on-face-coverings-does-not-violate-human-rights/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2012/14/belgian-constitutional-court-ban-on-face-coverings-does-not-violate-human-rights/</a> (last visited 24 August 2017).
- <sup>134</sup> Dakir v Belgium, App No. 4619/12, European Court of Human Rights, 2017, para. 21.
- <sup>135</sup> Affaire Belcacemi et Oussar v Belgium, Application No. 37798/13, European Court of Human Rights.
- <sup>136</sup> Tobias Santens, "Hendrik Bogaert (CD&V) pleit voor hoofddoekenverbod," *VRT NWS*, 18 December 2017 <a href="https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2017/12/18/hendrik-bogaert--cd-v--voorstander-van-hoofddoekenverbod/">https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2017/12/18/hendrik-bogaert--cd-v--voorstander-van-hoofddoekenverbod/</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>137</sup> Belgian Senate, "Voorstel van resolutie betreffende het neutraliteitsbeginsel voor ambtenaren die een openbaar ambt bekleden 6-263/1," 23 February 2016.
- 138 Belgian Senate, "Voorstel van resolutie betreffende het neutraliteitsbeginsel voor ambtenaren die een openbaar ambt bekleden", 2019 <a href="https://www.senate.be/www/?MIval=/dossier&LEG=6&NR=263&LANG=nl">https://www.senate.be/www/?MIval=/dossier&LEG=6&NR=263&LANG=nl</a> (la st visited 2 December 2021).

- <sup>139</sup> Bart Eeckhout, "Zo neutraal mogelijk? Dan viseer je de hoofddoek: Patrick Dewael (Open Vld) wil scheiding kerk en staat in grondwet," *De Morgen*, 29 December 2015 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/zo-neutraal-mogelijk-dan-viseer-je-de-hoofddoek-bd7888bb/">https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/zo-neutraal-mogelijk-dan-viseer-je-de-hoofddoek-bd7888bb/</a> (last visited 21 December 2017).
- <sup>140</sup> *Open VLD*, "Dewa el legt ontwerp van preambule op de grondwet neer," 9 June 2016 <a href="http://www.openvld.be/?type=nieuws&id=1&pageid=86984">http://www.openvld.be/?type=nieuws&id=1&pageid=86984</a> (last visited 25 February 2018).
- <sup>141</sup> Patrick Dewael, "Elke dwang tot sluieren is onaanvaardbaar," *De Morgen*, 10 January 2004 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/plus/elke-dwang-tot-sluieren-is-onaanvaardbaar-b-1412192363362/">https://www.demorgen.be/plus/elke-dwang-tot-sluieren-is-onaanvaardbaar-b-1412192363362/</a> (last visited 21 December 2017).
- <sup>142</sup> Dvansant, "Parlement mag niet beslissen over hoofddoekenverbod voor ambtenaren," *Gazet Van Antwer*, 21 January 2014 <a href="http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid1523669/parlement-mag-niet-beslissen-over-hoofddoekenverbod-voor-ambtenaren">http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid1523669/parlement-mag-niet-beslissen-over-hoofddoekenverbod-voor-ambtenaren</a> (last visited 22 September 2017).
- <sup>143</sup> *Knack*, "Hoofddoekenverbod voor ambtenaren sneuvelt in Vlaams parlement," 29 May 2013 <a href="http://www.knack.be/nieuws/belgie/hoofddoekenverbod-voor-ambtenaren-sneuvelt-in-vlaams-parlement/article-normal-96201.html">http://www.knack.be/nieuws/belgie/hoofddoekenverbod-voor-ambtenaren-sneuvelt-in-vlaams-parlement/article-normal-96201.html</a> (last visited 22 September 2017).
- <sup>144</sup> There have been reports of restrictions that prohibit any civil servant "in contact with the public" from wearing religious symbols, which are incorrect. E.g. *Euronews*, "Headscarf Debate Sparked in Belgium after Civil Servant's Resignation," 12 July 2021 <a href="https://www.euronews.com/2021/07/12/headscarf-debate-sparked-in-belgium-after-civil-servant-s-resignation">https://www.euronews.com/2021/07/12/headscarf-debate-sparked-in-belgium-after-civil-servant-s-resignation</a> (last visited 2 December 2021).
- <sup>145</sup> Eva Brems, "Face Veil Bans in the European Court of Human Rights: The Importance of Empirical Findings," *Journal of Law and Policy* 22(2), 2014, 520.
- <sup>146</sup> Eva Brems, "Face Veil Bans in the European Court of Human Rights: The Importance of Empirical Findings," *Journal of Law and Policy* 22(2), 2014, 520.
- <sup>147</sup> Jogchum Vrielink, Saila Ouald Chaib, and Eva Brems, "The Belgian 'Burqa Ban': Legal Aspects of Local and General Prohibitions on Covering and Concealing One's Face in Belgium," in Lessandro Ferrari and Sabrina Pastorelli, eds., *The Burqa Affair Across Europe Between Public and Private Space*, Ashgate Publishing Limited, 2013, 146.
- <sup>148</sup> Jogchum Vrielink, Saila Ouald Chaib, and Eva Brems, "The Belgian 'Burqa Ban': Legal Aspects of Local and General Prohibitions on Covering and Concealing One's Face in Belgium," in Lessandro Ferrari and Sabrina Pastorelli, eds., *The Burqa Affair Across Europe Between Public and Private Space* Ashgate Publishing Limited, 2013, 14–150.
- <sup>149</sup> De Standaard, "Maaseik mag boerka verbieden" 13 June 2006 <a href="https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf13062006">https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf13062006</a> 003 (last visited 8 September 2021).
- <sup>150</sup> The Flemish socialist party renamed itself "Vooruit" in March 2021 following earlier announcements by the newly-elected president Conner Rousseau in late 2020. This chapter continues to refer to the party as "Sp.a). *The Brussels Times*, "Flemish Socialist Party Sp.a Changes Name to Vooruit," 21 March 2021, <a href="https://www.brusselstimes.com/news/belgium-all-news/161100/flemish-socialist-party-sp-a-changes-name-to-vooruit">https://www.brusselstimes.com/news/belgium-all-news/161100/flemish-socialist-party-sp-a-changes-name-to-vooruit</a> (last visited 2 December 2021).
- <sup>151</sup> Bart Brinckman, "Verbod hoofddoeken polariseert Antwerpen," *De Standaard*, 31 May 2007 <a href="http://www.standaard.be/cnt/J01CTVJ0">http://www.standaard.be/cnt/J01CTVJ0</a> (last visited 16 November 2017).
- <sup>152</sup> When in 2008 the Antwerp City Council handed out HIV a wareness pins to its employees violating its own dress code, this was seen as evidence that Muslim women wearing a headscarf were the primary target and that other signs of political or personal conviction were only included to pass the nondiscrimination test. See "Stad Antwerpen overtreedt eigen dresscode. BOEH reageert," 24 November 2008

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

http://www.indymedia.be/index.html%3Fq=node%252F30572.html (last visited 11 December 2017).

- <sup>153</sup> Joris Truyts, "Antwerpse SP.A zet zich af tegen hoofddoekenverbod aan loket," *De Redactie.be*, 23 May 2014 <a href="http://deredactie.be/cm/vrtnieuws/VK14-formatie/1.1976270#">http://deredactie.be/cm/vrtnieuws/VK14-formatie/1.1976270#</a> (last visited 22 September 2017).
- <sup>154</sup> *GVA*, "Sp.a begraaft verbod hoofddoeken aan loketten (video)," 23 May 2015 <a href="http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid1588537/sp-a-begraaft-verbod-hoofddoeken-aan-loketten">http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid1588537/sp-a-begraaft-verbod-hoofddoeken-aan-loketten</a> (last visited 27 November 2017).
- <sup>155</sup> Belga, "Lokers hoofddoekreglement is discriminerend," 21 March 2007.
- <sup>156</sup> De Standaard, "Verbod op hoofddoek blijft voor spanningen zorgen," 28 March 2007.
- <sup>157</sup> Gazet Van Antwerpen, "Lierse gemeenteraad keurt hoofddoekenverbod goed," 29 Ja nuary 2008 <a href="http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid662775/lierse-gemeenteraad-keurt-hoofddoekenverbod-goed%20en%20Lokeren">http://www.gva.be/cnt/aid662775/lierse-gemeenteraad-keurt-hoofddoekenverbod-goed%20en%20Lokeren</a> (last visited 22 September 2017).
- <sup>158</sup> Het Nieuwsblad, "Voorstel Vlaams Belang aanvaard door meerderheid: Loketbedienden mogen geen hoofddoek dragen," 25 September 2010 <a href="http://www.nieuwsblad.be/cnt/8c2vsghs">http://www.nieuwsblad.be/cnt/8c2vsghs</a> (last visited 3 December 2017).
- <sup>159</sup> *De Standaard*, "Leuvense gemeenteraad verwerpt hoofddoekenverbod," 25 February 2008 <a href="https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf25022008\_122">https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf25022008\_122</a> (last visited 20 December 2017).
- <sup>160</sup> *De Morgen*, "Mechelen gaat voor 10% allochtone ambtenaren," 22 April 2008 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/mechelen-gaat-voor-10-allochtone-ambtenaren-bc683013/">https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/mechelen-gaat-voor-10-allochtone-ambtenaren-bc683013/</a> (last visited 20 December 2017).
- <sup>161</sup> Unia, "La diversité religieuse dans le secteur public" <a href="https://www.unia.be/fr/criteres-de-discrimination/convictions-religieuses-ou-philosophiques/signes/lieu-de-travail/secteur-public">https://www.unia.be/fr/criteres-de-discrimination/convictions-religieuses-ou-philosophiques/signes/lieu-de-travail/secteur-public (last visited 28 November 2021).</a>
- <sup>162</sup> Simon Demeulemeester, "'Hoofddoekenverbod' Gent weggestemd: 'Historische ommekeer voor minderheden,'" *Knack*, 28 May 2013 <a href="http://www.knack.be/nieuws/belgie/hoofddoekenverbod-gent-weggestemd-historischeommekeer-voor-minderheden/article-nomal-96007.html">http://www.knack.be/nieuws/belgie/hoofddoekenverbod-gent-weggestemd-historischeommekeer-voor-minderheden/article-nomal-96007.html</a> (last visited 22 November 2017).
- <sup>163</sup> La Libre Belgique, "Voile ou servir, il faut choisir POUR Philippe Close," *La Libre Belgique*, 17 January 2007 <a href="http://www.la libre.be/archive/pour-philippe-close-51b89184e4b0de6db9af0f34">http://www.la libre.be/archive/pour-philippe-close-51b89184e4b0de6db9af0f34</a> (last visited 5 February 2017).
- <sup>164</sup> Wallonian Parliament, "Proposition de Résolution, Session 2013-2014," 11 April 2014 <a href="http://nautilus.parlement-wallon.be/Archives/2013\_2014/RES/1012\_19.pdf">http://nautilus.parlement-wallon.be/Archives/2013\_2014/RES/1012\_19.pdf</a> (last visited 7 <a href="http://news.parlement-wallon.be/Archives/2013\_2014/RES/1012\_19.pdf">December 2021</a>).
- <sup>165</sup> Le Vif, "Interdiction des signes convictionnels pour les fonctionnaires wallons," 8 December 2014 <a href="https://www.levif.be/actualite/belgique/interdiction-des-signes-convictionnels-pour-les-fonctionnaires-wallons/article-normal-356761.html?cookie\_check=1638283573">https://www.levif.be/actualite/belgique/interdiction-des-signes-convictionnels-pour-les-fonctionnaires-wallons/article-normal-356761.html?cookie\_check=1638283573</a> (last visited 7 December 2021).
- <sup>166</sup> Vla a mse overheid, "Vlaamse regering 2019-2024 Regeerakkoord" <a href="https://publicaties.vlaanderen.be/view-file/31741">https://publicaties.vlaanderen.be/view-file/31741</a> (last visited 2 December 2021).
- $^{167}$  Ville de Bruxelles, "Rapport-Conseil du 06/09/2021," September 2021  $\frac{\text{https://www.bruxelles.be/sites/default/files/bxl/workflow/06-09-2021/06%2009%202021%20OJ%20point_punt%20(115)/115}{\text{Rapport%20Conseil.pdf}} (last visited 2 December 2021).$

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

<sup>168</sup> Auderghem Council, "Conseil Communal," 24 June 2021 https://www.auderghem.be/00224062021 A0025 (last visited 2 December 2021).

- <sup>170</sup> World Today News, "Molenbeek to Modify its Work Regulations", 28 June 2020, <a href="https://www.world-today-news.com/molenbeek-to-modify-its-work-regulations/">https://www.world-today-news.com/molenbeek-to-modify-its-work-regulations/</a> (last visited 19 April 2020).
- <sup>171</sup> Human Rights Centre of Ghent University, "Third Party Intervention by Human Rights Centre of Ghent University on ECtHR *Lachiri v. Belgium* (No. 3413/09)," 3 <a href="http://www.hrc.ugent.be/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Amicus-Brief-Lachiri-HRC.pdf">http://www.hrc.ugent.be/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Amicus-Brief-Lachiri-HRC.pdf</a> (last visited 24 August 2020).
- 172 Case C-157/15, Samira Achbita, Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV, Court of Justice of the European Union, 14 March 2017; Arbeitshof Gent, 2019/AG/55, 12 October 2020, https://www.unia.be/files/Documenten/Rechtspraak/2020 10 12 Arbh. Gent.pdf
- <sup>173</sup> Opinion of Advocate General Kokotton Case C-157/15 *Achbita, Centrum voor Gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV*, 31 May 2016 <a href="http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=179082&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN&mode=lst&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=678370">http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=179082&pageIndex=0&doclang=EN&mode=lst&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=678370</a> (last visited 20 February 2017).
- <sup>174</sup> Simon Cox, "Case Watch: Discrimination Dressed Up as Neutrality in European Headscarf Bans," *Open Society Foundations*, 12 July 2016 <a href="https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/voices/case-watch-discrimination-dressed-neutrality-european-headscarf-bans">https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/voices/case-watch-discrimination-dressed-neutrality-european-headscarf-bans</a> (last visited 12 February 2017).
- <sup>175</sup> Case C-157/15, Samira Achbita, Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV, Court of Justice of the European Union, 14 March 2017; Case C-188/15 Bougnaoui and Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v Micropole Univers, Court of Justice of the European Union, 2017.
- <sup>176</sup> Case C-157/15, Samira Achbita, Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijding v G4S Secure Solutions NV, Court of Justice of the European Union, 14 March 2017.
- <sup>177</sup> UNIA, "De zaak Achbita opnieuw voor rechter," 20 October 2017 <a href="https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/de-zaak-achbita-opnieuw-voor-rechter">https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/de-zaak-achbita-opnieuw-voor-rechter</a> (last visited 11 December 2017).
- <sup>178</sup> Case C-344/20, Ms. L.F. v The S.C.R.L, Court of Justice of the European Union.
- <sup>179</sup> UNIA, "Dossier Hema: Beeindigen van arbeidsrelatie om wille van de hoofddoek is discriminatie op grond van geloof," 2 January 2013 <a href="https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/dossier-hema-beeindigen-van-arbeidsrelatie-omwille-van-de-hoofddoek-is-discriminatie-op-grond-van-geloof">https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/dossier-hema-beeindigen-van-arbeidsrelatie-omwille-van-de-hoofddoek-is-discriminatie-op-grond-van-geloof</a> (last visited 16 August 2017).
- <sup>180</sup> *De Morgen*, "Boekhandel Club wint rechtszaak rond hoofddoek," 25 June 2008 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/boekhandel-club-wint-rechtszaak-rond-hoofddoek-b7073104/">https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/boekhandel-club-wint-rechtszaak-rond-hoofddoek-b7073104/</a> (last visited 16 November 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> La Libre, "Port du voile dans l'administration à Molenbeek: le MR veut interdire ce genre d'initiative locale," 3 September 2020 <a href="https://www.lalibre.be/belgique/politique-belge/2020/09/03/port-du-voile-dans-ladministration-a-molenbeek-le-mr-veut-interdire-ce-genre-dinitiative-locale-BKP7GZZRR5F4PDDXFOQG3PET64/">https://www.lalibre.be/belgique/politique-belge/2020/09/03/port-du-voile-dans-ladministration-a-molenbeek-le-mr-veut-interdire-ce-genre-dinitiative-locale-BKP7GZZRR5F4PDDXFOQG3PET64/</a> (last visited 2 December 2021).

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>181</sup> In June 2009, the Human Resources Department of the Ministry of Justice presented a letter to Minister of Justice Stefaan De Clerck arguing employees should be allowed to wear symbols expressing a religious or other worldview. No action was taken in response.
- <sup>182</sup> The Brussels Time, "Ban on Headscarves Could be Abolished Following Latest in STIB Discrimination Case," 1 June 2021 <a href="https://www.brusselstimes.com/brussels/171896/mivb-ban-on-headscarves-could-be-abolished-following-latest-in-stib-discrimination-case-2015-signs-religion-double-discrimination-unia/">https://www.brusselstimes.com/brussels/171896/mivb-ban-on-headscarves-could-be-abolished-following-latest-in-stib-discrimination-case-2015-signs-religion-double-discrimination-unia/</a> (last visited 16 November 2021).
- <sup>183</sup> Eleven International Publishing, "European Employment Law Cases," 2016, 101–3 <a href="https://www.gzg.com.cy/media/filer\_public/66/74/66742c17-1ff2-4947-9230-e4c110ecab03/eelc\_2016\_2.pdf">https://www.gzg.com.cy/media/filer\_public/66/74/66742c17-1ff2-4947-9230-e4c110ecab03/eelc\_2016\_2.pdf</a> (last visited 13 September 2017).
- <sup>184</sup> The Belgian Monitor, "Order of Francophone and German Speaking Bars," 27 July 2016

http://www.ejustice.just.fgov.be/mopdf/2016/07/27\_1.pdf#Page185; Code of Ethics of Lawyers, Article 1.4, 1.5

 $\frac{https://avocats.be/sites/default/files/01.05.2021\%20Code\%20d\'{e}ontologie\%20version\%20fiance a ise\%20-\%20en\%20vigueur\%20au\%2001.05.2021.pdf.$ 

- <sup>185</sup> App No. 3413/09, Lachiri v. Belgium, European Court of Human Rights; Julie Ringelheim, "Lachiri v. Belgium: Headscarf Ban Imposed on a Civil Party in a Courtroom in Violation of Religious Freedom," 23 November 2018
- https://strasbourgobservers.com/2018/11/23/lachiri-v-belgium-headscarf-ban-imposed-on-acivil-party-in-a-courtroom-in-violation-of-religious-freedom/(last visited 3 May 2021).
- <sup>186</sup> UNIA, "Hoofddoek toegelaten in de rechtbank: verouderd artikel in Gerechtelijk Wetboek eindelijk a angepast," 10 December 2021 <a href="https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/hoofddoektoegelaten-in-de-rechtbank">https://www.unia.be/nl/artikels/hoofddoektoegelaten-in-de-rechtbank</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>187</sup> In the educational setting, there is a debate between the Catholic (private) and community (public) schooling systems about the headscarf bans where the previous suggested a change to the policy and thus allow headscarves if there could be an agreement reached about this between all school systems, so that Muslim pupils in the big cities would not flock to particular schools. See Tom Ysebaert, "Lieven Boeve: 'Verbod op hoofddoek moet overal weg," *De Standaard*, 9 February 2015 <a href="http://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20150208">http://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20150208</a> 01518524.
- <sup>188</sup> Unia, "Veruiterlijkingen van overtuigingen: stand van zaken en werkpistes," November 2009, a djusted January 2016 <a href="http://veruiterlijkingen.diversiteit.be/referentiedocument.pdf">http://veruiterlijkingen.diversiteit.be/referentiedocument.pdf</a> (last visited 10 November 2017).
- <sup>189</sup> *L'Essentiel*, "Foulard: Charleroi interdit le voile aux enseignants," 31 March 2010 <a href="http://www.journalessentiel.be/cahiers/Savants-melanges/Foulard-Charleroi-interdit-le">http://www.journalessentiel.be/cahiers/Savants-melanges/Foulard-Charleroi-interdit-le</a> (last visited 12 November 2017).
- 190 Human Rights Centre of Ghent University, "Third Party Intervention by Human Rights Centre of Ghent University on ECtHR Lachiri v. Belgium (No. 3413/09)," 1–2 http://www.hrc.ugent.be/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Amicus-Brief-Lachiri-HRC.pdf (last visited 24 August). For further information on the subject, see Brems et al., "Head-Covering Bans in Belgian Courtrooms and Beyond: Headscarf Persecution and the Complicity of Supranational Courts," *Human Rights Quarterly*, 2017 http://www.hrc.ugent.be/staff/sailaouald-chaib/ (last visited 24 August 2017).
- <sup>191</sup> TRTWorld, "Lifting of Hijab Ban in Southern Belgium Offers Hope for MuslimWomen," 18 January 2021 https://perma.cc/2TP2-MTYX (last visited 19 April 2021).
- <sup>192</sup> TRTWorld, "Lifting of Hijab Ban in Southern Belgium Offers Hope for MuslimWomen," 18 January 2021 https://perma.cc/2TP2-MTYX (last visited 19 April 2021).

- <sup>193</sup> Council of State Decision No. 233.672 of 1 February 2016 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=233672">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=233672</a> (last visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>194</sup> Council of State Decision No. 232.344 of 25 September 2015 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/232000/300/232344.pdf">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/232000/300/232344.pdf</a> (last visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>195</sup> Council of State Decision No. 223.201 of 17 April 2013 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/223000/200/223201dep.pdf">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/223000/200/223201dep.pdf</a>.
- 196 Additional case law by the Council of State on the right of teachers of Islam includes: *De Standaard*, Godsdienstleerkracht met hoofddoek krijgt gelijk, GO! betreurt arrest," 3 February 2016 http://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20160203 02107213 (last visited 12 November 2017); Council of State Decision No. 210.894 of 1 February 2011 http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/210000/800/210894dep.pdf accessed 12 November 2017; Council of State Decision No. 216.738 of 8 December 2011 http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/216000/700/216738.pdf (last visited 12 November 2017); Council of State Decision No. 226.345 of 5 February 2014 http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/226000/300/226345 Dep.pdf (last visited 12 November 2017); Council of State Decision No. 226.346 of 5 February 2014 http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/226000/300/226346 Dep.pdf (last visited 12 November 2017); <sup>196</sup> Council of State Decision No. 195.044 of 2 July 2009 http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/195000/000/195044dep.pdf (last visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>197</sup> Enseignons.be, "L'enseignante voilée a perdu son combat," 20 November 2011 <a href="http://www.enseignons.be/2011/11/20/lenseignante-voilee-a-perdu-son-combat/">http://www.enseignons.be/2011/11/20/lenseignante-voilee-a-perdu-son-combat/</a> (la st visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>198</sup> Council of State Decision No 223.042 of 27 March 2013 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=223042&l=fr">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=223042&l=fr</a>.
- <sup>199</sup> Council of State Decision No 225.010 of 8 October 2013 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/225000/000/225010Dep.pdf">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arrets/225000/000/225010Dep.pdf</a>.
- <sup>200</sup> Le Figaro, "Belgique: voilée, elle peut enseigner," 11 March 2010 http://www.lefigaro.fr/flash-actu/2010/03/11/97001-20100311FILWWW00735-belgique-voilee-elle-peut-enseigner.php (last visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>201</sup> Tribunal De Premiere Instance De Brabant Wallon, 4 May 2020 https://www.unia.be/files/Documenten/Rechtspraak/Tribunal\_première\_instance\_Brabant\_Wallon 4 mai 2020.pdf.
- <sup>202</sup> Tribunal De Premiere Instance De Brabant Wallon, 4 May 2020 https://www.unia.be/files/Documenten/Rechtspraak/Tribunal\_première\_instance\_Brabant\_Wallon 4 mai 2020.pdf.
- <sup>203</sup> Tribunal De Premiere Instance De Brabant Wallon, 11 February 2020 https://www.unia.be/fr/jurisprudence-alternatives/jurisprudence/tribunal-de-premiere-instance-du-brabant-wallon-11-fevrier-2020
- <sup>204</sup> RTBF, "Les signes convictionnels autorisés dans l'enseignement supérieur dès la prochaine renrée a cadémique," 16 January 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/BD5S-AYZ4">https://perma.cc/BD5S-AYZ4</a> (la st visited 3 May 2021); TRT World, "Belgian Universities are Facing Heat for Headscarf Ban," 19 June 2020 <a href="https://perma.cc/W7ND-MCNP">https://perma.cc/W7ND-MCNP</a> (last visited 3 May 2021).
- <sup>205</sup> In 2016, the Haute École de la Provence de Liège attempted to implement a ban on religious dress for its adult students but faced strong opposition from grassroots activists. Unia eventually took the case to court, and the judge dismissed the school's attempt to ban religious, philosophical, or political signs.

- <sup>206</sup> Council of State Decision No. 228.748 of 14 October 2014 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228748">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228748</a> (last visited 13 November 2017).
- <sup>207</sup> Council of State Decision No. 228.751 of 14 October 2014 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/228000/700/228751.pdf">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/228000/700/228751.pdf</a> (last visited 13 November 2017).
- <sup>208</sup> Council of State Decision No. 228.752 of 14 October 2014 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228752dep">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228752dep</a> (last visited 13 November 2017).
- <sup>209</sup> Annelies Roose and Jorn Van Thillo, "Raad van State: 'Moslimmeisjes mogen hoofddoek dragen op school," *De Standaard*, 15 October 2014 <a href="http://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20141015">http://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20141015</a> 01322801 (last visited 20 December 2017).
- <sup>210</sup> Helen Goegebeur, "Meisjes mogen volgens rechter tóch hoofddoek dragen op school," *VRT.be*, 23 February 2018 <a href="https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2018/02/23/hoofddoeken-school/">https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2018/02/23/hoofddoeken-school/</a> (last visited 25 February 2018).
- <sup>211</sup> Bruno Struys, "Hoofddoekenverbod op school: GO! schendt grondwet met ongehoorzaamheid," *De Morgen*, 16 January 2018 <a href="https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/hoofddoekenverbod-op-school-go-schendt-grondwet-met-ongehoorzaamheid-bea203557/">https://www.demorgen.be/binnenland/hoofddoekenverbod-op-school-go-schendt-grondwet-met-ongehoorzaamheid-bea203557/</a> (last visited 25 February 2018).
- <sup>212</sup> The Brussels Times, "Headscarf Ban in Public Schools Justified as Court of Appeals Overturns Previous Decision," 24 December 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/M9CN-BE8Y">https://perma.cc/M9CN-BE8Y</a> (last visited April 19 2021).
- <sup>213</sup> The Brussels Times, "Headscarf Ban in Public Schools Justified as Court of Appeals Overturns Previous Decision," 24 December 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/M9CN-BE8Y">https://perma.cc/M9CN-BE8Y</a> (last visited April 19 2021).
- $^{214}$  Constitutional Court Decision No. 40/2011 of 15 March 2011 <a href="http://www.const-court.be/public/f/2011/2011-040f.pdf">http://www.const-court.be/public/f/2011/2011-040f.pdf</a> (last visited 3 December 2017).
- <sup>215</sup> Council of State Decision No. 215.009 of 8 September 2011 <a href="http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/215000/000/215009dep.pdf">http://www.raadvst-consetat.be/Arresten/215000/000/215009dep.pdf</a> (last visited 13 November 2017).
- <sup>216</sup> In 2014, the State Council reaffirmed, following the Constitutional Court's decision in 2011, that it falls within the competence of GO! to decide on matters related to the interpretation of neutrality and to regulate the wearing of religious symbols by teachers and pupils. Council of State Decision No. 228.753 of 14 October 2014 <a href="http://www.madvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228753dep">http://www.madvst-consetat.be/arr.php?nr=228753dep</a> (last visited 12 November 2017).
- <sup>217</sup> Other cases have also been rejected on procedural grounds, including lack of sufficient legal interest: Centre interfédéral pour l'éga lité des chances et la lutte contre le racisme et les discriminations, "Conseil d'Etat Jurisprudence Enseignement et Signes Convictionnels," 4 February 2016.
- <sup>218</sup> Catherine van de Graaf, "The Human Rights Centre Submitted a Joint Third Party Intervention in a Case Before the ECtHR Against Belgium Concerning a Ban of Religious Symbols in Public High Schools," *Strasbourg Observers*, 1 September 2021 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2021/09/01/the-human-rights-centre-submitted-a-joint-third-party-intervention-in-a-case-before-the-ecthr-against-belgium-concerning-a-ban-of-religious-symbols-in-public-high-schools/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2021/09/01/the-human-rights-centre-submitted-a-joint-third-party-intervention-in-a-case-before-the-ecthr-against-belgium-concerning-a-ban-of-religious-symbols-in-public-high-schools/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2021/09/01/the-human-rights-centre-submitted-a-joint-third-party-intervention-in-a-case-before-the-ecthr-against-belgium-concerning-a-ban-of-religious-symbols-in-public-high-schools/</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>219</sup> Myriam Baele, "La ville de Bruxelles rappelle l'interdiction du voile pour les sorties scolaires," *RTBF.be*, 4 October 2016 <a href="https://www.rtbf.be/info/regions/detail\_a-bruxelles-les-mamans-voilees-ne-pourront-plus-encadrer-les-sorties-scolaires?id=9421162">https://www.rtbf.be/info/regions/detail\_a-bruxelles-les-mamans-voilees-ne-pourront-plus-encadrer-les-sorties-scolaires?id=9421162</a> (la st visited 20 December 2017).
- <sup>220</sup> Belgium Constitutional Law 1831.

## Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>221</sup> European Commission a gainst Racism and Intolerance, ECRI Report on Bulgaria (fifth monitoring cycle, 2014, CRI 36, 18 <a href="https://www.coe.int/t/dghl/monitoring/ecri/Country-by-country/Bulgaria/BGR-CbC-V-2014-036-ENG.pdf">https://www.coe.int/t/dghl/monitoring/ecri/Country-by-country/Bulgaria/BGR-CbC-V-2014-036-ENG.pdf</a> (last visited 1 March 2017): Desecrating and setting fire to mosques; damage to mosque property; and physical attacks on imams and mosque guards.
- <sup>222</sup> Alan Cooperman, Neha Sahgal, & Anna Schiller, "Religious Belief and National Belonging in Central and Eastern Europe," 10 May 2017, *Pew Research Center*, 52 <a href="https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/05/15120244/CEUP-FULL-REPORT.pdf">https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/05/15120244/CEUP-FULL-REPORT.pdf</a> (last visited 25 November 2021).
- <sup>223</sup> Islamic Human Rights Commission, *Europe's Shame: Anti-Muslim Hatred and the Roma of Bulgaria*, 2010, 12 http://www.ihrc.org.uk/attachments/7905 Bulga
- <sup>224</sup> European Commission a gainst Racism and Intolerance, *ECRI Report on Bulgaria*, 16 September 2014, 8 https://perma.cc/OTO4-F7VH (last visited 1 March 2017).

ria %20report-FV5-low%20res.pdf (last visited 15 February 2017).

- <sup>225</sup> European Commission a gainst Racism and Intolerance, *ECRI Report on Bulgaria*, 16 September 2014, 8 https://perma.cc/QTQ4-F7VH (last visited 1 March 2017); Desecrating and setting fire to mosques; damage to mosque property; and physical attacks on imams and mosque guards.
- <sup>226</sup> Mara Chereseva, "Bulgarian Muslims Condemn Islamophobic Attacks," *Balkan Insight*, 5 July 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/2XJ7-RJHE">https://perma.cc/2XJ7-RJHE</a> (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>227</sup> Ricard Wike et al., "Minority Groups in European Public Opinion Three Decades a fter the Fall of Communism," *PewResearch Center*, 14 October 2019 https://perma.cc/5G3L-GJZB (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>228</sup> Minority Rights Group International, "Bulgarian-speaking Muslims (Pomaks)," July 2018 https://perma.cc/FLV6-XS9E (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>229</sup> Angel Krasimirov, "Bulgaria Bans Muslim Women from Wearing Full-Face Veils in Public," *The Huffington Post*, 10 March 2016 https://perma.cc/3G45-7PC4 (last visited 1 March 2017); Wearing Clothing Covering or Hiding the Face Act (Проект на Закон за носенето на облекло прикриващо или скриващо лицето), Signature 654-01-58, 20 April 2016 http://www.parliament.bg/bills/43/654-01-58.pdf (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>230</sup> Restriction of Wearing Clothing, Covering or Hiding the Face Act (Закон за ограничаване носенето на облекло прикриващо или скриващо лицето), 2016 http://www.lex.bg/en/laws/ldoc/2136914670 (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>231</sup> Aljazeera, "Bulgaria Parlia ment Bans Full-face Veils in Public," 30 September 2016 https://perma.cc/3PF3-LR37 (last visited 1 March 2017).
- <sup>232</sup> Pazardzhik Municipality Council, Ordinance for the public order in the Pazardzhik Municipality (Наредба за обществения ред в Община Пазарджик), Article 2, 43, 2016 <a href="http://obspazardjik.com/new/naredbi/naredba\_red\_aktual200317.doc">http://obspazardjik.com/new/naredbi/naredba\_red\_aktual200317.doc</a> (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>233</sup> Aljazeera, "Bulgaria Parlia ment Bans Full-face Veils in Public," 30 September 2016 https://pema.cc/3PF3-LR37 (last visited 1 Mar 2017); Pazardzhik Municipality Council, Ordinance for the public order in the Pazardzhik Municipality (Наредба за обществения ред в Община Пазарджик), Article 69a, 2016 http://obspazardjik.com/new/naredbi/naredba red aktual 2003 17.doc (last visited 18 May

http://obspazardjik.com/new/naredbi/naredba\_red\_aktual200317.doc(last visited 18 May 2017).

- <sup>234</sup> Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, "Human Rights in Bulgaria in 2016: Annual Report" (Правата на човека в България Годишен доклад), 2017, 57–58 http://www.bghelsinki.org/media/uploads/bhk\_godishen\_doklad\_2016.pdf (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>235</sup> Sieglinde Rosenberger and Birgit Sauer, *Politics, Religion and Gender: Regulating the Muslim Headscarf*, 2010, 124.
- <sup>236</sup> BIRN, "Bulgaria Govt Backs School Headscarf Ban, Balkan Insight," 14 April 2009 <a href="https://pema.cc/4JZ3-DLBX">https://pema.cc/4JZ3-DLBX</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>237</sup> Kristen Ghodsee and Bowdoin C, "The Headscarf Debate in Bulgaria," *Anthropology News*, May 2009 https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/kristenghodsee/files/headscarf\_debate.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>238</sup> Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, *Human Rights in Bulgaria in 2016: Annual Report* (Правата на човека в България Годишен доклад), 2017, 57–58, <a href="http://www.bghelsinki.org/media/uploads/bhk\_godishen\_doklad\_2016.pdf">http://www.bghelsinki.org/media/uploads/bhk\_godishen\_doklad\_2016.pdf</a> (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>239</sup> Supreme Administrative Court, Decision No. 1797, 18 February 2016, Administrative Case No. 658/2015. Source for the analysis of the decision: Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, *Human Rights in Bulgaria in 2016: Annual Report* (Правата на човека в България Годишен доклад), 2017, 105–6
- http://www.bghelsinki.org/media/uploads/bhk\_godishen\_doklad\_2016.pdf (last visited 18 May 2017).
- <sup>240</sup> Sieglinde Rosenberger and Birgit Sauer, *Politics, Religion and Gender: Regulating the Muslim Headscarf*, 2010, 125.
- <sup>241</sup> Sieglinde Rosenberger and Birgit Sauer, *Politics, Religion and Gender: Regulating the Muslim Headscarf*, 2010, 125.
- <sup>242</sup> Sieglinde Rosenberger and Birgit Sauer, *Politics, Religion and Gender: Regulating the Muslim Headscarf*, 2010, 121-122.
- <sup>243</sup> Sieglinde Rosenberger and Birgit Sauer, *Politics, Religion and Gender: Regulating the Muslim Headscarf*, 2010, 123.
- <sup>244</sup> Constitution of the Republic of Bulgaria, 1991, amended 2007, Article 6.
- <sup>245</sup> Constitution of the Republic of Bulgaria, 1991, a mended 2007, Article 54.
- <sup>246</sup> Protection Against Discrimination Act, Article 12(4).
- <sup>247</sup> Census 2011, *Stanovništvo Prema Narodnosti I Vjeri, Popis 201* https://perma.cc/K5V5-HE8T (last visited 25 October 2021); U.S Department of State, *2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Croatia* https://perma.cc/N2UK-6DXC (last visited 26 October 2021); C.I.A., *World Factbook, Croatia*, *2021* https://perma.cc/BUO3-EKO4 (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>248</sup> Croatian Parliament, *Parliament Observes Centenary of Recognition of Islam in Croatia*, 27 April 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/4XKA-99AV">https://perma.cc/4XKA-99AV</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>249</sup> Nejra Kadic Mskic, "Islamophobia in Croatia: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>250</sup> Nejra Kadic Mskic, "Islamophobia in Croatia: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).

- <sup>251</sup> Nejra Kadic Mskic, "Islamophobia in Croatia: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>252</sup> Barbara Matejčić, "Racism Persists in Croatia," *The Vienna Review*, 18 June 2012 <a href="https://perma.cc/249A-GVBG">https://perma.cc/249A-GVBG</a> (last visited 26 October 2021); Dino Mujadžević, "Isla mophobia in Croatia National Report 2016," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/ZWD5-ZAVZ">https://perma.cc/ZWD5-ZAVZ</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>253</sup> Republic of Croatia Ombudsman, *Annual Report of the Ombudswoman of Croatia for 2018*, 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/K26M-FYD2">https://perma.cc/K26M-FYD2</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>254</sup> Nejra Kadic Mskic, "Islamophobia in Croatia: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>255</sup> Amnesty International, "EU: Inquiry into European Complicity in Croatian Border Violence against Migrants and Refugees Significant," 10 November 2020 <a href="https://pema.cc/PUG9-6CYC">https://pema.cc/PUG9-6CYC</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>256</sup> Republic of Croatia, *Response to Questionnaire on Anti-Muslim Hatred/ "Islamophobia" and the Right to Freedom of Thought, Conscience and Religion or Belief,* 2011 <a href="https://pema.cc/CRK9-4FCZ">https://pema.cc/CRK9-4FCZ</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>257</sup> Nejra Kadic Mskic, "Islamophobia in Croatia: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>258</sup> Antidiscrimination Act, Sec. 2, Art. 2 <a href="https://perma.cc/4SJQ-BWCW">https://perma.cc/4SJQ-BWCW</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>259</sup> Equinet European Network of Equality Bodies, *Croatia Ombudsman* <a href="https://perma.cc/2TQ9-YDFB">https://perma.cc/2TQ9-YDFB</a> (last visited 26 October 2021).
- <sup>260</sup> For the most up-to-date surveys on Islamophobia in Cyprus, see European Network a gainst Racism and Aequitas, *Tackling Islamophobia in Cyprus Enar National Project 30 June 2016—30*, November 2016, 5-9, https://perma.cc/T9VX-KU9B.
- <sup>261</sup> Aequitas and European Network against Racism, *Tackling Islamophobia in Cyprus Enar National Project Report*, 2016, 5, https://perma.cc/T9VX-KU9B (last visited 1 March 2017).
- <sup>262</sup> European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia, *Muslims in the European Union: Discrimination and Islamophobia*, EUMC, 2006, 25.
- <sup>263</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2018 Report on International Religious Freedom: Cyprus, <a href="https://pema.cc/Z3TV-5BTL">https://pema.cc/Z3TV-5BTL</a> (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>264</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2018 Report on International Religious Freedom: Cyprus, <a href="https://pema.cc/Z3TV-5BTL">https://pema.cc/Z3TV-5BTL</a> (last visited 7 November 2021).
- Sections 2, 5, and 6 of Law 58(I)/2004; see Achilles C. Emilianides, Religion and Discrimination Lawin Cyprus, Kluwer: 2011.
- <sup>266</sup> Pew Research Center, *Vast Differences across Europe in Public Attitudes toward Muslims*, 24 October 2018 https://www.pewforum.org/2018/10/29/eastern-and-western-europeans-differ-on-importance-of-religion-views-of-minorities-and-key-social-issues/pf-10-29-18\_east-west\_-00-00/ (last visited 30 October 2021), finding that only 12% of Czechs would be willing to accept Muslims as part of their family; *see also* Pew Research Center, *6. Minority Groups*, 14 October 2019 https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2019/10/14/minority-groups/ (last visited 30 October 2021), finding that 64% of Czechs have a nunfavorable view of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Muslims; Romea, Harvard Survey over 15 Years Finds Czechs are Europe's Biggest Racists, Critics Question its Methodology 19 May 2017 http://www.romea.cz/en/news/czech/harvard-survey-over-15-years-finds-czechs-are-europe-s-biggest-racists-critics-question-its-methodology (last visited 30 October 2021).

- <sup>267</sup> Exact figures are not a vailable, and estimates vary between 10,000 and 20,000. *See*, e.g., Philip Heijmans, *Czech Republic's Tiny Muslim Community Subject to Hate*, Aljazeera, 13 November 2017 https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/11/13/czech-republics-tiny-muslim-community-subject-to-hate (last visited 30 October 2021); *TRT World*, "Czech Muslims Face Mockery, Mosque Desecration, and Death Threats," 10 January 2020 https://www.trtworld.com/magazine/czech-muslims-face-mockery-mosque-desecration-and-death-threats-32841 (last visited 30 October 2021).
- <sup>268</sup> Radio Praha, "The Muslim Community in the Czech Republic" http://www.radio.cz/en/static/muslims-in-czech-republic/ (last visited 1 March 2017).
- <sup>269</sup> *Aljazeera*, "Czech Court Rejects Suit over School Veil Ban," (27 January 2017) <a href="http://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/01/czech-court-rejects-suit-school-hijab-ban-170127152736914.html">http://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/01/czech-court-rejects-suit-school-hijab-ban-170127152736914.html</a> (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>270</sup> Prague Daily Monitor, "Debate over Burkini Swimsuit in Czech Water Parks Flares Up," 2 July 2017 <a href="https://praguemonitor.com/news/national/11/07/2017/2017-07-12-debate-over-burkini-swimsuit-czech-water-parks-flares/">https://praguemonitor.com/news/national/11/07/2017/2017-07-12-debate-over-burkini-swimsuit-czech-water-parks-flares/</a> (last visited 11 November 2021).
- <sup>271</sup> Press TV, "Czech Judge Dismisses Hijab Ban Complaint by Somali Refugee Woman," 27 January 2017 <a href="http://www.presstv.ir/DetailFr/2017/01/27/508008/Czech-hijab-ban">http://www.presstv.ir/DetailFr/2017/01/27/508008/Czech-hijab-ban</a> (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>272</sup> Neil Buckley, "Czech President Calls for Economic Migrants to be Deported," *Financial Times*, 1 October 2016 https://www.ft.com/content/8bae2ec6-8725-11e6-bbbe-2a4dcea95797 (last visited 31 October 2021).
- <sup>273</sup> Press TV, "Czech Judge Dismisses Hijab Ban Complaint by Somali Refugee Woman," 27 January 2017 <a href="http://www.presstv.ir/DetailFr/2017/01/27/508008/Czech-hijab-ban">http://www.presstv.ir/DetailFr/2017/01/27/508008/Czech-hijab-ban</a> (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>274</sup> Czech Radio, "Ombudswoman's Defence of Hijab Sparks Heated Debate in the Czech Republic," 29 August 2014 https://english.radio.cz/ombudswomans-defence-hijab-sparks-heated-debate-czech-republic-8285634 (last visited 31 October 2021); Raymond Johnston, "Case of Student Told to Remove Hijab at a Czech School Comes to a Definitive End," Expats Cz, 1 January 2021 https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/the-case-of-a-nursing-student-who-wanted-to-wear-a-hijab-has-come-to-a-definitive-end.
- <sup>275</sup> Czech Radio, "Ombudswoman's Defence of Hijab Sparks Heated Debate in the Czech Republic," 29 August 2014 https://english.radio.cz/ombudswomans-defence-hijab-sparks-heated-debate-czech-republic-8285634 (last visited 31 October 2021); Raymond Johnston, "Case of Student Told to Remove Hijab at a Czech School Comes to a Definitive End," Expats Cz, 1 January 2021 https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/the-case-of-a-nursing-student-who-wanted-to-wear-a-hijab-has-come-to-a-definitive-end.
- <sup>276</sup> AP News, "Czech Appeals Court Upholds Hijab Ban at a School," 19 September 2017 https://apnews.com/article/4b606a3295f149888e62cc168c69b42a (last visited 31 October 2021).
- <sup>277</sup> Expats Cz, "Czech Supreme Court Rules in Favor of Somali Girl Barred from Wearing Hijab at Prague School," 12 June 2019 https://news.expats.cz/weekly-czech-news/czech-supreme-court-rules-in-favor-of-somali-girl-barred-from-wearing-hijab-at-prague-school/ (last visited 30 October 2021).

- <sup>278</sup> Raymond Johnston, "Case of Student Told to Remove Hijab at a Czech School Comes to a Definitive End," Expats Cz. 1 January 2021 https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/thecase-of-a-nursing-student-who-wanted-to-wear-a-hijab-has-come-to-a-definitive-end.
- <sup>279</sup> Judgment of the Supreme Court of 27 November, 2019, Ref. No. 25 Cdo 348/2019, Nejvyšší soud 17 November 2019
- https://www.nsoud.cz/Judikatura/ns\_web.nsf/web/Decisions~2019\_11\_27 19 summary ~?openDocument&lng=EN (last visited 31 October 2021).
- <sup>280</sup> Judgment of the Supreme Court of 27 November, 2019, Ref. No. 25 Cdo 348/2019, Nejvyšší soud 17 November 2019
- 19 summary ~?openDocument&lng=EN (last visited 31 October 2021).
- <sup>281</sup> Expats Cz, "Czech Supreme Court Rules in Favor of Somali Girl Barred from Wearing" Hijab at Prague School," 12 June 2019 https://news.expats.cz/weekly-czech-news/czechsupreme-court-rules-in-favor-of-somali-girl-barred-from-wearing-hijab-at-prague-school/ (last visited 30 October 2021).
- <sup>282</sup> Raymond Johnston, "Case of Student Told to Remove Hijab at a Czech School Comes to a Definitive End," Expats Cz. 1 January 2021 https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/thecase-of-a-nursing-student-who-wanted-to-wear-a-hijab-has-come-to-a-definitive-end.
- <sup>283</sup> Raymond Johnston, "Case of Student Told to Remove Hijab at a Czech School Comes to a Definitive End," Expats Cz, 1 January 2021 https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/thecase-of-a-nursing-student-who-wanted-to-wear-a-hijab-has-come-to-a-definitive-end.
- <sup>284</sup> See Elmira Lyapina, "What Can France Learn from the Czech Republic's Approach to the Issue of Wearing (Islamic) Religious Symbols," International Comparative Jurisprudence, 23 May 2021 for an in-depth discussion of the case.
- <sup>285</sup> Lukáš Prchal, "Desítky dopisů žádají vyloučení muslimky z teplické školy. Na prosto nemyslitelné, reaguje ředitel," Aktualne, 15 April https://zpravy.aktualne.cz/domaci/desitkydopisu-pozaduji-vylouceni-muslimky-ze-skoly-
- naprosto/r~4fc6291602e811e6be7c0025900fea04/ (last visited 5 March 2017).
- <sup>286</sup> See Shp, "Zahalené muslimky na Teplicku nechtějí. Proti šá tkům chystají vyhlášku," Blesk, 28 August 2014 http://www.blesk.cz/clanek/zpravy-udalosti/271138/zahalene-muslimky-nateplicku-nechteji-proti-satkum-chystaji-vyhlasku.html (last visited 12 March 2017). See also Ruth Fra ňková, "Ombudswoman's Defence of Hijab Sparks Heated Debate in the Czech Republic," Radio Praha, 29 August 2014
- http://www.radio.cz/en/section/curraffrs/ombudswomans-defence-of-hijab-sparks-heateddebate-in-the-czech-republic (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>287</sup> Nová Vyhláška, "Žádné zahalování obličeje! V Teplicích chtějí zakázat nikáb," *Nova*, 28 August 2014 http://tn.nova.cz/clanek/zadne-zahalovani-obliceje-v-teplicich-chteji-zakazatnikab.html (last visited 12 March 2017).
- <sup>288</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Denmark, https://perma.cc/4EWR-2AMM (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>289</sup> Brian Arly Jacobsen, "Hvor mange muslimer bor der i Danmark?," Religion.dk, 8 February 2018 https://perma.cc/46EZ-46AA (last visited 16 October 2021).
- <sup>290</sup> Amani Hassani, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," SETA Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," SETA (last visited 19 October 2021).

- <sup>291</sup> SOS Racisme Danmark, "Alternative Report on Denmark 2020 to the Committee On the Elimination of Racial Discrimination," 2020 https://perma.cc/W6DK-ENVN (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>292</sup> Rasmus Brygger, "Something Is Unspoken in the State of Denmark," *New York Times*, 12 March 2017 https://perma.cc/Q59B-KF83 (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>293</sup> Heiko Henkel, "Fundamentally Danish? The Muhammad Cartoon Crisis as Transitional Drama," *Human Architecture: Journal of the Socioiology of Self-Knowledge*, 2010, 67, 67–82.
- <sup>294</sup> Ian Traynor, "Feminist, Socialist, Devout Muslim: Woman Who Has Thrown Denmark into Turmoil," *The Guardian*, 16 May 2007 <a href="https://perma.cc/9L8C-77W8">https://perma.cc/9L8C-77W8</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>295</sup> The Economist, "Covering up: The Islamic headscarf in Denmark," 29 May 2008 https://perma.cc/TLC9-VC4M (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>296</sup> Danish Ministry of Economic Affairs and the Interior, Ét Danmark uden parallelsamfund—Ingen ghettoer i 2030 (One Denmark Without Parallel Societies No Ghettos by 2030), March 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/7ZMN-ULUX">https://perma.cc/7ZMN-ULUX</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>297</sup> Open Society Justice Initiative, "Denmark's Plan to Rebrand its Racist 'Ghetto Package' Will Cause More Housing Evictions," 19 March 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/NYK2-6KFJ">https://perma.cc/NYK2-6KFJ</a> (last visited 25 October 2021); Common Housing Act, Sec. 61 (Dk).
- <sup>298</sup> The Government of Denmark et al., *Blandede boligområder næste skridt i kampen mod parallelsamfund* (Mixed Housing Estates Next Steps in the Fight Against Parallel Societies), 15 June 2021. This was adopted in Parliament on 23 November 2021 <a href="https://www.ft.dk/ripdf/samling/20211/lovforslag/123/20211">https://www.ft.dk/ripdf/samling/20211/lovforslag/123/20211</a> 123 som vedtaget.pdf.
- <sup>299</sup> "Western" includes European Union Member States, the United Kingdom, Andorra, Australia, Canada, Iceland, Lichtenstein, Monaco, New Zealand, Norway, San Marino, Switzerland, the USA, and the Vatican State.
- <sup>300</sup> These include the mandates of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance; the Special Rapporteur on a dequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, and on the right to non-discrimination in this context; and the Special Rapporteur on minority issues. Ref. No. UA DNK 3/2020, 16 October 2020.
- <sup>301</sup> Amani Hassani, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 225, 240 <a href="https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>302</sup> Amnesty International, "Denmark: 'Syria Is Not Safe' Nationwide Demonstrations against Return of Syrian Refugees," 18 May 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/6FZM-99ZW">https://perma.cc/6FZM-99ZW</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>303</sup> Malene Romme-Mølby, "Nu er skolerne udpeget: Her må de ikke optage elever næste skoleår," 2021 <a href="https://gymnasieskolen.dk/nu-er-skolerne-udpeget-her-maa-de-ikke-optage-elever-naeste-skoleaar">https://gymnasieskolen.dk/nu-er-skolerne-udpeget-her-maa-de-ikke-optage-elever-naeste-skoleaar</a> (last visited 23 October 2021); Ministry of Children and Education, *Ny aftale om elevfordeling bremser polarisering og parallelsamfund og hjælper gymnasier i yderområder*, 2021 <a href="https://www.uvm.dk/aktuelt/nyheder/uvm/2021/jun/210610-ny-aftale-om-elevfordeling-bremser-polarisering--parallelsamfund-og-hjælper-gymnasier">https://www.uvm.dk/aktuelt/nyheder/uvm/2021/jun/210610-ny-aftale-om-elevfordeling-bremser-polarisering--parallelsamfund-og-hjælper-gymnasier</a> (last visited 23 October 2021).
- <sup>304</sup> Amani Hassani, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA*, 2020, 225, 233 <a href="https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>305</sup> Amani Hassani, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA*, 2020, 225, 233 <a href="https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>306</sup> Margit Warburg, Birgit te Schepelern Johansen, and Kate Østergaard, "Counting niqabs and burqas in Denmark: Methodological Aspects of Quantifying Rare and Elusive Religious Sub-cultures," Journal of Contemporary Religion, 2013.
- $^{307}$ European Network a gainst Racism, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Denmark Key Findings," 2016, 3 <a href="https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH">https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).

- <sup>308</sup> Forslag til Lov om ændring af straffeloven, Bill No. L219, 2018 <u>https://perma.cc/CF5E-HGS8</u> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>309</sup> Magdaline Duncan, "Denmark Bans Wearing the Burqa in Public," *Politico*, 31 May 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/S8GC-Y4YM">https://perma.cc/S8GC-Y4YM</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>310</sup> Question No. 3, L 219, Folketing, 17 May 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/86KJ-MEX8">https://perma.cc/86KJ-MEX8</a> (last visited 29 October 2021) (letter discussing a question pertaining to Bill No. L 219).
- <sup>311</sup> SOS Racisme Danmark, "Alternative Report on Denmark 2020 to the Committee On the Elimination of Racial Discrimination," 2020 https://perma.cc/W6DK-ENVN (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>312</sup> The Local DK, "One Year On: What Happened a fter Denmark's 'Burqa Ban' Came into Force?" 1 August 2019 https://perma.cc/W4NC-FEYA (last visited 1 July 2021).
- <sup>313</sup> Eric Baldwin et al., "The Burqa Ban: Legal Precursors for Denmark," American Experiences and Experiments, and Philosophical and Critical Examinations, 15 International Studies Journal 157, 2018 https://perma.cc/Z6MT-WP7W (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>314</sup> Ronni Abergel, "Statsadvokat afviser racisme sag fra Kvickly," *HADFORBRYDELSER.DK*, 23 July 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/CTG9-MMGB">https://perma.cc/CTG9-MMGB</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- Amani Hassani, "Isla mophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>316</sup> European Network a gainst Racism, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Denmark Key Findings 3," 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH">https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).

- <sup>317</sup> Elisa beth Arnsdorf Haslund, "Her er Seks Danske Signallove," *Politiko*, 31 July 2013 <a href="https://perma.cc/E5MB-QPYH">https://perma.cc/E5MB-QPYH</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>318</sup> Sibel Özcan & Zeynep Bangert, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2018," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 251 <a href="https://perma.cc/HHQ7-ZHJ5">https://perma.cc/HHQ7-ZHJ5</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- Amani Hassani, "Islamophobia in Denmark: National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 225 <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).
- <sup>320</sup> Signe Lukowski, "Headscarves in Danish Workplaces," *KVINFO*, 14 April 2010 <a href="https://perma.cc/T3AD-9DAL">https://perma.cc/T3AD-9DAL</a> (last visited 19 October 2021).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

321 European Network a gainst Racism, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Denmark Key Findings 3," 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH">https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).

<sup>322</sup> Peter Kraus and Peter Kivisto, "Framings and Regulations Regarding Headscarves in Nordic Nations," in *The Challenge of Minority Integration: Politics and Policies in the Nordic Nations*, 2015, 82.

European Network a gainst Racism, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Denmark Key Findings 3," 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH">https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).

324 European Network a gainst Racism, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Denmark Key Findings 3," 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH">https://perma.cc/7UN5-F3JH</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).

- <sup>325</sup> Birgitte Schepelern Johansen, Jakob Skovgaard-Petersen, Margit Warburg, and Kate Østergaard, "Rapport om Brugen af Niqab og Burqa," University of Copenhagen 5, 2009 <a href="https://pema.cc/R68E-N7SE">https://pema.cc/R68E-N7SE</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>326</sup> Astrid Louise Rasmussen, "Flere VUC'er tillader ikke niqab: Den hindrer fri meningsudveksling," *Politiken*, 4 May 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/DQC5-RQRA">https://perma.cc/DQC5-RQRA</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>327</sup> Berlingske, "Nationalt, Kursister på VUC Lyngby: Niqab-forbud skader integration," 11 March 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/T4CM-A7F5">https://perma.cc/T4CM-A7F5</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- Birgitte Schepelern Johansen, Jakob Skovgaard-Petersen, Margit Warburg, and Kate Østergaard, "Rapport om Brugen af Niqab og Burqa," University of Copenhagen 5,2009 <a href="https://pema.cc/R68E-N7SE">https://pema.cc/R68E-N7SE</a> (last visited 20 October 2021).
- <sup>329</sup> Ministry of Employment, *Antidiscrimination* <a href="https://perma.cc/KXB8-CPUE">https://perma.cc/KXB8-CPUE</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>330</sup> Pia Justesen, "Country Report Non-Discrimination Denmark," European Commission, 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/9NC3-T35D">https://perma.cc/9NC3-T35D</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>331</sup> The Danish Institute for Human Rights, *Human Rights in Denmark 2019*, March 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/8QUV-9DL3">https://perma.cc/8QUV-9DL3</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>332</sup> Statistics Estonia 100, "Population and Housing Census 2011, Demographic and Ethnocultural Characteristics of the Population" <a href="https://perma.cc/9XQ8-Y4Z4">https://perma.cc/9XQ8-Y4Z4</a> (last visited 14 November 2021).
- <sup>333</sup> Ege Lepa, "The 'Tatar Way' of Understanding and Practising Islam in Estonia," 2020, Studia Orientalia Electronica 8(2), 70–81.
- <sup>334</sup> As suggested by the national reviewer of the report, see Annex II.
- 335 European Network Aga inst Racism, "Shadow Report on Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Estonia 2011–2012," 2012 <a href="http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf">http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf</a> (last visited 4 March 2017).
- <sup>336</sup> European Network Against Racism, "Shadow Report on Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Estonia 2011–2012," 2012

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf (last visited 4 March 2017).

- 337 European Network Aga inst Racism, "Shadow Report on Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Estonia 2011–2012," 2012 <a href="http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf">http://cms.horus.be/files/99935/MediaArchive/publications/shadow%20report%202011-12/Estonia.pdf</a> (last visited 4 March 2017).
- <sup>338</sup> ERR, "EKRE Withdraws Bill Calling for Face Veil Bans," 7 July 2017 <a href="https://pema.cc/3L9P-WSWV">https://pema.cc/3L9P-WSWV</a> (last visited 9 November 2021).
- 339 ERR, "EKRE Withdraws Bill Calling for Face Veil Bans," 7 July 2017 <a href="https://pema.cc/3L9P-WSWV">https://pema.cc/3L9P-WSWV</a> (last visited 9 November 2021).
- <sup>340</sup>Elta En, "Estonia Minister Proposes Ban on Wearing Burka," *DELFI*, 8 August 2015 https://perma.cc/VJQ5-V7SA (last visited 6 March 2017).
- <sup>341</sup> *Interfax*, "Estonia Contemplating Hijab, Niqab Ban," 30 November 2015 http://bit.ly/1YH01WV (last visited 9 March 2017).
- <sup>342</sup> Helen Wright, "Baltic Times: Estonia's Muslims Criticize Burqa Ban Plans," *Wordpress*, 14 January 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/GFP5-GCGG">https://perma.cc/GFP5-GCGG</a> (last visited 9 March 2017).
- <sup>343</sup> Constitution of the Republic of Estonia, 1992, as a mended 2011, Article 12.
- <sup>344</sup> Equal Treatment Act 2009, Article 2 (1).
- <sup>345</sup> Alan Cooperman, Conrad Hackett, and Anna Schiller, "Europe's Growing Muslim Population: Muslims Are Projected to Increase as a Share of Europe's Population Even Without Migration," 29 November 2019, *Pew Research Center*, 29-30 <a href="https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf">https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf</a> (last visited 25 November 2021).
- <sup>346</sup> Tuomas Martikainen, "Finnish Muslims' Journey from an Invisible Minority to Public Partnerships," Nordic Journal of Comparative Religion, Vol. 56 No. 1, 2020, 33–51.
- <sup>347</sup> Tuomas Martikainen, "Finnish Muslims' Journey from an Invisible Minority to Public Partnerships," Nordic Journal of Comparative Religion, Vol. 56 No. 1, 2020, 46.
- <sup>348</sup> Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 267 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>349</sup> Katarina Pettersson, "Chapter 3 The Discursive Denial of Racism by Finnish Populist Radical Right Politicians Accused of Anti-Muslim Hate-Speech," in Ov Cristian Norocel, Anders Hellström and Martin Bak Jørgensen, eds., *Nostalgia and Hope: Intersections between Politics of Culture, Welfare, and Migration in Europe*, 2020, 35.
- <sup>350</sup> Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 267 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>351</sup> Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 278 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>352</sup> Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 267

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).

- <sup>353</sup> Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 279-280 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>354</sup> Linda Hyökki and Karin Creutz, "Islamophobia in Finland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 172 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR 2015.pdf.
- 355 Linda Hyökki and Karin Creutz, "Islamophobia in Finland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 140 https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR 2015.pdf.
- <sup>356</sup> Enrique Tessieri, "Guess Helsinki: Saleswoman Gets Fired for Wearing Headscarf to Work," *Migrant Tales*, 9 February 2014 http://www.migranttales.net/guess-helsinki-saleswoman-gets-fired-for-wearing-a-veil-to-work/(last visited 25 April 2017).
- <sup>357</sup> Enrique Tessieri, "Muslim Woman Wasn't Admitted to the Finnish Police Training School Because She Would Refuse to Take off Her Headscarf," *Migrant Tales*, 3 April 2014 http://www.migranttales.net/muslim-woman-wasnt-admitted-to-thefinnish-police-training-school-because-she-would-refuse-to-take-off-her-headscarf/ (last visited 2 March 2017).
- <sup>358</sup> The Constitution of Finland, Article 11.
- 359 Non-Discrimination Act (1325/2014), Section 13.
- <sup>360</sup> Employment Contracts Act (55/2001, a mendments up to 204/2017 included), Chapter 2, Section 2.
- 361 Observatoire de la Laïcité, "La laïcité aujourd'hui" <a href="https://www.gouvernement.fr/sites/default/files/contenu/piece-jointe/2014/07/note-d-orientation-la-laicite-aujourdhui\_0.pdf accessed 20 February 2021.">https://www.gouvernement.fr/sites/default/files/contenu/piece-jointe/2014/07/note-d-orientation-la-laicite-aujourdhui\_0.pdf accessed 20 February 2021.</a> See the video developed by CRHIA History Lab and LIPE (The Pedagogical Innovation Laboratory on Europe) for an accessible and thorough overview of the notion of laïcité in theory and practice in France: <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WKEdJ2DqCwA">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WKEdJ2DqCwA</a>.
- <sup>362</sup> Tejinder Singh, Hansdeep Singh, Jaspreet Singh, Ranjit Singh, "When Discrimination Masquerades as Equality: The Impact of France's Ban of Religious Attire in Public Schools," The International Center for Advocates Against Discrimination, June 2014 <a href="https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/FRA/INT\_CCPR\_ICO\_FRA\_17451\_E.pdf">https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/FRA/INT\_CCPR\_ICO\_FRA\_17451\_E.pdf</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>363</sup> Bayrak v. France (No. 14308/08), Aktas v. France (No. 43563/08) and Ghazal v. France (No. 29134/08), ECtHR, 30 June 2009.
- <sup>364</sup> Cécile Chambraud, "Garder ou ôter son voile, le dilemme des jeunes musulmanes en recherche d'emploi," *Le Monde via Lire Lactu*, 3 February 2018 <a href="http://lirelactu.fr/source/lemonde/4a4d0d8e-0468-4b98-90d6-3ea31efbe3b7">http://lirelactu.fr/source/lemonde/4a4d0d8e-0468-4b98-90d6-3ea31efbe3b7</a> (la st visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>365</sup> Karina Piser, "Macron Wants to Start an Islamic Revolution," *Foreign Policy*, 7 October 2020 <a href="https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/10/07/macron-wants-to-start-an-islamic-revolution/">https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/10/07/macron-wants-to-start-an-islamic-revolution/</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>366</sup> Pew Research Center, "Global Religious Futures Project (2010), Muslim Population by Country"

http://www.globalreligiousfutures.org/religions/muslims (last visited 7 November 2017).

- <sup>367</sup> Neil McMaster, "Burning the Veil: The Algerian War and the 'Emancipation' of Muslim Women, 1954–62," Manchester University Press, 19 March 2012.
- <sup>368</sup> The Front National renamed itself Rassemblement National ("National Rally") in mid-2018. This decision was taken in a bid to revive and unify the party as a "rallying cry" following its defeat to Emmanuel Macron in 2017. Kim Willsher, "Marine Le Pen marks Front national Leadership Win with Rebrand Proposal," *The Guardian*, 11 March 2018 <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/mar/11/marine-le-pen-marks-front-national-leadership-win-with-rebrand-proposal">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/mar/11/marine-le-pen-marks-front-national-leadership-win-with-rebrand-proposal</a> (last visited 30 June 2021).
- <sup>369</sup> Jenna Le Bras, François Hume-Ferkatadji, and Lucas Roxo, "La marche d'après" <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mKYXNTX1KLQ">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mKYXNTX1KLQ</a> (la st visited 6 February 2018).
- <sup>370</sup> France's involvement in the war in Afghanistan and the public narrative about the need to save (Afghan) Muslim women from oppression (by the Taliban) greatly influenced the meaning a scribed to the headscarf worn by French Muslim women. Christine Delphy, "Separate and Dominate: Feminism and Racism after the War on Terror," *Verso*, 2015.
- <sup>371</sup> Abdella li Hajjatand Marwan Mohammed, "Islamophobie: Comment les élites Françaises fabriquent le 'problème Musulman," *La Découverte*, 2012.
- 372 By 20 January 2015, the number of anti-Muslim attacks had equalled the total for the entire year of 2014 as reported by French daily *Le Monde*, "Presque a utant d'actes antimusulmans recensés en 2015 que sur toute l'année 2014," 23 January 2015 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2015/01/23/multiplication-des-actes-antimusulmans-depuis-les-attentats-contre-charlie 4562004 3224.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2015/01/23/multiplication-des-actes-antimusulmans-depuis-les-attentats-contre-charlie 4562004 3224.html</a> (last visited 13 April 2021).
- <sup>373</sup> Human Rights Watch, "France: Abuses Under State of Emergency, Halt Warrantless Search and House Arrest," 3 February 2016 <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/02/03/france-abuses-under-state-emergency">https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/02/03/france-abuses-under-state-emergency</a> (last visited 13 April 2021).
- <sup>374</sup> Olivier Esteves, "Islamophobia in France National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 162 <a href="http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR\_2015\_FRANCE.pdf">http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR\_2015\_FRANCE.pdf</a> (last visited 13 April 2021).
- <sup>375</sup> Vie Publique, "Déclaration de M. François Hollande, Président de la République, sur les défis et priorités de la politique étrangère de la France, à Paris le 16 janvier 2015" <a href="https://www.vie-publique.fr/discours/193563-declaration-de-m-francois-hollande-president-de-la-republique-sur-les">https://www.vie-publique.fr/discours/193563-declaration-de-m-francois-hollande-president-de-la-republique-sur-les</a>.
- <sup>376</sup> Le Parisien, "Attentats: le tournant sécuritaire de Hollande," 17 November 2015 <a href="https://www.leparisien.fr/politique/le-tournant-securitaire-de-hollande-17-11-2015-5284433.php">https://www.leparisien.fr/politique/le-tournant-securitaire-de-hollande-17-11-2015-5284433.php</a> (la stvisited 13 April 2021).
- <sup>377</sup> LOI n° 2017-1510 du 30 octobre 2017 renforçant la sécurité intérieure et la lutte contre le terrorisme, 20 June 2018 <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/dossierlegislatif/JORFDOLE000034990290/">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/dossierlegislatif/JORFDOLE000034990290/</a> (last visited 24 May 2021).
- <sup>378</sup> Jérome Hourdeaux, "La France bascule dans l'état d'urgence permanent", *Mediapart*, 1 November 2017 <a href="https://www.mediapart.fr/journal/france/011117/la-france-bascule-dans-letat-durgence-permanent">https://www.mediapart.fr/journal/france/011117/la-france-bascule-dans-letat-durgence-permanent</a> (la st visited 13 April 2021).
- <sup>379</sup> France 24, "Emmanuel Macron Vows to Defeat 'the Islamist Hydra': 'This is Not a Fight Against One Religion," 8 October 2019 <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0x-TscG9090">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0x-TscG9090</a>.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>380</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 44 <a href="https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf">https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf</a> (last visited 5 July 2021).
- <sup>381</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 44 <a href="https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf">https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf</a> (last visited 5 July 2021).
- <sup>382</sup> Le Monde, "Pour Darmanin, le Collectif contre l'isla mophobie en France est 'une officine isla miste » qui œuvre « contre la République," 27 October 2020 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2020/10/27/darmamin-le-ccif-une-officine-islamiste-qui-uvre-contre-la-republique 6057466">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2020/10/27/darmamin-le-ccif-une-officine-islamiste-qui-uvre-contre-la-republique 6057466</a> 3224.html (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>383</sup> Le Monde, "Attentat de Conflans: quinze personnes en garde à vue, Darmanin demande la fermeture de la mosquée de Pantin," 19 October 2020 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/police-justice/article/2020/10/19/darmanin-annonce-vouloir-dissoudre-plusieurs-associations-dont-le-ccif-et-barakacity-qualifiees-d-ennemies-de-la-republique\_6056551\_1653578.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/police-justice/article/2020/10/19/darmanin-annonce-vouloir-dissoudre-plusieurs-associations-dont-le-ccif-et-barakacity-qualifiees-d-ennemies-de-la-republique\_6056551\_1653578.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>384</sup> Eva Cossé, "French Court Confirms Dissolution of Anit-Discrimination Group," Human Rights Watch, 27 September 2021 <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/09/27/french-court-confirms-dissolution-anti-discrimination-group#">https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/09/27/french-court-confirms-dissolution-anti-discrimination-group#</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>385</sup> Human Rights Watch, "France: Dissolving Anti-Discrimination Group Threatens Rights," 4 December 2020 <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/12/04/france-dissolving-anti-discrimination-group-threatens-rights">https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/12/04/france-dissolving-anti-discrimination-group-threatens-rights</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>386</sup> Civic Space Watch, "France: French Minister of Interior Interferes with European Commission's Distribution of Funding to Local NGO (Update)," 15 April 2021 <a href="https://civicspacewatch.eu/france-french-minister-of-interior-interfere-with-european-commissions-distribution-of-funding-to-local-ngo/">https://civicspacewatch.eu/france-french-minister-of-interior-interfere-with-european-commissions-distribution-of-funding-to-local-ngo/</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>387</sup> Le Monde, "Dissolution de la Coordination contre le ra cisme et l'isla mophobie, pour discours ha ineux," 20 October 2021 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2021/10/20/dissolution-de-la-coordination-contre-le-ra cisme-et-l-isla mophobie-pour-discours-haineux">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2021/10/20/dissolution-de-la-coordination-contre-le-ra cisme-et-l-isla mophobie-pour-discours-haineux</a> 6099241\_3224.html (lat visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>388</sup> Le Monde, "L'association humanitaire BarakaCity dissoute en conseil des ministres," 28 October 2020 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2020/10/28/l-association-humanitaire-barakacity-dissoute-en-conseil-des-ministres\_6057670\_3224.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2020/10/28/l-association-humanitaire-barakacity-dissoute-en-conseil-des-ministres\_6057670\_3224.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022); Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2017," SETA http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/France.pdf (last visited 5 July 2021).
- <sup>389</sup> Al Jazeera, "Macron Says Islam 'In Crisis,' Prompting Backlash from Muslims," 2 October 2020

https://www.aljazeem.com/news/2020/10/2/macron-announces-new-plan-to-regulate-islam-in-france (last visited 1 March 2022).

<sup>390</sup> France 24, "Macron Outlines Planto Fight 'Islamist Separatism' in France," 2 October 2020

https://www.france24.com/en/20201002-live-macron-outlines-proposal-for-law-to-fight-separatism-in-france (last visited 20 February 2021).

- <sup>391</sup> France 24, "French Government Unveils New Law Tackling Islamist Extremism," 9 December 2020 <a href="https://www.france24.com/en/france/20201209-macron-seeks-cabinet-backing-for-new-law-tackling-islamist-extremism">https://www.france24.com/en/france/20201209-macron-seeks-cabinet-backing-for-new-law-tackling-islamist-extremism</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>392</sup> Middle Eastern Eye, "France's cabinet Greenlights 'Anti-Separatism' Bill Amid Human Rights Concerns," 9 December 2020 <a href="https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/france-islam-separatism-bill-human-rights-cabinet">https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/france-islam-separatism-bill-human-rights-cabinet</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>393</sup> Abel Mestre, "Débat entre Marine Le Pen et Gérald Darmanin : la dédiabolisation par procuration," *Le Monde*, 12 February 2021
- https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2021/02/12/debat-marine-le-pen-gerald-darmanin-la-dediabolisation-par-procuration 6069774 823448.html (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>394</sup> See Louise Guillot, "French Minister Defends 'Islamo-leftism' Inquiry," *Politico* <a href="https://www.politico.eu/article/france-islamo-leftism-inquiry-minister-defends-probe/">https://www.politico.eu/article/france-islamo-leftism-inquiry-minister-defends-probe/</a> (last visited 1 March 2022); and *New York Times*, Heating up Culture Wars, France to Scour Universities for Ideas That 'Corrupt Society," 18 February 2021
  <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/18/world/europe/france-universities-culture-wars.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/18/world/europe/france-universities-culture-wars.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>395</sup> France 24, "French Minister Warns of 'Islamo-leftism' in Universities," 17 February 2021 <a href="https://www.france24.com/en/live-news/20210217-french-minister-warns-of-islamo-leftism-in-universities">https://www.france24.com/en/live-news/20210217-french-minister-warns-of-islamo-leftism-in-universities</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>396</sup> Le Monde, "Pour Jean-Michel Blanquer, le voile islamique n'est « pas souhaitable dans la société,"
- 13 October 2019 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2019/10/13/sibeth-ndiaye-et-jean-michel-blanquer-condamnent-l-elu-rn-qui-a-agresse-une-mere-voilee\_6015346\_823448.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2019/10/13/sibeth-ndiaye-et-jean-michel-blanquer-condamnent-l-elu-rn-qui-a-agresse-une-mere-voilee\_6015346\_823448.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>397</sup> Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, "L''islamogauchisme' n'est pas une réalité scientifique," 17 February 2021 <a href="https://www.cnrs.fr/fr/l-islamogauchisme-nest-pas-une-realite-scientifique">https://www.cnrs.fr/fr/l-islamogauchisme-nest-pas-une-realite-scientifique</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>398</sup> See the website of the Collectif Contre l'Islamophobie en France for a selection of debates about Muslim women's dress covering a wide range of a reas.
- <sup>399</sup> Alissa J. Rubin, "The Way People Look at Us Has Changed': Muslim Women on Life in Europe," *The New York Times*, 2 September 2016 <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/03/world/europe/burkini-ban-muslim-women.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/03/world/europe/burkini-ban-muslim-women.html</a> (last visited 5 December 2017).
- <sup>400</sup> Rokhaya Diallo, "A Student Leader Is the Latest Victim of France's Obsession With the Hijab," *The Guardian*, 28 May 2018 <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/may/28/union-leader-maryam-pougetoux-france-hijab">https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/may/28/union-leader-maryam-pougetoux-france-hijab</a> (last visited 2 July 2018).
- <sup>401</sup> Rebecca Rosman, "France's Decades-long Feud over the Hijab Takes Centre Stage," *Al Jazeera*, 22 September 2020 <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/9/22/frances-decades-long-feud-over-the-hijab-takes-centre-stage">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/9/22/frances-decades-long-feud-over-the-hijab-takes-centre-stage</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>402</sup> Jean-Pierre Tenoux, "Au conseil régional de Bourgogne-Franche-Comté, un responsable du RN agresse une femme voilée," *Le Monde*, 12 October 2019 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2019/10/12/au-conseil-regional-de-bourgogne-franche-comte-un-responsable-du-rn-agresse-une-femme-voilee\_6015250\_823448.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2019/10/12/au-conseil-regional-de-bourgogne-franche-comte-un-responsable-du-rn-agresse-une-femme-voilee\_6015250\_823448.html</a> (la st visited 1 March 2022).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

<sup>403</sup> Pew Research Center, "Being Christin in Western Europe," 29 May 2018 <a href="https://www.pewforum.org/2018/05/29/being-christian-in-western-europe/">https://www.pewforum.org/2018/05/29/being-christian-in-western-europe/</a> (last visited 8 December 2021).

<sup>404</sup> Patrick Roger, "Nicolas Sarkozy a tranché en faveur d'une interdiction générale de la burqa," *Le Monde*, 22 April 2010 <a href="http://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa">http://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa</a> 1341 109 3224.html#Jj48<a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa</a> 1341 109 3224.html#Jj48<a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2010/04/22/nicolas-sarkozy-a-tranche-en-faveur-d-une-interdiction-generale-de-laburqa</a> 1341 109 3224.html#Jj48</a> 1JRB0ZRMbVIV.99 (last visited 4 November 2017).

<sup>405</sup> Loi 2010-1192 du 11 Octobre 2010 interdisant la dissimulation du visage dans l'espace public ("Loi 2010-1192")

http://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000022911670&categorieLien=id (last visited 10 March 2017).

<sup>406</sup> Articles 1 and 2 of Loi 2010-1192.

<sup>407</sup> Cécile Chambraud, "L'espace public doit-il être neutre?," *Le Monde*, 24 February 2016 <a href="http://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2016/02/24/l-espace-public-doit-il-etreneutre\_4871043\_3224.html?xtmc=laicite\_a\_la\_francaise&xtcr=1">http://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2016/02/24/l-espace-public-doit-il-etreneutre\_4871043\_3224.html?xtmc=laicite\_a\_la\_francaise&xtcr=1</a> (last visited 21 December 2017).

<sup>408</sup> Article 2(2) of Loi 2010-1192.

<sup>409</sup> Assemblée Nationale, Rapport de la commission des lois sur le projet de loi interdisant la dissimulation du visage dans l'espace public (no. 2520), 55-56; Agence de Développement Touristique des Pyrénées-Orientales, "The Procession de la Sanch, an Easter Tradition," La Quartieme Dimension <a href="https://www.tourism-mediterraneanpyrenees.com/procession-de-la-sanch">https://www.tourism-mediterraneanpyrenees.com/procession-de-la-sanch</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>410</sup> Lou Stoppard, "Will Mandatory Face Masks End the Burqa Bans?" *The New York Times*, 19 May 2020 <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/19/style/face-mask-burqa-ban.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/19/style/face-mask-burqa-ban.html</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>411</sup> French Lawno. 2012-1192, section (2); Katherine Bullock, "We Are All Niqabis Now: Coronavirus Masks Reveal Hypocrisy of Face Covering Bans," *The Conversation*, 27 April 2020 <a href="https://theconversation.com/we-are-all-niqabis-now-coronavirus-masks-reveal-hypocrisy-of-face-covering-bans-136030">https://theconversation.com/we-are-all-niqabis-now-coronavirus-masks-reveal-hypocrisy-of-face-covering-bans-136030</a> (last visited 20 February 2021); Stephanie Hennette Vauchez; "Stéphanie Hennette Vauchez: 'Ce n'est pas cacher son visage qui pose problème, mais certaines formes de dissimulation," *Le Monde*, 18 May 2020

"https://www.lemonde.fr/idees/article/2020/05/18/stephanie-hennette-vauchez-ce-n-est-pascacher-son-visage-qui-pose-probleme-mais-certaines-formes-dedissimulation 6039975 3232.html (last visited 20 February 2021).

412 Lou Stoppard, "Will Mandatory Face Masks End the Burqa Bans?," *The New York Times*, 19 May 2020 <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/19/style/face-mask-burqa-ban.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/19/style/face-mask-burqa-ban.html</a> (last visited 18 February 2021). ("Satvinder Juss, a lawyer in London and a human rights expert, said that Europe's burqa wearers are now, legally, on much 'firmer ground' given the newly publicized health guidance a round face coverings. Mr. Juss said that if a French police officer were to single out and challenge a woman for wearing a burqa or niqab in public, since she would potentially be surrounded by others wearing home-sourced face coverings, the officer would 'clearly be engaging in religious discrimination and sex discrimination,' which is forbidden under the European Convention of Human Rights. In 2014, Mr. Juss represented a 24-year-old French Muslim who appealed France's face-covering ban at the European Court of Human Rights in the case of *S.A.S. v. France*.... Given that many people in France are rapidly becoming used to seeing people from all walks of life covering their noses and mouths, however, Mr. Juss believes the 'living together' justification no longer stands."); Gouri Sharma, "Mandatory Covid-19 Facemasks Expose Bigoted Nature of Burqa Bans in

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Europe," TRT World, 4 June 2021 https://www.trtworld.com/magazine/mandatory-covid-19facemasks-expose-bigoted-nature-of-burga-bans-in-europe-36959 (last visited 18 February 2021) ("[Juss] told TRT World that the mask rules make the burga bans significantly less defensible. He said: 'The interesting thing is that we lost the case on narrow ground - that there is an interest in "living together". What that means is that there's normal social intercourse, where there's verbal communication and non-verbal communication. So even if I don't understand what X is saying to me, if I look into their face, I can make sense of that, so non-verbal communication is very important. The other side a rgued that governments have to help everyone integrate, it wasn't just a question of security and equality, and that's what they won on. Now, of course, this comes full circle because suddenly with COVID-19 states are saying that they need to have facial masks. So out goes through the window all arguments about the right to look into people's faces and around integration. It becomes impossible now to defend this. The whole of the lower part of the face is covered by a mask, which is the same with the niqab.'... Emboldened by the latest developments triggered by the corona pandemic,... Juss [is] now among those exploring the legal a venues in which they can push for the bans to be withdrawn.").

- <sup>413</sup> Agnès De Féo, "Les Femmes en Niqab en France," Open Edition Journals, November 2018 https://journals.openedition.org/socio/3519 (last visited 1 March 2022).
- 414 Elvire Camus, "Voile intégral: une loi difficilement applicable," *Le Monde*, 2 August 2013 http://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2013/08/02/voile-isla mique-une-loi-difficilement-applicable 3455937 3224.html (last visited 4 November 2017).
- <sup>415</sup> Assemblée Nationale, "Mission d'information sur la pratique du port du voile intégral sur le territoire national," 23 June 2009 <a href="http://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/13/dossiers/voile">http://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/13/dossiers/voile</a> integral.asp (last visited 4 November 2017).
- <sup>416</sup> Conseil d'Etat, "Étude relative aux possibilités juridiques d'interdiction du port du voile intégral," 30 March 2010 <a href="https://www.conseil-etat.fr/ressources/etudes-publications/rapports-etudes/etudes-etude-relative-aux-possibilites-juridiques-d-interdiction-du-port-du-voile-integral">https://www.conseil-etat.fr/ressources/etudes-publications/rapports-etudes/etudes-etude-relative-aux-possibilites-juridiques-d-interdiction-du-port-du-voile-integral</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>417</sup> Conseil Constitutionnel, "Décision no. 2010-613 DC du 7 octobre 2010" <a href="https://www.conseil-constitutionnel.fr/en/decision/2010/2010613DC.htm">https://www.conseil-constitutionnel.fr/en/decision/2010/2010613DC.htm</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>418</sup> Article 3 of Loi 2010-1192.
- <sup>419</sup> Article 4 of Loi 2010-1192.
- $^{420}$  « Loi sur le voile intégra l: plus de 1 600 verbalisations en six ans," France Info, 11 October 2016

https://www.francetvinfo.fr/societe/justice/loi-sur-le-voile-integral-plus-de-1-600-verba lisations-en-six-ans 1867349.html (last visited 20 December 2017).

- <sup>421</sup> Loi No. 2021-1109 du 24 août 2021 confortant le respect des principes de la République <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000043964778">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000043964778</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>422</sup> *Hebbadj v France*, UN Human Rights Committee, 17 July 2018 CCPR/C/123/D/2807/2016, 7.10.
- <sup>423</sup> United Nations Human Rights: Office of the High Commissioner, "France: Banning the Niqab Violated Two Muslim Women's Freedom of Religion UN Experts," 23 October 2018 <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23750&LangID=E">https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23750&LangID=E</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

- <sup>424</sup> *Hebbadj v France*, UN Human Rights Committee, 17 July 2018 CCPR/C/123/D/2807/2016, 7.10.
- <sup>425</sup> *Hebbadj v France*, UN Human Rights Committee, 17 July 2018 CCPR/C/123/D/2807/2016, 7.17.
- <sup>426</sup> *Hebbadj v France*, UN Human Rights Committee, 17 July 2018 CCPR/C/123/D/2807/2016, 8-9.
- <sup>427</sup> Eva Brems, "*Ebrahimian v. France*: Headscarf Ban Upheld for Entire Public Sector," *Strasbourg Observers*, 27 November 2015 <a href="https://strasbourgobservers.com/2015/11/27/ebrahimian-v-france-headscarf-ban-upheld-forentire-public-sector/">https://strasbourgobservers.com/2015/11/27/ebrahimian-v-france-headscarf-ban-upheld-forentire-public-sector/</a> (last visited 6 March 2017).
- <sup>428</sup> European Court of Human Rights, "Factsheet-Religious Symbols and Clothing," 2016, 6.
- <sup>429</sup> La Documentation Française, "Commission de réflexion sur l'application du principe de la ïcité dans la République: rapport au Président de la République," December 2013 <a href="https://www.vie-publique.fr/rapport/26626-commission-de-reflexion-sur-application-du-principe-de-laicite">https://www.vie-publique.fr/rapport/26626-commission-de-reflexion-sur-application-du-principe-de-laicite</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>430</sup> La Vie, "Dix ans après l'interdiction du voile à l'école, le débat continue," 18 March 2014 <a href="https://www.lavie.fr/actualite/societe/dix-ans-apregraves-linterdiction-du-voile-agrave-leacuteole-le-deacutebat-continue-23215.php">https://www.lavie.fr/actualite/societe/dix-ans-apregraves-linterdiction-du-voile-agrave-leacuteole-le-deacutebat-continue-23215.php</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>431</sup> Jérome Host, "Un racisme a peine voilé," H Production, 2004 <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6lPxYYmio38&ab\_channel=Openthedoor">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6lPxYYmio38&ab\_channel=Openthedoor</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).
- <sup>432</sup> France 2, "Video. Creil: voile sur les filles," 7 October 2016 <a href="https://www.francetvinfo.fr/replay-magazine/france-2/complement-d-enquete/video-creil-voile-sur-les-filles">https://www.francetvinfo.fr/replay-magazine/france-2/complement-d-enquete/video-creil-voile-sur-les-filles</a> 1859025.html (last visited 29 December 2017).
- <sup>433</sup> Assemblée Nationale, "Circulaire No. 1649 du 20 septembre 1994" <a href="http://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/12/dossiers/documents-laicite/document-3.pdf">http://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/12/dossiers/documents-laicite/document-3.pdf</a> (last visited 28 December 2017).
- 434 Tejinder Singh, Hansdeep Singh, Jaspreet Singh, Ranjit Singh, "When Discrimination Masquerades as Equality: The Impact of France's Ban of Religious Attire in Public Schools," The International Center for Advocates Against Discrimination, June 2014 <a href="https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/FRA/INT\_CCPR\_ICO\_FR\_A\_17451\_E.pdf">https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CCPR/Shared%20Documents/FRA/INT\_CCPR\_ICO\_FR\_A\_17451\_E.pdf</a> (last visited 20 February 2021) ("[A] mediator... testified that the 'only purpose' of the dialogue was to convince the children 'to take off their headgear. And everything was done to reach that goal: intimidation, discrediting, teasing of their dress, negative judgment of their religion and sometimes humiliation.' This a larming interaction itself borders on proselityzing [sic]: school a dministrators, in the name of secularism, are asked to attempt to convince religious students to engage in a course of conduct that the students believe is prohibited by their religion.").
- <sup>435</sup> CCIF, "Affaire Sirine: le rapporteur public soutient les sanctions contre la jeune fille," 29 March 2017 <a href="http://www.islamophobie.net/articles/2017/03/29/affaire-sirine-le-rapporteur-public-soutient-les-sanctions-contre-lajeune-fille/">http://www.islamophobie.net/articles/2017/03/29/affaire-sirine-le-rapporteur-public-soutient-les-sanctions-contre-lajeune-fille/</a> (last visited 29 December 2017).
- <sup>436</sup> Conseil d'Etat, "Avis du Conseil d'Etat du 27 novembre 1989, sur le port du voile à l'école," 27 November 1989 <a href="http://mafr.fr/fr/article/conseil-detat-25/">http://mafr.fr/fr/article/conseil-detat-25/</a> (la st visited 28 December 2017).
- <sup>437</sup> Nicky Jones, "Beneath the Veil: Muslim Girls and Islamic Headscarves in Secular France," Maquarie Law Journal 9 47, 53.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

<sup>438</sup> Dominique Tourneau, "La laïcité à l'épreuve de l'Islam. Le cas du port du 'foulard isla mique' dans l'école publique en France," Revue générale de droit 28(2), June 1997.

<sup>439</sup> No. 130394, No. 145656, No. 172717, No. 172718, No. 170398, No. 170343, No. 172725, No. 170941, No. 170941, No. 1727870

<sup>440</sup> No. 159981

441 No. 172685, No. 170207, No. 170208

442 No. 170106

<sup>443</sup> Angelique Chrisa fris, "French Education Minister Reignites Row Over Muslim Headscarf," *The Guardian*, 25 September 2019

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/sep/25/french-education-minister-reignites-row-over-muslim-headscarf (last visited 20 February 2021).

444 Conseil d'Etat, "Etude démandée par le Défenseur des droits le 20 septembre 2013," 19 December 2013

 $\underline{https://www.defenseurdesdroits.fr/sites/default/files/atoms/files/ddd\_avis\_20130909\_laicite.p}\\ \underline{df} \ (last\ visited\ 5\ July\ 2021).$ 

<sup>445</sup> Aurelien Breeden, "Another Hijab Furor Hits France, Over a Mother on a School Trip," *The New York Times*, 19 October 2019

https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/19/world/europe/france-hijab-school-trip-mother.html (last visited 20 February 2021); *Lallab Magazine*, "Lallab s'élève contre l'a mendement voté au Sénat contre le port du voile des mères lors des sorties," 17 May 2019

http://www.lallab.org/communique-sur-lamendement-lr-vote-au-senat-excluant-les-meres-qui-portent-le-voile-des-sorties-scolaires-lallab-seleve-contre-cette-derive-islamophobe-et-sexiste/ (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>446</sup> Angelique Chrisa fris, "French Education Minister Reignites Row Over Muslim Headscarf," *The Guardian*, 25 September 2019

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/sep/25/french-education-minister-reignites-row-over-muslim-headscarf (last visited 20 February 2021).

 $^{447}$  Angelique Chrisa fris, "French Education Minister Reignites Row Over Muslim Headscarf," *The Guardian*, 25 September 2019

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/sep/25/french-education-minister-reignites-row-over-muslim-headscarf (last visited 20 February 2021); Jon Stone, "French Senate Votes to Ban Mothers Who Wear Headscarves from Accompanying Children on School Trip," Independent, 17 May 2019 <a href="https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/france-burqa-ban-niqab-school-senate-vote-islam-children-republicans-a8918741.html">https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/france-burqa-ban-niqab-school-senate-vote-islam-children-republicans-a8918741.html</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>448</sup> Angelique Chrisa fris, "French Education Minister Reignites Row Over Muslim Headscarf," *The Guardian*, 25 September 2019

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/sep/25/french-education-minister-reignites-row-over-muslim-headscarf (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>449</sup> Loi No. 2021-1109 du 24 août 2021 confortant le respect des principes de la République <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/article\_jo/JORFARTI000043964806">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/article\_jo/JORFARTI000043964806</a>; Anadolu Agency, "French National Assembly Removes Discriminatory Provisions in Separatism Bill," Shweta Desai, 2 July 2022 <a href="https://www.aa.com.tr/en/europe/french-national-assembly-removes-discriminatory-provisions-in-separatism-bill/2291875">https://www.aa.com.tr/en/europe/french-national-assembly-removes-discriminatory-provisions-in-separatism-bill/2291875</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).

<sup>450</sup> See Le Tribunal Administratif de Nice 5th Chambre, No. 1305386, 9 June 2015 <a href="https://www.observatoire-collectivites.org/IMG/pdf/TA\_Nice\_9\_06\_2015\_no\_1305386.pdf">https://www.observatoire-collectivites.org/IMG/pdf/TA\_Nice\_9\_06\_2015\_no\_1305386.pdf</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>451</sup> Proposition de Loi, No. 75, 19 January 2021 <a href="https://www.senat.fr/leg/tas21-075.html">https://www.senat.fr/leg/tas21-075.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>452</sup> *Le Monde*, "Le port du voile lors d'une compétition sportive interdit de nouveau par les sénateurs," 19 January 2022 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2022/01/19/le-port-du-voile-lors-d-une-competition-sportive-interdit-de-nouveau-par-les-senateurs">https://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2022/01/19/le-port-du-voile-lors-d-une-competition-sportive-interdit-de-nouveau-par-les-senateurs</a> 6110043 823448.html (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>453</sup> *Al Jazeera*, "French Senators Vote to Ban Hijab in Sports Competitions," 19 January 2022 <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/1/19/french-senators-vote-to-ban-the-hijab-in-sports-competitions">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/1/19/french-senators-vote-to-ban-the-hijab-in-sports-competitions</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>454</sup> Proposition de Loi, No. 273, 8 December 2021 <a href="https://www.senat.fr/leg/ppl21-273.html">https://www.senat.fr/leg/ppl21-273.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>455</sup> Le Monde, "Projet de loi « séparatisme »: le Sénat durcit les mesures de neutralité pour le sport," 8 April 2021 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2021/04/08/projet-de-loi-separatisme-le-senat-durcit-les-mesures-de-neutralite-pour-le-sport\_6075945\_3224.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2021/04/08/projet-de-loi-separatisme-le-senat-durcit-les-mesures-de-neutralite-pour-le-sport\_6075945\_3224.html</a> (la st visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>456</sup> BBC, "The Islamic Veil across Europe," 31 January 2017 http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-13038095 (last visited 13 March 2017).
- <sup>457</sup> John Silk, "France: Muslim Women in Grenoble Defy Burkini Ban," *DW*, 24 June 2019 <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/france-muslim-women-in-grenoble-defy-burkini-ban/a-49339375">https://www.dw.com/en/france-muslim-women-in-grenoble-defy-burkini-ban/a-49339375</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>458</sup> Alliance Citoyenne, "Maillot de bain couvrants dans les piscines publiques: une demande d'égalité" <a href="https://alliancecitoyenne.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Rapport\_Maillotdebaincouvrantdanslespiscinespubliques-Web.pdf">https://alliancecitoyenne.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Rapport\_Maillotdebaincouvrantdanslespiscinespubliques-Web.pdf</a> (last visited 5 July 2021).
- <sup>459</sup> European Network of Legal Experts in Gender Equality and Non-Discrimination, "Legality of Municipal Bylaws Forbidding Islamic Swimwear on the Beach," European Commission, 8 September 2016 <a href="http://www.equalitylaw.eu/downloads/3886-france-conseil-d-etat-26-august-2016-nos-402742-402777-pdf-143-kb">http://www.equalitylaw.eu/downloads/3886-france-conseil-d-etat-26-august-2016-nos-402742-402777-pdf-143-kb</a> (last visited 1 May 2017).
- <sup>460</sup> French Senate, "Interdiction du 'burkini' dans les piscines municipales

15e législature," 11 October 2018

https://www.senat.fr/guestions/base/2018/qSEO181007151.html (last visited 1 March 2022).

- <sup>461</sup> Loi No. 2016-1088 du 8 août 2016 relative au travail, à la modernisation du dialogue social et à la sécurisation des parcours professionnels (1) <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000032983213&categori">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000032983213&categori</a>
- https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000032983213&categorieLien=id (last visited 28 November 2017).
- <sup>462</sup> La Documentation Française, "Commission de réflexion sur l'application du principe de la ïcité dans la République : rapport au Président de la République," December 2013, 68 <a href="http://www.ladocumentationfiancaise.fr/var/storage/rapports-publics/034000725.pdf">http://www.ladocumentationfiancaise.fr/var/storage/rapports-publics/034000725.pdf</a> (last visited 27 December 2017).
- <sup>463</sup> Haut Conseil à l'intégration, "De La Neutralite Religieuse En Entreprise," September 2011 <a href="http://archives.hci.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/HCI-Avis-De\_la\_neutralite\_religieuse\_en\_entreprise\_-\_Septembre\_2011.pdf">http://archives.hci.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/HCI-Avis-De\_la\_neutralite\_religieuse\_en\_entreprise\_-\_Septembre\_2011.pdf</a> (last visited 29 December 2017).
- <sup>464</sup> Déclaration pour le retrait de la proposition de loi sur la laïcité, 27 March 2015 <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000030401921">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000030401921</a> (la st visited 29 December 2017).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

<sup>465</sup> France 24, "French Retailer Halts Plans for 'Sports Hijab' After Outcry," 26 February 2020 <a href="https://www.france24.com/en/20190226-decathlon-plans-sport-hijab-pulled-cancelled-sale-france-after-controversy">https://www.france24.com/en/20190226-decathlon-plans-sport-hijab-pulled-cancelled-sale-france-after-controversy</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>466</sup> Le Monde, "A Mandelieu-la-Napoule, le maire, le port du voile et H&M," 15 June 2017 <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2017/06/15/a-mandelieu-la-napoule-le-maire-le-port-du-voile-et-h-m 5145013 3224.html">https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/article/2017/06/15/a-mandelieu-la-napoule-le-maire-le-port-du-voile-et-h-m 5145013 3224.html</a> (last visited 1 December 2021).

<sup>467</sup> Cour de Cassation

https://www.courdecassation.fr/jurisprudence 2/chambre sociale 576/479 14 46873.html

<sup>468</sup> Case C-188/15 Bougnaoui Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v. Micropole SA, Court of Justice of the European Union, 2017, 39–41.

<sup>469</sup> Case C-157/15 Samira Achbita and Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijdingv. G4S Secure Solutions NV, Court of Justice of the European Union, 2017, 141.

<sup>470</sup> Case C-188/15 Bougnaoui Association de défense des droits de l'homme (ADDH) v. Micropole SA, Court of Justice of the European Union, 2017, 39–41; Case C-157/15 Samira Achbita and Centrum voor gelijkheid van kansen en voor racismebestrijdingv. G4S Secure Solutions NV, Court of Justice of the European Union, 2017, 141; Légifrance, Loi No. 2016-1088 du 8 août 2016 relative au tra vail, à la modernisation du dialogue social et à la sécurisation des parcours professionnels (1)

https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichTexte.do?cidTexte=JORFTEXT000032983213&categorieLien=id (last visited 28 November 2017).

<sup>471</sup> See Code du travail, Article L1321-2-1 <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichCodeArticle.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000006072050&iddArticle=LEGIARTI000033001625">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichCodeArticle.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000006072050&iddArticle=LEGIARTI000033001625</a>.

<sup>472</sup> Cour de Cassation, "Assemblée Plénière du 16 juin 2014 à 14 heures 30," 38–39 <a href="https://www.courdecassation.fr/IMG/Avis\_PG\_pleniere\_140625ano.pdf">https://www.courdecassation.fr/IMG/Avis\_PG\_pleniere\_140625ano.pdf</a> (last visited 31 August 2017).

<sup>473</sup> United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, "Information Note on Decision 2662/2015 of the Committee," 24 September 2018 <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23544&LangID=E">https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23544&LangID=E</a> (last visited 20 February 2021).

<sup>474</sup> Dalloz, "L'extension du principe de neutralité religieuse chez les a vocats?," 10 March 2021 <a href="https://www.dalloz-actualite.fr/interview/l-extension-du-principe-de-neutralite-religieuse-chez-avocats#.YMewDKhKjs4">https://www.dalloz-actualite.fr/interview/l-extension-du-principe-de-neutralite-religieuse-chez-avocats#.YMewDKhKjs4</a> (last visited 14 June 2021).

<sup>475</sup> Assemblée générale de la Conférence des Bâtonniers, "Port de signes distinctifs d'appartenance religieuse à l'audience : Réponse ordinale à la pratique de l'avocat," 18 November 2016

https://www.conferencedesbatonniers.com/images/Articles\_divers/Rapport\_d%C3%A9finitif\_Port\_des\_signes\_ext%C3%A9rieurs\_dappartenance\_religieuse\_ELM\_2016-09-22\_corrig%C3%A9.pdf (last visited 14 June 2021).

<sup>476</sup> Assemblée générale de la Conférence des Bâtonniers, "Port de signes distinctifs d'appartenance religieuse à l'audience : Réponse ordinale à la pratique de l'avocat," 18 November 2016

https://www.conferencedesbatonniers.com/images/Articles\_divers/Rapport\_d%C3%A9finitif\_Port\_des\_signes\_ext%C3%A9rieurs\_dappartenance\_religieuse\_ELM\_2016-09-22\_corrig%C3%A9.pdf (last visited 14 June 2021).

- <sup>477</sup> Institut des Sciences Juridique et Philosophique de la Sorbonne and Mission de Recherche Droit et Justice, "La laïcité dans la justice," November 2020 <a href="http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf">http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf</a> (la st visited 14 June 2021).
- <sup>478</sup> Institut des Sciences Juridique et Philosophique de la Sorbonne and Mission de Recherche Droit et Justice, "La laïcité dans la justice," November 2020 <a href="http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf">http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf</a> (la st visited 14 June 2021).
- <sup>479</sup> Institut des Sciences Juridique et Philosophique de la Sorbonne and Mission de Recherche Droit et Justice, "La laïcité dans la justice," November 2020 <a href="http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf">http://www.gip-recherche-justice.fr/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/16-47-RAPPORT-FINAL-DE-RECHERCHE-PAUTI-optimis%C3%A9.pdf</a> (last visited 14 June 2021).
- <sup>480</sup> Conférence des Bâtonniers, "Résolution Port de la robe et signe d'appartenance religieuse ou politique," 18 November 2016
- https://www.conferencedesbatonniers.com/images/votes/2016/Port\_de\_la\_robe\_et\_signe\_dap partenance religieuse ou politique -
- $\label{lagrange} $$ R\%C3\%A9 solution\_vot\%C3\%A9e\_\%C3\%A0\_lAG\_du\_18.11.2016.pdf (last visited 14 June 2021).$
- <sup>481</sup> The Guardian, "Les Hijabeuses: The Female Footballers Tackling France's On-Pitch Hijab Ban," 21 June 2021 <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/jun/21/les-hijabeuses-the-female-footballers-tackling-frances-on-pitch-hijab-ban">https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/jun/21/les-hijabeuses-the-female-footballers-tackling-frances-on-pitch-hijab-ban</a> (last visited 5 July 2021).
- <sup>482</sup> New York times, "Retirement Home Tolda Nun She Couldn't ear Religious Attire," 21 November 2019 <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2019/11/21/world/europe/france-nun-secularism.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2019/11/21/world/europe/france-nun-secularism.html</a> (last visited 1 March 2022).
- <sup>483</sup> French Constitution 1958, Article 2.
- <sup>484</sup> Pascal Lokiec, "Discrimination Law in France," in Roger Blanpain, ed., *New Developments in Employment Discrimination Law*, 2008, 77 <a href="http://www.jil.go.jp/english/events/documents/clls08">http://www.jil.go.jp/english/events/documents/clls08</a> lokiec.pdf.
- <sup>485</sup> French Labor Code, Article L.1132-1, European Committee of Social Rights, *Sub Travail Affaires Sociales v France*, Decision on the Merits of 8 November 2005, para 10.
- <sup>486</sup> See French Labor Code, Article L1321-2-1 <a href="https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichCodeArticle.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000006072050&idArticle=LEGIARTI000033001625">https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichCodeArticle.do?cidTexte=LEGITEXT000006072050&idArticle=LEGIARTI000033001625</a>.
- <sup>487</sup> The category of "civil servant" ("*Bundesbeamte*") is more broadly defined in Germany than in many other countries. In addition to administrative officials, the category includes police officers, prison guards, and many teachers and university professors. *See, e.g.*, Samantha Early, "Two different classes of German teacher," *DW*, 3 March 2015 https://p.dw.com/p/1EkXP (last visited 13 September 2021).
- <sup>488</sup> Bundesministerium des Innern, für Bau und Heimat, *Islam in Deutschland*, https://perma.cc/WZ9W-8VSM (last visited 27 October 2021).
- <sup>489</sup> Neha Sahgal & Besheer Mohamed, "In the U.S. and Western Europe, people say they accept Muslims, but opinions are divided on Islam," *Pew Research Center*, 8 October 2019 https://pema.cc/7FWM-D7A3 (last visited 29 November 2020).
- <sup>490</sup> Engy Abdelkader, "A Comparative Analysis of European Islamophobia: France, UK Germany, Netherlands and Sweden," *16 UCLA J. Islamic & Near E.L.* 29, 37, 2017.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>491</sup> Doris Weichselbaumer, "Discrimination against Female Migrants Wearing Headscarves," *IZA DP No. 10217*, September 2016 https://perma.cc/YLA5-SBMW.
- <sup>492</sup> Antidiskriminierungsstelle des Bundes, *Diskriminierungsrisiken von muslimischen Frauen mit Kopftuch auf dem deutschen Arbeitsmarkt*, *Dokumentation des Fachgesprächs am* 30.05.2016, 30 May 2016 https://perma.cc/FK2Z-GXQF.
- <sup>493</sup> Landtag von Baden-Württemberg, *Antrag der Fraktion Die Republikaner und Stellungnahme des Ministeriums für Kultus, Jugend und Sport: Kopftuch als Symbol des Islams an deutschen Schulen,* 9 June 1998 https://perma.cc/WF24-ZKAT.
- <sup>494</sup> Caro Wenzel, "Nur ein Stück Stoff?," *Tagesschau*, 13 July 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/YK7B-E3WA">https://perma.cc/YK7B-E3WA</a> (last visited 27 October 2021).
- <sup>495</sup> See, e.g., relevant articles in *Der Spiegel* available at https://perma.cc/W4Q7-WETJ, in *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung* available at https://perma.cc/7EWY-BNBM, and in *Süddeutsche Zeitung* available at https://perma.cc/B5WD-MPMP.
- <sup>496</sup> Elizabeth Schumacher, "Germany's AfD Wants Ban on Wearing a Headscarf in Street," *DW*, 27 May 2017 https://p.dw.com/p/2dgRp (last visited 2 July 2018).
- <sup>497</sup> European Network Against Racism, Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim

Women in Germany Key Findings, 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/TT2W-YTA8">https://perma.cc/TT2W-YTA8</a> (last visited 10 March 2017). A survey of Muslim women in Germany, conducted by the Antidisk riminierungsstelle des Landes Brandenburg, finds that 59 percent of the respondents reported they were intentionally insulted, verbally a bused, or a ccosted. One of the most shocking racist attacks in Germany was the murder of 31-year-old Marwa Elsherbini, an Egyptian woman, in July 2009. This incident highlights how hate speech and hate crime can be connected. Marwa, pregnant at the time of the attack, was stabbed to death at the Dresden courtroom where she was pressing charges a gainst her assailant for insulting her for wearing a headscarf at a playground.

- <sup>498</sup> Liz Fekete, "Germany: Why Did Marwa a l-Sherbini Die?," *The Institute of Race Relations*, 8 July 2009 https://perma.cc/X6H6-OJJE(last visited 2 July 2018).
- <sup>499</sup> Asmaa Soliman, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Germany" *European Network Against Racism*, 2016 https://perma.cc/662K-ESBY (last visited 12 March 2017).
- <sup>500</sup> Asmaa Soliman, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Germany" *European Network Against Racism*, 2016 https://perma.cc/662K-ESBY (last visited 12 March 2017).
- <sup>501</sup> Bundesgesetzblatt 2017 Teil I Nr. 36, Gesetz zu bereichsspezifischen Regelungen der Gesichtsverhüllung und zur Änderung weiterer dienstrechtlicher Vorschriften, 8 June 2017 https://pema.cc/NG46-NWUN.
- $^{502}$  Deutscher Bundestag, WD 2 -3000 094/17, Verbot der Vollverschleierung in Staaten der EU, https://perma.cc/A8ZA-7KYY.
- <sup>503</sup> Alistair Walsh, *Bundestag Bans Face Veils for Civil Servants amid Security Measures*, *Deutsche Welle*, 28 April 2017 <a href="https://p.dw.com/p/2c2cO">https://p.dw.com/p/2c2cO</a> (last visited 22 March 2021).
- <sup>504</sup> Gesetz zur Regelung des Erscheinungsbilds von Beamtinnen und Beamten sowie zur Änderung weiterer dienstrechtlicher Vorschriften, 28 June 2021 https://perma.cc/LKW6-PYJD.

- <sup>505</sup> Gesetz zur Regelung des Erscheinungsbilds von Beamtinnen und Beamten sowie zur Änderung weiterer dienstrechtlicher Vorschriften, 28 June 2021 https://perma.cc/LKW6-PYJD.
- <sup>506</sup> Zeitschrift für Beamtenrecht, Verfassungsfragen des Gesetzes zur Regelung des Erscheinungsbilds von Beamtinnen und Beamten, September 2021.
- <sup>507</sup> Landtag Rheinland Pfalz 4, No. 2, *Landesgesetz zur Änderung des Schulgesetzes, der Schulwahlordnung und von Schulordnungen, Drucksache 17/11715*, 17 April 2020 https://perma.cc/YHP2-HBR4; *DW*, "German State Bans Burqas, Niqabs in Schools," 21 February 2020 https://perma.cc/3PT5-CQME (last visited 2 December 2020); *DW*, "German Authorities, Politicians Divided on Niqab, Burqa Ban," 8 February 2020 https://perma.cc/F9V8-GUF8 (last visited 29 November 2020).
- <sup>508</sup> DW, "German State Bans Burqas, Niqabs in Schools," 21 February 2020 https://perma.cc/3PT5-CQME (last visited 2 December 2020)
- 509 DW, "German State Bans Burqas, Niqabs in Schools," 21 February 2020 https://pema.cc/3PT5-CQME (last visited 2 December 2020); The official journal of Lower Saxony, in which the amendment of the school law was published, states that: "[i]t is prohibited for a student to wear a burqa or niqab while attending a public school" and explains the procedure if a student still comes to school. Amtlicher Teil, Gesetz zur Verankerung der Pflichten von Schülerinnen und Schülern im Niedersächsischen Schulgesetz, 16 August 2017 https://pema.cc/T4XN-5ZT5.
- <sup>510</sup> Bundesverfassungsgericht, "Press Release: A general ban on headscarves for teachers at state schools is not compatible with the Constitution," 27 January 2015 https://perma.cc/VL2V-CNRZ (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>511</sup> Matthias Mahlmann, *Religious Symbolism and the Resilience of Liberal Constitutionalism:* On the Federal German Constitutional Court's Second Head Scarf Decision, 16 German L.J. 887, 889–92, 2015.
- <sup>512</sup> Bundesverfassungsgericht, *Leitsätze zum Urteil des Zweiten Senats vom 24 September 2003*, https://perma.cc/X5GK-6GMT.
- <sup>513</sup> Bundesverfassungsgericht, *Leitsätze zum Urteil des Zweiten Senats vom 24 September 2003*, https://perma.cc/X5GK-6GMT.
- <sup>514</sup> Bundesverfassungsgericht, *Leitsätze zum Urteil des Zweiten Senats vom 24 September 2003*, https://perma.cc/X5GK-6GMT.
- <sup>515</sup> *DW*, "Berlin Court Rules in Favor of Hijab-wearing Teacher," 9 February 2017 https://p.dw.com/p/2XFiq (last visited 2 July 2018).
- <sup>516</sup> DW, "Berlin Teacher Headscarf Ban is Illegal, Rules Top Court," 27 August 2020 https://p.dw.com/p/3hbtK (last visited 2 December 2020).
- <sup>517</sup> Maryam H'Madoun, "Case Watch: German Court Sides with Muslim Women Teachers Over Discriminatory Headscarf Ban," *Open Society Justice Initiative*, 3 September 2020 https://perma.cc/HUY6-N2G3 (last visited 15 February 2021).
- <sup>518</sup> BBC, "Berlin Court Bars Muslim Teacher from Wearing Headscarf," 9 May 2018 https://perma.cc/BX7A-MK6N (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>519</sup> BBC, "Berlin Court Bars Muslim Teacher from Wearing Headscarf," 9 May 2018 https://perma.cc/BX7A-MK6N (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>520</sup> Tim Zülch, "Ende im Kopftuchstreit nicht in Sicht," *ND*, 4 September 2020 https://perma.cc/R3VZ-J6QE (last visited 28 October 2021).

- <sup>521</sup> Maryam H'Madoun, "Case Watch: German Court Sides with Muslim Women Teachers Over Discriminatory Headscarf Ban," *Open Society Justice Initiative*, 3 September 2020 https://perma.cc/HUY6-N2G3 (last visited 15 February 2021).
- <sup>522</sup> Zeit Online, "NRW-Gesetz untersagt religiöse Symbole für Justiz," 3 March 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/6HP9-SPG8">https://perma.cc/6HP9-SPG8</a> (last visited 17 May 2021).
- <sup>523</sup> Legal Tribune Online, "Keine religiösen Symbole für Richter und Staatsanwälte," 13 May 2020 https://www.lto.de/persistent/a id/41601/ (last visited 3 December 2020).
- <sup>524</sup> Asmaa Soliman, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Germany" *European Network Against Racism*, 2016 https://perma.cc/662K-ESBY (last visited 12 March 2017).
- <sup>525</sup> Lizzie Dearden, "German Judges Call for Headscarf Ban in Court to Show 'Neutrality'," *Independent*, 9 August 2016 https://perma.cc/9QQE-LFWS (last visited 5 March 2017).
- <sup>526</sup> 2 BvR 1333/17, Judgment of the Federal Constitutional Court of 14 January 2020, para. 1-26.
- <sup>527</sup> Annellie Kaufmann, "Kopftuch Ja, Robe Nein," *Legal Tribune Online*, 9 April 2020 https://www.lto.de/persistent/a id/42712/ (last visited 15 February 2021).
- <sup>528</sup> BVerwG2 C 5.19, Judgment of the Federal Administrative Court of 12 November 2020.
- <sup>529</sup> Art. 11 BayRiStAG: Amtstracht, Neutralität, Bayerische Staatskanzlei; Art. 57 BayAGGVG: Amtstracht, Neutralität, Bayerische Staatskanzlei.
- <sup>530</sup> BVerwG2 C 5.19, Urteil des Bundesverwaltungsgerichts vom 12.11.2020.
- <sup>531</sup> Klaus Ferdinand Gärditz & Maryam Kamil Abdulsalam, "Verfassungsfragen des Gesetzes zur Regelung des Erscheinungsbilds von Beamtinnen und Beamten," *Zeitschriftfür Beamtenrecht*, September 2012.
- <sup>532</sup> Oliver Teutsch, "AWO gegen Kopftuch in der Schule," *Frankfurter Rundschau*, 12 August 2017 https://perma.cc/JS8K-FL98 (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>533</sup> Oliver Teutsch, "AWO gegen Kopftuch in der Schule," *Frankfurter Rundschau*, 12 August 2017 https://perma.cc/JS8K-FL98 (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>534</sup> Oliver Teutsch, "AWO gegen Kopftuch in der Schule," *Frankfurter Rundschau*, 12 August 2017 https://perma.cc/JS8K-FL98 (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>535</sup> Frankfurter Allgemeine, "Muslima Erhält Entschädigung: AWO verbietet religiöse Symbole," 11 August 2017 https://perma.cc/M3V2-J5FT (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>536</sup> Joined cases, C-804/18 and C-341/19, *IXv WABE eV and MH Müller Handels GmbHv MJ*, Judgment of the Court of Justice of the European Union.
- <sup>537</sup> Bundesverfassungsgericht, *Press release: Zum Kopftuch einer Muslimischen Verkäuferin in einem Kaufhaus*, 21 August 2003 https://perma.cc/RD59-NU4U (last visited 28 October 2021).
- <sup>538</sup> Deutsche Gesellschaft für Krankenhaushygiene e.V., *Hygiene-Tipp Januar 2015: Tragen von Kopftüchern im Gesundheitswesen*, 5 January 2015 https://perma.cc/UP5D-E3KA (last visited 8 July 2018).
- <sup>539</sup> *The Local*, "Court: Woman can wear headscarf at work," 18 October 2012 https://perma.cc/P82R-YRP9 (last visited 8 July 2018).
- <sup>540</sup> ZWP Online, "Zahnarzt lehnt muslim ische Zahnarzthelferin wegen Kopftuch ab," 31 October 2016 https://perma.cc/SKY4-ESWC (last visited 8 July 2018).

- <sup>541</sup> Klaus Ferdinand Gärditz & Maria Geismann, "Scheidung nur ohne Kopftuch," *Legal Tribune Online*, 17 July 2017 https://www.lto.de/persistent/a\_id/23473/ (last visited 8 July 2018).
- <sup>542</sup> The ECtHR has since held in *Lachiri v Belgium* (App. No. 3413/09) that the exclusion of a woman, who was a civil party to the case, from the courtroom on grounds that she wore a headscarf constitutes a breach of religious freedom protected by Art. 9 of the ECHR.
- <sup>543</sup> Sigrid Kneist, "Richter wollten Anwältin Teilnahme an Verhandlung verweigern," *Der Tagesspiegel*, 17 September 2013 https://perma.cc/E3LL-PC7H (last visited 8 July 2018); Rechtsanwaltskammer Berlin, "Richter wollten Anwältin Teilnahme an Verhandlung verweigern," *10. Jahresbericht 2013*, 2014.
- <sup>544</sup> Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany 1949 (Grundgesetz für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland), Arts. 33 and 136.
- <sup>545</sup> General Equal Treatment Act 2006, Art. 1.
- <sup>546</sup> European Commission, Gleichbehandlung im Beschäftigungsbereich: Einstellung des Verfahrens gegen Estland; mit Gründen versehene Stellungnahmen an Deutschland und Italien, 29 October 2009 https://perma.cc/464E-ALYP (last visited 4 May 2021).
- <sup>547</sup> Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, *Allgemeines Gleichbehandlungsgesetz:* Zwischenbilanz eines brüchigen Konsenses, 18 March 2014 https://perma.cc/S6WU-MKST (last visited 4 May 2021).
- <sup>548</sup> Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece: The 'Muslim Threat' and the Panic about Islam," *The Routledge International Handbook of Islamophobia*, 2019, 198.
- <sup>549</sup> U.S. Department of State, *Greece 2018 International Religious Freedom Report*, 2017 <a href="https://www.state.gov/reports/2018-report-on-international-religious-freedom/greece/">https://www.state.gov/reports/2018-report-on-international-religious-freedom/greece/</a> (last visited 20 July 2021).
- <sup>550</sup> Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece: The 'Muslim Threat' and the Panic about Islam," *The Routledge International Handbook of Islamophobia*, 2019, 198.
- <sup>551</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2016," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA* http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/GREECE.pdf.
- <sup>552</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2016," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA* http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/GREECE.pdf.
- <sup>553</sup> Islamic Research Foundation International, *Hijab No Threat to Secularism: Greece* <a href="http://www.irfi.org/articles2/articles3551\_3600/hijab%20no%20threat%20to%20secularism%20-%20greecehtml.htm">http://www.irfi.org/articles2/articles3551\_3600/hijab%20no%20threat%20to%20secularism%20-%20greecehtml.htm</a> (last visited 5 March 2017).
- <sup>554</sup> Stav Dimitropoulos, "Wearing the Veil in Greece: How Greeks Are Reacting to the Influx of Refugees," *Global Comment*, 11 January 2016 <a href="http://globalcomment.com/wearing-the-veil-in-greece-how-greeks-are-reacting-to-the-influx-of-refugees/">http://globalcomment.com/wearing-the-veil-in-greece-how-greeks-are-reacting-to-the-influx-of-refugees/</a> (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>555</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2018," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2018," *SETA*, 414-416 https://setav.org/en/assets/uploads/2019/09/EIR 2018.pdf.
- <sup>556</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2018," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2018," *SETA* https://setav.org/en/assets/uploads/2019/09/EIR\_2018.pdf.

- <sup>557</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2018," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2018," *SETA* https://setav.org/en/assets/uploads/2019/09/EIR 2018.pdf.
- <sup>558</sup> Ali Huseyinoglu & Alexandros Sakellariou, "Islamophobia in Greece National Report 2018," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2018," *SETA*, 203 https://setav.org/en/assets/uploads/2019/09/EIR 2018.pdf.
- <sup>559</sup> Niki Kitsantonis, "It Took a Century to Open a Mosque in Athens. Then Came the Pandemic," *New York Times*, 14 November 2020 https://perma.cc/NL4B-MKUX
- <sup>560</sup> Niki Kitsantonis, "Protest at Athens Mosque Site Ends With 15 Arrests," *New York Times*, 4 November 2016 https://www.nytimes.com/2016/11/05/world/europe/protest-at-athens-mosque-site-ends-with-15-arrests.html; Niki Kitsantonis, "It Took a Century to Open a Mosque in Athens. Then Came the Pandemic," *New York Times*, 14 November 2020 https://pema.cc/NL4B-MKUX.
- <sup>561</sup> The Women's House for Empowerment & Emancipation, *No holidays in Petrou Ralli: A Letter from Detained Women,* Athens Indymedia, 2 January 2020 https://athens.indymedia.org/post/1602322/(last visited 30 October 2021).
- <sup>562</sup> The Women's House for Empowerment & Emancipation, *No holidays in Petrou Ralli: A Letter from Detained Women,* Athens Indymedia, 2 January 2020 https://athens.indymedia.org/post/1602322/(last visited 30 October 2021).
- <sup>563</sup> The Women's House for Empowerment & Emancipation, *No holidays in Petrou Ralli: A Letter from Detained Women,* Athens Indymedia, 2 January 2020 https://athens.indymedia.org/post/1602322/(last visited 30 October 2021).
- <sup>564</sup> The Constitution of Greece 2008, Article 2.
- <sup>565</sup> Law 4356/2015, Articles 15–19.
- <sup>566</sup> Péter Krekó, Bulcsú Hunyadi, & Patrik Szicherle, "Anti-Muslim Populism in Hungary: From the Margins to the Mainstream," *Brookings*, 24 July 2019 https://www.brookings.edu/research/anti-muslim-populism-in-hungary-from-the-margins-to-the-mainstream/(last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>567</sup> Alan Cooperman, Conrad Hackett, & Anna Schiller, Europe's Growing Muslim Population: Muslims are projected to increase as a shaare of Europe's population even without migration (29 November 2019), Pew Research Center. p. 29-30 <a href="https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf">https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf</a> (last visited 25 November 2021)
- <sup>568</sup> Nadia Jones-Gailani & Gabi Göbl, "Isla mophobia in Hungary National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA* https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 15 February 2022).
- <sup>569</sup> Franziska Bauer & Jakub Hein, "Unseen yet Unaccepted: Budapest's Muslim Community" (6 January 2016) <a href="http://www.cafebabel.co.uk/society/article/unseen-yet-unaccepted-budapests-muslim-community.html">http://www.cafebabel.co.uk/society/article/unseen-yet-unaccepted-budapests-muslim-community.html</a> (last visited 5 March 2017).
- 570 Esra Aytar & Peter Bodor, "Discourses of Being a Muslim Woman in Contemporary Hungary and the Hijab Paradox," Quaderni di Sociologia, 2019 <a href="https://journals.openedition.org/qds/2609#tocto1n3">https://journals.openedition.org/qds/2609#tocto1n3</a> (last visited 8 November 2021); Na dia Jones-Ga ilani & Gabi Göbl, "Isla mophobia in Hungary National Report 2019," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," SETA

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EIR\_2019.pdf (last visited 15 February 2022).

- <sup>571</sup> See Zsolt Sereghy, "Islamophobia in Hungary National Report 2016," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2016," *SETA*, 265–70 <a href="http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/HUNGARY.pdf">http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/HUNGARY.pdf</a> (last visited 1 June 2017).
- <sup>572</sup> *The National,* "Hungary's Muslims Fear Referendum Will Fuel Islamophobia," 2 October 2016 <a href="http://www.thenational.ae/world/europe/hungarys-muslims-fear-referendum-will-fuel-islamophobia">http://www.thenational.ae/world/europe/hungarys-muslims-fear-referendum-will-fuel-islamophobia</a> (last visited 5 March 2016).
- <sup>573</sup> Andrew Anglin, "Hungary: Orbán Declares Islam Is Banned under the Constitution," *Daily Stormer*, 26 April 2016 http://www.dailystormer.com/hungary-orban-declares-islam-is-banned-under-the-constitution/ (last visited 7 March 2017).
- <sup>574</sup> Emily Schultheis, "Victor Orban: Hungary doesn't want 'Muslim invaders," *Politico*, 8 January 2018 https://www.politico.eu/article/viktor-orban-hungary-doesnt-want-muslim-invaders/ (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>575</sup> Elżbieta M. Goździak, "Using Fear of the 'Other,' Orbán Reshapes Migration Policy in a Hungary Built on Cultural Diversity," *Migration Policy Institute*, 10 October 2019, <a href="https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/orb%C3%A1n-reshapes-migration-policy-hungary">https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/orb%C3%A1n-reshapes-migration-policy-hungary</a>, (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>576</sup> Christopher Adam, "Ásotthalom: The Hungarian Town That Banned Muslims and Gays in Public," *Hungarian Press*, 29 November 2016 <a href="http://hungarianfreepress.com/2016/11/29/asotthalom-the-hungarian-town-that-banned-muslims-and-gays-in-public/">http://hungarianfreepress.com/2016/11/29/asotthalom-the-hungarian-town-that-banned-muslims-and-gays-in-public/</a> (last visited 8 March 2017).
- <sup>577</sup> Rovo Attila, "Megsemmisítették a z á sotthalmi meleg- és muszlimellenes rendeletet," *Index*, 22 April 2017 <a href="http://index.hu/belfold/2017/04/12/alkotmanyellenes\_toroczkai\_asotthalom\_rendelet\_homoszexualis\_muszlim/">http://index.hu/belfold/2017/04/12/alkotmanyellenes\_toroczkai\_asotthalom\_rendelet\_homoszexualis\_muszlim/</a> (last visited 20 April 2017).
- <sup>578</sup> The Constitution of Hungary, Article 15.
- <sup>579</sup> L&E Global Knowledge Center, *Antidiscrimination Laws in Hungary*, 14 November 2016 <a href="http://knowledge.leglobal.org/anti-discrimination-laws-in-hungary/">http://knowledge.leglobal.org/anti-discrimination-laws-in-hungary/</a> (last visited 19 June 2017).
- <sup>580</sup> Central Statistics Office, *Chapter 8: Religion*, Census 2016, 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/CA9A-R4NM">https://perma.cc/CA9A-R4NM</a> (last visited 26 June 2017); Maggie Armstrong, "Lifting the Veil on Irish Islam," *Independent*, 26 January 2014 <a href="https://perma.cc/JKN6-GPZE">https://perma.cc/JKN6-GPZE</a> (last visited 19 March 2017).
- <sup>581</sup> James Carr, "Islamophobia in Ireland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/X7DH-FZAW">https://perma.cc/X7DH-FZAW</a> (last visited 13 March 2017).
- <sup>582</sup> See James Carr, "Islamophobia in Dublin: Experiences and How to Respond," *Immigrant Council of Ireland*, 2016, 6–7 <a href="https://perma.cc/ZJB7-3EXM">https://perma.cc/ZJB7-3EXM</a> (last visited 9 March 2017).
- <sup>583</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 415 <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>584</sup> Kathryn O'Sullivan, *Minority Religions under Irish Law* (Leiden: Brill, 2019), 72; Patsy McGarry, "What is it like to grow up Muslim in Ireland?," *The Irish Times*, 28 January 2017 <a href="https://pema.cc/Q9TB-WEBT">https://pema.cc/Q9TB-WEBT</a> (last visited 13 September 2021).

- <sup>585</sup> James Carr, "Islamophobia in Ireland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/X7DH-FZAW">https://perma.cc/X7DH-FZAW</a> (last visited 13 March 2017).
- <sup>586</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 415 https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>587</sup> Cianan Brennan, "The Daughter of a Woman Who Refused Medical Treatment from Muslim Doctors Has Defended Her Actions," *The Journal*, 11 December 2015 <a href="https://jrnl.ie/2496379">https://jrnl.ie/2496379</a> (last visited 11 March 2017).
- <sup>588</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 419 <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>589</sup> Patricia McDonagh, "Muslim Anger at Opposition Calls for School Ban on Hijab," *Independent*, 2 June 2008 https://perma.cc/D2N9-CEHS (last visited 13 Mar 2017).
- <sup>590</sup> Patrick Counihan, "Leading Muslim Academic Calls on Irish Catholic Schools to Allow Wearing of Hijab," *Irish Central*, 14 September 2014 <a href="https://perma.cc/58WJ-T9EZ">https://perma.cc/58WJ-T9EZ</a> (last visited 9 March 2017).
- <sup>591</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 419 <a href="https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://pema.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>592</sup> Sorcha Pollak, "Protestors Warn ECJ Ruling to Further Alienate Muslim Women," *The Irish Times*, 21 March 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/GF6Z-FS3V">https://perma.cc/GF6Z-FS3V</a> (last visited 13 July 2021).
- <sup>593</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 419 https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>594</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 419 <a href="https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL">https://perma.cc/S2UD-VBZL</a> (last visited 15 June 2021).
- <sup>595</sup> Simon Caldwell, "Ireland's Catholic Schools Ban Full Muslim Veil," *The Telegraph*, 24 September 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/2PH5-6X63">https://perma.cc/2PH5-6X63</a> (last visited 12 Mar 2017).
- <sup>596</sup> See Claire Hogan, "Accommodating Islam in the Denominational Irish Education System: Religious Freedom and Education in the Republic of Ireland," *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 2011: 554–73.
- <sup>597</sup> ADJ-00001938, Workplace Relations Commission (12 October 2016) https://perma.cc/DE7X-LAX8 (last visited 4 October 2021).
- <sup>598</sup> Órla Ryan, "Gardaí Not Reviewing Uniform Policy a bout Hijabs," *The Journal*, 28 August 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/47ZH-AHEM">https://perma.cc/47ZH-AHEM</a> (last visited 27 June 2017).
- <sup>599</sup> Equal Pay Directive (75/117/EEC), the Equal Treatment Directive (76/207/EEC), and the General Framework Directive (2000/78/EC).
- 600 Constitution of Ireland 1937, Art.44.
- <sup>601</sup> Employment Equality Acts 1998–2015 (Part 2).
- $^{602}$  Citizens Information, "Equality in the Workplace" <a href="https://perma.cc/4CWD-UMT4">https://perma.cc/4CWD-UMT4</a> (last visited 1 June 2017).
- <sup>603</sup> "Exclusionary Populism and Islamophobia: A Comparative Analysis of Italy and Spain" https://perma.cc/7MR4-8R6W (last visited 24 October 2021).
- 604 Statista Research Department, "Italy: Resident Muslims by Country of Origin 2020" https://perma.cc/WM98-RSDV (last visited 24 October 2021).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

605 Manuela Caiani, "Muslims in the West and the Rise of the New Populists: The Case of Italy," *Brookings*, 24 July 2019 https://perma.cc/7H9P-CZ8M (last visited 24 October 2021).

606 Annalisa Merelli, "There Are Over 1.6 Million Muslims in Italy and Only Eight Mosques," *Quartz*, 4 May 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/BV5Y-3BZ7">https://perma.cc/BV5Y-3BZ7</a> (last visited 24 October 2021); Allessandra Bocchi, "Benign Neglect or Religious Limbo? On Italy's Muslim Population," *Al Bawaba* https://perma.cc/2RKA-3XGW (last visited 24 October 2021); "La Presenza dei Musulmani in Italia," *Openpolis* <a href="https://perma.cc/Q4F7-6RXD">https://perma.cc/Q4F7-6RXD</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

Enes Bayrakli, Farid Hafez "European Islamophobia Report" (SETA 2020)

https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/2019eir-ITALY.pdf [https://perma.cc/ND7N-9M3M] accessed 24 October 2021.

<sup>607</sup> Statista Research Department, "Italy: Resident Muslims by Country of Origin 2020," Statista 2020 <a href="https://perma.cc/WM98-RSDV">https://perma.cc/WM98-RSDV</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

<sup>608</sup> Pew Research Center, "Essere cristiani in Europa occidentale," 31 https://perma.cc/2GDW-5QMR.

<sup>609</sup> Amnesty International, "Barometro Dell' Odio," 17 <a href="https://perma.cc/RV4L-FKGR">https://perma.cc/RV4L-FKGR</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

<sup>610</sup> Laura Cervi, "Exclusionary Populism and Islamophobia: A Comparative Analysis of Italy and Spain," 10 October 2020 <a href="https://perma.cc/XUQ8-BH97">https://perma.cc/XUQ8-BH97</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

611 Manuela Caiani, "How Italy's 'All-populist Government' Viewed Muslims" <a href="https://pema.cc/WM98-RSDV">https://pema.cc/WM98-RSDV</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

<sup>612</sup> See ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy Key Findings," 2016, 4 <a href="https://perma.cc/Y64D-RYLP">https://perma.cc/Y64D-RYLP</a> (last visited 20 March 2017).

<sup>613</sup> Beatrice Tauro, "L'Islam italiano. Un'indagine tra religione, identità e islamofobia' di Fabrizio Ciocca," *Arab Press*, 7 April 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/WX3A-9B2Y">https://perma.cc/WX3A-9B2Y</a> (last visited 3 April 2021).

<sup>614</sup> Grazia Alessandra Siino and Nadia Levantino, "Islamophobia in Italy National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 274 https://perma.cc/KCH8-3ZWN.

http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR\_2015\_ITALY.pdf accessed 10 March 2017.

<sup>615</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy Key Findings," 2016 https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP (last visited 20 March 2017).

<sup>616</sup> Johanna Mitterhofer and Martha Jiménez-Rosano, "Dalla scuola al mondo del la voro:

percorsi di transizione di giovani con background migratorio," *Eurac Research: Istituto sui Diritti delle Minoranze*, May 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/8ZBT-E2QX">https://perma.cc/8ZBT-E2QX</a> (last visited 19 April 2021).

<sup>617</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy," 2016, 13 https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP.

<sup>618</sup> Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2019, 437 <a href="https://perma.cc/6CVA-5TR6">https://perma.cc/6CVA-5TR6</a> (last visited 1 April 2021).

<sup>619</sup> Council of State, Judgment no. 3076 of 19 June 2008. Quoted in ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy," 2016, 59 https://pema.cc/6AV6-XMKP.

<sup>620</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy," 2016, 59 https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

621 Deliberation 4/2017, Veneto Regional Council

https://perma.cc/SB3L-FMYU (last visited 28 July 2017).

- <sup>622</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy," 2016, 59 https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP.
- 623 U.S. State Department, "Italy 2015 International Religious Freedom Report," 2015 https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/256415.pdf (last visited 10 March 2017).
- <sup>624</sup>Veneto Regional Regulation no. 2 of 4 July 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/27TX-CRAN">https://perma.cc/27TX-CRAN</a> (last visited 28 July 2017).
- <sup>625</sup> Peter Walker and Agencies, "Muslim Woman Fined for Wearing Burqa in Northern Italy," *The Guardian*, 5 May 2010 <a href="https://perma.cc/DCV6-3D2R">https://perma.cc/DCV6-3D2R</a> (last visited 10 March 2017).
- 626 The Expresss Tribune, "Muslim Woman Fined €30,000 for 'Refusing to Remove Headscarf' in Italy" <a href="https://tribune.com.pk/story/1228737/muslim-woman-fined-e30000-not-removing-burga">https://tribune.com.pk/story/1228737/muslim-woman-fined-e30000-not-removing-burga</a> (last visited 12 October 2021).
- <sup>627</sup> Ordinary Court of Milan, First Civil Section, Ruling of 20/04/2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/F5L4-SP6D">https://perma.cc/F5L4-SP6D</a> (last visited 28 July 2017).
- <sup>628</sup> Court of Appeal of Milan, Ruling of 28/10/2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/2GYZ-HYD9">https://perma.cc/2GYZ-HYD9</a> (last visited 28 March 2021).
- <sup>629</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy Key Findings," 2016,

http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/factsheet italy - en final.pdf (last visited 20 March 2017).

- <sup>630</sup> ENAR, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Italy Key Findings," 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP">https://perma.cc/6AV6-XMKP</a> (last visited 20 March 2017).
- 631 Tisca li News, "Rifiutate da pazienti e ospedali: dottoresse col velo costrette ad abbandonare l'Ita lia", 7 Ja nuary 2020 https://perma.cc/UD6B-A395; Sanità Informazione, "Veneto, Aodi (Amsi): «Dottoresse rifiutate da pazienti e direttori sa nitari perché indossano il velo isla mico»", 8 Ja nuary 2020 https://perma.cc/62DH-RNLU.
- 632 Il Resto del Carlino Bologna, "Bologna, practicante a vvocata col velo cacciata dall'aula, ora il Tar fa marcia indietro," 17 January 2018 https://perma.cc/KNZ9-LGY7; Il Giorna le, "Avvocato indossa il velo in Tribuna le: il giudice la "caccia" dall'Aula", 17 January 2018 https://perma.cc/CX49-JDU7.
- 633 Italian Constitution, Article 3.
- <sup>634</sup> Anita Stasulane, "Islamophobia in Latvia National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," SETA, 2016, 314 https://perma.cc/4QF8-MV97 (last visited 10 March 2017).
- <sup>635</sup> Sameera Ehteram, "Latvia Bans Face Veils for All 3 Women Who Wear Them," *Carbonated.TV*, 20 April 2016)
- https://web.archive.org/web/20160423120349/http://www.carbonated.tv/news/latvia-europe-ban-veil-burka (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>636</sup> Nils Sakss, "Tas arī ir islāms," *Purao*, 16 November 2015 https://perma.cc/6CDA-NU23 (last visited 14 March 2017); Vilis Seleckis, "Laiks nomestrozā brilles," *Delfi*, 16 November 2015 https://perma.cc/97NC-GT69 (last visited 5 March 2017).
- 637 Ooutlas, "Latvian Ministry Plans Proposal to Ban Niqab despite Paucity of Affected Individuals," 20 April 2016 https://perma.cc/M7G4-67G8 (last visited 20 March 2017).

- <sup>638</sup> Anita Stasulane, "Islamophobia in Latvia National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," SETA, 2016, 314 https://perma.cc/4OF8-MV97 (last visited 10 March 2017).
- <sup>639</sup> US States Department, "Latvia 2015 International Religious Freedom Report," 2015, 320, https://perma.cc/RC9G-LNNT (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>640</sup> Anita Stasulane, *Islamophobia in Latvia National Report 2015, in* Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 314 https://perma.cc/4QF8-MV97 (last visited 10 March 2017).
- <sup>641</sup> LSM, "Most Latvians Support Face Veil Ban," 7 March 2016 https://perma.cc/T6L3-DU52 (last visited 13 March 2017).
- <sup>642</sup> Sameera Ehteram, "Latvia Bans Face Veils for All 3 Women Who Wear Them," *Carbonated.TV*, 20 Aprril 2016
- https://web.archive.org/web/20160423120349/http://www.carbonated.tv/news/latvia-europe-ban-veil-burka (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>643</sup> LSM, "Most Latvians Support Face Veil Ban," 7 March 2016 https://perma.cc/T6L3-DU52 (last visited 13 March 2017).
- <sup>644</sup> Yeni Şafak, "Muslim Latvian Woman Opposes Impending Veil Ban," *Yenisafak*, 23 September 2016 https://perma.cc/UT2G-PLS6 (last visited 12 March 2017).
- <sup>645</sup> Skaties, "Plā no turpināt sejas a izsegšanas ierobežošanas likumprojekta virzību," 25 Jun 2017 https://perma.cc/EFV7-9PD3 (last visited 24 July 2017).
- <sup>646</sup> Māris Klūga, "Sejas a izsegu ierobežošanas iecere Saeimā uz priekšu nevirzās," *LSM.lv*, 18 March 2018 https://perma.cc/GV6X-KSNA (last visited 13 November 2021).
- <sup>647</sup> The Republic of Latvia Constitution, https://perma.cc/78EZ-HDYV (last visited 24 July 2017).
- <sup>648</sup> Statistic Luthania, "Population by Religious Community," https://perma.cc/DCE2-HB8T (last visited 7 November 2021); Statistics Lithuania, "Geographical and Demographic Characteristics of the Population,"
- http://web.archive.org/web/20170331182445/http://statistics.bookdesign.lt/esu\_o1.htm? lang=lt (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>649</sup> Birutė Sabatauskaitė, Eglė Urbonaitė Tilindienė, and Karolis Žibas, *Islamophobia in Lithuania National Report 2015*, in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 334
- http://file.setav.org/Files/Pdf/20160324132020 eir 2015.pdf (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>650</sup> Agata S. Nalborczyk, "Muslim Women in Poland and Lithuania. Tatar Tradition, Religious Practice, Hijaband Marriage," in E. Adamiak, M. Chrząstowska, Ch. Methuen, S. Sobkowiak, eds., *Gender and Religion in Central and Eastern Europe*, May 2009, 58-69.
- <sup>651</sup> Ricard Wike et al., "Minority Groups in European Public Opinion Three Decades After the Fall of Communism," *PewResearch Center*, 14 October 2019 https://perma.cc/5G3L-GJZB (last visited 7 Nov 2021).
- <sup>652</sup> Giedrė Blažytė, *Islamophobia in Lithuania National Report 2019*, in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2020), 484 <a href="https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/2019eir-LITHUANIA.pdf">https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/2019eir-LITHUANIA.pdf</a> (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>653</sup> Giedrė Blažytė, *Islamophobia in Lithuania National Report 2019*, in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2019," *SETA*, 2020), 489

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

https://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/2019eir-LITHUANIA.pdf (last visited 7 November 2021).

- <sup>654</sup> Birutė Sabatauskaitė, Eglė Urbonaitė Tilindienė, and Karolis Žibas, "Islamophobia in Lithuania National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., "European Islamophobia Report 2015," *SETA*, 2016, 336.
- <sup>655</sup> Delfi En, "Lithuanian MP Wants Ban on Wearing Burqas in Public, Activists Disagree," *The Lithuanian Tribune*, 8 September 2015 https://perma.cc/VLH7-D5Q2 (last visited 7 November 2021).
- 656 The Baltic Times, "Arturas Paulauskas Calls for Ban on the Burqa in Lithuania," 13 August 2015 https://perma.cc/CMJ9-NFFH (last visited 20 March 2017).
- 657 Vilnius, "The Mosques of Lithuania," *The Economist*, 14 September 2015 https://perma.cc/99EY-PA8E (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>658</sup> Famagusta Gazette, "Lithuania Debates Whether to Ban Burqas," 13 August 2015 http://web.archive.org/web/20161230140639/http://famagusta-gazette.com/lithuania-debates-whether-to-ban-burqas-p29165-69.htm (last visited 13 Mar 2017).
- <sup>659</sup> Law on the Approval, Entry into Force, and Implementation of the Labor Code of the Republic of Lithuania, Article 26 <a href="https://perma.cc/EQX9-EJBP">https://perma.cc/EQX9-EJBP</a> (last visited 21 July 2017).
- <sup>660</sup> Law on Equal Treatment of the Republic of Lithuania, Article 2, <a href="https://perma.cc/M33R-SCP6">https://perma.cc/M33R-SCP6</a> (last visited Nov. 7, 2021).
- <sup>661</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2019 Report on International Religious Freedom: Luxembourg, https://pema.cc/BN6C-7YZK (last visited Sept. 25, 2021).
- <sup>662</sup>U.S. Department of State, "2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Luxembourg," <a href="https://perma.cc/C6AX-F89A">https://perma.cc/C6AX-F89A</a> (last visited 25 September 2021); C.I.A. World Factbook, "Luxembourg," 2021 https://perma.cc/Q6VB-3RQ3 (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>663</sup> Sandzak Press, "Finally Good News from Europe, Islam Recognized in Luxembourg," 23 January 2015 <a href="https://perma.cc/PR3H-8ERK">https://perma.cc/PR3H-8ERK</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>664</sup>Christopher Allen and Jorgen S. Nielsen, "Summary Report of Islamophobia in The E.U. a fter 11 September 2001," European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia, 2002, 23-24.
- <sup>665</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2019 Report on International Religious Freedom: Luxembourg. <a href="https://perma.cc/9R7M-R4J6">https://perma.cc/9R7M-R4J6</a> (last visited 25 September, 2021).
- <sup>666</sup>Aaron Grunwald, "Veil Ban Passed," *Delano*, 27 April 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/24WN-3ARV">https://perma.cc/24WN-3ARV</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>667</sup> Alix Rassel, "BanThe Veil?," *Delano*, 3 June 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/26E4-94VA">https://perma.cc/26E4-94VA</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>668</sup> *Luxembourg Times*, "Luxembourg Adopts Face-Concealment Ban," 27 April 2018 <a href="https://pema.cc/A9AJ-W7UM">https://pema.cc/A9AJ-W7UM</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>669</sup> L'essentiel, La burqa sera interdite dans des espaces définis L'essentiel, 8 August 2017 <a href="https://pema.cc/VPC6-L5QH">https://pema.cc/VPC6-L5QH</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>670</sup> *Journal officiel du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg*, Code Pénal Art. 563,2021 <a href="https://pema.cc/4ADL-ZNXW">https://pema.cc/4ADL-ZNXW</a> (la st visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>671</sup> *Journal officiel du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg*, Code Pénal Art. 563, 2021 <a href="https://pema.cc/4ADL-ZNXW">https://pema.cc/4ADL-ZNXW</a> (la st visited 25 September 2021).

- 672 Luxembourg Times, "Luxembourg Adopts Face-Concealment Ban," 27 April 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/A9AJ-W7UM">https://perma.cc/A9AJ-W7UM</a> (last visited 25 September 2021); Journal officiel du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg, Code Pénal Art. 563 (2021), <a href="https://perma.cc/4ADL-ZNXW">https://perma.cc/4ADL-ZNXW</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>673</sup> Martine Huberty, "Debate on Hiding Face in Public Continues," *Delano*, 18 January 2018 <a href="https://pema.cc/T6LT-RVTV">https://pema.cc/T6LT-RVTV</a> (last visited 5 September 2021).
- Le site des pétitions de la Chambre des Députés, Publique n°1693 <a href="https://perma.cc/B392-K4EU">https://perma.cc/B392-K4EU</a> (last visited 1 October 2021).
- 675 Le site des pétitions de la Chambre des Députés, *Ordinary n°1693*.

  https://perma.cc/K94R-SS9U (last visited 1 October 2021); Sam Tansen, *Votre pétition 1693* Demande de modification de la Loi du 23 mai 2018. Infraction de dissimulation du visage.

  Voile Islamique https://perma.cc/R9GG-BVQM (last visited 25 September 2021).
- https://pema.cc/LR77-7XSX (last visited Sept. 25, 2021). https://pema.cc/LR77-7XSX (last visited Sept. 25, 2021).
- 677 Communale De Pentage, Reglement General de Police de Pétange Art. 56 (2012) <a href="https://perma.cc/P5N5-EVMQ">https://perma.cc/P5N5-EVMQ</a> (last visited 25 September 2021); Communale de Wiltz, Reglement General de Police Art. 45 (2015) <a href="https://perma.cc/4AW8-PQ7V">https://perma.cc/4AW8-PQ7V</a> (last visited 25 September 2021). These laws have exceptions for face coverings during carnival.
- <sup>678</sup>U.S. Department of State, 2017 International Religious Freedom Report: Luxembourg <a href="https://perma.cc/GM57-YMX3">https://perma.cc/GM57-YMX3</a> (last visited 25 September 2021); Journal officiel
- du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg, Règlement de l'Ordre des avocats du Barreau de Luxembourg du 20 septembre 2017 portant modification de l'article 3.1. du Règlement intérieur de l'Ordre des avocats du Barreau de Luxembourg du 9 janvier 2013 <a href="https://pema.cc/5882-BLRF">https://pema.cc/5882-BLRF</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>679</sup> Camille Frati, *Le foulard islamique incompatible avec la robe d'avocat*, *PAPERJAM* (Sept. 21, 2017) <a href="https://perma.cc/S6VU-4439">https://perma.cc/S6VU-4439</a> (last visited 25 September 2021);
- U.S. Department of State, 2017 International Religious Freedom Report: Luxembourg <a href="https://perma.cc/GM57-YMX3">https://perma.cc/GM57-YMX3</a> (last visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>680</sup> Camille Frati, *Le foulard islamique incompatible avec la robe d'avocat*, PAPERJAM (21 September September 2017) <a href="https://perma.cc/S6VU-4439">https://perma.cc/S6VU-4439</a> (la st visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>681</sup> Camille Frati, Foulard: un dénouement sous le signe du respect, PAPERJAM (20 December 2017) <a href="https://perma.cc/474U-Z3DH">https://perma.cc/474U-Z3DH</a> (la st visited 25 September 2021).
- <sup>682</sup> Law Implementing the Principle of Equal Treatment (Egalite de Traitement) 2006, Ch. 1, Art. 1; Ch. 3, Art. 9; Art. L.251-1; Law No. 102 de 14 Juin 2016, Art. 6.
- <sup>683</sup> Constitution et Droits de L'Homme (Lux.).
- <sup>684</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Malta. (21 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/J8DP-9QFR">https://perma.cc/J8DP-9QFR</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>685</sup> Theresa Bonnici, "Difficult for Muslim women to find a job in Malta if they wear headscarves," *Malta independent*, 28 January 2015 <a href="https://perma.cc/T853-2NE5">https://perma.cc/T853-2NE5</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>686</sup> U.S. Department of State, *2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Malta.* (21 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/J8DP-9QFR">https://perma.cc/J8DP-9QFR</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

- <sup>687</sup>U.S. Department of State, *2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Malta.* (21 May 2021) https://perma.cc/J8DP-9OFR (last visited 25 October 2021).
- 688 Abdallad El-Hmaid, "Maltese Muslims Slam Niqab Ban Proposal," *Aluak* in English, 29 Nov 2015 https://perma.cc/Z8DG-L4HU (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>689</sup> Kurt Sansone, "Burqa May be banned," *Times of Malta*, 11 Oct 2015 <a href="https://perma.cc/UA53-H6KJ">https://perma.cc/UA53-H6KJ</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>690</sup> Koen Damhuis, "The biggest problem in the Netherlands": Understanding the Party for Freedom's politicization of Islam," 24 July 2019. Brookings Institution <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-biggest-problem-in-the-netherlands-understanding-the-party-for-freedoms-politicization-of-islam/">https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-biggest-problem-in-the-netherlands-understanding-the-party-for-freedoms-politicization-of-islam/</a> (accessed 25 November 2021).
- <sup>691</sup> Odile Verhaar & Sawitri Saharso, The weight of context: headscarves in Holland, Ethical Theory and Moral Practice 7 (April 2004): 179–195.
- <sup>692</sup> CIA, *The World Factbook*. <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/netherlands/#people-and-society</u> (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 693 NOS Nieuws, "Wat gebeurt er vanaf morgen als iem and met een boerka de bus in gaat?" (2019) https://perma.cc/2CS9-CEZR (accessed 23 November 2021)
- <sup>694</sup> Wasif A. Shadid, "Public debates over Islam and the awareness of Muslim identity in the Netherlands" (Summer 2006), *European Education*, Vol. 38, No. 2: 10-22.
- <sup>695</sup> Frits Bolkesteijn, De goede vreemdeling. H.J. Schoo-lezing 2011 (Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2011), 36.
- <sup>696</sup> Wasif A. Shadid, "Public Debates over Islam and the Awareness of Muslim Identity in the Netherlands," (Summer 2006), *European Education*, Vol. 38, No. 2: 10–22.
- <sup>697</sup> Tobias den Hartog and Hans van Soest, "Ik kies voor eigen land eerst, dat is politiek," Interview with Geert Wilders, Algemeen Dagblad, (2016) <a href="https://www.ad.nl/nieuws/ik-kies-voor-eigen-land-eerst-dat-is-politiek~ae1cab1f/">https://www.ad.nl/nieuws/ik-kies-voor-eigen-land-eerst-dat-is-politiek~ae1cab1f/</a> (Lasta ccessed: 24 November 2021)
- <sup>698</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 25 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten</a> women report netherlands final.pdf (accessed 18 January 2018).
- 699 Ahmed Marcouch, "Met de hoofddoekbelasting zet Wilders wezenlijke verworvenheden van de Nederlandse natie op het spel," *trouw* (October 24, 2009) <a href="https://www.trouw.nl/home/de-schande-van-de-kopvoddentaks~aef8ae7d/">https://www.trouw.nl/home/de-schande-van-de-kopvoddentaks~aef8ae7d/</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>700</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 25–26 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_netherlands\_-final.pdf">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_netherlands\_-final.pdf</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>701</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 26 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_netherlands\_-final.pdf">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_netherlands\_-final.pdf</a> (accessed 18 January 2018); "Belasting op Hoofddoekjes 'Gênant" (Embarrassing Tax on Headscarves), *Parool* (17 September 2009)

http://www.parool.nl/parool/nl/224/BINNENLAND/article/detail/262081/2009/09/17/Belasting-op-hoofddoekjes-genant.dhtml (accessed 18 January 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>702</sup> University of Amsterdam, *Monitor Moslimdiscriminatie*" (March 2017): 116–17.

- <sup>703</sup> Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau, "Ervaren discriminatie in Nederland II" (2020) <a href="https://www.scp.nl/publicaties/publicaties/2020/04/02/ervaren-discriminatie-in-nederland-ii">https://www.scp.nl/publicaties/publicaties/2020/04/02/ervaren-discriminatie-in-nederland-ii</a> (Last a ccessed 24 November 2021)
- <sup>704</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the Netherlands Key Findings" (ENAR, 2016): 4 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/factsheet\_netherlands\_-en\_final.pdf">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/factsheet\_netherlands\_-en\_final.pdf</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>705</sup> College Voor de Rechten van de Mens. "Onze organisatie." (translation: "Our Organization") <a href="https://mensenrechten.nl/en/node/907">https://mensenrechten.nl/en/node/907</a> (accessed 9 June 2021).
- <sup>706</sup> College Voor de Rechten van de Mens <a href="https://mensenrechten.nl/en/node/6">https://mensenrechten.nl/en/node/6</a> (a ccessed 9 June 2021).
- <sup>707</sup> Eerste Kamer der Staten-Generaal, "Wet gedeeltelijk verbod gezichtsbedekkende kleding" <a href="https://www.eerstekamer.nl/wetsvoorstel/34349\_wet\_gedeeltelijk\_verbod">https://www.eerstekamer.nl/wetsvoorstel/34349\_wet\_gedeeltelijk\_verbod</a> (accessed 5 July 2018).
- <sup>708</sup> Council of State, advice W04.11.0379/I, 28 November 2011; Council of State, W04.15.0170/I, 15 July 2015 (published on 27 November 2015). Further information on the Council's decision can be found in paragraphs 49–52, *S.A.S. V. France*, App no. 43835/11 (CJEU, 1 July 2014).
- <sup>709</sup> Christine Hauser and Liam Stack, "Dutch Lawmakers Approve Partial Ban on Burqas and Niqabs," *New York Times*, 27 June 2018 <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/27/world/europe/netherlands-face-covering-ban.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/27/world/europe/netherlands-face-covering-ban.html</a> (accessed 5 July 2018).
- <sup>710</sup> https://www.government.nl/topics/ban-on-face-coverings-referred-to-in-the-media-as-the-%E2%80%98burka-ban%E2%80%99/question-and-answer/does-the-ban-on-face-coverings-apply-in-bonaire-st-eustatius-and-saba-as-special-municipalities-of-the-netherlands (accessed 3 June 2021).
- <sup>711</sup> Face covering became mandatory in some areas in December 2020 due to COVID-19. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, "Face masks and gloves." <a href="https://www.rivm.nl/en/coronavirus-covid-19/face-masks-and-gloves">https://www.rivm.nl/en/coronavirus-covid-19/face-masks-and-gloves</a> (accessed 2 Jun 2021).
- 712 <a href="https://www.eerstekamer.nl/behandeling/20180717/publicatie\_wet/document3/f=/vkq3cqcihvz7.pdf">https://www.eerstekamer.nl/behandeling/20180717/publicatie\_wet/document3/f=/vkq3cqcihvz7.pdf</a> (a ccessed 1 June 2021). See also <a href="https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/netherlands-burqa-ban-enters-into-force/">https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/netherlands-burqa-ban-enters-into-force/</a> (a ccessed 1 June 2021).
- 713 "Netherlands Burka Ban Largely Not Enforced; No Fines, Four Warnings in a Year," *New York Times*, 21 October 2020 <a href="https://nltimes.nl/2020/10/21/netherlands-burka-ban-largely-enforced-fines-four-warnings-year">https://nltimes.nl/2020/10/21/netherlands-burka-ban-largely-enforced-fines-four-warnings-year</a> (accessed 3 June 2021).
- 714 "Burka ban' has led to upsurge in attacks on Muslim women report." <a href="https://www.dutchnews.nl/news/2020/09/burka-ban-has-led-to-upsurge-in-attacks-on-muslim-women-report/">https://www.dutchnews.nl/news/2020/09/burka-ban-has-led-to-upsurge-in-attacks-on-muslim-women-report/</a> (accessed 3 June 2021). See "Zwartboek Boerkaverbod" ["Black Book Burka Ban"]. <a href="https://www.meldislamofobie.org/zwartboek-boerkaverbod/">https://www.meldislamofobie.org/zwartboek-boerkaverbod/</a> (accessed 3 June 2021).
- 715 "Zwartboek Boerkaverbod" ["Black Book Burka Ban"]: 14
   https://www.meldislamofobie.org/zwartboek-boerkaverbod/ (accessed 3 June 2021).
   716 Ibid
- 717 Meld Islamofobie, Zwartboek Boerkaverbod" ["Black Book Burka Ban"]. https://www.meldislamofobie.org/zwartboek-boerkaverbod/
- <sup>718</sup> Achiume, E. Tendayi. Report of the Special Rapporteur on Contemporary Forms of Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance on Her Visit to the

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Netherlands: at 3 https://njcm.nl/wp-

content/uploads/2020/07/A HRC 44 57 Add2 AdvanceEditedVersion.pdf (accessed 3 June 2021) ("Although the text of the law may be read as neutral, the accompanying political discourse surrounding it has made it clear that the law adversely affects Muslim women.")

- <sup>719</sup> Buerkert, J., Schut, M. and Szuhai, L., 2021. "All About That Face (No Trouble?) An Analysis of the Dutch Ban on Face-Covering Garments in Light of the ECHR, ICCPR and CEDAW, together with Feminist Theory," *Utrecht Journal of International and European Law*, 36(1): 33–51, at 45.
- <sup>720</sup> National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, *Face Masks and Gloves* <a href="https://www.rivm.nl/en/coronavirus-covid-19/face-masks-and-gloves">https://www.rivm.nl/en/coronavirus-covid-19/face-masks-and-gloves</a> (accessed 2 June 2021).
- 721 Ingrid Gerca ma and Sanne Derks, "Burqa Ban, Face Mask Laws Frustrate Dutch Muslims." <a href="https://www.dw.com/en/burqa-ban-face-mask-laws-frustrate-dutch-muslims/a-54397964">https://www.dw.com/en/burqa-ban-face-mask-laws-frustrate-dutch-muslims/a-54397964</a> (accessed 2 June 2021) ("Women, it seems, are now punished for both wearing and for not wearing face coverings, depending on their purpose. "It is totally contradictory," argues Emarah, who thinks it's wrong that public health is deemed to be an acceptable reason for covering a face, but religious belief is not.")
- <sup>722</sup> Selman Aksunger, "Turkish Artist Protest Burqa Ban with Surgical Masks," 29 March 2021 <a href="https://www.aa.com.tr/en/culture/turkish-artist-protest-burqa-ban-with-surgical-masks/2191831#:~:text=The%20ban%20on%20the%20burqa%20in%20the%20Netherlands%20came%20into,fined%20%E2%82%AC150%20(%24176) (accessed 2 June 2021).
- <sup>723</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 26 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten</a> women report netherlands final.pdf (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>724</sup> Ibid.
- 725 Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 26 http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten women report netherlands final.pdf (accessed 18 January 2018); Karel Smouter, "Kabinetcheck: Gezichtsbedekkende kleding wordt verboden" (Government check: face-covering clothing will be prohibited) https://decorrespondent.nl/1934/kabinetcheck-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding-wordt-verboden/114661669144-4ae764c2 (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>726</sup> Pim van den Dool, "Een boerka in de tram mag straks echt niet meer" *NRC.nl*, 12 June 2018 <a href="https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2018/06/12/een-boerka-in-de-tram-mag-straks-echt-niet-meer-a1606339">https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2018/06/12/een-boerka-in-de-tram-mag-straks-echt-niet-meer-a1606339</a> (accessed 2 July 2018).
- 727 Council of State, "Samenvatting a dvies over wetsvoorstel gedeeltelijk verbod gezicht bedekkende kleding" (Summary advice on the legislative proposal for a partial ban on face-covering clothing), 27 November 2015

  https://www.radvanstate.nl/adviezen/samenvattingen/tekst\_samenvatting.html?id=353
- https://www.raadvanstate.nl/adviezen/samenvattingen/tekst-samenvatting.html?id=353 (accessed 18 January 2018); see also *S.A.S. v. France*, App no. 43835/11 (ECHR, 1 July 2014), para. 49–52.
- <sup>728</sup> Council of State, "Samenvatting a dvies over wetsvoorstel gedeeltelijk verbod gezicht bedekkende kleding" (Summary advice on the legislative proposal for a partial ban on face-covering clothing), 27 November 2015
- https://www.raadvanstate.nl/adviezen/samenvattingen/tekst-samenvatting.html?id=353 (accessed 18 January 2018);

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Council of State, a dvice W04.15.0170/I, 15 July 2015 (published on 27 November 2015).

- <sup>729</sup> Mariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016): 35–37 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten</a> women report netherlands final.pdf (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>730</sup> Omrop Fryslan, "Douglas zwicht voor kritiek op weren medewerkster met hoofddoek uit winkel", NOS, 18 May 2018 <a href="https://nos.nl/artikel/2232412-douglas-zwicht-voor-kritiek-op-weren-medewerkster-met-hoofddoek-uit-winkel">https://nos.nl/artikel/2232412-douglas-zwicht-voor-kritiek-op-weren-medewerkster-met-hoofddoek-uit-winkel</a> (last visited 10 January 2022).
- 731 Omroepgelderland.nl, "Moslima met hoofddoek verontwaardigd: ze mag niet bij McDonald's werken," 29 December 2017 <a href="https://www.omroepgelderland.nl/nieuws/2153420/Moslima-met-hoofddoek-verontwaardigd-ze-mag-niet-bij-McDonald-s-werken">https://www.omroepgelderland.nl/nieuws/2153420/Moslima-met-hoofddoek-verontwaardigd-ze-mag-niet-bij-McDonald-s-werken</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>732</sup> Case numbers 1995-31, 1999-6, 1998-121, 2001-79, 2001-96, 2004-80, 2005-53, 2007-137, 2007-222, 2010-94/95, 2011-92, 2012-18, 2013-53, 2015-145, 2016-32, 2016-69, 2018-24.
- <sup>733</sup> Case numbers 1999-76, 2001-14, 2006-213.
- <sup>734</sup> Case numbers 1996-109, 2003-157, 2006-63, 2006-248, 2010-94, 2011-56, 2012-152, 2013-44, 2014-65, 2014-95, 2014-108, 2014-125, 2015-67.
- <sup>735</sup> Case number 2002-123.
- <sup>736</sup> Case number 2006-217.
- <sup>737</sup> Case numbers 1996-85, 2006-138, 2006-215, 2007-104, 2008-144, 2007-213.
- <sup>738</sup> Case number 2004-165.
- <sup>739</sup> Rijksoverheid, "Gedragscode lifestyle-neutraliteit," 13 July 2011 <a href="https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/richtlijnen/2011/07/13/gedragscode-lifestyle-neutraliteit">https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/richtlijnen/2011/07/13/gedragscode-lifestyle-neutraliteit</a> (a ccessed 24 January 2017).
- <sup>740</sup> Volkskrant, "Sarah Izat wil a gent zijn met een hoofddoek. In dit interview vertelt ze waarom," 9 November 2017 <a href="https://www.volkskrant.nl/binnenland/sarah-izat-wil-a gent-zijn-met-een-hoofddoek-in-dit-interview-vertelt-ze-waarom~a4534391/">https://www.volkskrant.nl/binnenland/sarah-izat-wil-a gent-zijn-met-een-hoofddoek-in-dit-interview-vertelt-ze-waarom~a4534391/</a> (accessed 24 January 2017).
- <sup>741</sup> https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2021/06/04/tk-bijlage-4-hjbgedragscode-lifestyle-neutraliteit
- <sup>742</sup> Joram Bolle, "Amsterdam Police Are Considering Allowing Headscarf," *NRC*, 18 May 2017 <a href="https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2017/05/18/amsterdamse-politie-overweegt-toestaan-hoofddoek-a1559332">https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2017/05/18/amsterdamse-politie-overweegt-toestaan-hoofddoek-a1559332</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>743</sup> David Haakman, "Agent May Not Be Visible Cross or Wearing Headscarf," *NRC*, 14 July 2011 <a href="https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2011/07/13/agent-mag-niet-zichtbaar-kruisje-of-hoofddoekdragen-a1455123">https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2011/07/13/agent-mag-niet-zichtbaar-kruisje-of-hoofddoekdragen-a1455123</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).
- <sup>744</sup> Pieter Hotse Smit, "Hoofddoek blijft verboden bij politie: duidelijk geen draagvlak voor dit idee," 26 Mey 2017 <a href="http://www.volkskrant.nl/binnenland/hoofddoek-blijft-verboden-bij-politie-duidelijk-geen-draagvlak-voor-dit-idee-a4497127/">http://www.volkskrant.nl/binnenland/hoofddoek-blijft-verboden-bij-politie-duidelijk-geen-draagvlak-voor-dit-idee-a4497127/</a> (a ccessed 18 Ja nuary 2018).
- <sup>745</sup> "Amsterdamse politiechef in gesprek over hoofddoek," *Het Parool*, 14 July 2011 <a href="https://www.parool.nl/amsterdam/amsterdamse-politiechef-in-gesprek-over-hoofddoek~a4500710/">https://www.parool.nl/amsterdam/amsterdamse-politiechef-in-gesprek-over-hoofddoek~a4500710/</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup> Case number 2007-195.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

```
<sup>747</sup> Case number 1997-14.
```

Nariska Jung, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in The Netherlands" (ENAR, 2016), 26, 35 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten</a> women report netherlands - final.pdf (accessed 18 January 2018); Martijn, "'Kleed mij niet aan': 16 jaar debat over de gezichtssluier," *Closer*, 19 December 2015 <a href="http://religionresearch.org/closer/2015/12/19/kleed-mij-niet-aan-16-jaar-debat-over-de-gezichtssluier/">http://religionresearch.org/closer/2015/12/19/kleed-mij-niet-aan-16-jaar-debat-over-de-gezichtssluier/</a> (accessed 18 January 2018); Karel Smouter, "Kabinetcheck: Gezichtsbedekkende kleding wordt verboden" (Government check: face-covering clothing will be prohibited) <a href="https://decorrespondent.nl/1934/kabinetcheck-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding-wordt-verboden/114661669144-4ae764c2">https://decorrespondent.nl/1934/kabinetcheck-gezichtsbedekkende-kleding-wordt-verboden/114661669144-4ae764c2</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).

<sup>758</sup> Martijn, "'Kleed mij niet aan': 16 jaar debat over de gezichtssluier," *Closer*, 19 December 2015 <a href="http://religionresearch.org/closer/2015/12/19/kleed-mij-niet-aan-16-jaar-debat-over-degezichtssluier/">http://religionresearch.org/closer/2015/12/19/kleed-mij-niet-aan-16-jaar-debat-over-degezichtssluier/</a> (accessed 18 January 2018).

759 Kamerstuk 14-10-2005, "Leidraad kleding op scholen." https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/kamerstukken/2005/10/14/bijlage-leidraad-kleding-op-scholen (accessed 18 January 2018); CGB-advies, "Gezichtssluiers en hoofddoeken op scholen" http://www.art1.nl/artikel/233-CGB-advies Gezichtssluiers en hoofddoeken op scholen (accessed 18 January 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>748</sup> Case number 2005-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>749</sup> Case number 1999-103.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>750</sup> Case number 2008-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup> Case number 2008-121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>752</sup> Case number 2006-144.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup> Case number 2016-45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>755</sup> Case number 2001-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>756</sup> Case number 2017-135.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup> Case number 2011-39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup> Case number 2005-104.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>762</sup> Case number 2003-40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>763</sup> Case number 2000-63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>764</sup> Case number 2011-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup> Case number 2011-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup> Case number 2003-112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup> Case number 2019-119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup> Case number 2011-195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>769</sup> Case number 2006-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>770</sup> Case number 2014-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>771</sup> Case number 2006-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>772</sup> Case number 2009-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>773</sup> Case number 2016-62.

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

<sup>774</sup> Case number 2016-58.

Alan Cooperman, Conrad Hackett, & Anna Schiller, "Europe's Growing Muslim Population: Muslims Are Projected to Increase as a Share of Europe's Population—Even without Migration," 29 November 2019, Pew Research Center: 29-30 <a href="https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf">https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf</a> (last visited 25 November 2021).

<sup>777</sup> Agata S. Nalborczyk, "Muslim Women in Poland and Lithuania. Tatar Tradition, Religious Practice, Hijaband Marriage," in E. Adamiak, M. Chrząstowska, Ch. Methuen, S. Sobkowiak, eds., *Gender and Religion in Central and Eastern Europe* (May 2009): 58-69.

<sup>778</sup> Kasia Narkowicz, *The Rise of Islamophobia in Poland* (September 2014), Vol. VII:2-3:11-13.

<sup>779</sup> Ka sia Narkowicz & Konrad Pedziwiatr, "Why Are Polish People So Wrong a bout Muslims in Their Country?" *Open Democracy*, 13 January 2017 <a href="https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/why-are-polish-people-so-wrong-about-muslims-in/">https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/why-are-polish-people-so-wrong-about-muslims-in/</a> (last visited 25 November 2021).

<sup>780</sup> Tuhin Chakraborty, "The Rise of Islamophobia in Poland," *E-Internationals Relations*, 20 February 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/52BG-PCWB">https://perma.cc/52BG-PCWB</a> (last visited 6 November 2021)

<sup>781</sup>Agnieszka Dudzińska & Michał Kotnarowski, *Imaginary Muslims: How the Polish Right Frames Islam*, Brookings Institution, 24 July 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/4QR7-FNX5">https://perma.cc/4QR7-FNX5</a> (last visited 6 November 2021).

<sup>782</sup> Kasia Narkowicz & Konrad, Pedziwiatr, "Saving and Fearing Muslim Women in 'Post-Communist' Poland: Troubling Catholic and Secular Islamophobia: 2017," *Gender, Place and Culture*, 24(2):288-299.

<sup>783</sup> Konrad Pędziwiatr, "Islamophobia in Poland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., *European Islamophobia Report 2015* (SETA 2016) <a href="https://pema.cc/ZW35-KY94">https://pema.cc/ZW35-KY94</a> (last visited 6 November 2021).

<sup>784</sup> Konrad Pędziwiatr, "Islamophobia in Poland National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Ha fez, eds., *European Islamophobia Report 2015* (SETA 2016) <a href="https://pema.cc/ZW35-KY94">https://pema.cc/ZW35-KY94</a> (last visited 6 November 2021)

<sup>785</sup> Polish Labor Code, article 11(3).

<sup>786</sup> U.S. Department of State, *International Religious Freedom Report: Portugal 2020* (12 May 2021) https://perma.cc/3GHK-MZK6 (last visited 31 October 2021); C.I.A., *World FactbookSummary Portugal* (October 2021) https://perma.cc/UA3V-QJPT (last visited 31 October 2021).

<sup>787</sup> Ali Murat Yel, "Isla mophobia in Portugal: National Report 2018," in: Enes Bayraklı & Farid Ha fez, *European Islamophobia Report 2018* (SETA 2019): 681-694 <a href="http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/PORTUGAL.pdf">http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/PORTUGAL.pdf</a> (last visited 23 November 2021).

<sup>788</sup> Silvia Rodríguez Maeso, *Emerging Counter-Narratives to Islamophobia in Portugal: An Overview, Counter Islamophobia Kit* (University of Leeds, 2018) <a href="https://estudogeral.uc.pt/bitstream/10316/48130/1/Dominant%20Islamophobic%20Narratives.pdf">https://estudogeral.uc.pt/bitstream/10316/48130/1/Dominant%20Islamophobic%20Narratives.pdf</a> (las visited 23 November 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>775</sup> Sha fik Mandhai, "How Big an Issue Is Islamophobia in Poland?" *Aljazeera*, 14 November 2017 <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/11/14/how-big-an-issue-is-islamophobia-in-poland">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/11/14/how-big-an-issue-is-islamophobia-in-poland</a> (Last visited 25 November 2021).

- <sup>789</sup> ENAR, *ENAR Shadow Report: Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Portugal*, 30 (2012) https://perma.cc/K73C-7T7Q (last visited 15 March 2017); and Bob Pitt, "Prejudice a gainst Muslims Is General a cross Europe, Report Finds," *Islamophobia Watch*, 14 March 2011 https://perma.cc/DXE3-EGK4 (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>790</sup> ENAR, *ENAR Shadow Report: Racism and Related Discriminatory Practices in Portugal*, 14 (2012) https://pema.cc/K73C-7T7Q (last visited March 15, 2017).
- <sup>791</sup> Constitution of the Portuguese Republic, articles 13 and 41.
- <sup>792</sup> Constitution of the Portuguese Republic, article 59.
- <sup>793</sup> Law 16/2001 of 22 June on Religious Freedom, article 8.c https://perma.cc/D3RU-TNL3 (last visited June 21, 2017).
- <sup>794</sup> U.S. Department of State, *2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Portugal*. https://pema.cc/ENB4-82NS.
- <sup>795</sup> OHCHR, Portugal Annex to the Study on the Prohibition of Incitement to National, Racial or Religious Hatred in Europe (Vienna, 9-10 February 2011): 130 https://perma.cc/3RYW-CNMX.
- <sup>796</sup> Alan Cooperman, Conrad Hackett, & Anna Schiller, "Europe's Growing Muslim Population: Muslims Are Projected to Increase as a Share of Europe's Population—Even without Migration," 29 November 2019, Pew Research Center: 29-30 <a href="https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf">https://assets.pewresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/11/2017/11/06105637/FULL-REPORT-FOR-WEB-POSTING.pdf</a> (last visited 25 November 2021).
- <sup>797</sup> There were 1.03 percent declared Muslims, see Doru Pop, "Mispresentation of Muslim and Islamophobic Public Discourse," *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies* 44, 15 (2016): 41
- https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241 Misrepresentation of muslims and islamophobic public discourses in recent Romanian media narratives.
- <sup>798</sup> BBC, "Romania President Rejects Muslim Sevil Shhaideh as PM," 27 December 2016 https://perma.cc/KS4W-Y6D8 (last visited 8 November 2021); Agerpres, Sevil Shhaideh, "I Didn't Understand from President Iohannis That There Would Be Problems, That It's a No," 30 December 2016 https://perma.cc/VN9H-NSQK (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>799</sup> Doru Pop, "Mispresentation of Muslim and Islamophobic Public Discourse," *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies* 44, 15 (2016): 41. <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241</a> Misrepresentation of muslims and islamophobic public discourses in recent Romanian media narratives.
- 800 See Surori Musulmane, "Investigation Started after the Assault on Two Young Women from Syria in Bucharest" (Ancheta dupa agresarea in capitala doua tinere din Siria), *Digi 24*, 31 March 2015) <a href="https://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/justitie/ancheta-dupa-agresarea-incapitala-a-doua-tinere-din-siria-502387">https://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/justitie/ancheta-dupa-agresarea-incapitala-a-doua-tinere-din-siria-502387</a> (last visited 8 November 2021); see a lso, ODIHR Hate Crime Reporting, *Romania*, OSCE <a href="https://perma.cc/LE8E-SD4L">https://perma.cc/LE8E-SD4L</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- 801 Doru Pop, "Misrepresentation of Muslim and Islamophobic Public Discourse," *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies* 44, 15 (2016): 41 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241</a> Misrepresentation of muslims and islamophobic public discourses in recent Romanian media narratives; Mădălina Mihalache and Sebastian Zachmann, *Adevărul Live. Traian Băsescu: UE e în proces de disoluție. România e vizată de atacuri teroriste, pentru că e creștină. Iar islamiștii sunt dușmani ai creștinismului*, Adevarul Politica (Mar. 23, 2016), adev.ro/pbgxqy (last visited 8 November 2021); Remus Florescu, *Mesajul halucinant al clujeanului care a înființat pagina de FB.*, *Nu*

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

islamizării României": "Un islamistîi taie gâtul unui creștin din convingere," Adevarul cluj-na poca, 4 October 2015, adev.ro/pbce0q (last visited 8 November 2021); Florin Jbanca, Băsescu s-a dezlănțuit la Neamţ: "Sper ca, după ce-şi termină primul mandat la Cotroceni, Iohannis să se întoarcă la Sibiu, nu să se facă muftiu la Bucureşti, "Adevarul pia tra neamt (25 March 2016), a dev.ro/pblprj (la st visited 8 November 2021).

- <sup>802</sup> Ben Kentish, "Romanian President Klaus Iohannis Rejects Country's First Ever Muslim Prime Minister," *Independent*, 27 December 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/3ZWN-MW7J">https://perma.cc/3ZWN-MW7J</a> (last visited 16 March 2017).
- <sup>803</sup> BareNakedIslam, "SHOCKINGLY STUPID: Muslim Woman to Become Prime Minister of Romania," 22 December 2016 <a href="http://web.archive.org/web/20161225001152/http://www.barenakedislam.com/2016/12/22/shockingly-stupid-muslim-woman-to-become-prime-minister-of-romania">http://www.barenakedislam.com/2016/12/22/shockingly-stupid-muslim-woman-to-become-prime-minister-of-romania</a> (last visited 18 March 2017).
- <sup>804</sup> Carmen Paun, "Former Romanian President, Now MEP: 'EU Seems to Tell Us We Must Live with Muslim Invasion," *Politico*, 18 June 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/72XY-RSBA">https://perma.cc/72XY-RSBA</a> (last visited 29 October 2021); See a lso SETA, *Islamophobia in Romania-National Report 2019* (2019) <a href="https://perma.cc/K8Z5-TCNZ">https://perma.cc/K8Z5-TCNZ</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>805</sup> Bogdan Ghenea, "Islamophobia in Romania," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., *European Islamophobia Report 2017* (SETA, 2018): 502 <a href="https://perma.cc/Y7RC-BJH5">https://perma.cc/Y7RC-BJH5</a> (last visited Nov. 8, 2021).
- 806 Institutul Naţional pentru Studierea Holocaustului din România "Elie Wiesel", Opinion Poll on the Holocaust and Perception of Interethnic Relations in Romania (Sondaj de opinie privind Holocaustul din România şi percepţia relaţiilor interetnice) (October 2017) https://pema.cc/SYF5-8VED (last visited Nov. 11, 2017); Paul Ciocoiu, Nearly 60 percent of Germans perceive ISLAM as a THREAT, a quarter would ban Muslims from entering the country (Aproape 60 la sută dintre germani percep ISLAMUL drept o AMENINȚARE, un sfert ar interzice accesul musulmanilor înţară), evz.ro (8 January 2015) https://perma.cc/79Z8-3VYB (last visited 8 November 2021).
- 807 Doru Pop, "Mispresentation of Muslim and Islamophobic Public Discourse," *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies* 44, 15 (2016): 41 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241\_Misrepresentation\_of\_muslims\_and\_islamophobic\_public\_discourses\_in\_recent\_Romanian\_media\_narratives.">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305267241\_Misrepresentation\_of\_muslims\_and\_islamophobic\_public\_discourses\_in\_recent\_Romanian\_media\_narratives.</a>
- <sup>808</sup> Bogdan Ghenea, "Islamophobia in Romania" in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., *European Islamophobia Report 2017* (SETA, 2018): 50 <a href="https://perma.cc/Y7RC-BJH5">https://perma.cc/Y7RC-BJH5</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- 809 Chamber of Deputies, Legislative Proposal for the Modification and Completion of National Education Law nr. 1/2011 (Propunere legislativa pentru modificarea şi completarea Legii educației naționale nr.1/2011) (18 December 2017) <a href="https://perma.cc/BBM4-XHF4">https://perma.cc/BBM4-XHF4</a> (la st visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>810</sup> Valeriu Lazar, "Scandal at Bucharest University! Students Wearing Islamic Veil, Sent Out of The Class," *Romania Journal*, 2 November 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/G375-GVGO">https://perma.cc/G375-GVGO</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>811</sup> *Decision no. 75 from 22.02.2018*, National Council for Combating Discrimination <a href="https://www.cncd.ro/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Hotarare-75-2018.pdf">https://www.cncd.ro/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Hotarare-75-2018.pdf</a>.
- 812 Horváth, Gizela, and Rozália Bakó, "RELIGIOUS ICONS IN ROMANIAN SCHOOLS: TEXT AND CONTEXT," Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies 8 (2009), 24

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

(Winter): 189-206 <a href="https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/religious-icons-romanian-schools-text-context/docview/229079938/se-2">https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/religious-icons-romanian-schools-text-context/docview/229079938/se-2</a> (last visited 1 November 2021).

- 813 Horváth, Gizela, and Rozália Bakó, "RELIGIOUS ICONS IN ROMANIAN SCHOOLS: TEXT AND CONTEXT," *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies* 8 (2009), 24 (Winter): 196 <a href="https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/religious-icons-romanian-schools-text-context/docview/229079938/se-2">https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/religious-icons-romanian-schools-text-context/docview/229079938/se-2</a> (last visited 1 November 2021).
- 814 The Oakland Press, "Romanian Orthodox Church welcomes ruling to allow icons in schools," (updated 17 June 2021) <a href="https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2008/06/20/romanian-orthodox-church-welcomes-ruling-to-allow-icons-in-schools/">https://www.theoaklandpress.com/2008/06/20/romanian-orthodox-church-welcomes-ruling-to-allow-icons-in-schools/</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- 815 The Constitution of Romania, Articles 4 and 16.
- 816 Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2019*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2019 702: 708 (2020) <a href="https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D">https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 817 Martina Sekulova, *Slovakia: Census pre-defines Islam as option for religion for the first time*, European Commission (February 8, 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/YWU2-2KNE">https://perma.cc/YWU2-2KNE</a> (last visited 8 November 2021).
- <sup>818</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic (12 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P">https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).

  <sup>819</sup> Ibid.
- 820 Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2018*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2018 735 (2019) <a href="https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H">https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H</a> (last visited 10 November 2021); U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic (12 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P">https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P</a> (last visited 10 November 2021); Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2019*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2019 702 (2020) <a href="https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D">https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 821 U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic (12 May 2021) https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 822 U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic (12 May 2021) https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P (last visited 10 November 2021); Jozef Lenč, Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2019, European Islamophobia Rep. 2019 702 (2020) https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>823</sup> Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2018*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2018 735 (2019) <a href="https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H">https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 824 Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2018*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2018 735, 741 (2019) https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>825</sup> Mirosla va Hukelova, "Slovak President Vetoes Controversial Law Heaping Hostility on Muslims in Central Europe," *The Conversation*, 5 January 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/V9FN-9PUL">https://perma.cc/V9FN-9PUL</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>826</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2017 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic <a href="https://perma.cc/PFD8-BA9H">https://perma.cc/PFD8-BA9H</a>. (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>827</sup> 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovak Republic (12 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P">https://perma.cc/N2MG-W47P</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>828</sup>Jozef Lenč, *Islamophobia in Slovakia: National Report 2018*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2018 735, 750-51 (2019) <a href="https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H">https://perma.cc/V7XM-DN4H</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 829 Constitution of the Slovak Republic. art. 12 (1992, a mended 2015).

- 830 Slovakia Antidiscrimination Act, art. 2.1, 2.11, 3, 8.2, 13.2 (2004, amended 2014).
- <sup>831</sup> U.S. Department of State, 2020 Report on International Religious Freedom: Slovenia (12 May 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/4D2Y-F2BT">https://perma.cc/4D2Y-F2BT</a> (last visited 7 November 2021).
- <sup>832</sup> Ksenija Šabec & Maja Pucelj, "Muslims in Slovenia–Exemplary Legislative Fra mework and Deficient Executive and Judicial Anti-discrimination Practices (2020)," in Eds. Melek Saral & Şerif Onur Bahçecik, State, Religion and Muslims: Between Discrimination and Protection at the Legislative, Executive and Judicial Levels, Koninklijke Brill NV, Leiden, The Netherlands: 397.
- <sup>833</sup> Veronika Bajt, "Muslims in Slovenia: Between Tolerance and Discrimination," 39 (4), *Inst. for Contemp. Soc. and Pol. Stud.* 221, 231 (2008).
- 834 Islamic Information Portal, *Muslims Celebrate Slovenia First Mosque* (Sept. 16, 2013) <a href="https://pema.cc/E35G-K8HC">https://pema.cc/E35G-K8HC</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 835 Ana Frank, *Islamophobia in Slovenia: National Report 2019*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2019 721 (2020) https://perma.cc/8DY7-KK2D (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 836 Ibid, supra note 4.
- <sup>837</sup> Anja Zalta, *Islamophobia in Slovenia: National Report 2016*, European Islamophobia Rep. 2016 531, 538 (2017) <a href="https://perma.cc/F8ZE-MJDT">https://perma.cc/F8ZE-MJDT</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- <sup>838</sup> RTV SLO, *SDS Drafts Bill Banning Burqa and Niqab* (23 November 2015) <a href="https://perma.cc/HK3L-24FA">https://perma.cc/HK3L-24FA</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 839 Ibid, supra note 4: 418.
- <sup>840</sup> Constitution of the Republic of Slovenia, art. 14 (1990, a mended 2004).
- <sup>841</sup> Official Journal of the Republic of Slovenia, *Act Implementing the Principle of Equal Treatment, art. 2 No. 93/07- UPB1* (2007) <a href="https://perma.cc/QPV2-MAN">https://perma.cc/QPV2-MAN</a> (last visited 10 November 2021).
- 842 Slovenia Employment Relationship Act, art. 6 (2017).
- Fiona Govan, "How the Number of Muslims in Spain Is Far Lower Than People Think", *The Local*, 15 December 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/47G9-2PS4">https://perma.cc/47G9-2PS4</a> (last visited 14 March 2017)

  <a href="https://www.thelocal.es/20161215/how-the-number-of-muslims-in-spain-is-far-lower-than-people-thinkaccessed 14 March 2017">https://www.thelocal.es/20161215/how-the-number-of-muslims-in-spain-is-far-lower-than-people-thinkaccessed 14 March 2017</a>
- 844 Unión De Comunidades Islámicas De España, Estudio demográfico de la población musulmana, UCIDE (2017), 14 <a href="https://perma.cc/8NTS-XW4S">https://perma.cc/8NTS-XW4S</a> (last visited 15 March 2017).
- Fiona Govan, "How the Number of Muslims in Spain Is Far Lower Than People Think," *The Local*, 15 December 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/47G9-2PS4">https://perma.cc/47G9-2PS4</a> (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>846</sup>Marian Burchardt, Zeynep Yanasmayan & Matthias Koenig, "The Judicial Politics of Burqa Bans in Belgium and Spain—Socio-Legal Field Dynamics and the Standardization of Justificatory Repertoires," 44 *Law & Social Inquiry* 333–358 (2019): 346 https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12359.
- <sup>847</sup> The Constitute Project, Spain's Constitution of 1978 with Amendments through 2011 (26 August 2021) https://perma.cc/UM5T-76CH (last visited 29 November 2021).
- <sup>848</sup>Marian Burchardt, Zeynep Yanasmayan & Matthias Koenig, "The Judicial Politics of Burqa Bans in Belgium and Spain—Socio-Legal Field Dynamics and the Standardization of Justificatory Repertoires," 44 *Law & Social Inquiry* 333–358 (2019): 346 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12359">https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12359</a>.

- <sup>849</sup> Carla Calvo-Barbero & Ángel Carrasco-Campos, "Portraits of Muslim Women in the Spanish Press: The 'Burkini" and "Burqa' Ban Affair," 33 *Communication & Society* no. 1, 79-92 (2020) https://doi.org/10.15581/003.33.1.79-92.
- 850 Soha il Jannessari & Darren Loucaides, "Spain's Vox Party Hates Muslims—Except the Ones Who Fund It," *Foreign Policy*, 27 April 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/6BY7-G253">https://perma.cc/6BY7-G253</a> (la st visited November 29, 2021).
- <sup>851</sup> Adam Nossiter, "Let Them Call You Racists': Bannon's Pep Talk to National Front," *The New York Times*, 10 March 2018 https://perma.cc/R28P-MBY3 (last visited 29 November 2021).
- 852 Stephanie Kirchga essner, "Steve Bannon in Rome to 'support far-right candidate' in Italian election," *The Guardian*, 1 March 2018 https://perma.cc/XBQ3-UMU2 (last visited 29 November 2021).
- <sup>853</sup>Sohail Jannessari & Darren Loucaides, "Spain's Vox Party Hates Muslims—Except the Ones Who Fund It," *Foreign Policy*, 27 April 2019) https://perma.cc/6BY7-G253 (last visited 29 November 2021).
- 854 Vox Espana, Monasterio: 'Celebramos ser mujeres 364 días a la ño; todos menos el 8 de marzo' (5 March 2019 https://perma.cc/32SD-MGHA (la st visited 29 November 2021).
- 855 Vox Espana, Borrás, a Montero: "Sólo le importan la s vidas de la s mujeres cuando pueden sa car rédito de ella s," 9 September 2020 <a href="https://perma.cc/MGR4-UVUF">https://perma.cc/MGR4-UVUF</a> (la st visited Nov. 29, 2021).
- 856 Guy Hedgecoe, "Spanish Elections: How the Far-right Vox Party Found Its Footing, BBC News, 11 November 2019 https://perma.cc/YFA8-N69R (last visited 29 November 2021).
- <sup>857</sup> James Badcock, "Catalonia Boards the Burqa Ban Bandwagon," *Newsweek*, 13 July 2014 https://perma.cc/ALU2-3UMN (last visited Jul. 5, 2018).
- 858 Disposicion 3442 del BOE num. 77, 2015 https://perma.cc/42HA-ZCAL.
- <sup>859</sup> The Editorial Board, "Spain's Ominous Gag Law," *The New York Times*, 22 April 2015 https://perma.cc/J6BZ-PQJZ (last visited Jul. 27, 2017).
- <sup>860</sup> *The Local*, "Spain Opens Door to Ban on Burqas," 4 September 2014) https://perma.cc/RJU7-7E7J (last visited 30 November 2021).
- <sup>861</sup> Marian Burchardt, Mar Griera & Gloria García-Romeral, "Narrating Liberal Rights and Culture: Muslim Face Veiling, Urban Coexistence and Contention in Spain," *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 41:7, 1068-1087 https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2014.957170.
- $^{862}$  Lluís Visa, Lleida es ya la primera ciudad española que prohíbe el 'burka' en edificios públicos,  $El\,Pais\,({\rm May}\,28,20\,10)$
- $https://elpais.com/sociedad/2010/05/28/actualidad/1274997603\_850215.html\ (last\ visited\ 30\ November\ 2021).$
- 863 See Amnesty International, "Choice and Prejudice: Discrimination against Muslims in Europe (2012): 100 <a href="https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur01/001/2012/en/">https://www.amnesty.eu/content/assets/REPORT.pdf</a> (accessed 14 March 2017).
- <sup>864</sup> Lluís Visa, Lleida es ya la primera ciudad española que prohíbe el 'burka' en edificios públicos, *El País*, 28 May 2010 https://perma.cc/RJU7-7E7J (last visited 30 November 2021).
- <sup>865</sup>Marian Burchardt, Zeynep Yanasmayan & Matthias Koenig, "The Judicial Politics of Burqa Bans in Belgium and Spain—Socio-Legal Field Dynamics and the Standardization of

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Justificatory Repertoires," 44 *Law & Social Inquiry* 333–358 (2019): 350 https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12359.

- <sup>866</sup> Associated Press in Madrid, Spanish City's Ban on Islamic Veils Overturned, *The Guardian*, 28 February 2013) <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/feb/28/spanish-city-veil-ban-overturned">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/feb/28/spanish-city-veil-ban-overturned</a> (last visited 10 January 2022).
- <sup>867</sup> *Majorca Daily Bulletin*, Sa Pobla Has Now Banned the Burka, 12 September 2013 https://perma.cc/956M-7EYJ (last visited 30 November 2021).
- <sup>868</sup> James Badcock, "Catalonia Boards the Burqa Ban Bandwagon," *Newsweek*, 13 July 2014 https://perma.cc/ALU2-3UMN (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>869</sup>M. E. Synon, "Burka Bans Spread across Europe as Catalan Town Becomes Latest to Ban Full Face Veil," *Breitbart London*, 21 July 2014 https://perma.cc/2D6H-ZRHC (last visited 15 March 2017).
- <sup>870</sup> BBC News, "Barcelona to Ban Islamic Veils in Some Public Spaces," 15 June 2021 https://perma.cc/B49Z-284L (last visited Nov. 30, 2021).
- <sup>871</sup> Hillary Stemple, "Barcelona to Ban Full Face Veil in Public Areas," *Jurist*, 14 June 2010 https://perma.cc/JT3Z-VXRH (last visited 14 March 2017).
- <sup>872</sup> BBC News, "Barcelona to Ban Islamic Veils in Some Public Spaces," 15 June 2021 https://perma.cc/B49Z-284L (last visited 30 November 2021).
- <sup>873</sup> Fiona Govan, "Spain Overturns Islamic Face Veil Ban," *The Telegraph*, 1 March 2013 https://perma.cc/3TRC-9P8C (last visited 16 March 2017).
- <sup>874</sup> James Badcock, "Catalonia Boards the Burqa Ban Bandwagon," *Newsweek*, 13 July 2014 https://perma.cc/ALU2-3UMN (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>875</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>876</sup>Marian Burchardt, Zeynep Yanasmayan & Matthias Koenig, "The Judicial Politics of Burqa Bans in Belgium and Spain—Socio-Legal Field Dynamics and the Standardization of Justificatory Repertoires," 44 *Law & Social Inquiry* 333–358 (2019): 350 https://doi.org/10.1111/lsi.12359.
- <sup>877</sup> JF Mestre, "A Judge Endorses the Use of the Islamic Headscarf at Work," *Faro de Vigo*, 13 February 2017 https://perma.cc/5HAT-JTUA (last visited 17 March 2017).
- <sup>878</sup> Francisco Peregil, Fátima: 'Quiero llevar el pañuelo a clase; nadie me obliga a hacerlo,' *El País*, 17 February 2002 https://perma.cc/U2CT-M3QW (last visited 17 March 2017).
- 879 See Rebeca Carranco, "I Do Not Take 'Hiyab' Because I Do Not Want To," *El País*, 22 April 2010 https://perma.cc/PSN8-RTJ6 (last visited 13 March 2017); Ignacio Cembrero, Najwa, fuera de clase en Pozuelo por cubrirse la cabeza con 'hiyab,' *El País*, 16 April 2010 https://perma.cc/DD3F-L2FE (last visited 13 March 2017); Mónica Ceberio Belaza "Expulsada del estrado una abogada musulmana por llevar pañuelo," *El Pais*, 11 November 2009
- https://perma.cc/HPJ7-WME2 (last visited 1 December 2021); *El Pais*, Europa Press Una joven de 14 a ños, expulsada de un examen por llevar 'hiyab,' 3 October 2011) https://perma.cc/FM3T-XQR5 (last visited 17 March 2017).
- 880 Shaima Saidani was suspended from the Joan Puigbert-Annexa public school in Girona. See Rebeca Carranco, "I Do Not Take 'Hiyab' Because I Do Not Want To," *El Pais*, 22 April 2010 https://perma.cc/PSN8-RTJ6 (last visited 13 March 2017); Najwa Malha was expelled from the Camilo José Cela public school in Pozuelo de Alarcón See Ignacio Cembrero, Najwa, fuera de clase en Pozuelo por cubrirse la cabeza con 'hiyab,' *El Pais*, 16 April 2010 https://perma.cc/DD3F-L2FE (last visited 13 March 2017; *El Pais*, Europa Press Una joven de

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

14 años, expulsada de un examen por llevar 'hiyab,' 3 October 2011 https://perma.cc/FM3T-XQR5 (last visited 17 March 2017).

- <sup>881</sup> El Pais, Europa Press Una joven de 14 años, expulsada de un examen por llevar 'hiyab,' 3 October 2011 https://perma.cc/FM3T-XQR5 (last visited 17 March 2017).
- <sup>882</sup> Amnesty International, Public Statement: Spain: Supreme Court Overturns Ban on Full-Face Veils; AI Concerns Remain a bout Restrictions on Headscarves in Schools, EUR, 8 April 2013 http://www.amnesty.org/ar/library/asset/EUR41/001/2013/ar/a66e7b81-1a16-4a5a-a910-69a afc0d278f/eur410012013en.html (last visited 1 December 2021).
- <sup>883</sup>Ignacio Zafra, "Muslim Student Clashes with Valencia School Over Right to Wear Veil," *El Pais*, 19 September 2016 https://perma.cc/2RZM-7M9S (last visited 1 December 2021).
- <sup>884</sup> Ignacio Zafra, "Muslim Student Clashes with Valencia School Over Right to Wear Veil," *El Pais*, 19 September 2016 https://perma.cc/2RZM-7M9S (last visited 1 December 2021).
- 885 El Pais, Europa Press Una joven de 14 años, expulsada de un examen por llevar 'hiyab,' 3 October 2011 https://perma.cc/FM3T-XQR5 (last visited 17 March 2017).
- <sup>886</sup> Maimuna Abdullahi, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in Sweden," (ENAR, 2016): 23 http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_sweden\_-\_final-3.pdf [https://perma.cc/5JXJ-KDW2] (Accessed 17 March 2017).
- <sup>887</sup> U.S. Department of State, *2015 Report on International Religious Freedom–Sweden* (2015) https://pema.cc/49WF-WSAZ (Accessed 31 October 2021).
- <sup>888</sup> Aroma Abrashi, Åke Sander, and Göran Larsson, "Islamophobia in Sweden National Report 2015," in Enes Bayrakli and Farid Hafez, eds., *European Islamophobia Report 2015* (SETA, 2016): 495
- http://www.islamophobiaeurope.com/reports/2015/en/EIR\_2015\_SWEDEN.pdf and https://perma.cc/6A3A-V4UJ (Accessed 31 October 2021).
- 889 Maimuna Abdullahi, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim women in Sweden" (ENAR, 2016): 30–31 <a href="http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten">http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten</a> women report sweden final-3.pdf [https://perma.cc/5JXJ-KDW2 (Accessed 17 March 2017).
- 890 Statista Research Department, "Swedish Opinion on Religious Clothing." https://www.statista.com/statistics/909611/opinions-on-restrictions-on-the-religious-clothing-of-muslim-women-in-sweden/and https://perma.cc/6VWA-55CK (Accessed 31 October 2021).
- <sup>891</sup> Statista Research Department "Swedish Opinion on Religious Clothing." https://www.statista.com/statistics/909611/opinions-on-restrictions-on-the-religious-clothing-of-muslim-women-in-sweden/and https://perma.cc/6VWA-55CK (Accessed 31 October 2021).
- 892 Amanj Aziz, "Vi måste problematisera slöjan!" Görs det eller inte?," (Nyans: Muslim, 5 October 2015.http://www.nyansmuslim.se/2015/10/05/vi-maste-problematisera-slojan-gorsdet-eller-inte/ cited in Maimuna Abdullahi, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia Muslim Women Sweden" on in 2016) http://www.enar-(ENAR, eu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten women report sweden - final-3., also see: pdf: https://perma.cc/5JXJ-KDW2 (accessed 17 March 2017).
- <sup>893</sup> Maimuna Abdullahi, "Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim women in Sweden" (ENAR, 2016): 34–35

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

http://www.enareu.org/IMG/pdf/forgotten\_women\_report\_sweden\_-\_final-3. Also see pdf: https://perma.cc/5JXJ-KDW2 (accessed 17 March 2017).

- <sup>894</sup> See Sophia Jarl and Pär Linderoth, "Flickors Rätt Till Jämlika Förutsättningar," *Nya Moderatema*, 27 January 2016 <a href="http://www.moderat.se/nyhetsartikel/regelverk-mot-sloja-pa-minderariga">http://www.moderat.se/nyhetsartikel/regelverk-mot-sloja-pa-minderariga</a> (a ccessed 18 March 2017).
- <sup>895</sup> Motion Till Norrköpings Kommunfullmäktige Kommunikativ Klädkod God Kommunikation Inom Kommunens Välfärd, submitted by Sophia Jarl (Oppositionsråd Ledamot av kommunfullmäktige Norrköping) and Pär Linderoth, (Ledamot av kommunfullmäktige Norrköping), 2016.
- 896 Motion till riksdagen 2021/22:2485 <a href="https://data.riksdagen.se/fil/9911FD39-14D5-4145-90EA-9A43434643E2">https://data.riksdagen.se/fil/9911FD39-14D5-4145-90EA-9A43434643E2</a> [https://perma.cc/4PS3-3GTF]
- <sup>897</sup> Sputnik International, "The Swedish Town Ban's Muslim Veils." https://sputniknews.com/20191219/swedish-town-bans-muslim-veils-here-equality-applies-1077624351.html [https://perma.cc/Q5HX-UHJQ (accessed 31 October 2021).
- $^{898} Administrative Court in Malmo, "Beslut om Forbud mot Huvudduk Upphavs"$  $<math display="block"> \underline{ https://www.domstol.se/nyheter/2020/11/beslut-om-forbud-mot-huvudduk-upphavs/} \\ \underline{ [https://perma.cc/MV2V-RZYK]}$
- <sup>899</sup> Lee Roden, "Swedish Woman Shocked at SAS Uniform Policy Banning Headscarves," *The Local*, 27 April 2017 https://www.thelocal.se/20170427/swedish-woman-shocked-at-sas-uniform-policy-banning-headscarves [https://perma.cc/2YQR-K9BQ] (accessed 18 May 2017).
- <sup>900</sup> Discrimination Ombudsman, "Letter to SAS Regarding Uniform Policy," 22 May 2017. In the letter from Discrimination Ombudsman to SAS, there are several questions a sked regarding the handling of the case: 1) Is it possible for a person wearing the hijab to work at your company?; 2) Why does SAS have a uniform policy?; 3) Do you have employees who wear the hijab?; and 4) How do you inform employees or other people who seek employment about your uniform policy?
- 901"SAS Headscarves Policy Not Discriminatory," *The Local* https://www.thelocal.se/20180105/sas-uniform-policy-banning-headscarves-not-discriminatory-discrimination-ombudsman/[https://perma.cc/WZP2-2YLC]
- "Sweden's Teachers Free to Ban Islamic Veils," *The Local*, 11 January 2012 http://www.thelocal.se/20120111/38452 [https://perma.cc/2UK9-9L3X] (accessed 18 March 2017).
- 903 "Sweden's Teachers Free to Ban Islamic Veils," *The Local*, 11 January 2012 http://www.thelocal.se/20120111/38452 [https://perma.cc/2UK9-9L3X] (accessed 18 March 2017).
- <sup>904</sup> Kitimbwa Sabuni, ed., *Swedish Muslims in Cooperation Network Alternative Report*, Swedish Muslims in Cooperation Network (February 2013): 23.
- <sup>905</sup> Office for National Statistics, *Muslim Population in the UK* (2018) https://pema.cc/FVU7-JRA9 (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>906</sup> Aid to the Church in Need, *Religious Freedom in the World: United Kingdom* (2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/G28P-YQGV">https://perma.cc/G28P-YQGV</a> (last visited Oct. 14, 2021).
- <sup>907</sup> Amrit Singh, *Eroding Trust: The UK's Prevent Counter-Extremism Strategy in Health and Education*, Open Society Foundations (October 2016) https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/eroding-trust-20161017\_0.pdf (last visited 5 July 2018).

- <sup>908</sup> Arun Kundnani, *The Muslims Are Coming! Islamophobia, Extremism, and the Domestic War on Terror*, (Verso Books: December 2014).
- <sup>909</sup> ENAR, Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the United Kingdom (2016) http://www.enar-eu.org/IMG/pdf/factsheet8-uk\_lr.pdf (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>910</sup> Ganesh Bharath & Abou-Atta Iman, Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the United Kingdom, ENAR (2016): 2 https://perma.cc/SX8H-D4DB (last visited 19 March 2017).
- 911 Tell MAMA, "Man Spat at Muslim Woman in Niqab in Tooting (2020) https://perma.cc/23R6-P7VJ (last visited 14 October 2021).
- <sup>912</sup> Milo Boyd, "Woman Who Strangled Schoolgirl with Her Own Hijab Let Off with a Caution, *Daily Mirror*, updated 13 December 2019 https://perma.cc/U5AP-UDHG (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>913</sup> Mark Townsend, "Met Police Concedes Forcing Woman to Remove Hijab at Airport Was Wrong," *The Guardian*, 14 March 2020 https://perma.cc/HK8K-3L3K (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>914</sup> Asiya, *The Police Forced Me to Remove My Hijab. I Took Them to Court—and Won*, *Independent*, 20 March 2020 https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/hijab-terrorism-heathrow-met-police-isla mophobia-a9414816.html (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>915</sup> Tom Evans and Mike Welsby, *Religion, Education and Work in England and Wales: February 2020*, Office for National Statistics (26 February 2020) https://perma.cc/B79N-GJT8 (last visited 24 October 24 2021).
- <sup>916</sup> All Party Parlia mentary Groups on Race and Community, *Ethnic Minority Female Unemployment: Black, Pakistani and Bangladeshi Heritage Women*, Runnymede (November 2012) <a href="https://perma.cc/8TYE-VJK8">https://perma.cc/8TYE-VJK8</a> (last visited 24 July 2017); Siobhan Fenton, "Six Charts Which Show the Employment Barriers Faced by British Muslims," *Independent*, 11 August 2016 <a href="http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/muslims-more-likely-to-be-unemployed-than-any-other-social-group-in-the-uk-mps-warn-a7185451.html">http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/muslims-more-likely-to-be-unemployed-than-any-other-social-group-in-the-uk-mps-warn-a7185451.html</a> (last visited 24 July 2017).
- 917 4News, "Fatima Manji: Reporter." https://perma.cc/3PGG-ZSUB (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>918</sup> Nick Hopkins, *Met Lets Muslim Policewomen Don Headscarves*, *The Guardian*, 25 April 2001 https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2001/apr/25/ukcrime.religion [https://perma.cc/2Z63-JCMH] (last visited 5 July 2018); and *Police Scotland*, "Hijab Now an Optional Part of Police Scotland Uniform," 23 August 2016
- [http://web.archive.org/web/20180725233739/http://www.scotland.police.uk/whats-happening/news/2016/august/hijab-ratified-as-option-for-police-scotland-uniform] (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>919</sup> Clare Dyer, *High Court Judge Will Be First to Wear Turban, The Guardian,* 24 March 2003 https://perma.cc/JF6D-AHHR (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>920</sup> "Trooping the Colour: Guardsman First to Wear Turban, BBC, 9 June 201 8 <a href="https://pema.cc/6MHK-NY2J">https://pema.cc/6MHK-NY2J</a> (last visited Jul. 5, 2018).
- <sup>921</sup> BBC, *Lawyers Can Wear Veils in Court*, 10 November 2006 <a href="https://pema.cc/73C2-GVF8">https://pema.cc/73C2-GVF8</a> (last visited Jul. 6, 2018).
- 922 YouGov, "Burqas and Niqabs Are Outfits Which Some Women Use to Cover Their Body and Face. Usually, They Are Worn by Muslim Women When They Are Out in Public. Which

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

of the Following Statements Comes Closest to Your View? April 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/S6GY-U92D">https://perma.cc/S6GY-U92D</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

- <sup>923</sup> Jon Stone, "British Public Overwhelmingly Support Banning the Islamic Burqa by Two to One," *Independent*, 31 August 2016 <a href="https://perma.cc/9WXF-AELL">https://perma.cc/9WXF-AELL</a> (last visited 19 March 2017).
- 924 Channel 4, "More Than Half of Brits Want Full Face Veil Banned," 24 October 2013 <a href="https://perma.cc/2DXL-2F2G">https://perma.cc/2DXL-2F2G</a> (last visited Apr. 26, 2017).
- <sup>925</sup>Face Coverings (Regulation) Bill 2010-12, HC Bill [20] <u>https://perma.cc/BF49-XHCJ</u> (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>926</sup>Face Coverings (Prohibition) Bill 2013-14, HC Bill [31] <a href="https://pema.cc/2DUP-7PG6">https://pema.cc/2DUP-7PG6</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>927</sup> Mohammad Mazher Idriss, "Criminialisation of the Burqa in the UK," 80 *J. CRIM. L.* 124 (2016).
- 928 Jack Straw later openly retracted his statements against the practice of wearing the full-face veils (in 2010). The apology was viewed as an effort to collect Muslim votes for political opportunities. See Kristy Walker, "Jack Straw Says Sorry over Muslim Veil Comment Sparking Accusations of Political Opportunism," *Daily Mail*, 27 April 2010 https://perma.cc/4WSG-QEYM (last visited 24 July 2017).
- 929 BBC, "UKIP Chief Nigel Farage Calls for Burka Ban" 4 October 2013 https://pema.cc/M7V2-3M4H (last visited 20 March 2017); Tom Moseley, "Nigel Farage: Ban the Face Veil in Schools, Airports and Banks," The Huffington Post UK, 4 October 2013 https://pema.cc/842N-T7LX (last visited 20 March 2017).
- <sup>930</sup> James Kirkup, "David Cameron Supports Muslim Veil Ban in Schools and Courts," *The Telegraph*, 29 September 2013 <a href="https://perma.cc/K5DR-7YL5">https://perma.cc/K5DR-7YL5</a> (accessed 20 March 2017).
- <sup>931</sup> Jon Stone, "Theresa May Backs Muslim Women's Right to Wear a Hijab," *Independent*, 1 February 2017 https://perma.cc/EU5X-QLA3 (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>932</sup> Petitions-UK Government and Parliament, Archived petition: Ban the wearing of a burka, any full or partial front face coverings in public https://petition.parliament.uk/archived/petitions/131481 (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>933</sup> Boris Johnson, "Denmark Has Got It Wrong. Yes, the Burka Is Oppressive and Ridiculous–But That's Still No Reason to Ban It," *Conservatives*, 5 August 2018 <a href="https://pema.cc/W348-CP37">https://pema.cc/W348-CP37</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).
- 934 Boris Johnson, "Denmark Has Got It Wrong. Yes, the Burka Is Oppressive and Ridiculous—But That's Still No Reason to Ban It," *Conservatives*, 5 August 2018 https://perma.cc/W348-CP37 (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>935</sup> Nazia Parveen, "Boris Johnson's Burqa comments 'led to surge in anti-Muslim attacks'," *The Guardian*, 1 September 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/MB4T-AX5W">https://perma.cc/MB4T-AX5W</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>936</sup> Eleanor Langford, "Boris Johnson Finally Apologises for Comparing Women in Burqas to 'Letter Boxes'," *PoliticsHome*, 5 December 2019 <a href="https://perma.cc/X6EQ-3JFL">https://perma.cc/X6EQ-3JFL</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).
- <sup>937</sup> William James, "Britain's Johnson Offers Qualified Apology for Islam Remarks," Reuters, 25 May 2021 <a href="https://perma.cc/DHP4-3HEG">https://perma.cc/DHP4-3HEG</a> (last visited Oct. 24, 2021).
- 938 BBC, "Police Scotland Uniform to Include Muslim Hijab," 23 August 2016. https://perma.cc/78DU-28A3 (last visited Oct. 24, 2021); Nick Hopkins, "Met Lets Muslim

# Restrictions on Muslim Women's Dress in the 27 EU Member States and the United Kingdom

Policewomen Don Headscarves," *The Guardian*, 24 April 2001 <a href="https://perma.cc/2Z63-JCMH">https://perma.cc/2Z63-JCMH</a> (last visited 24 October 2021).

- 939 Nicky Harley, "British Police Officers Design Hijab that Could Be Used Nationwide," *The National News*, 26 November 2020. https://perma.cc/5WV3-ENRS (last visited 25 October 2021); Zoe Drewett, "Police Force Reveals Uniforms for Muslim Women in UK First," Metro.co.uk, 17 September 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/X3VK-HHUR">https://perma.cc/X3VK-HHUR</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- <sup>940</sup> Neil Murphy, *UK policetrial 'operational hijab' to encourage more Muslim women to join ranks*, The National News (Feb. 26, 2021) <a href="https://perma.cc/L5R5-E5X2">https://perma.cc/L5R5-E5X2</a> (last visited Oct. 25, 2021).
- <sup>941</sup> Azmi v. Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council (2007], UKEAT 0009\_07-3003; also cited in Ganesh Bharath & Abou-Atta Iman, *Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the United Kingdom*, ENAR (2016): 33 https://pema.cc/SX8H-D4DB (last visited 19 March 2017).
- <sup>942</sup> Arzu Merali, *Countering Islamophobia in the UK*, in Ian Law et al. eds., *Countering Islamophobia in Europe* (Springer, 2019): 43–77.
- <sup>943</sup> BBC, "The Islamic Veil Across Europe," 1 July 2014 <a href="https://perma.cc/ET8N-3MNT">https://perma.cc/ET8N-3MNT</a> (last visited 20 March 2017).
- 944 Department for Education United Kingdom, *School Uniform Guidance for Governing Bodies*, *School Leaders*, *School Staff and Local Authorities* (September 2013) https://perma.cc/PEC4-U8KD (last visited 20 March 2017).
- <sup>945</sup> Jon Sharman, "London Primary School Bans Hijab for Girls under 8," *Independent*, 15 January 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/26FU-4HU4">https://perma.cc/26FU-4HU4</a> (last visited 24 January 2018).
- <sup>946</sup> Richard Adams, "Ofsted Head to Be Questioned over Backing for Hijab Ban," *The Guardian*, 9 February 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/33B5-PGQM">https://perma.cc/33B5-PGQM</a> (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>947</sup> Richard Adams, "Inspectors to Question Primary School Girls Who Wear Hijab," *The Guardian*, 19 November 2017 <a href="https://perma.cc/94BN-PHQF">https://perma.cc/94BN-PHQF</a> (last visited Jan. 25, 2018).
- <sup>948</sup> Richard Adams, "Ofsted Head to Be Questioned over Backing for Hijab Ban," *The Guardian*, 9 February 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/33B5-PGQM">https://perma.cc/33B5-PGQM</a> (last visited 5 July 2018).
- <sup>949</sup> Rosemary Bennett, We'll Stand Up for Schools that Ban Hijabs and Fasting, Pledges Minister, The Times, 10 February 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/6MV9-PY9T">https://perma.cc/6MV9-PY9T</a> (last visited 25 October 2021).
- $^{950}$  R (on the application of X) v. The Headteacher of Y School and another [2007] EWHC 298.
- <sup>951</sup> R (on the application of Begum) v. Headteacher and Governors of Denbigh High School [2006] UKHL 15.
- $^{952}$  R (on the application of Begum) v. Headteacher and Governors of Denbigh High School [2006] UKHL 15.
- $^{953}$  R (on the application of X) v. The Headteacher of Y School and another [2007] EWHC 298.
- <sup>954</sup> Ganesh Bharath & Abou-Atta Iman, Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the United Kingdom, ENAR (2016): 2 <a href="https://perma.cc/SX8H-D4DB">https://perma.cc/SX8H-D4DB</a> (last visited 19 March 2017).
- <sup>955</sup> BBC, "Lawyers Can Wear Veils in Court," 10 November 2006 <a href="https://perma.cc/73C2-GVF8">https://perma.cc/73C2-GVF8</a> (last visited 5 July 2018).

<sup>956</sup> Press Association, "Muslim Woman Will Not Testify After Being Told She Must Remove Face Veil," *The Guardian*, 27 January 2014 <a href="https://perma.cc/SNT7-UU3M">https://perma.cc/SNT7-UU3M</a> (last visited Jul. 8, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>957</sup> James Oaten, "Judge Unreasonable for Barring Woman from Victorian Court Because of Niqab, Islamic Council Says," ABC News, 8 February 2018 <a href="https://perma.cc/G8QH-K4LC">https://perma.cc/G8QH-K4LC</a> (last visited 8 July 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>958</sup> Judicial College, *Equal Treatment Bench Book* (February 2018) https://www.judiciary.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/equal-treatment-bench-book-february 2018-v5-02mar18.pdf (last visited 5 July 2018).

<sup>959</sup> Ganesh Bharath & Abou-Atta Iman, Forgotten Women: The Impact of Islamophobia on Muslim Women in the United Kingdom, ENAR (2016): 2 <a href="https://perma.cc/SX8H-D4D8">https://perma.cc/SX8H-D4D8</a> (last visited 19 March 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>960</sup> Equalities Act 2010, Part 2, Ch. 1, Clause 4; Equality and Human Rights Commission, "Equality Act FAQs." https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/equality-act-faqs (last visited 25 April 2017).

<sup>961</sup> Equalities Act 2010, Part 2, Ch. 2, Clause 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>962</sup> Lady Brenda Hale, *The Law and Religious Dress* (Woolf Institute, Feb. 28, 2019) https://perma.cc/7ZLR-SD65 (last visited 25 October 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>963</sup> Eweida and others v United Kingdom [2013] ECHR 3: 94.